# THE CYCLIC AMP SIGNALLING SYSTEM AS A REGULATOR OF PREADIPOCYTE DIFFERENTIATION

A thesis submitted to the University of Glasgow for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Faculty of Science

b y

Stephen J. Yarwood

Hannah Research Institute, Ayr, Scotland.

August 1997

ProQuest Number: 11007766

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 11007766

Published by ProQuest LLC (2018). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346



This Thesis is Dedicated to my Mother and Sister, Cathleen and Claire

	Page
Acknowledgements	II
Summary	III
Contents	V
Lists of Figures	X
List of Tables	XIV
Abbreviations	XVI

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The completion of this work would not have been possible without the advice and technical assistance of a number of people. Firstly I would like to thank my supervisors, Drs Neil Anderson and Elaine Kilgour, whose guidance and patience were, of course, invaluable. The expert technical assistance of Sandra Woodburn and Elaine Ferguson is also gratefully appreciated. This project would not have been possible without their expertise in peptide preparation and immunisation.

I would also like to thank Drs Richard Vernon, Roger Clegg, James Beattie, David Flint, Maureen Travers, Mike Barbour and Elizabeth Sale for gifts of reagents, discussion, advice and positive support.

#### SUMMARY

A study was carried out on the fibroblastic 3T3-F442A preadipocyte cell system to investigate the role of the adenylate cyclase signalling system in modulating their adipocyte differentiation. Three areas were investigated:

1) The expression of heterotrimeric guanine nucleotide binding protein (G-protein) subunits during individual stages of cellular differentiation.

2) The role of cyclic AMP in modulating preadipocyte differentiation.

3) Interactions occurring between the cyclic AMP and MAP kinase signalling cascades during the differentiation process.

The differentiation of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes was shown, under serum-free conditions, to be divided into at least two stages. The first stage is dependent on the presence of growth hormone (GH) which primes cells to the action of other differentiative agents. The second, maturation, stage involved a combination of insulin, EGF and  $T_3$  which acted on GH-primed cells to promote terminal differentiation. Terminal differentiation was determined by two criteria; morphologically by the accumulation of Oil Red O-positive triacylglycerides in the cell cytoplasm and biochemically, by the emergence of the specific activity of an adipocyte-specific enzyme marker,  $\alpha$ -glycerophosphate dehydrogenase.

A range of specific anti-peptide antisera were generated and used to quantify specific changes in the expression of stimulatory- and inhibitory- G-proteins during the twostages of 3T3-F442A preadipocyte differentiation. Stimulatory-G-proteins (G<sub>s</sub>) couple adenylate cyclase to positive-acting extracellular stimuli, whereas inhibitory-G-proteins (G<sub>i</sub>) mediate the actions of negative-acting stimuli. Undifferentiated 3T3-F442A preadipocytes were found to express detectable levels of the  $G_s \alpha$ -subunits,  $G_{s\alpha 42}$ ,  $G_{s\alpha44}$ , and the  $G_i \alpha$ -subunits,  $G_{i2\alpha}$  and  $G_{i3\alpha}$  in their cell membranes, together with the 36 kDa  $\beta$ -subunit (G<sub>B36</sub>) which is subunit common to both G<sub>s</sub> and G<sub>i</sub>. During the GHpriming stage of adipocyte differentiation significant increases in protein expression were observed for  $G_{s\alpha42}$ ,  $G_{s\alpha44}$ ,  $G_{i2\alpha}$  and  $G_{\beta36}$ , but not  $G_{i3\alpha}$ . Increased levels of  $G_{s\alpha44}$  and  $G_{\beta36}$  were sustained during the first two days of maturation and then fell, in terminally differentiated cells, to levels observed in undifferentiated 3T3-F442A fibroblasts. Levels of  $G_{i2\alpha}$  were also sustained during the initial stages of maturation, but then fell, together with  $G_{i3\alpha}$ , to levels significantly lower then those found in undifferentiated fibroblasts. In contrast, levels of  $G_{s\alpha,44}$  were maintained at a significantly elevated level in terminally differentiated cells when compared to undifferentiated fibroblasts. Changes in  $G_{so}$  subunit expression were also observed in

non-differentiating control cultures, in the absence of differentiative agents. This Gprotein may play a role in modulating preadipocyte differentiation. Indeed, treatment of cell with cholera toxin, which constitutively activates  $G_s$  and adenylate cyclase, dramatically inhibited differentiation of 3T3-F442A cells by  $\approx 90\%$ .

Adenylate cyclase catalyses the formation of the intracellular second messenger cyclic AMP which then binds to and activates protein kinase A. Direct activation of adenylate cyclase with forskolin (50µM) or treatment with the cyclic AMP analogue CPT-cyclic AMP (0.25mM) was found to potently inhibit the adipose conversion of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes induced with foetal calf serum and insulin (FCS/insulin; ~90%) inhibition) or with a serum-free hormonally defined medium (DDM; ≈70% inhibition). In contrast, treatment of cells with the cyclic AMP phosphodiesterase inhibitor, IBMX, or with low concentrations of CPT-cyclic AMP (10nM) or forskolin (10nM) potentiated cellular differentiation induced with FCS/insulin (≈80-99% increase) or DDM (≈30-40% increase). Both IBMX and 10nM forskolin induced small and relatively transient increases in intracellular cyclic AMP ( $\approx 8$  and  $\approx 3$  fold maximal increase), whereas those induced by 50µM forskolin were much larger and more prolonged (≈120 fold maximal increase). This suggests that the differential effects of cyclic AMP on the adipose conversion of 3T3-F442A cells could be attributable to interactions occurring at different stages of the differentiation program. Indeed, inclusion of 10nM forskolin or IBMX during the GH-priming stage of differentiation synergistically enhanced GHpromoted differentiation ( $\approx 90\%$  and  $\approx 130\%$  increase, respectively). In contrast, when included during the maturation stage, these agents were found to inhibit terminal differentiation ( $\approx 60\%$  and  $\approx 70\%$  inhibition, respectively).

A potential mechanism underlying the effects of cyclic AMP on cell growth is through functional interplay with the MAP kinase signalling cascade. MAP kinases were potently activated in 3T3-F442A preadipocytes by the differentiative factors GH ( $\approx$ 5 fold activation), insulin ( $\approx$ 5 fold activation) and EGF ( $\approx$ 20 fold activation). Antisense depletion of MAP kinase was found to severely retard the differentiation of 3T3-F442A cells with serum or DDM by approximately 95%, demonstrating that adipose conversion of these cells displays an overall requirement for MAP kinases. Cyclic AMP was found to potentiate GH- (by  $\approx$ 4 fold), but not EGF/Ins/T<sub>3</sub>-activated MAP kinase. In addition, cyclic AMP alone activates MAP kinase ( $\approx$ 2 fold activation). This suggested that the cooperativity between cyclic AMP and GH could be at the level of MAP kinase but MAP kinase was not the site of action of cyclic AMP in inhibiting maturation. However, the availability of the inhibitor of MAP kinase activation, PD098059, enabled the testing of the MAP kinase requirement during priming and this showed a lack of MAP kinase requirement at this stage.

# CONTENTS

	Page
Chapter One: Literature Review	1
1.1) Introduction	2
1.2) Functional Roles of Adipocyte In Vivo	3
1.2.1) Lipid Metabolism	3
1.2.2) The Ob Gene Product (Leptin)	6
1.3) Adipocyte Development In Vivo	8
1.3.1) Embryonic Development of Adipocytes	8
1.3.2) Postnatal Development of Adipose Tissue	9
1.4) Cell Culture Models of Adipocyte Development	10
1.5) The Adipocyte Development Program	13
1.5.1) Early Events	13
1.5.2) Late Events	17
1.6) Transcriptional Control of Protein Expression Du	ring
Preadipocyte Differentiation	19
1.6.1) Expression of Transcription	
Factors During Adipogenesis	19
1.6.2) Trans-activation of Adipocyte-specific Gen	es 21
1.7) Hormonal Control of Differentiation	23
1.7.1) Agents which Signal via Nuclear Receptors	24
1.7.1.1) Triiodothyronine $(T_3)$	24
1.7.1.2) Glucocorticoids	24
1.7.1.3) Fatty Acids and Retinoids	25
1.7.1.4) Nuclear Hormone Receptors	25
1.7.2) Peptide Growth Factors and Hormones	26
1.7.2.1) Growth Hormone (GH)	26
1.7.2.2) Insulin	27
1.7.2.3) Epidermal Growth Factor (EGF)	28

	1.7.2.4) Growth Hormone (GH) and	
	Insulin Signalling Cascades	29
	1.7.3) Cyclic AMP	32
	1.7.3.1) Cyclic AMP-elevating Agents	32
	1.7.3.2) Heterotrimeric Guanine	
	Nucleotide-binding Proteins (G-proteins)	34
	1.7.3.3) The cyclic AMP-dependent Protein Kinase	
	(PKA) Cascade	36
	1.7.3.4) Transcriptional Regulation by Cyclic AMP	37
1.8) A	ims of Project	40
Chapt	er Two: Materials and Methods	42
2.1) N	laterials	43
	2.1.1) Chemicals	43
	2.1.2) Radiochemicals	45
	2.1.3) Peptides and Recombinant Proteins	46
	2.1.4) Oligodeoxynucleotides	46
	2.1.5) Antibodies	46
	2.1.6) Animals	47
	2.1.7) Cell Lines	47
2.2.)	Methods	48
	2.2.1) Standard Procedure for Cell Culture	48
	2.2.2) Induction of Differentiation with FCS and Insulin	48
	2.2.3) Induction of Differentiation under Serum-Free	
	Conditions	49
	2.2.4) Two-phase Protocol for Cellular Differentiation	
	of 3T3-F442A Cells	5()
	2.2.4.1) Preparation of Calf Serum Depleted	
	of GH	50
	2.2.4.2) Two-Phase Differentiation Protocol	50
	2.2.5) Oil Red O Staining	52
	2.2.6) Assay of $\alpha$ -Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase	
	Activity	52
	2.2.7) Antisense Protocols	54
	2.2.7.1) Purification of Oligonucleotides	54
	2.2.7.2) Oligonucleotide Treatment of Cells	54

2.2.8) Preparation of Cell Membrane Samples	55
2.2.8.1) Preparation of Membrane Fraction	
from 3T3-F442A Cells	55
2.2.8.2) Preparation of Crude Membrane	
Fractions from Rat Adipocytes	55
2.2.9) Peptide Synthesis, Conjugation and Immunisation	56
2.2.10) Gel Electrophoresis	57
2.2.10.1) Standard Protocol for Gel	
Electrophoresis	57
2.2.10.2) Urea Gels	57
2.2.10.3) Low-bisacrylamide Gels	57
2.2.11) Immunoblotting	57
2.2.12) Densitometry	59
2.2.13) Enzyme Assays	60
2.2.13.1) Assay of Mitogen Activated	
Protein (MAP) Kinase Activity	6()
2.2.13.2) Assay of MAP Kinase Kinase	
(MEK) Activity	61
2.2.13.3) Assay of cyclic AMP-dependent	
Protein Kinase Activity (PKA)	61
2.2.14) DNA Assay	62
2.2.15) Protein Assay	62
2.2.16) Assay of Intracellular Cyclic AMP Concentration	62
2.2.17) Statistical Analysis	63

Chapter 3: Changes in the Expression of Guanine	
Nucleotide-binding Proteins During the Growth	
Hormone-dependent Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Cells	64

3.1)	Introduction	65
3.2)	Experimental Procedures	68
	3.2.1) Standard Procedure for Cell Culture	
	and Differentiation	68
	3.2.2) Two-phase Protocol for Cellular Differentiation	68
	3.2.2) Peptide Synthesis, Conjugation and Immunisation	68
	3.2.4) Membrane Preparations	69
	3.2.5) Immunoblotting	69
	3.2.6) GPDH and DNA Assays and Expression of	

	Results	70
3.3)	Results	71
,	3.3.1) Detection of G <sub>str</sub> -subunits in 3T3-F442A	
	Fibroblasts	71
	3.3.2) Detection of $G_{i2\alpha}$ in Membranes from	
	3T3-F442A Cells	71
	3.3.3) Detection of $G_{i3\alpha}$ in Membranes from	
	3T3-F442A Fibroblasts	77
	3.3.4) Characterisation of the Two-phase Protocol for	
	3T3-F442A Cell Differentiation	81
	3.3.5) Changes in G-protein Content in 3T3-F442A	
	Cell Membranes During Confluence and Differentiation	84
	3.3.6) Changes in G-protein Subunit Expression Per Cell	
	During Differentiation and Confluence	91
	3.3.7) Effect of Pertussis and Cholera Intoxication on the	
	Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes	92
3.4)	Discussion	98
3.5)	Conclusions	105
Char	pter Four: The Effects of Cyclic AMP on the Differentiation	
of 3	T3-F442A Preadipocytes	106
4.1)	Introduction	107
4.2)	Experimental Procedures	
	4.2.1) Standard Procedure for Cell Culture and	
	Differentiation	113
	4.2.2) Two-phase Protocol for Cellular Differentiation	113
	4.2.3) Oil Red O Staining, GPDH, DNA and Cyclic AMP	
	Assays and Expression of Results	113
4.3)	Results	115
	4.3.1) Effects of Agents which Elevate Intracellular Cyclic	
	AMP Levels on Lipid Accumulation During Differentiation	
	of 3T3-F442A Cells with Foetal Calf Serum and Insulin	115
	4.3.2) Effects of Agents which Elevate Cyclic AMP on	
	Differentiation of Cells with a Defined Differentiation	
	Medium (DDM)	118
	4.3.3) Effect of Forskolin and IBMX on the Intracellular	

	Concentration of Cyclic AMP	126
	4.3.4) Effect of Elevating Intracellular Cyclic AMP Levels During the Priming and Maturation Stages of 3T3-F442A	
	Preadipocyte Differentiation	126
4.4)	Discussion	132
4.5)	Conclusions	137
Chapt	er Five: Interactions Between the Cyclic AMP and	
MAP	Kinase Pathways: Effect on the Differentiation	
of 3T	3-F442A Preadipocytes	138
5.1) I	ntroduction	139
5.2) E	Experimental Procedures	142
	5.2.1) Standard Procedure for Cell Culture and	
	Differentiation	142
	5.2.2) Two-phase Differentiation Protocol	142
	5.2.3) Oligodeoxynucleotide Treatment of Cells	142
	5.2.4) MAP Kinase Assay	144
	5.2.5) Assay of Cyclic AMP-dependent Protein Kinase	144
	5.2.6) Immunoblotting of p42 <sup>MAPK</sup> /p44 <sup>MAPK</sup>	144
	5.2.7) GPDH and DNA Assays	145
5.3) I	Results	146
5.4)	Discussion	168
5.5)	Conclusions	174
Gener	al Discussion and Future Directions	175
Bibliography		183

### FIGURES

Figure	Page
1.1) Lipogenesis and Lipolysis in the Adipocyte	4
1.2) Major Components of the Body Weight Regulatory System	5
1.3) Hypothetical Model of 3T3-F442A Preadipocyte Differentiation	14
1.4) Expression of Transcription Factors During Adipocyte Development	20
1.5) Immediate Regulation of the Mitogen Activated Protein (MAP) Kinase Cascade	31
1.6) The Mammalian Adenylate Cyclase/Phosphodiesterase System	33
2.1) Induction of Differentiation with FCS and Insulin	49
2.2) Induction of Differentiation with DDM	49
2.3) Immunoneutralisation of GH in Calf Serum	50
2.4) Two-phase Differentiation Protocol	52
3.1) Detection of 42kDa and 47kDa Isoforms of $G_{s\alpha}$ in Rat Adipocyte and 3T3-F442A Cell Membranes	72
3.2) Immunoreactivity of Antiserum to $G_{i1\alpha}$ Plus $G_{i2\alpha}$ G-proteins in Rat Adipocyte and 3T3_F442A Cell Membranes	74
3.3) Abundance of $G_{i1\alpha}$ and $G_{i2\alpha}$ Membranes from 3T3-F442A Cells and Rat Adipocytes	75
3.4) Immunoreactivity of Antiserum to $G_{i3\alpha}$ with Rat Adipocyte and 3T3-F442A Cell Membranes	78
3.5) Assessment of the Specificity of an Anti- $G_{i3\alpha}$ Antiserum by Competition with Synthetic Peptides: Cross-reactivity of Anti- $G_{i3\alpha}$	

.

with $G_{i2\alpha}$	79
3.6) Assessment of the Specificity of an Anti- $G_{i3\alpha}$ Antiserum by Competition with Synthetic Peptides: Cross-reactivity of Anti- $G_{i3\alpha}$ with $G_{i1\alpha}$	80
3.7) Two-phase Protocol for the Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes	82
3.8) Effect of GH on the Priming of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes	83
3.9) Expression of $G_{sx42}$ and $G_{sx47}$ in 3T3-F442A Membranes During Differentiation by the Two Phase Differentiation Protocol	85
3.10) Expression of $G_{s\alpha42}$ and $G_{s\alpha47}$ in Membranes During the Maintenance of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes at Confluence	87
3.11) Expression of $G_{i\alpha 2}$ and $G_{i\alpha 3}$ in 3T3-F442A Membranes During Differentiation	88
3.12) Expression of $G_{i\alpha 2}$ and $G_{i\alpha 3}$ in Membranes from 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes During their Maintenance at Confluence	89
3.13) Expression of $G_{\beta 36}$ in 3T3-F442A Membranes During Differentiation	9()
3.14) Expression of $G_{\beta 36}$ in Membranes from 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes During their Maintenance at Confluence	94
3.15) Changes in the Expression of $G_{s\alpha}$ -subunits Per Cell in 3T3-F442A Cells During Differentiation or Confluence	95
3.16) Changes in the Expression of $G_{i\alpha}$ -and $\beta$ -subunits Per Cell in 3T3-F442A Cells During Differentiation	96
3.17) Effect of Cholera and Pertussis Intoxication on the Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes	97

4.1) Sites of Action of Cyclic AMP-elevating Agents	116
4.2) Effect of Agents which Elevate Cyclic AMP on Lipid	
Accumulation During Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Cells with	
Foetal Calf Serum and Insulin (FCS/insulin)	117
4.3) Effect of Agents which Elevate Cyclic AMP on	
$\alpha$ -Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase (GPDH) Activity of	
3T3-F442A Cells Differentiated with FCS/insulin	119
4.4) Effects of Various Concentrations of Forskolin and	
CPT-cAMP on the Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Cells with FCS/Insulin	120
4.5) Effect of Agents which Elevate Cyclic AMP on the Differentiation	
of 3T3-F442A Cells Under Defined Conditions	121
4.6) Effect of Agents which Elevate Cyclic AMP on GPDH Activity	
of Cells Differentiated with DDM	123
4.7) Dose Effects of Forskolin and CPT-cAMP on Differentiation of	
3T3-F442A Cells in a Defined Differentiation Medium	124
4.8) Effect of Forskolin and IBMX on the Intracellular Concentration of	
Cyclic AMP	125
5.1) Protocol for Oligodeoxynucleotide Treatment and Subsequent	
Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Cells	143
5.2) Design of Antisense EAS1 Phosphorothioate Oligodeoxynucleotides	147
5.3) Effect of Antisense EAS1 on the Expression of Cellular Mitogen	
Activated Protein Kinases (MAP Kinases)	148
5.4) Effect of Antisense Depletion of Cellular MAP Kinase on the	
Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Cells with Foetal Calf Serum and	
Insulin (FCS/Insulin) or Defined Differentiation Medium (DDM)	150
5.5) Time-course of MAP Kinase Activation by $50\mu M$ Forskolin	
in 3T3-F442A Cells	154

5.6) Comparison of Short- and Long-term Serum Deprivation on	
Subsequent Stimulation of MAP Kinase by 50µM Forskolin	155
5.7) Effect of Agents which Elevate Intracellular Cyclic AMP on the	
Activation of MAP Kinase in 3T3-F442A Cells and 3T3-L1 Cells	156
5.8) Dose-dependent Stimulation of MAP Kinase and Protein Kinase A (PKA) by Forskolin	160
5.9) Effect of H-89 and ( <i>Rp</i> )-cAMPs on the Activation of MAP Kinase by Cyclic AMP	161
5.10) Cyclic AMP Induces MEK Activation in 3T3-F442A Cells	162
5.11) Effect of Down-regulation of PKC on the Activation of MAP Kinase by Cyclic AMP	165
5.12) Effect of PD098059 on the Priming of 3T3-F442A Cells to Differentiate	167

# TABLES

Table	Page
1.1) A Selection of Differentiation-dependent Genes	
Expressed by Adipocytes	15
1.2) Multiple Stages of Adipose Cell Differentiation	16
1.3) Adipocyte-specific Genes <i>Trans</i> -activated by CCAAT/Enhancer Binding Protein & During	
Preadipocyte Differentiation	22
2.1) Specialised Laboratory Reagents	43
2.2) Radiochemicals	45
2.3) Amino-acid Sequences of Synthetic Peptides	56
2.4) Dilutions of Primary and Secondary Antisera	58
2.5) Concentrations of Cellular Protein which are	
within the Linear Range of the ECL Detection System	60
3.1) Amino-acid Sequences of Immunogen Peptides	69
3.2) Dilutions of Primary and Secondary Antisera for G-protein Immunoblots	7()
3.3) Comparison of Amino Acid Sequences of Carboxy-	
terminal Decapeptides from G-protein $\alpha$ -subunits	73
3.4) Comparison of Deduced Amino-acid Sequences	74
Corresponding to Residues 159-168 in $G_{i\alpha}$	/6
3.5) Parameters of Cell Growth During the Two Phases	
of 313-F442A Cell Differentiation	93
3.6) Changes in the Expression of G-protein	

Subunits During the Adipocyte Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes	99
4.1) Mitogenic and Anti-mitogenic Effects of	
Cyclic AMP-elevating Agents	108
4.2) Effects of Agents which Raise Intracellular	
Cyclic AMP on Preadipocyte Differentiation	111
4.3) Effect of Forskolin, IBMX and Isoproterenol	
on the Priming of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes	128
4.4) Effect of Forskolin, IBMX and Isoproterenol on	
the Maturation of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes	129
4.5) Effect of Elevating Cyclic AMP with Forskolin,	
IBMX and Isoproterenol During Priming and Maturation	
on the DNA Content of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes	130
5.1) Effect of Antisense Depletion of Cellular MAP	
Kinase on the Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Cells with	
Foetal Calf Serum and Insulin (FCS/Insulin) or Defined	
Differentiation Medium (DDM)	151
5.2) Effect of GH, Insulin, EGF and $T_3$ on the	
Activation of MAP Kinase in 3T3-F442A Cells	152
5.3) Effect of Agents which Elevate Intracellular Cyclic	
AMP on MAP Kinase Activity in 3T3-F442A Cells and	
3T3-L1 Cells	158
5.4) Effect of Cyclic AMP on the Ability of Insulin,	
EGF and T <sub>3</sub> to Activate MAP Kinase in 3T3-F442A Cells	164

# ABBREVIATIONS

Adenosine 5'-triphosphate
{2-[2-(4-hydroxyphenyl)-6-benzimidazoyl]-6-(1-
methyl-4-piperazyl)-benzimidazole} trihydrochloride
bovine serum albumin
chlorophenylthio-cAMP
Calf Serum
Adenosine 3', 5'-cyclic monophosphate
dihydroxyacetone phosphate
7β-acetoxy-6β-hydroxy-8, 13-epoxy-labd-14-en-11-
one
Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
Ethylenediaminetetracetic acid
epidermal growth factor
Ethylene glyco-bis (beta-aminoethyl ether)
N,N,N',N'-tetracetic acid
{N-[2-((p-bromocinnamyl)amino)ethyl]-5-
isoquinolinesulfonamide, HCL}
foetal calf serum
$7\beta$ -acetoxy-1 $\alpha$ , $6\beta$ , $9\alpha$ -hydroxy-8, 13-epoxy-labd-
14-en-11-one
3-isobutyl-1-methylxanthine
keyhole limpet haemocyanin
Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase
myelin basic protein
β-nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
phosphate buffered saline
2'-amino-3'-methoxyflavone
[4-(3-butoxy-4-methoxybenzyl)-2-imidazolidinone]
8-bromoadenosine-3', 5'-cyclic monophosphate (Rp
isomer)
sodium dodecyl sulfate
triiodothyronine
2-amino-2hydroxymethyl-propane-1, 3-diol

# Chapter One Literature Review

#### **1.1) INTRODUCTION**

White adipocytes (fat cells) are a specialised cell type that allow vertebrates to synthesise and store large amounts of metabolic energy, primarily in the form of triglycerides, in times of nutritional abundance. In times of need, triglycerides are hydrolysed to release unesterified fatty acids. The mature adipose cell is characterised by a spherical or near-spherical shape with approximately 95% of its volume being made up of a single triglyceride droplet (Slavin, 1985). Adipocytes represent between one and two thirds of the total number of cells in adipose tissue, the rest are various blood cells, endothelial cells, fibroblasts, pericytes and adipose precursor cells (preadipocytes) of varying degrees of differentiation (Gèleon *et al*, 1989). Adipocyte differentiation occurs in late prenatal and early post-natal development in distinct anatomical locations. Hypertrophic growth of adipose cells can occur at virtually any time in response to marked overfeeding (Ailhaud *et al*, 1990). This suggests that the committal of mesenchymal cells to become preadipocytes, and the further differentiation of preadipocytes into adipocytes (adipogenesis) is governed, both temporally and spatially, by specific hormonal and nutritional signals.

A complete understanding of adipose tissue development will not be gained until each level of control is assimilated and the signal transduction processes, whereby extracellular stimulation ultimately leads to changes in gene expression associated with phenotypic differentiation, are delineated. Because of the central role of the adipose cell in pathological disorders of systemic energy balance, most notably obesity, obesitylinked diabetes and cachexia (fat and muscle wasting) (Spiegelman and Hotamisigil, 1993), the study of gene control may lead to a better understanding of these disorders and reveal possible targets for therapeutic action. In addition, the ability to control adipose tissue development would offer the possibility of producing, commercially, animals with a higher muscle:fat carcass composition.

#### **1.2) FUNCTIONAL ROLES OF ADIPOCYTES IN VIVO**

White adipose tissue is found in amphibians, reptiles, birds and mammals (Nir *et al*, 1988; Pond, 1978; Pond, 1986) and is the basis of an abundant, diffuse organ dedicated to the deposition and mobilisation of triglycerides (lipids) (Pond, 1986). The site of these specialised functions is the adipocyte cell (Rodbell, 1964).

#### 1.2.1) Lipid Metabolism

Adipocytes contain an array of stringently regulated enzymes which are responsible for the synthesis of lipids from carbohydrates and their subsequent hydrolysis (lipolysis) (Feller, 1954; Hausberger *et al*, 1954;). Lipid synthesis (lipogenesis) requires a source of fatty acids and glycero-3-phosphate both of which are synthesised from glucose (Fig 1.1; Vernon, 1992). Fatty acids may also be obtained from triglycerides contained in very low density lipoproteins (VLDLs) and chylomicrons in the plasma through the action of the secreted adipocyte enzyme, lipoprotein lipase (Vernon, 1992). Lipolysis is achieved by the action of hormone-sensitive lipase with the eventual production of glycerol and fatty acids. Glycerol is released from the cell whereas a portion of the fatty acids are re-esterified (Vernon, 1992).

Lipogenesis and lipolysis are occurring continuously, therefore the net lipid deposition or mobilisation depends on the relative rate of both mechanisms. To organise these processes of energy storage and release, highly integrated systems have evolved which operate at several physiological levels. As for many complex physiological processes the brain provides an essential coordinating role (Fig 1.2).

Most important are the hypothalamic centres that coordinate energy homeostasis through regulation of food intake (hunger and satiety), energy expenditure (thermogenesis) and the secretion of hormones that regulate substrate interconversion, storage and mobilisation (Hubel, 1979). The hormone which has the major role in promoting fat deposition in mammals is insulin which is secreted from  $\beta$ -cells in the pancreas (Vernon, 1992). Insulin stimulates glucose utilisation, promotes fatty acid synthesis and activates acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC), a key enzyme of fatty acid synthesis (Vernon, 1992). In mammals lipolysis is stimulated by glucagon (secreted form pancreatic  $\alpha$ -cells) and catecholamines (from the adrenal medulla and sympathetic nerve endings) (Vernon, 1992). Pituitary growth hormone (GH) (Issakson *et al*, 1985) and glucocorticoids (a product of the adrenal cortex) can also antagonise insulin action on lipid metabolism by indirect mechanisms (Katzenellenbogen, 1980).



#### Fig 1.1) Lipogenesis and Lipolysis in the Adipocyte

The key features of adipocyte metabolism are the synthesis of triglycerides (lipogenesis) and their subsequent hydrolysis (lipolysis). The synthesis of lipids requires a source of fatty acids from chylomicron or very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) triglycerides or synthesised from glucose by the sequential actions of the glycolytic and biosynthetic pathways. The startingpoint of lipid synthesis requires glycerol-3-phosphate which is formed mainly by the reduction of dihydroxyacetone phosphate (DHAP), catalysed by

 $\alpha$ -glyero-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (8). DHAP is an isomer of glyceraldehyde-3phosphate (GAP), an intermediate on the glycolytic pathway, and their interconversion is catalysed by triose phosphate isomerase (9). Pyruvate is formed from GAP by the sequential actions of phosphoglyceraldehyde dehydrogenase, phosphoglycerate kinase, phosphoglyceromutase, enolase and pyruvate kinase (3). The formation of acetyl coenzyme A (acetyl CoA) from pyruvate is catalysed by pyruvate dehydrogenase (4) and subsequent incorporation into fatty acids is due to the combined actions of fatty acid synthase and acetyl CoA carboxylase (5). Lipids are synthesised from glycero-3phosphate and fatty acids in multi-sequential reactions catalysed by the triglyceride synthase complex (6). Adipocyte triglycerides are hydrolysed by the action of hormonesensitive lipase (7). with the eventual production of glycerol and fatty acids. Other key enzymes in the scheme are indicated; hexokinase (1) and lipoprotein lipase (2)



#### Fig 1.2) Major Components of the Body Weight Regulatory System

The brain, working primarily through hypothalamic centres influences body weight through effects on hunger (satiety), integration of key hormones, such as insulin, and energy expenditure, including actions to regulate thermogenesis in brown adipose tissue *via* sympathetic nervous system (SNS) innervation. These combine to determine the state of energy storage in adipose cells. The adipocyte plays an active role in the process through secretion of a number of secreted products. These include the product of the *ob* gene, which is predicted to regulate hypothalamic function through direct or indirect feedback.

#### 1.2.2) The Ob Gene Product (Leptin)

In addition to being the major site for lipid metabolism there is now compelling evidence that adipocytes also act as endocrine/secretory cells. For example, adipocytes are known to secrete adipsin and other components of the alternative complement pathway (Choy et al, 1992; Sniderman et al, 1994), angiotensinogen (McGhee et al, 1993), prostaglandins (Darimont et al, 1994) and tumour necrosis factor (TNF)  $\alpha$ (Hotamisligil et al, 1993). In addition, recent advancements in the field of adipocyte development suggest that adipocytes may play an active role in regulating energy homeostasis and body composition by producing a blood-borne factor (leptin) (Ahima et al, 1996, Campfield et al, 1995; Halaas et al, 1995; Pellymounter et al, 1995;). Leptin is the product of a 4.5 kbp mRNA, the product of the ob gene, which is apparently expressed solely in adipose tissue, presumably in adipocytes (Zhang et al, 1994). The predicted protein product is composed of 167 amino acids and has no homology to other known proteins (Zhang et al, 1994). Leptin is present in the plasma of normal mice and is absent in the plasma of ob/ob mice, resulting in profound obesity, often accompanied by diabetes and a decrease in energy expenditure (Friedman and Leibel, 1992; Halaas et al, 1995). Leptin appears to compensate for these homeostatic aberrations in normal mice by increasing energy expenditure, inducing weight loss and normalising metabolic parameters such as insulin and glucose levels (Halaas et al, 1995; Campfield et al, 1995; Pelleymounter et al, 1995).

The precise mechanisms of leptin action are not known. The most likely may be a direct action on the hypothalamus (Fig 1.2; Lee *et al*, 1996; Targaglia *et al*, 1995) and neuropeptide Y is a potential mediator of its effects (Stephens *et al*, 1995; Ahima *et al*; 1996). A complementary mechanism may be through a direct action of the protein on adipocyte metabolism. *Ob* gene expression in cultured fat cells suppresses ACC gene expression, fatty acid synthesis and lipid synthesis (Bai *et al*, 1996).

Recent studies demonstrated that the expression of the *ob* gene is itself controlled by the nutritional status of the animal. Fasting reduces expression, whereas food intake increases expression (Frederich *et al*, 1995; MacDougald *et al*, 1995b; Saladin *et al*, 1995), an effect that is accounted for by changes in insulin levels (MacDougald *et al*, 1995; Saladin *et al*, 1995). Glucocorticoids have also been shown to regulate *ob* gene expression (DeVos *et al*, 1995). The expression of the *ob* gene is subject to transcriptional control during preadipocyte differentiation by an important adipocyte transcription factor C/EBP $\alpha$  (MacDougald *et al*, 1995a). The expression of C/EBP $\alpha$ has also been shown to be regulated by hormonal stimulants, such as glucocorticoids and insulin (Cao *et al*, 1991; Yeh *et al*, 1995). Therefore, the expression of the *ob* gene is not only influenced by adipocyte transcription factors such as C/EBP $\alpha$  during adipogenesis, but appears to be under hormonal control. The study of the signalling mechanisms underlying the hormonal control of adipocyte development could enable discovery of potent new drugs, capable of not only regulating fat cell number *in vivo* but also, by effecting leptin production, exerting systemic effects to combat pathological conditions such as obesity and obesity-linked diabetes.

#### **1.3) ADIPOCYTE DEVELOPMENT IN VIVO**

Adipocytes acquire specialised functions (section 1.2) during the late stages of embryonic development to prepare for the post-natal period (Cook and Kozac, 1982; Slavin, 1979). Further fat pad development is delayed until shortly after birth and is characterised by expansion of the newly formed white adipocyte population (Cook and Kozac, 1982; Slavin, 1979). These increases in adipose mass equips the newborn with additional adipose lipid stores which can then be mobilised during fasting periods.

#### 1.3.1) Embryonic Development of Adipocytes

All of the cell types which form a mature animal are derived from multi-potential embryonic stem cells (Watt, 1991). It is generally accepted that adipose precursor, muscle and cartilage cells arise from totipotent stem cells of a mesenchymal origin (Konieczny and Emerson, 1984). Activation of a small number of regulatory genes by hypomethylation appears sufficient to commit these stem cells to a specific lineage, ie either the adipocyte, myocyte or chondrocyte lineages (Konieczny and Emerson, 1984; Lassar et al, 1986; Taylor and Jones, 1979). From an embryological perspective, the process of determination from multi-potential stem cells leads to the sequential formation of early-marker expressing preadipocytes (Gèloen et al, 1989a; Gèloen et al, 1989b). In the developing embryo, preadipocytes arise from primitive organs, a dense mass of vascularised mesenchymal cells which forms a supporting framework for adipogenesis (Gèloen et al, 1989a; Gèloen et al, 1989b). Primitive fat lobules are formed at around the second stage of human gestation and these are composed of densely packed fat cells adjacent to capillaries (Poissonet *et al*, 1988). In later stages, growth of adipose tissue is mainly due to an increase in size of fat cells and condensation and thickening of the mesenchyme, which forms septa among fat cell clusters (Burdi et al, 1985; Poissonet et al, 1984; Poissonet et al, 1988). In the embryo adipose tissue develops as distinct pads (or depots) which are distributed in a variety of locations throughout the body where it remains after birth (Burdi et al, 1985; Poissonet et al, 1984; Poissonet et al, 1988; Pond, 1986). The factors determining the time and site of fat pad development are not known. However, the distribution of fat depots is virtually the same amongst a wide range of mammalian species and suggests that conserved genetic factors may be involved (Pond, 1984). The importance of tissue vascularisation in primitive fat organs implies that fat depot development will be heavily influenced by systemic hormonal and circulatory factors (Poissonet et al, 1988).

#### 1.3.2) Postnatal Development of Adipose Tissue

The accumulated data from a large number of studies clearly indicate that the cellular development that accompanies postnatal adipose tissue expansion involves both cell hyperplasia and hypertrophy at virtually all stages of life (Cook and Kozac, 1979; Greenwood and Hirsch, 1974; Kirkland and Gurr, 1979; Lemmonier, 1981). The hypertrophic aspect of cell growth and tissue expansion clearly relates closely to the metabolic features of the mature adipocyte and the balance of lipid accretion and mobilisation from it (section 1.2). Although the lipid filling of mature adipocytes is of undoubted importance to the expansion of adipose tissue, the process of hyperplastic growth has recently received a great deal of attention. The major proliferative capacity in adipose tissue is in the interstitial pool of cells which includes preadipocytes (Cook and Kozac, 1982). During early postnatal growth, expansion of interstitial cell types has been observed on many occasions to precede the expression of adipocyte phenotypes and adipocyte-specific genes (Cook and Kozac, 1982; Pilgrim, 1971). Thus it appears that adipose precursor cells undergo mitoses before terminal differentiation takes place. The proliferative and differentiative capacity of precursor cells is dependent on a number of factors, including sex, age and localisation of fat depot (Faust and Miller, 1983; Kirkland et al, 1990; Pilgrim, 1971; Wang et al, 1989). For example, preadipose cells from rat perirenal and epididymal fat depots show varying capacities for replication, with perirenal preadipocytes displaying a higher frequency of proliferation and differentiation (Djian et al, 1983; Kirkland et al, 1990; Wang et al, 1989). Whereas in humans, in agreement with clinical observations regarding adipose tissue development, preadipocytes from abdominal fat show a higher capacity for differentiation than those of the femoral depot (Hauner and Entenmann, 1991). Part of the explanation for different fat depots having differential hyperplastic capacities probably lies at the cell level and further research into the mechanisms of preadipocyte proliferation and differentiation will be required to gain further insight.

#### **1.4) CELL CULTURE MODELS OF ADIPOCYTE DIFFERENTIATION**

Cellular models, including primary cultures of preadipocytes and established cell lines capable of converting to an adipocyte phenotype, have allowed an *in vitro* approach to the study of preadipocyte differentiation. Among the most obvious advantages of *in vitro* studies are:-

1) The ability to control the extracellular environment.

2) The possibility of studying biochemical and morphological events occurring throughout the conversion process.

Of particular relevance to studies of endocrine control are the development of chemically defined, serum-free culture media which support biochemical and morphological adipocyte differentiation (Ailhaud *et al*, 1990). With the application of serum-free culture techniques to an increasing number of cellular models, the factors that control the proliferation and differentiation of preadipocytes have become a little clearer (see section 1.7). However, care must be taken in interpreting the cumulative data since the hormonal requirements of different cellular models can be widely different, particularly when cloned cell lines are compared with preadipocyte cells in primary culture, and when cultures containing serum are compared with serum free conditions. For example, fibroblast growth factor (FGF) is essential for growth of the Ob17 cell line (Gailard *et al*, 1984), whereas FGF inhibits growth and differentiation of rat preadipocytes (Deslex *et al*, 1987). Discrepancies such as these are probably attributable to interspecies variation and the fact that isolated cell lines and primary cultures represent adipocyte precursors of different stages of development (Ailhaud *et al*, 1990).

Most clonal preadipocyte cell lines have been established from mouse embryonic tissues (Doglio *et al*, 1986; Ailhaud *et al*, 1990). The first established adipogenic cell line was 3T3-L1 (Green and Meuth, 1974), a clonal subline from a heterogeneous population of the established fibroblast line 3T3. The 3T3 clone was originally isolated from the disaggregated cells of late foctuses of Swiss mice (Green and Meuth, 1974). The 3T3-F442A subclone was obtained from the 3T3-L1 line and exhibits an even higher susceptibility to adipose conversion (Green and Kehinde, 1976).

Cell lines, despite aneuploid karyotypes, present stable phenotypic properties through a large number of generations (Green and Meuth, 1974). The relevance of studies on 3T3 cells lines has been attested by a number of significant observations. Importantly,

subclones are selected on the basis of good contact inhibition and on inability to form foci indicative of transformed cells (Green and Meuth, 1974). Prior to differentiation in cell culture 3T3-L1 and 3T3-F442A preadipocytes are morphologically similar to the fibroblastic preadipose cells in the stroma of adipose tissue (Green and Meuth, 1974; Green and Kehinde, 1976). When induced to differentiate 3T3 preadipocytes lose their fibroblastic character, assume a rounded appearance and acquire the morphological and biochemical characteristics of adipocytes. The striking change in cell shape is independent of lipid accumulation and is due to alterations in synthesis and assembly of cytoskeletal proteins (Spiegelman and Farmer, 1982). Detailed electron micrographic studies by Novikoff *et al* (1980) revealed that mature 3T3-L1 adipocytes possess virtually all of the ultrastructural features of adipocytes *in situ*. Soon after the induction of differentiation, cytoplasmic triglyceride-containing vacuoles appear. After an extended period in culture, the vacuoles coalesce and become unilocular, causing the typical signet ring appearance of mature white adipocytes (Green and Meuth, 1974).

The cells also acquire virtually all of the enzymes for *de novo* fatty acid biosynthesis, lipogenesis and lipolysis and become responsive to the lipogenic and lipolytic hormones (Colman *et al*, 1978; Rubin *et al*, 1978; Spooner *et al*, 1979; Reed and Lane, 1980; Bernholer *et al*, 1985; Cook *et al*, 1985; Guest *et al*, 1990) Indeed, subcutaneous injection of 3T3-F442A cells into nude, athymic mice gives rise to fully vascularised, non-malignant fat pads which are indistinguishable from normal adipose tissue (Green and Kehinde, 1979).

Other cell lines available for the study of adipocyte development include Ob17 and Ob1771 (Doglio *et al*, 1986), isolated from obese mice (genotype *ob/ob*), and TA1 (Chapman *et al*, 1984) and 30A5 (Konieczny *et al*, 1984) isolated from an established mouse fibroblast line treated with a nucleotide analogue. Cell strains that behave reproducibly in culture have also been obtained from the stromal fraction of adipose tissue from a variety of species (Ailhaud, 1982). These putative precursor cells, although diploid, have a limited life-span and eventually enter a period of senescence characterised by increased cell doubling time and ultimately death. In addition it has been suggested that cell strains derived by this technique do not represent a homogeneous population (Ailhaud, 1982). For these reasons, most of the information on adipocyte differentiation to date has been gained from the study of established cell lines, such as 3T3-L1 and 3T3-F442A. However, in order to gain an overall picture of the control of adipocyte differentiation, results should be verified between a number of species and cellular models, and fat depot-specific aspects should be investigated using primary cell cultures. Another important approach for verification in a physiological

context, which has been employed to a limited extent for adipose development, is the use of transgenic animals (Graves *et al*, 1992).

#### **1.5) THE ADIPOCYTE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM**

Information acquired in cell culture studies on adipocyte development has enabled investigators to identify key events that are likely to be important in this process (Fig 1.3). As with most systems of mammalian development, the acquisition of the morphological and biochemical characteristics of mature adipocytes requires extensive reprogramming of gene expression.

The expression of adipocyte specific genes occurs in distinct temporal stages; the progress of differentiation can be monitored by the progressive accumulation of individual differentiation-specific phenotypes or markers. Early electrophoretic studies revealed major quantitative changes in at least 100 protein species (Sidhu, 1979) and 40% of soluble adipocyte proteins represent newly synthesised material (Spiegelman and Green, 1980). In virtually every case so far examined, new protein synthesis in the adipocyte is accompanied by increases in the related mRNA levels (Table 1.1). Changes in transcription are an important factor in altered mRNA abundance (Bernholer *et al*, 1985). However, it seems likely that other mechanisms, especially changes in mRNA stability, may also be important (Doglio *et al*, 1986).

During proliferation, cultured preadipocytes are biochemically and morphologically indistinguishable from fibroblasts (Hiragun, 1985). Since the proliferation and differentiation of cells are thought to be mutually-exclusive processes (Freytag and Geddes, 1992), the initiation of differentiation and the expression of adipocyte specific markers requires exit from the mitotic cell cycle.

#### 1.5.1) Early Events

Eukaryotic cellular growth is known to be regulated at specific points in the cell cycle, termed G1-, S-, G2- and M-phases (Xiong et al, 1991). The two major events common to all cell cycles are S-phase, when chromosomes are replicated, and M-phase, when the replicated chromosomes are segregated into two daughter cells (Nurse, 1990). G1 can also be subdivided into early and late phases (Pardee, 1989). Early G1 cells can either embark on a new cell cycle (late-phase progression) or enter a quiescent, growth arrested state (G0-phase) characterised by an unreplicated DNA content and decreased macromolecular synthesis (Sherr, 1994). Commitment to DNA replication (S-phase entry) occurs at a particular restriction point late in G1 and is dependent on appropriate mitogenic stimuli (Pardee, 1989). From in vitro studies, it appears that growth arrest during G1 (G0-entry), rather than contact among arrested cells, is necessary to trigger preadipose cells the differentiation to enter program



**Fig 1.3)** Hypothetical Model of 3T3-F442A Preadipocyte Differentiation Initially, cell cycle exit allows cells to enter a state of growth arrest, termed G0. Cells at G0 are then substrates for GH, which reversibly induces an anti-mitogenic, primed state (Gp). Reversal requires removal of GH and addition of mitogens, such as platelet derived growth factor (PDGF). Subsequently, insulin, in an irreversible step, promotes fat accumulation. Terminal differentiation is preceeded by limited clonal expansion under the control of the insulin-like growth factor- (IGF-) I receptor.

Table 1.2) Multiple Stages of Adipose Cell Differentiation

Stage	mRNA/protein induced	Emerging phenotypes
1	Unidentified	Proliferation
2	FAAR mRNA" PPARγmRNA <sup>n</sup> pGH <sub>3</sub> mRNA <sup>h</sup> Lipoprotein lipase <sup>i</sup> pOb24 mRNA <sup>h</sup>	<ol> <li>Growth arrest<sup>h</sup></li> <li>Emergence of very early and early markers</li> <li>Fatty acid transport initiated<sup>a</sup></li> </ol>
3	IGF-I mRNA (Ob1771) <sup>g</sup>	<ol> <li>Increased response to lipolytic hormones and insulin<sup>b.c</sup></li> <li>Increased IGF-I response<sup>c</sup></li> </ol>
4	Acetyl CoA carboxylase <sup>d</sup> aP2 fatty acid synthase <sup>k</sup> Hormone sensitive lipase <sup>b</sup> Malic enzyme <sup>i</sup> or-glycero-3-phosphate dehydrogenase <sup>c</sup>	<ol> <li>DNA synthesis and clonal expansion<sup>5</sup></li> <li>Emergence of late markers</li> </ol>
5	Phosphoenol pyruvate carboxykinase <sup>1</sup> Adipsin <sup>6</sup> Leptin <sup>6</sup>	<ol> <li>Mature adipose cell</li> <li>Emergence of very late markers</li> <li>Lipid accumulation</li> </ol>

**Kawamura** This scheme is based on data obtained from 3T3-L1, 3T3-F442A, Ub1/ and Ub1/11 cells as well as well as well rougen anyow presserves and the set of 1986, i) Spiegelman et al, to al, 1981, c) Wise and Green. 1979. d) Park and Kim. 1991, e) Ashcom et al, 1982, f) Cook et al, 1985, g) Doglio et al. 1987, h) Amri et al, 1986, i) Spiegelman et al, 1981, c) Wise and Green. 1979. d) Park and Kim. 1991, e) Ashcom et al, 1985, f) Cook et al. 1985, g) Doglio et al. 1987, h) Amri et al, 1986, i) Spiegelman et al, 1981, c) Wise and Green. 1979. d) Park and Kim. 1991, e) Ashcom et al. 1985, f) Cook et al. 1985, g) Doglio et al. 1987, h) Amri et al. 1986, i) Spiegelman et al. 1981, c) Wise and Green. 1979. d) Park and Kim. 1991, e) Ashcom et al. 1988, l) Dani et al. 1988, m) Amri et al. 1995 and n) Hwang et al. 1996.

- Not Detern
(N.D.=
Adipocytes
by
Expressed
Genes
Differentiation-dependent
Selection of
1) A S
Table 1.

1.1) A Selection of Differen	<u>e</u>	ntiation-dependen	nt Genes Expres	sed by Adipocyi	tes (N.D.= Not Dete	ermined)
(dq	Protein Gene-product	Protein Size (KDa)	mRNA	Transcriptional Activity	Cell Type	Reference
	Actin	42.0		-	3T3-F442A Ob1771	Cook <i>et al</i> . 1988
·	aP2	13.0 14.6	+ + +	+ + +	3T3-F442A 3T3-L1 051771	Cook et al. 1988
<u> </u>	Adipsin	28.0	+	÷	3T3-F442A	Cook et al. 1988
	Aldolase	40.0	÷	÷	3T3-F442A	Cook et al. 1988
	Fatty acid synthase	250.0	+	N.D.	3T3-L1	Paulauskis and Sul. 1988
	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase	37.0	+	N.D.	3T3-F442A	Doglio <i>et al.</i> 1986
	αGlycero-3-phosphate dehydrogenase	34.0	+ +	+ +	3T3-F442A Ob1771	Cook <i>et al.</i> 1985
<u> </u>	Insulin-like growth factor	N.D.	+	+	Ob1771	Doglio et al. 1987
	Lactate dehydrogenase	35.0	+	N.D.	3T3-F442A	Spiegelman and Green. 1986
	Phosphoenol pyruvate carboxykinase	N.D.	+ +	+ +	3T3-F442A Ob1771	Dani <i>et al.</i> 1986
	Lipoprotein lipase	N.D.	+	N.D.	ΤΛΙ	Kurten <i>et al</i> . 1988
	Cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase	.U.N	+	N.D.	IVI	Kurten <i>et al</i> . 1988
	Stearoyl-CoA desaturase	N.D	+	+	313-F1	Cook et al. 1985
	Tubulin (α)	N.D.		N.D.	3T3-F442A	Amri et al, 1985
	Unidentified	N.D.	+	N.D.	Ob1771	Amri et al, 1985
(Ailhaud *et al*, 1989). Commitment is characterised by the emergence of mRNAs for the  $\alpha$ 2 chain of type 2 collagen and LPL (Amri *et al*, 1986). In addition, there is an increase in selective long chain fatty acid uptake and mRNA for putative mediators of the transcriptional effects of fatty acids (Abumrad *et al*, 1991; Amri , 1995). At this stage mitogens, such as platelet derived growth factor (PDGF), can block adipose conversion by stimulating cell-cycle re-entry (Corin *et al*, 1990). Therefore, progression to the terminal stages of differentiation requires that G0 cells become refractory to the action of competence factors for mitogenesis (ie PDGF) (Corin *et al*, 1990). This is achieved by the induction of a reversible anti-mitogenic state in growth arrested cells by growth hormone (GH) (Corin *et al*, 1990). G0 cells treated with GH enter a primed state (Gp) in which they become responsive to the promoters of terminal differentiation.

The mechanisms by which mitogens, such as PDGF, and anti-mitogens, such as GH, control cell cycle entry and exit are not yet fully understood but probably involve modulation of G1-phase regulators (Sherr, 1994). Key regulators of G1 progression in mammalian cells include three D-type cyclins (D1, D2 and D3), the expression of which is greatly increased when re-entering S-phase (reviewed by Sherr, 1994). Neutralisation of cyclin D in cells micro-injected with anti-cyclin D antibodies causes cell growth arrest during the G1-phase (Ohtsubo and Roberts, 1993). Cyclin D expression is suppressed in 3T3-F442A preadipocytes (Timchenko *et al*, 1996) treated with GH which may contribute to the priming action of GH in these cells (Baldin *et al*, 1993).

# 1.5.2) Late Events

The process of terminal differentiation is characterised by the induction of late and very late markers, including the enzymes responsible for lipogenesis and triglyceride synthesis, which result in the characteristic lipid droplet accumulation associated with full differentiation (Table 1.2). Although the degree and time course of induction vary among these enzymes, in general the increase in activity is due to a corresponding increase in the synthesis of the respective catalytic subunit (Wise *et al*, 1984). In contrast, synthesis and assembly of major cytoskeletal proteins, such as actin and tubulin, decrease as cells change in morphology (Spiegelman and Farmer, 1982).

The expression of late and very late markers is associated with limited growth resumption of primed (Gp), early marker-expressing cells (Kuri-Harcuch and Marsch-Moreno, 1983; Schmidt *et al*, 1987; Zezulak and Green, 1986). At least one cell doubling has been consistently observed by various investigators using different cell

lines and different culture media, and this process of clonal amplification of committed cells (defined as post-confluent mitoses) is limited both in magnitude and duration (Ailhaud et al, 1989; Gamou and Shimizu, 1986; Kuri-Harcuch and Marsch-Moreno, 1983). Clonal expansion of primed preadipose cells appears to be essential for terminal differentiation (defined by the emergence of GPDH activity) and is stimulated by IGF-I and/or insulin (active at least in part by binding to the IGF-I receptor) (Hauner, 1990; Schmidt et al, 1987; Zezulak and Green, 1986). These observations made in vitro are in agreement with those made *in vivo* by Pilgrim (1971) and Cook and Kozac (1982) concerning the relationships in rodent adipose tissue between cell proliferation and differentiation. As clonal expansion slows the expression of proteins that give rise to the adipocyte phenotype is initiated (Table 1.2). Among the first of these proteins to be expressed is C/EBP $\alpha$ , a nuclear DNA-binding protein that has been implicated in the coordinate transcriptional activation of adipose-specific genes (reviewed by Vasser-Cognet and Lane, 1993; see also section 1.6). In addition, C/EBP $\alpha$  is anti-mitogenic (Tang et al, 1995) and has been implicated in the termination of clonal expansion and maintenance of the terminally differentiated cell (Freytag and Geddes, 1992).

# 1.6) TRANSCRIPTIONAL CONTROL OF PROTEIN EXPRESSION DURING PREADIPOCYTE DIFFERENTIATION

The promoters of many adipocyte specific genes have now been characterised and it is becoming increasingly evident that a number of common features are important for coordinating changes in their transcriptional activity during preadipocyte differentiation. Two families of transcription factors, the C/EBP (CCAAT/enhancer binding protein) family and the PPAR (peroxisome proliferator activator receptor) family (Amri *et al*, 1995; Tontonez *et al*, 1994a) are known to interact with the promoter elements of a number of the best characterised adipocyte genes (Tontonez *et al*, 1995). The temporal and hormonal regulation of transcriptional regulators, such as C/EBPs and PPARs, are thought to contribute critically to the coordination of the adipocyte program (Fig 1.4).

# 1.6.1) Expression of Transcription Factors During Adipogenesis

Three PPAR genes, PPARα (Gearing et al, 1994), PPARδ (Schmidt et al, 1992) and PPARy (Tontonez et al, 1994a Zhu et al, 1993) encode different members of the superfamily of orphan nuclear hormone receptors. PPARyl and PPARy2 are two splice variants of the PPARy gene which are abundantly expressed in white adipose tissues (Vidal-Puig et al, 1996; Zhu et al, 1995). Expression of PPARy1 mRNA is detectable in the stromal fraction of the tissue, presumably in undifferentiated preadipocytes, whereas both PPAR $\gamma$ l and PPAR $\gamma$ 2 are expressed in mature adipocytes (Vidal-Puig et al, 1996). PPARyl and  $\gamma 2$  expression in murine white adipose tissue is down-regulated during fasting, whereas a high-fat diet induces expression (Vidal-Puig et al, 1996). Both PPAR $\gamma$  isoforms are induced very early in several cell culture models of adipogenesis (Amri et al, 1995; Chawla et al, 1994) and ectopic expression of PPARy1 or PPAR $\gamma 2$  in fibroblasts is sufficient to drive the determination of an adipocyte cellular lineage (Tontonez et al, 1994b). Taken together, these observations suggest that both PPAR $\gamma$ 1 and PPAR $\gamma$ 2 might play an important role in the initiation or determination of the adipocyte program in vivo. C/EBPa, while expressed in many tissues in vivo, is also induced during adipogenesis, albeit later in the time-course than PPARγ (Christey et al, 1989). Forced expression of C/EBPα can trigger differentiation in preadipocytes and cause adipogenesis in several fibroblastic cell types (Freytag et al, 1994). When C/EBP $\alpha$  mRNA is expressed at, or near fat cell levels, it powerfully synergises with PPAR $\gamma$  to stimulate adipogenesis (Tontonez et al, 1994b). The important role of C\EBPa in adipogenesis was confirmed in mice in which the C\EBPa gene was disrupted by homologous recombination (Wang et al, 1995); lipid accumulation was found to be severely retarded in adipose tissue from mutant mice.



# Fig 1.4) Expression of Transcription Factors During Adipocyte Development

This scheme is based upon data with 3T3-L1 and 3T3-F442A adipose precursor cells. The acquisition of the adipocyte phenotype is thought to be regulated and maintained by adipogenic transcription factors such as the CCAAT enhancer binding proteins (C/EBP)

 $\alpha$  and peroxisome proliferator activator receptor (PPAR) isoforms. The cytoplasmic signals controlling the induction of these transcription factors in differentiating preadipocytes are initiated by extracellular differentiative factors. The nuclear signal is propagated by *trans*-acting modulators of transcription, such as c-*fos*, c-*jun*, c-*myc* and

the C/EBPs  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ , which are expressed transiently during the time-course of differentiation.

# 1.6.2) Trans-activation of Adipocyte-specific Genes

In addition to C/EBP $\alpha$ , C/EBP  $\beta$  and  $\delta$  are suggested to play an important transient role in early adipocyte differentiation by relaying the effects of hormonal stimulants such as glucocorticoids, GH, insulin and stimulators of the cyclic AMP signalling pathways (Cao *et al*, 1991; Clarkson *et al*, 1995; Yeh *et al*, 1995b). In fact, it was recently demonstrated that C/EBP $\beta$  induces PPAR $\gamma$  expression in the preadipocyte, subsequently triggering differentiation (Wu *et al*, 1995). C/EBP $\beta$  and  $\delta$  are also thought to be involved in the *trans*-activation of the C/EBP $\alpha$  gene (Lane *et al*, 1996).

A dramatic increase in C/EBP $\beta$  and  $\delta$  early in preadipocyte differentiation is preceded by a transient increase in the expression of several immediate-early genes [eg c-fos, cjun and c-myc (Stephens et al, 1992; Stone et al, 1990)]. Homo- and heterodimers of c-jun and c-fos were the first proposed regulators of adipocyte-specific gene expression (Spiegelman et al, 1988). These protein complexes were found to bind to AP-1 consensus sequences in the adipocyte-specific fatty acid binding protein (aP2) gene thereby reducing transcriptional activity (Spiegelman et al, 1988). Transcription of c-fos and c-jun is rapidly induced by GH in both 3T3-F442A (Gurland et al, 1990) and Ob1771 (Barcellini-Couget et al, 1993) preadipocytes which coincides with the GHinduced expression of C/EBP $\beta$  and  $\delta$  (Clarkson *et al*, 1995). In 3T3-L1 preadipocytes both insulin and IGF-I induce expression of c-fos (Weiland et al, 1991). Furthermore, c-fos plays an intermediary role in the modulation of LPL gene expression (Barcellini-Couget et al, 1993). Therefore, it appears that c-fos and c-jun may relay specific "temporal cues" from extracellular stimuli to adipocyte-specific genes. However the complex role that c-fos and c-jun play in controlling gene expression during differentiation is, as yet, not completely understood.

C-myc is involved in the regulation of cellular proliferation (reviewed by Kato and Dang, 1992) and its induction during preadipocyte differentiation accompanies postconfluent mitoses (Christy *et al*, 1991). Following clonal expansion, *c-myc* expression decreases concomitant with transcriptional activation of the C/EBP $\alpha$  gene (Christy *et al*, 1991). The C/EBP $\alpha$  promoter contains a consensus *c-myc* binding site (Christy *et al*, 1991), that can bind *c-myc in vitro* (Legraverend *et al*, 1993), consequently the induction of C/EBP $\alpha$  towards the end of clonal expansion may involve the binding of *c-myc* to its cognate site in the C/EBP $\alpha$  promoter. The C/EBP $\alpha$  promoter also possesses a C/EBP binding site (Christy *et al*, 1991) that apparently mediates *trans*-activation by its own gene product and probably contributes to the maintenance of steady-state levels of C/EBP $\alpha$  in the mature adipocyte (Legraverend *et al*, 1993; Lin *et al*, 1993a). In addition to its role in the termination of clonal expansion, C/EBP $\alpha$  is known to be involved in the transcriptional activation of a number of adipocyte specific genes. Following the expression of C/EBP $\alpha$  transcriptional activation of a large number of adipocyte genes occur (Table 1.1). Many of these genes, including the *ob* gene-product leptin, are *trans*-activated by C/EBP $\alpha$  (Table 1.3). The exact number of genes regulated by C/EBP $\alpha$  during differentiation remains unknown but is estimated to be large. Similarly, PPAR $\gamma$  has been implicated in mediating the expression of fat-specific genes, including aP2 (Tontonoz *et al*, 1994a) and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (Tontonoz *et al*, 1995).

Table 1.3) Adipocyte-specific Genes *Trans*-activated by CCAAT/Enhancer Binding Protein  $\alpha$  During Preadipocyte Differentiation

Gene Product	Reference
Angiotensinogen	Brasier et al, 1990)
Fatty Acid binding Protein (aP2)	Christy et al, 1989
Steroyl CoA Desaturase	Christy et al, 1989
GLUT 4	Kaestner et al, 1990
Phosphoenolpyruvate Carboxykinase	Park <i>et al</i> , 1993
Insulin Receptor	McKeon and Pham, 1991
Leptin	Hwang <i>et al</i> , 1996

In summary, many of the mechanisms which regulate adipocyte differentiation are beginning to be elucidated. However, a great deal of work is still required to delineate the exact roles of individual DNA elements and transcription factors. The identification of adipocyte-specific elements and the factors which regulate them is clearly a fundamental requirement for a complete understanding of the process.

#### **1.7) HORMONAL CONTROL OF DIFFERENTIATION**

The process of cell differentiation is controlled by communication between individual cells or between cells and the extracellular microenvironment. Molecules which mediate this communication include the classic diffusible growth factors that act via specific external receptors to transduce external signals through a cascade of intracellular events (Johnson and Vaillancourt, 1994). The precise combination of hormones and growth factors are not known and likely to vary amongst different cell types. Most of the studies on the role of adipogenic factors (i.e. factors which provide a single differentiative stimulus) have employed preadipocyte cell lines (section 1.4). Identification of factors that affect adipocyte differentiation involves the addition of various hormones and pharmacological agents and determination of the extent of differentiation. This is judged by staining for accumulated lipid, measuring activation of lipogenic enzymes, such as  $\alpha$ -glycero-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, or by measuring the expression of adipocyte specific genes. Early studies were performed on cells differentiated in the presence of serum which made interpretation of results difficult. Several laboratories have developed chemically defined media (Guller *et al*, 1988; Hauner 1990; Schmidt et al, 1990) and have implicated GH, glucocorticoids, triiodothyronine (T<sub>3</sub>), cyclic AMP-elevating agents, insulin and IGF-I as possessing adipogenic activities.

Clearly a great deal of information is required to enable us to understand the molecular mechanisms which allow these factors to control differentiation and permit the cell to assume the metabolic functions of a mature adipocyte. Inevitably, no single signalling event or molecular change can alone account for the differentiation process, but rather many such events will control this complex process. What is apparent is that signal-transduction cascades control transcription of both immediate and delayed early-response genes which ultimately leads to coordinated changes in the transcription of differentiation associated gene networks (Johnson and Vaillancourt, 1994). The signal transduction cascades controlling these responses often utilise sequential protein-kinase reactions such as the protein kinase A cascade (section 1.7.3.3), or those initiated at the GH and insulin receptors (section 1.7.2.4). Alternatively, some hormones interact directly with nuclear receptors containing transcriptional modulatory domains (section 1.7.4).

# 1.7.1) Agents which Signal via Nuclear Receptors

# **1.7.1.1)** Triiodothyronine $(T_3)$

It has been known for some time that blood levels of thyroid hormones can affect adipose tissue development; hyperthyroidism provokes an increase in the cellularity of adipose tissue during development, whereas hypothyroidism exerts the opposite effect (Levacher *et al*, 1984; Levacher *et al*, 1985; Picon and Levacher, 1979). In addition, it has been suggested that the hyperplasia in white adipose tissue, provoked by thyroid hormone, resulted from an earlier differentiation of preadipocytes and not from an increased preadipocyte multiplication (Levacher *et al*, 1984).

Little is known about thyroid hormone action on adipose cell lines. T<sub>3</sub> appears essential for the differentiation of Ob17 cells in both serum-supplemented and serum-free conditions (Grimaldi *et al*, 1982), where it provokes an increase in lipogenic enzyme activities (Gharbi-Chchi *et al*, 1983). Conversely, in 3T3-F442A cells, it appears that T<sub>3</sub> does not act as an adipogenic factor by itself, but may rather act in synergy with true adipogenic factors (Flores-Delgado *et al*, 1987). This is the case in cultured porcine preadipocytes where T<sub>3</sub> acts synergistically with insulin to promote differentiation (Hausman, 1989). Consistent with its regulatory role in lipid metabolism *in vivo* (Czech *et al*, 1980; Mariash *et al*, 1975), T<sub>3</sub> has been shown to act during preadipocyte differentiation to induce the expression of many proteins involved in the regulation of lipid metabolism, including fatty acid synthase, GPDH, malic enzyme and the  $\beta_3$ adrenoceptor (Flores-Delgado *et al*, 1987; Hadri *et al*, 1996; Hausdorf *et al*, 1988; Moustaid and Sul, 1991). In this respect, T<sub>3</sub> is thought to exert its effects transiently, during the early stages of terminal differentiation, by stimulating *de novo* fatty acid synthesis and triglyceride accumulation (Ailhaud, 1982; Levacher and Picon, 1989;).

# 1.7.1.2) Glucocorticoids

Steroid hormones are able to influence body fat mass by their regulation of metabolism in adipocytes. In rats the triglyceride amounts in adipocytes is decreased by injection of the synthetic glucocorticoid dexamethasone (DEX; Steingrimsdottir *et al*, 1980) probably by directly regulating the lipolytic pathway (Lai *et al*, 1982). Paradoxically, glucocorticoids in chronic excess, such as in Cushing's syndrome associated with hyperinsulinemia, is associated with fat depot-specific increases in fat mass (Rebuffé-Scrive *et al*, 1985). The role of glucocorticoids in adipogenesis has received little attention, but a small number of studies on different preadipocyte cell types have also produced conflicting results. DEX addition after confluence and in the presence of insulin has been shown to increase cellular differentiation of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes (Rubin *et al*, 1978; Schivek and Löffler, 1987) and primary cultured adipose precursors of rats (Xu and Björntorp; 1990) and humans (Hauner *et al*, 1989). Inhibitory effects of DEX on terminal differentiation have been reported on 3T3-F442A preadipocytes (Pairault and Lasnier, 1987) and insulin counteracted the DEX effects here. From studies such as these it is becoming increasingly apparent that the different results obtained *in vitro* are due to the varying conditions employed, namely the type of medium used, the time-point of DEX addition and the presence of insulin (Xu and Björntorp, 1990). Differential effects of glucocorticoids on cell-types from different anatomical locations, both *in vivo* and *in vitro*, may also explain discrepancies between various reports.

## 1.7.1.3) Fatty Acids and Retinoids

In recent years it has become clear that fatty acids and retinoids act through related nuclear receptors to directly regulate gene expression (see section 1.7.1.4). Adipose tissue represents the major storage organ for triglyceride in the body (Angel et al, 1974). Furthermore, studies on rat adipose depots have shown that serum retinolbinding protein and cellular retinol-binding protein are expressed at high levels, strongly suggesting that adipose tissue is also a major tissue for retinol storage (Okino et al, 1995). Given this abundant source of putative transcriptional regulators, it is likely that these factors should play a predominant modulatory role in the adipose conversion of preadipocytes in vivo. Indeed, fatty acids and retinoids at very low concentrations co-operate synergistically to promote the terminal differentiation of Ob1771 preadipose cells (Safonova *et al*, 1994a) and co-regulate 3T3-L1 preadipocyte proliferation, differentiation and survival (Chawla and Lasar, 1994). Fatty acid treatment of preadipocytes induces expression of several genes encoding proteins implicated in fatty acid metabolism. These include the adipocyte lipid-binding protein, aP2 (Distel et al, 1992), the acyl CoA synthase (Amri et al, 1991), the acetyl CoA synthase (Amri *et al*, 1991) and a recently cloned membrane protein involved in fatty acid binding and transport (Abumrad et al, 1993). Similarly, whereas retinoids are ineffective on the expression of early marker genes they are extremely effective in inducing late markers of preadipocyte differentiation (Safonova et al, 1994b).

# 1.7.1.4) Nuclear Hormone Receptors

Critical to the signalling of retinoids, fatty acids, thyroid and glucocorticoid hormones is a group of related nuclear hormone receptors (Corsa-Junica, 1990; Evans, 1988; Green and Chambon, 1988). Studies on the specific receptors for retinoids, glucocorticoid and thyroid hormones have revealed that each receptor undergoes a structural alteration, or "transformation", upon hormone binding, which in turn enables DNA binding (Carlstedt-Duke *et al*, 1982; Wrang-Ökret, *et al*, 1984). Transcriptional regulation by active nuclear receptors is mediated by direct interaction with specific *cis*-acting DNA sequences, or DNA-protein complexes, in the promoter regions of target genes (Evans 1988; Karin *et al*, 1984).

These sequences, or hormone response elements (HREs), function in a position- or orientation-independent fashion and thus behave like transcriptional enhancers (Chandler *et al*, 1983). For example, a glucocorticoid response element sequence can be found in the aP2 gene of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes, which may be responsible for transcriptional induction by DEX during adipose conversion (Cook *et al*, 1988). Typically, HREs have an apparent dyad symmetry which suggests that they interact with receptor dimers. This is true of fatty acid-activated nuclear receptors, such as PPAR $\gamma$ 2, which form heterodimeric complexes with retinoid receptors which can then bind corresponding HREs in adipocyte-specific genes (Amri *et al*, 1995; Tontonez *et al*, 1994). Despite our current understanding of nuclear hormone receptor action, we are still far from discerning how multiple receptor isoforms interact to coordinate gene network expression during such a complex biological phenomenon as adipogenesis.

## 1.7.2) Peptide Growth Factors and Hormones

## 1.7.2.1) Growth Hormone (GH)

Pituitary GH regulates the number of fat cells in both man and animals. The findings that GH-deficient children have less fat cells than normal children, and that hormonal replacement in these children shifts adipose tissue cellularity towards normal, indicate that GH is important for the development of the human fat cell complement (Wabitsh and Heinze, 1993). In addition, patients with hypopituitary dwarfism have a reduced number of adipose cells, even though fat cell mass is large, whereas hypophysectomised rats, when administered with GH, develop reduced fat cell mass but increased cellularity (Lindahl *et al*, 1991). Moreover, treatment of rats with antiserum to rat GH results in a reduction in adipocyte numbers in a depot specific manner (Flint and Gardner, 1993). A direct permissive role for GH in the differentiation process has been demonstrated in Ob17,  $10T^{1}/_{2}$  and, under serum free conditions, in 3T3-F442A and 3T3-L1 preadipocytes (Grimaldi *et al*, 1984; Guller *et al*, 1988; Morikawa *et al*, 1982; Nixon and Green, 1983; Schmidt *et al*, 1990).

The exact mechanism by which GH exerts its adipogenic effects in preadipocytes is far from being understood. It has been shown that GH induces a rapid and transient stimulation of c-fos gene transcription in Ob1771 cells (Doglio et al, 1989) and c-fos and c-jun in 3T3-L1 and 3T3-F442A cells (Sumantran et al, 1992). This coincides with transcriptional activation of C/EBPS and translational activation of C/EBPB, which may contribute to the initiation of the differentiation program (Clarkson *et al*, 1995; section 1.6). However, part of the GH effect could be attributed to IGF-I, since GH has been shown to induce IGF-I gene expression in Ob1771 (Doglio et al, 1987) and rat preadipocytes (Wabitsch et al, 1996) and to increase sensitivity of 3T3-F442A cells to the action of IGF-I (Zezulak and Green, 1986). IGF-I, in turn has been reported to promote adipose conversion of clonal cell lines (Guller et al, 1989; Smith et al, 1988). In rat preadipocytes, GH-induced IGF-I production stimulates a round of cell division during differentiation (Wabitsch et al, 1996). This observation is in full agreement with the dual effector theory of Green et al (1985) which was originally devised to explain the differentiation of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes in culture. According to this theory, GH first directly stimulates adipocyte differentiation, then the number of young, differentiated cells is increased by limited multiplication (clonal expansion) mediated by the mitotic effects of IGF-I.

Quite often, the net effect of adding GH to cultures of differentiating preadipocytes is a reduction in the proportion of newly formed adipocytes and late markers of differentiation (Hausman and Martin, 1989; Wabitsch *et al*, 1996). The inhibitory effect of GH on preadipocyte differentiation is due to disturbance of glucose and lipid metabolism both during the differentiative phase and in the mature fat cell (Fain *et al*, 1985; Goodman *et al*, 1990; Schwartz and Carter-Su, 1988; Wabitsch *et al*, 1996). Therefore the effect of GH on preadipocyte differentiation appears to be differential. GH acts at an early stage to prime preadipocytes and contributes to their expansion by inducing local production and secretion of IGF-I. At later stages the actions of GH aim generally at reducing the lipid content of adipocytes, thereby limiting adipose tissue size. The biphasic action of GH on adipogenesis is certainly not unique. The accumulated evidence from a number of sources suggests that EGF (section 1.7.2.3), glucocorticoids (section 1.7.1.2) and cyclic AMP (section 1.7.3.1) may also exert stage-specific, differential effects.

# 1.7.2.2) Insulin

Developing adipocytes became highly responsive to insulin. The increase in insulin responsiveness has been attributed to an increase in insulin receptor number (Rubin *et al*, 1978) and to increased expression of proteins involved in metabolic control which

serve as an end-point for regulation by insulin eg GLUT 4 and ACC (Park and Kim, 1991). Insulin is required for the adipocyte differentiation of 3T3-F442A, 3T3-L1 and Ob17 cells (Doglio *et al*, 1986; Smith *et al*, 1988; Guller *et al*, 1988). It is thought not to be involved in commitment to differentiate (Steinberg and Brownstein, 1982), but as an enhancer of lipid synthesis in previously committed cells, thereby promoting the characteristic lipid filling of immature adipocytes (Smith *et al*, 1988). In this respect, insulin acts as a positive modulator in the expression of late enzyme markers involved in triglyceride metabolism, such as phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase and  $\alpha$ -glycero-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (Dani *et al*, 1986). Furthermore, in 3T3-F442A adipocytes, insulin has been shown to increase the expression of PPAR $\gamma$ 1 and  $\gamma$ 2 and regulate the transcription of C/EBPs (MacDougald *et al*, 1995; Puig *et al*, 1996). This raises the intriguing possibility that insulin serves to modulate the activity of these critical adipogenic transcription factors during the time-course of preadipocyte differentiation.

To optimise adipose conversion in preadipocyte cell systems insulin is often used at supraphysiological concentrations where effects may be mediated via the IGF-I receptor (Guller *et al*, 1988). Furthermore, the addition of IGF-I to preadipocyte cell lines (Schmidt *et al*, 1990; Smith *et al*, 1988) and to preadipocytes in primary culture (Deslex *et al*, 1987; Hausman, 1989; Nougués *et al*, 1993) stimulates adipogenesis *in vitro*. It has recently been demonstrated that rat adipose tissue *in vivo* abundantly expresses IGF-I in addition to IGF-binding proteins (Peter *et al*, 1993), which are believed to control IGF bioavailability and thus modulate IGF action (McCusker and Clemmons, 1992; Shimasaki and Ling, 1992). Therefore, there may exist a subtle interplay between the insulin and IGF-I receptors to modulate the maximal expression of terminal differentiation.

# 1.7.2.3) Epidermal Growth Factor (EGF)

The peptide growth factor EGF has been reported as being one of the growth factors, such as PDGF (Fig 1.3; Ringold *et al*, 1988), to inhibit the entry of preadipocytes into a program of *in vitro* differentiation (Corin *et al*, 1990; Serraro, 1987). Moreover, administration of EGF to neonatal rats suppresses body weight gain and carcass fat deposition due to an increase in the number of mature adipocytes (Serrero and Mills, 1991). This is contrary to the finding that EGF is required for the maintenance of 3T3-F442A and 3T3-L1 preadipocyte differentiation (Guller *et al*, 1988; Schmidt *et al*, 1994) and that elevated EGF levels are a causative factor for adipocyte hypertrophy in obese mice (Kurachi *et al*, 1993). These apparent paradoxes can be explained by the fact that EGF shows sequential changes in its effects during preadipocyte differentiation

(Adachi *et al*, 1994). EGF has been shown to promote the insulin-supported accumulation of triglycerides in primed preadipocytes, however at an earlier stage EGF inhibits the adiposity of preadipocytes by enforcing cell-cycle re-entry (Fig 1.3; Adachi *et al*, 1994). A possible explanation for the potentiating action of EGF on lipid accumulation in differentiating preadipocytes is that EGF reduces catecholamine-mediated lipolysis (Taber *et al*, 1993).

# 1.7.2.4) Growth Hormone (GH) and Insulin Signalling Cascades

Given the critical roles of GH and insulin in promoting and maintaining adipogenesis (sections 1.7.2.1 and 1.7.2.2) it is apparent that elucidation of their respective signalling mechanisms will be critical to understanding the mechanisms of action of these hormones. Early transduction events appear to be common to both the GH and insulin receptors and involve tyrosine phosphorylation of several cellular proteins, including the so-called insulin-receptor substrate (IRS-I) (Anderson, 1992; Souza et al, 1994; Sun et al, 1991; White et al, 1985; White et al, 1987). Unlike the insulin receptor (Kasug et al, 1983), the GH receptor lacks intrinsic tyrosine kinase activity (Leung et al, 1987), but instead stimulates the activity of JAK-2, a tyrosine kinase that associates with the cytoplasmic domain of the activated GH receptor (Argetsinger et al, 1993). Putative substrates for JAK-2 in 3T3-F442A preadipocytes include 91 kDa (Stat 91) and 84 kDa components of the ISGF3 transcription factor complex that, when tyrosine phosphorylated, migrate to the nucleus and participate in the activation of gene transcription (Kilgour and Anderson, 1994; Sadowski et al, 1993). The precise consequences of ISGF3 activation by GH in terms of preadipocyte differentiation remain to be investigated.

A further point of divergence between the GH and insulin signalling pathways is at the level of protein kinase C (PKC; Clemens *et al*, 1992). Insulin is not thought to activate this pathway, however in Ob1771 preadipocytes GH has been reported to stimulate diacylglycerol (DAG) production, by means of phosphatidylcholine breakdown, leading to PKC activation (Catalioto *et al*, 1990; Catalioto *et al*, 1992). Activation of the PKC pathway in Ob1771 preadipocytes is thought to contribute to the adipogenic actions of GH in this cell type (Catalioto *et al*, 1992). The mechanism by which GH stimulates production of DAG from phosphatidylcholine is not known, but a pertussistoxin sensitive phospholipase C activity, specific for glycerophospholipids other than phosphoinositol, has been implicated (Catalioto *et al*, 1990), Down-stream targets of GH-activated PKCs may include the mitogen activated protein (MAP) kinase cascade (Adams and Parker, 1991; Anderson 1992) and/or the phosphorylation of components of the transcriptional and translational machinery (Boyle *et al*, 1991; Morley *et al*,

1991). These effects are likely to result in changes in gene expression at both the transcriptional and translational levels.

Recently it has emerged that activation of the MAP kinase cascade (Fig 1.5), a signalling pathway used by mitogenic and differentiative agents, is absolutely required for the adipose conversion of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes (Sale *et al*, 1995). Here, tyrosine phosphorylation of the receptor, or receptor-associated molecule (eg JAK-2 or IRS-I), directs the association of transducing molecules *via* phosphotyrosyl-binding domains, termed SH2 and SH3 (Pawson and Gish, 1992). The association of adapter proteins, such as Grb2, ultimately leads to activation of the small GTP-binding protein Ras (Buddy and Downward, 1993). Ras then triggers a protein kinase cascade, involving the sequential activation of two kinases Raf and MEK (Kyriakis et al, 1992), leading to activation of MAP kinase by threonyl- and tyrosyl- phosphorylation (Ray and Sturgill, 1988). Activated MAP kinase can translocate into the nucleus where it targets a range of substrates including the nuclear transcription factor p62<sup>TCF</sup>, having important implications for the regulation of gene expression (Hill and Treisman, 1995). Both GH and insulin have been shown to activate the MAP kinase pathway (Anderson, 1992; Ray and Sturgill, 1988) but the role of these events in the adipogenic actions of these hormones is not defined. Since MAP-kinases and other elements in this pathway exist in multiple isoforms, it will be necessary to clarify which isoforms are targeted by which hormone.

Other considerations, such as time of activation and subcellular localisation, are also likely to be important (Marshall, 1995). The duration of MAP kinase activation has been shown to be a determining factor in the decision of cells to differentiate or proliferate (Marshall, 1995); sustained activations provoke nuclear translocation of MAP kinases and cellular differentiation, whereas transient activations stimulate cell cycle re-entry. The duration of MAP kinase activation can be modulated, either positively or negatively, by regulatory "cross-talk" with other signalling pathways, such as the cyclic AMP cascade (Malarkey *et al*, 1995; Marshall,1995). Given the importance of cyclic AMP in transducing differentiative signals (section 1.7.3.1), it is plausible that interactions with crucial growth cascades, such as the GH- and insulinstimulated MAP kinase pathways, could contribute to the effects of cyclic AMP on preadipocyte differentiation.



# Fig 1.5) Immediate Regulation of the Mitogen Activated Protein (MAP) Kinase Cascade

The seryl/threoyl kinase Raf is activated by association with the G-protein Ras. Raf phosphorylates and activates the dual specificity threonyl/tyrosyl kinase MEK which phosphorylates and activates MAP kinases (MAPK). Potential sites for regulation by phosphatases are also shown.

# 1.7.3) Cyclic AMP

The actions of many hormones and neurotransmitters are mediated at the cellular level by cyclic AMP. The intracellular concentrations of cyclic AMP are regulated by adenylate cyclase and cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases, enzyme systems responsible for the formation and destruction of cyclic AMP (Fig 1.6; Gilman, 1987). Stimulatory and inhibitory receptors transmit extracellular stimuli *via* stimulatory ( $G_s$ ) or inhibitory ( $G_i$ ) guanine nucleotide binding proteins (G-proteins) to the catalytic unit of adenylate cyclase, which catalyses the formation of cyclic AMP from ATP (Vaughan and Moss, 1985). Several adenylate cyclase isoforms have been identified and characterised and it appears that all are membrane proteins (Bakalayer and Reed, 1990). Cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases (PDEs) convert cyclic nucleotides to their respective 5' mononucleotides and represent the only known pathways for the destruction and metabolism of cyclic nucleotides. The PDEs comprise a complex group of enzymes, multiple forms of which have been isolated from various tissues and celltypes (Beavo and Reifsnyder, 1990).

# 1.7.3.1) Cyclic AMP-elevating Agents

 $\beta$ -adrenoceptors are integral transmembrane receptors that mediate the effects of catecholamines secreted from the adrenal medulla and postganglionic sympathetic neurones (Lefkowitz, 1976). Receptor occupancy by catecholamines allows the  $\beta$ adrenoceptor to couple to the G<sub>s</sub> protein complex which promotes cyclic AMP production by adenylate cyclase (Fig 1.6). In turn, cyclic AMP exerts a key role in processes such as cellular growth, differentiation and adaptations to environmental conditions (Pastan et al, 1975). These processes are regulated in a tissue- and/or cellspecific manner (Pastan et al, 1975). Thus in white adipose tissue it is well documented that, essentially through the  $\beta$ -adrenoceptors, cyclic AMP has pleiotropic effects in the control of adipocyte differentiation and metabolism. In white adipose cell lines (Gaillard et al, 1989; Schmidt et al, 1990) or in the primary culture of adipose precursors (Björntorp et al, 1980; Wiederer and Löffler, 1987), β-agonists or cyclic AMP are wellknown triggers of adipose conversion. In vivo, local denervation of white adipose lead to a marked hyperplasia of adipocyte precursors demonstrating that catecholamines exert an anti-mitogenic (ie pro-differentiative) influence on early-marker expressing preadipocytes (Cousin et al, 1993).

In addition to adrenergic regulation, adipose tissue may also influence its own adiposity through autocrine mechanisms by local production of cyclic AMP-elevating agents (Shilabeer *et al*, 1989). Angiotensin is a locally produced peptide secreted by



Fig 1.6) The Mammalian Adenylate Cyclase/Phosphodiesterase System. The actions of many hormones and neurotransmitters are mediated *via* cyclic AMP. The intracellular concentrations of cyclic AMP are regulated by adenylate cyclase and cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases, enzymes responsible for the formation and destruction of cyclic AMP, respectively. The adenylate cyclase system consists of a series of interacting proteins which lie predominantly in the plane of cellular membranes. Stimulatory and inhibitory effectors transmit their signals *via* stimulatory and inhibitory receptors coupled to heterotrimeric guanine nucleotide binding (G-) proteins. The activation status of adenylate cyclase, which catalyses the formation of cyclic AMP from ATP, is determined by the net actions of stimulatory- ( $G_s$ ) and inhibitory- ( $G_{i2}$  and  $G_{i3}$  in preadipocytes) G-proteins. Cyclic AMP produces biological effects by activating cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase (PKA) which phosphorylates specific substrates involved in the regulation of the biological response.

adipocytes whose expression is regulated nutritionally (Fredrich et al, 1992). Microdialysis of rat adipose tissue in vivo with angiotensin stimulates a specific increase in the production of the prostaglandin prostacyclin (Ailhaud et al, 1994). Prostacyclin has been shown to be a potent inducer of intracellular cyclic AMP and free intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> in preadipocytes (Vassaux et al, 1992; Vassaux et al, 1993). These two signalling pathways synergise to play a cardinal role in triggering terminal differentiation of preadipose Ob17 cells, as well as modulating positively the differentiation of rat, human and 3T3-F442A preadipocytes (Négrel et al, 1989). Adenosine is another small molecule produced in adipose tissue which has been shown to potentiate the positive effect of prostacyclin on adipogenesis in Ob1771 and rat preadipocytes by *positively* coupling to adenylate cyclase through a type A<sub>2</sub> adenosine receptor (Vassaux et al, 1993). In mature adipocytes the adipogenic action of both prostacyclin and adenosine disappears, since adipocytes do not express prostacyclin receptors and the adenosine A<sub>1</sub> receptor emerges, coupled *negatively* to adenylate cyclase through  $G_i$ , and the  $A_2$  receptor subtype disappears (Vassaux *et al*, 1992; Vassaux et al, 1993). These observations indicate that the differentiative effects of elevated intracellular cyclic AMP and Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilisation, promoted by prostacyclin and adenosine, are transient and restricted to the preadipose cell. Brief exposure of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes to cyclic AMP phosphodiesterase inhibitors [such as isobutylmethylxanthine (IBMX)] accelerates their adipose conversion in serumcontaining or serum-free media (Elks and Manganiello, 1988; Schmidt et al, 1990). IBMX can be replaced by cyclic AMP analogues, or activators of adenylate cyclase, demonstrating that the potentiating action of intracellular cyclic AMP on preadipocyte differentiation can be dissociated from Ca<sup>2+</sup> mobilisation.

# 1.7.3.2) Heterotrimeric Guanine Nucleotide-binding Proteins (Gproteins).

The hormonal stimulation of fatty acid and glycerol release from adipose tissue correlates with elevated intracellular cyclic AMP levels and an increase in the activity of hormone sensitive lipase (Kawamura *et al*, 1981). This characteristic and functionally important enzyme of adipose tissue controls rates of lipid mobilisation and is activated by phosphorylation on specific serine residues by cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase (Kawamura *et al*, 1981). During differentiation, 3T3-L1 cells develop catecholamine-sensitive adenylate cyclase activity in parallel with increased numbers of  $\beta$ -receptors and increased expression of the stimulatory GTP-binding protein G<sub>s</sub> (Cai and Rosen, 1981). The initial report on this topic demonstrated a dramatic increase in the levels of the 47 kDa and 42 kDa forms of G<sub>sta</sub>, as detected by cholera toxin-catalysed ADP-ribosylation (Cai and Rosen, 1981). This observation was confirmed by subsequent

studies on the same cells (Watkins et al, 1982; Watkins et al, 1987) and in 3T3-F442A cells (Kilgour and Anderson, 1993). Although the increased expression of the 42 kDa  $G_{s\alpha}$  isoform is the most profound, the specific functions of the 42 kDa or 47 kDa isoform are not known and so the significance of this is unclear at present. Exposure of non-differentiating 3T3-C2 cells to the same differentiation protocol for 3T3-L1 cells, also results in the increased expression of 42 kDa and 47 kDa  $G_{s\alpha}$  isoforms, however, without increased responsiveness of adenylate cyclase to lipolytic agents (Watkins et al, 1982). This indicates that changes in  $G_{s\alpha}$  can not alone account for the magnitude of increased responsiveness of 3T3-L1 cells to  $\beta$ -adrenergic agonists. A reduction in cellular levels of the alpha subunit of the inhibitory GTP-binding protein, G<sub>i</sub> may also contribute (Giershik et al, 1986). However, studies of Gi expression have vielded some conflicting results. Watkins et al (1987) reported that during differentiation of 3T3-L1 cells, an increase in the levels of 40 kDa  $\alpha$ -subunits occurred, as detected by pertussis toxin-catalysed ADP-ribosylation, whereas Giershik et al (1986) reported a significant decrease in the levels of  $G_{i\alpha}$  plus  $G_{o\alpha}$  detected with an antiserum raised to these purified subunits.

The cellular levels of  $\beta$ -subunits have been reported to both decrease (Giershik *et al*, 1986) and increase (Watkins *et al*, 1982) during differentiation. These discrepancies may be explained by the fact that pertussis toxin catalyses the ribosylation of  $G_{i1\alpha}$ ,  $G_{i2\alpha}$ ,  $G_{i3\alpha}$  and  $G_{\alpha\alpha}$  and is dependent on the dissociative state of the G-protein. In addition, the difficulty in obtaining homogeneous preparations, free of contamination by other G-protein subunits, for the raising of specific antisera rendered the interpretation of these early data very difficult. However, in a later report Watkins *et al* (1989), using antipeptide antisera, specific for  $G_{i2\alpha}$  and  $G_{\beta 1}$  and  $G_{\beta 2}$ , demonstrated a decrease in expression of these proteins and corresponding mRNA levels during differentiation of 3T3-L1 cells.

Although it is clear that extracellular ligands can control adipogenesis by modulating adenylate cyclase activity through  $G_{s^-}$  or  $G_i$ -coupled receptors, it has become apparent that these heterotrimeric G-proteins may exert additional regulatory influences on preadipocyte differentiation independent of adenylate cyclase (Wang and Malbon, 1996). Oligodeoxynucleotides in an antisense orientation to the  $\alpha$ -subunit of  $G_s$  were shown to accelerate the rate of differentiation of 3T3-L1 cell differentiation induced by other agents, as well as acting as inducers themselves (Wang *et al*, 1992). Conversely, constitutive activation of  $G_{stx}$  with cholera toxin was found to provoke a blockade of differentiation, whereas cyclic AMP-elevating agents were reported, in this instance, to have no effect on differentiation (Wang *et al*, 1992). Increased expression of a constitutively active mutant form of  $G_i$  (Q205L- $G_{i2\alpha}$ ), whose activity counter-regulates  $G_{s\alpha}$ , also promotes terminal differentiation of fibroblasts to adipocytes (Su *et al*, 1993). These data which parallel studies in mouse F9 teratocarcinoma stem cells (Watkins *et al*, 1992), and studies on the suppression of  $G_i$  *in vivo* in transgenic mice (Moxam *et al*, 1992), highlight a critical role of G-proteins in differentiation and development.

The domain responsible for the repression of adipogenesis in the  $G_{s\alpha}$  protein (amino acids 146-235) was found to map to a region which was distinct from that which facilitated control of adenylate cyclase (Wang *et al*, 1996a). It is interesting to note that a mutant substituting valine for glycine at position 49 of  $G_{s\alpha}$  was found to promote neuronal PC12 cell differentiation independently of adenylate cyclase activation (Kabir *et al*, 1993). In addition to adenylate cyclase, Mg<sup>2+</sup>-transport (Birnbaumer *et al*, 1990; Gilman, 1987) and Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels (Birnbaumer *et al*, 1990; Gilman, 1987) have been implicated as effector units regulated *via*  $G_{s\alpha}$ . Whether these, or other effectors which have yet to be discovered, mediated the negative regulatory action of  $G_{s\alpha}$  in light of overwhelming evidence supporting cyclic AMP as a regulator of adipogenesis (section 1.7.3.1).

# 1.7.3.3) The cyclic AMP-dependent Protein Kinase (PKA) Cascade

Cyclic AMP mediates its biological effects through a protein serine/threonine phosphorylation-dephosphorylation system, composed of a cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase (PKA; Walsh *et al*, 1968) and a cognate protein phosphatase (Krebs and Beavo, 1979). The PKA holoenzyme consists of two identical cyclic AMP binding subunits and two protein-phosphorylating subunits (Rosen *et al*, 1975). The phosphorylating, or catalytic (C), subunits are active only when dissociated from the holoenzyme complex. Dissociation is promoted by the interaction of cyclic AMP with the nucleotide binding regulatory (R) subunits (Brostrom *et al*, 1970). The degree of phosphorylation of substrate proteins can therefore be related to the level of cyclic AMP within the cell. In mice there are four R genes (encoding RI $\alpha$ , RI $\beta$ , RII $\alpha$  and RII $\beta$ ) and two C genes (encoding C $\alpha$  and C $\beta$ ) which are expressed in a tissue specific manner (McKnight, 1991). The RII $\beta$  isoform is abundant in adipose tissue and brain with limited expression elsewhere (McKnight, 1991).

PKA plays a fundamental role in mature adipocytes by mediating the regulation of lipolysis by catecholamines (Honnor *et al*, 1985a; Honnor *et al*, 1985b). In addition the regulation of fatty acid transport (Abumrad *et al*, 1986) and aromatase activity (Evans *et al*, 1970) by hormones is mediated, at least in part, by PKA. These facts, together with

observations that cyclic AMP positively regulates adipogenesis early in the differentiation program (section 1.7.3.1), indicate that induction of the relevant machinery for cyclic AMP signalling is essential to the expression of a differentiated adipose phenotype. During the adipocyte conversion of murine TA1 preadipocytes it has been shown that regulated increases in the expression of RII $\beta$ , and to a lesser extent C $\alpha$  and RI $\beta$ , precede morphological differentiation (Kurten *et al*, 1988). Moreover, transgenic ablation of the RII $\beta$  subunit of protein kinase A leads to morphologically lean mice which display smaller adipocytes than their wild-type counterparts with substantially diminished triglyceride stores (Cummings *et al*, 1996). These observations indicate that regulated changes in PKA subunit expression, particularly RII $\beta$ , can have a major impact on the developmental program of adipocyte maturation.

The subcellular localisation of PKA is directed through the R-subunit (Sarkar *et al*, 1984) and certain tissues contain up to 75% of either RII isoform in particulate form, associated with either the plasma membrane, cytoskeletal components, secretory granules or the nuclear membrane (Joachim and Schwoch, 1990; ; Nigg *et al*, 1985;; Rubin *et al*, 1972; Salvatori *et al*, 1972). Following their induction in TA1 preadipocytes, PKA subunits are predominantly associated with a reticular cytoplasmic structure abutting the nucleus (Kurten *et al*, 1988). This raises the exciting possibility that specific targeting of PKA to nuclear-associated RII $\beta$ -anchoring proteins directs cyclic AMP-mediated signalling to adipocyte-specific substrates, perhaps modulators of adipogenesis *per se*.

# 1.7.3.4) Transcriptional Regulation by Cyclic AMP

The transcription of several adipocyte-specific genes, have been shown to be upregulated by cyclic AMP during adipose conversion. These include  $\alpha$ -glycero-3phosphate dehydrogenase (Bhandari *et al*, 1991), acetyl-CoA dehydrogenase (ACC; Park and Kim, 1991) and fatty acid binding protein (aP2; Yang *et al*, 1989). The regions of the 5' flanking sequences of the ACC and aP2 genes which are necessary for regulation by cyclic AMP have been partially characterised.

ACC gene expression is induced during preadipocyte differentiation by insulin, and this requires prior action of cyclic AMP on the gene (Park and Kim, 1991). The DNA sequence responsible for cyclic AMP action on ACC induction has been identified as one which binds the activator protein (AP)-2 transcription factor (Park and Kim, 1993). AP-2 can be phosphorylated by PKA, but this does not affect its binding activity (Park and Kim, 1993), i.e. unphosphorylated AP-2 can bind the ACC promoter region as well as the phosphorylated form. This suggests that phosphorylation of transcription

factors by the cyclic AMP-PKA cascade may modulate differentiation-dependent transcriptional events through mechanisms other than DNA-binding.

The up regulation of aP2 gene expression only occurs in confluent, differentiation permissive preadipocytes and seems to depend on the presence of activator protein (AP) 1 and C/EBP consensus sequences in the promoter region (Yang *et al*, 1989). Intriguingly, part of the action of cyclic AMP on the triggering of preadipocyte differentiation may be the induction of the adipogenic transcription factor C/EBP $\beta$  (Yeh *et al*, 1995). Moreover, C/EBP $\beta$  has been shown in non-preadipocyte cell systems to be located in the cytoplasm where it is phosphorylated in response to elevations in intracellular cyclic AMP (Metz and Ziff, 1991; Yamamoto *et al*, 1988). This results in increased nuclear translocation and enhanced *trans*-activation of target genes (Metz and Ziff, 1991; Yamamoto *et al*, 1988). These observations, together with the fact that C/EBP family members form heterodimers with other transcription factors (Vallejo *et al*, 1993) including the CREB (cyclic AMP-response-element-binding protein) family, strongly suggest that functional cross-talk with C/EBPs may contribute to the effects of cyclic AMP on differentiation-associated transcription.

The transcription factor CREB has been shown in many cell systems to mediate transcriptional activation by cyclic AMP. Elevated intracellular cyclic AMP leads to phosphorylation of CREB by PKA at a key regulatory site (Ser 133; Gonzalez and Montminy, 1989; Lee et al, 1990; Sheng et al, 1991). This leads to nuclear translocation and activation of transcription through the binding of CREB proteins to cyclic AMP response elements (CREs) in target genes (Hagiwara et al, 1993). Phospho-CREB also interacts with a CREB-binding protein (CBP) which performs as a transcriptional co-activator which augments expression of CRE-directed genes and may be important for the activation AP-1 dependent promoters (Arias et al, 1994; Kwok et al, 1994). Curiously, many cyclic AMP-regulated adipocyte-specific genes do not contain CRE elements (Flores-Riveros et al, 1993) or contain CRE elements which do not contribute to cyclic AMP-responsiveness (Park and Kim, 1993). Therefore, it seems that gene-induction by cyclic AMP during preadipocyte differentiation may not be mediated solely by CREB. However, given that CREB can cooperate with other transcription factors, such as AP-1 and C/EBP, can be phosphorylated by a number of other protein kinases, including protein kinase C, CaM kinases II and IV, and p90RSK (Ginty et al, 1994; Gonzalez and Montminy, 1989; Sheng et al, 1991; Sun et al, 1994) suggests that CREB may serve to integrate and coordinate divergent signalling pathways at the transcriptional level. The consequences of such interactions in terms of preadipocyte differentiation remain to be investigated.

In contrast, to its effects on preadipocytes cyclic AMP appears to modulate terminal differentiation by repressing the expression of a number of genes coding for essential proteins of the adipocyte, especially lipogenic enzymes (Antras *et al*, 1991). Thus, in adipocytes cyclic AMP mRNA levels of adipose-specific markers which include lipoprotein lipase (Raynolds *et al*, 1990; Antras *et al*, 1991), fatty acid synthase (Paulauskis and Sul, 1988),  $\alpha$ -glycero-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (Dobson *et al*, 1987; Antras *et al*, 1991; Bhandari et al, 1991), GLUT 4 (Kaestner *et al*, 1991), adipsin (Antras *et al*, 1991) and leptin (Gettys *et al*, 1996). The mechanisms involve *trans*-acting nuclear factors which are distinct from CREB, C/EBPs, AP-1 and AP-2 (Rangan *et al*, 1996).

In conclusion, it appears that cyclic AMP exerts differential effects on adipocyte development, acting both at an early stage to promote preadipocyte differentiation, by inducing adipocyte-specific gene expression, and during the terminal stages, limiting fat cell hypertrophy by suppressing lipogenic gene expression and promoting lipolysis (section 1.2).

#### **1.8) AIMS OF PROJECT**

It is apparent that signal transduction pathways such as the cyclic AMP cascade, and those initiated at the GH and insulin receptors, can modulate preadipocyte differentiation depending on the stage of the developmental program at which they are activated (section 1.7). Among the consequences of initiating such adipogenic cascades will be changes in the expression of adipocyte-specific proteins and critical *trans*-acting transcription factors such as the C/EBP isoforms (section 1.6). Therefore, a major challenge in developmental cell biology is to elucidate the complex network of interactions which lead from cell-surface receptors to effect key transcriptional events in the nucleus. Furthermore, the discovery of pivotal "cross-talk" events between adipogenic signalling pathways will provide a better understanding of the mechanisms and consequences of intracellular hormone action.

Recently it has been demonstrated that  $G_s$  and  $G_i$  may play an important regulatory role during adipogenesis (section 1.7.3.2) and that changes in their expression contribute to the development of hormonal responsiveness in the mature adipocyte (section 1.7.3.2). Given the functional importance of these proteins it is likely that some of the phenotypic changes that occur during preadipocyte differentiation are reflections of alterations to the G-protein complement during development. Therefore, "permissive hormones" that can increase or decrease the expression of  $G_s$  and  $G_i$ , and thereby the stimulation of adenylate cyclase, can have a profound effect on the extent of adipose conversion. The present project aims to investigate perturbations to the cyclic AMP signalling system in the context of preadipose conversion and determine the potential consequences for terminal differentiation. The study will therefore cover three main areas:

# 1) Changes in the Expression of Guanine Nucleotide-binding Proteins During the Growth Hormone-dependent Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Cells.

The initial aim of this project is to determine whether changes in G-protein expression occur during the two stages of the differentiation program of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes (section 1.5); either during the GH-priming stage or the insulin-promoted maturation phase. G-protein levels will be assessed using a range of specific anti-peptide antisera. This approach will provide a better understanding of the hormonal influences which are responsible for the development of catecholamine-sensitive adenylate cyclase in mature adipocytes (section 1.5.3) and may provide an insight into stage-specific changes in G-protein expression which may underlie key regulatory events in the differentiation process. In addition, the use of specific antisera may help to clarify some of the

contradictory reports on differentiation-dependent changes in G-protein expression in other preadipocyte cell systems (section 1.5.3). Finally, the potential of the stimulatoryand inhibitory-G-proteins to modulate fat cell conversion will be assessed by cholera and pertussis toxin intoxication.

# 2) The Effects of Cyclic AMP on the Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes

That  $G_s$  and  $G_i$  have the potential to modulate adipogenesis (section 1.7.7.2) suggests that their major intracellular effector, adenylate cyclase, plays a supportive role in modulating differentiative processes. Indeed, there is much supportive evidence to suggest that cyclic AMP can influence preadipocyte differentiation *in vivo* and *in vitro* (sections 1.7.3.1 and 1.7.3.3). In light of recent reports that  $G_s$  and  $G_i$  may act through adenylate cyclase-independent mechanisms to effect fat cell conversion indicates that a critical re-evaluation of the adipogenic potential of cyclic AMP is required. The second aspect of this study will be to address this question by defining the roles of cyclic AMP in modulating preadipocyte differentiation. Cyclic AMP-elevating agents will be used to determine stage-specific aspects of the response of differentiating 3T3-F442A preadipocytes to cyclic AMP, in terms of the ultimate effect on terminal differentiation. The use of a serum-free, chemically defined differentiation medium will also reveal which permissive hormones cyclic AMP interacts with to determine cellular fate.

# 3) Interactions Between the Cyclic AMP and MAP Kinase Pathways: Effect on the Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes

One potential means of cyclic AMP to effect differentiation is to positively or negatively regulate obligatory differentiative signal transduction cascades, such as those initiated by insulin- and GH-receptor binding (section 1.7.2.4). The MAP kinase cascade has been implicated as a transducer of differentiative stimuli in 3T3-L1 preadipocytes (section 1.7.2.4). Further work will explore whether cyclic AMP can effect the activation of MAP kinases through regulatory cross-talk during the priming or maturation phases of 3T3-F442A adipogenesis. By correlating the effects of cyclic AMP on MAP kinase activation with stage-specific effects on terminal differentiation, it may be possible to assign a putative role for this ubiquitous signalling molecule in the control of fat cell development.

# **Chapter Two Materials And Methods**

# **2.1) MATERIALS**

# 2.1.1) Chemicals

General laboratory chemicals were obtained from ICN Biomedicals (Oxfordshire, UK), Sigma Chemical Co. (Poole, UK) or BDH (Poole, UK). Other specialised laboratory reagents are listed in Table 2.1. Unless stated otherwise, all water was single distilled mains water.

Table 2.1	) Specialised Laborator	y Reagents
Chemical	Source	Catalogue Number
Acetonitrile (HPLC grade)	Sigma	27,071-7
Acrylamide/bis-	Severn Biotech. Ltd.	A 3423
Acrylamide (37.5:1 v/v	(Worcs., UK).	
solution)		
Activated Charcoal (100-	Sigma	C 526()
400 mesh)		
Bisbenzimide (Hoechst	Fluka Biochemika (Dorset,	14530
H33258)	UK)	
Bradford Reagent (dye	Bio-Rad Ltd (Herts., UK)	500-0006
reagent concentrate)		
BSA (improved standard	Advanced Protein Products	PF-201-47
grade)	(West Midlands, UK).	
BSA (fraction V)	Sigma	A 2153
3', 5' Cyclic AMP-	Sigma	P 5511
Dependent Protein Kinase		
(from bovine heart)		
Cholera Toxin (from	Sigma	C 3012
Vibrio cholerae)		
Collagenase (type VIII, for	Sigma	C 2139
adipocyte isolation)		
CPT-cAMP	Boehringer Mannheim	405 647
	(East Sussex, UK)	
DHAP (lithium salt)	Sigma	D 7137
1, 9-Dideoxyforskolin	Sigma	D 3658
(from <i>Coleus forskohlii</i> )		

 Table 2.1) Specialised Laboratory Reagents

DMEM (high glucose)	Life Technologies	41965-096
EGF (human,	Life Technologies	13247-010
recombinant)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Fetuin (from foetal calf	Sigma	F 2379
serum)		
Forskolin (from Coleus	Sigma	F 6886
forskohlii)		
Freund's Adjuvant	Life Technologies	15721-012
(complete)		
Freund's Adjuvant	Life Technologies	1572()-()14
(incomplete)		
KLH	Pierce & Warriner, Chester	77100
	UK	
Glutaraldehyde (grade I)	Sigma	G 7526
H-89 (dihydrochloride)	Calbiochem	371963-Q
IBMX (crystalline)	Sigma	I 5879
Insulin (cell culture tested)	Sigma	I 1882
(-)-Isoproterenol	Sigma	I 65()4
(hydrochloride form)		
Lipofectin Transfection	Life Technologies	18292-037
Reagent		
MBP (from bovine brain)	Sigma	M 1891
Medium 199 (with Earle's	Life Technologies	31153-026
Modified Salts and 1.25g/l		
sodium bicarbonate)		
NADH (reduced form)	Sigma	N 8129
NP-40 (protein grade)	Calbiochem	492017
Mixture Ham's F12	Life Technologies	21765-()29
Nutrient Mixture		
Oil Red O (solvent red 27)	Sigma	O 9755
PBS	Life Technologies	20012-019
PD()98()59	Calbiochem (Nottingham,	513000
	UK)	
Pertussis toxin (from	Life Technologies	13176-011
Bordetella pertussis)		
Phenyl-Sepharose Cl-4B	Pharmacia (Milton	17-()81()-()2
	Keynes, UK)	

Rp-cAMPS	Biolog (Bremen,	B001 (B003-K)
	Germany)	
RO-2()-1724	Calbiochem	5575()2
Salmon Sperm DNA	Sigma	S 3245
$T_3$ (cell culture tested)	Sigma	T 5516
Thimerosal	Sigma	T 5125
Transferrin (cell culture	Sigma	T 1428
tested)		
Triethylamine Acetate	Applied Biosystems	400613
(2.0M solution)		
Trifluoroacetic Acid	Applied Biosystems	400445
Trypsin-EDTA Solution	Life Technologies	45300-043
(containing 0.5g/l trypsin		
and ().2g/l EDTA)		
Urea (ultra pure)	Sigma	U ()631

# 2.1.2) Radiochemicals

Radiochemicals were obtained from Amershem International and are listed in table 2.2.  ${}^{3}$ H- and  ${}^{32}$ P- radioactive counts (cpm) were determined using a 1600TR liquid scintillation analyser with Opti-fluor scintillation fluid (both from Canberra Packard).

Tuble May Radiothennears		
Radiochemical	Source	Catalogue Number
[8- <sup>3</sup> H] Adenosine 3', 5'-	Amersham International	TRK 304
cyclic monophosphate	(Slough, England)	
$[\gamma^{-32}P]$ Adenosine 5'-	Amersham International	PB 10132
triphosphate		

Table 2.2) Radiochemicals

# 2.1.3) Peptides and Recombinant Proteins

The 7-residue synthetic peptide substrate, Kemptide (Kemp *et al*, 1977), and the 20residue peptide inhibitor of cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase (PKI; Cheng *et al*, 1986) were generously donated by Dr Roger Clegg (Hannah Research Institute, Ayr, UK). The amino-acid sequences were as follows:

PKI: Thr-Thr-Tyr-Ala-Asp-Phe-Ile-Ala-Ser-Gly-Arg-Thr-Gly-Arg-Arg-Asn-Ala-Ile-His-Asp

Kemptide: Leu-Arg-Arg-Ala-Ser-Leu-Gly

Recombinant bovine GH (rbGH) and recombinant p42 MAP kinase, in which the lysine at position 52 is mutated to arginine (K52R), were gifts from Monsanto (St Louis, USA) and Professor Thomas W. Sturgill (University of Virginia, Charlottesville, USA) respectively. Recombinant insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGFI) and <sup>125</sup>I-rbGH were generously provided by Dr James Beattie (Hannah Research Institute, Ayr, U.K.); rbGH was iodinated to a specific activity of ca.  $50\mu$ Ci/µg as described previously (Beattie, 1992) using the Iodogen coated tube method (Fraker and Speck Jr, 1978).

# 2.1.4) Oligodeoxynucleotides

Phosphorothioate oligodeoxynucleotides were a generous gift of Drs Elizabeth and Graham Sale (University of Southampton) and were synthesised on a series 391 automated DNA synthesiser (Applied Biosystems). Antisense MAP kinase oligonucleotides were designed to complement a 17-base nucleotide sequence unique to p42 and p44 MAP kinase (Sale *et al*, 1995) cDNAs; 5'-ATG GCG GCG GCG GCG GCG GC-3', where ATG is the initiation codon. In the mouse this corresponded to nucleotides 25-41 of p42 MAP kinase (Her *et al*, 1991) and 1-17 of p44 MAP kinase (Pagès *et al*, 1995). The corresponding 17mer antisense probe (antisense EAS 1) and control phosphorothioate oligonucleotides were synthesised with the following sequences:

EAS1	5'-GCC GCC GCC GCC AT-3'
Sense	5'-ATG GCG GCG GCG GCG GC-3'
Scrambled	5'-CGC GCG CTC GCG CAC CC-3'

## 2.1.5) Antibodies

The monoclonal antibody to p42 MAP kinase (ERK 2), rabbit antiserum to rbGH and rabbit antiserum to the 35 and 36 kDa forms of  $G_{\beta}$  were generous gifts from Professor

Ailsa Campbell (I.B.L.S, Glasgow, UK), Dr David J. Flint (Hannah Research Institute, Ayr, UK) and Professor Graeme Milligan (I.B.L.S, Glasgow, UK) respectively. Rabbit polyclonal antibodies to p44 MAP kinase (ERK 1) were raised to a synthetic peptide from the rat sequence (residues 325-345) as previously described (Kilgour *et al*, 1996). Anti-mouse and anti-rabbit IgG horse radish peroxidase conjugates were obtained from Amersham International plc. (Buckinghamshire, UK) and Sigma, respectively. Donkey anti-serum to rabbit IgG (anti rabbit IgG) was from the Scottish Antibody Production Unit, (Carluke, UK).

# 2.1.6) Animals

Female Wistar rats were obtained from A.Tuck and Son, Essex, UK. New Zealandbreed rabbits were purchased from either Shrubacre Rabbits, Suffolk, UK or Hyline Rabbits, Cheshire, UK. Both diet and tap-water were available *ad libitum*.

# 2.1.7) Cell Lines

3T3-F442A and 3T3-L1 cells were provided by Dr Howard Green (Harvard Medical School) and Dr Steve Baldwin (University of Leeds) respectively.

#### 2.2) METHODS

## 2.2.1) Standard Procedure for Cell Culture

Cells were maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) supplemented with 10% (v/v) new born calf serum and glutamine (2.5mM). Stocks were seeded at a density of approximately  $1x10^3$  cells/cm<sup>2</sup> in 75cm<sup>2</sup> plastic flasks (Costar Ltd., Bucks., UK) containing  $(0.2ml/cm^2)$  and grown at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

Cells were subcultured every 4-6 days when they had attained approximately 80% confluence. The growth medium of a  $75 \text{cm}^2$  plastic flask of cells was decanted asceptically and the monolayer rinsed twice with 12.5ml PBS pre-warmed to  $37^{\circ}$ C. Trypsin/EDTA solution (1ml; trypsin 5g/l; 500µM EDTA; 145mM NaCl) was then added to the monolayer and incubated at room temperature for 1-2 minutes until cells detached. The resulting cell suspension was then diluted to seeding density with growth medium.

For experiments, 100mm culture dishes (Costar) were inoculated at a density of approximately  $1 \times 10^3$  cells/cm<sup>2</sup> in 0.12 ml/cm<sup>2</sup> growth medium. Alternatively, for some experiments, cells were seeded at the same cell density onto 30mm, 6-well culture clusters (Costar) containing 0.5 ml/cm<sup>2</sup> growth medium.

# 2.2.2) Induction of Differentiation with FCS and Insulin

The growth medium of two days post-confluent 3T3-F442A cells was removed and replaced by the same volume of DMEM containing 10% FCS and insulin (5 $\mu$ g/ml). Cultures were then incubated at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Pharmacological agents under test were prepared aseptically and added directly to the medium at the initiation of differentiation. After three days the medium was replaced with fresh differentiation medium without agents. After a further four days the extent of differentiation was assessed. For schematic see Fig 2.1.

# Fig 2.1) Induction of Differentiation with FCS and Insulin



#### 2.2.3) Induction of Differentiation under Serum-Free Conditions

The growth medium of confluent cells was removed by aspiration and replaced by a defined differentiation medium (DDM;  $0.12\text{ml/cm}^2$ ; Guller *et al*, 1988) after washing monolayers three times with phosphate buffered saline (PBS). The DDM consisted of a basal medium of F12 Ham's Nutrient Mixture and DMEM (2:1 v/v, F12/DMEM) containing rbGH (2nM), insulin (1.8µM), T<sub>3</sub> (0.1ng/ml), EGF (50ng/ml), transferrin (10µg/ml), fetuin (50µg/ml), glutamine (2.5mM) and BSA (1mg/ml). Stock solutions of DDM components were added directly to a premeasured volume of F12/DMEM and sterilised through a disposable sterile filter (0.45µM, Fischer Scientific, Leicestershire, UK). As with differentiation with FCS/insulin, pharmacological agents were incorporated in the DDM for the first three days of differentiation, after which monolayers were washed once with PBS and the medium replaced with fresh DDM without agents (see Fig 2.2).

Fig 2.2) Induction of Differentiation with DDM





# Fig 2.3) Immunoneutralisation of GH in Calf Serum.

Samples of calf serum were incubated with <sup>125</sup>I-rbGH (2000cpm) and various dilutions of anti-rbGH as indicated. Anti-rbGH was immunoprecipitated with anti-rabbit IgG (1:10) and the <sup>125</sup>I-activity of samples measured. Values are expressed as a percentage of the <sup>125</sup>I-activity depleted from samples relative to cells treated with non-immune serum (control) and are means ± standard error mean (S.E.M.) for 3 observations. Significant differences with respect to control values are indicated; \*p<0.01, \*\*p<0.001.

# 2.2.4) Two-Phase Protocol for Cellular Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Cells.

A serum free, two-phase differentiation protocol was developed to demonstrate the GH-dependency of 3T3-F442A preadipocyte differentiation (for further details refer to Section 3.2). For these experiments it was necessary to grow cells in the presence of calf serum depleted of GH.

# 2.2.4.1) Preparation of calf serum depleted of GH

Serum GH was neutralised with rabbit antiserum to recombinant bovine GH (antirbGH) and immunoprecipitated with anti-rabbit IgG. The generation and characterisation of anti-rbGH has been previously described (Beattie *et al*, 1992). The optimal neutralising concentration of anti-GH was determined by a radioligand-binding assay. Aliquots of calf serum were incubated overnight with <sup>125</sup>I-rbGH (20000 CPM) and either pre-immune rabbit serum or a range of anti-rbGH dilutions (Fig 2.3). Following incubation samples were treated with anti-rabbit IgG (1:10) for a further 4 hours at room temperature and then centrifuged in a 2.0RS Minifuge (Heraeus Sepateck, West Germany) at 2000g<sub>max</sub> for 30min. The amount of <sup>125</sup>I-rbGH remaining in the supernatant was determined by gamma-radiation counting using a Cobra autogama counter (74% efficiency, LKB., Croydon, UK).

Control samples treated with anti-rabbit IgG alone were found to have no significant depletion of <sup>125</sup>I-rbGH. Fig 2.3 demonstrates that optimal depletion of <sup>125</sup>I-rbGH occurred with a 1:1000 dilution of anti-rbGH. The concentration of bovine GH in one batch of calf serum was estimated by radioimmunoassay to be 14.2ng/ml (D.J. Flint, personal communication). Assuming that anti-rbGH can bind 1mg of rbGH per ml (D.J. Flint, personal communication), then a 1000 fold dilution of anti-GH represents an approximate 70 fold excess over serum GH.

# 2.2.4.2) Two-Phase Differentiation Protocol

Cells were passaged at least twice, in DMEM containing 2.5mM glutamine and 10% GH-depleted calf serum, prior to use for differentiation studies. Confluent cells were washed three times in PBS then primed for 2 days in serum free medium [F12:DMEM (2:1)] containing transferrin (10 $\mu$ g/ml), fetuin (50 $\mu$ g/ml), glutamine (2.5mM) and BSA (1mg/ml)] and GH (2nM). Cultures were then washed, as before, and the medium replaced with maturation medium [serum free medium containing insulin (1.8 $\mu$ M), T<sub>3</sub>

(0.1ng/ml) and EGF (50ng/ml)]. The extent of preadipocyte differentiation was assessed after a further 8 days (Fig 2.4).



#### Fig 2.4) Two-phase Differentiation Protocol

# 2.2.5) Oil Red O Staining

The extent of morphological differentiation in cell cultures was determined histochemically by staining accumulated lipids in terminally differentiated adipocytes. Cultures were washed twice with PBS and then fixed for 1 hour in formaldehyde (10%) v/v in PBS). Fixed cultures were stained with the neutral lipid stain Oil Red O (5µg/ml in isopropanol) for 1 hour and then washed extensively with distilled water. Cells were then photographed under Phase Contrast Optics using an Olympus IMT3 inverted microscope.

# **2.2.6)** Assay of $\alpha$ -Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase Activity

Cells from one 100mm or 30mm culture dish were harvested by scraping into 500µl ice-cold extraction buffer (100mm triethanolamine, 1mM EDTA, 0.1mM  $\beta$ mercaptoethanol, pH 7.5) and then lysed on ice with 8 passages through a  $26^{1}/_{2}$ g needle attached to a 1ml disposable syringe. Lysates were then centrifuged  $(14000g_{max})$ 4°C) for 10 min in a microfuge and the resulting supernatant was removed and stored in small aliquots at -20°C until use.

Samples of supernatant were assayed for GPDH activity by the spectrophotometric method originally described by Wise and Green (1979). GPDH activity of cell extracts was measured at 25°C in a Cecil 5000 series double beam spectrophotometer in a 1ml reaction mixture. The basic reaction mixture (100mM triethanolamine, pH 7.5, 1mM
EDTA, 0.12mM NADH) was placed in a cuvette with a 1cm pathlength and set in the spectrophotometer. Samples of cell lysate were diluted with extraction buffer to 100 $\mu$ l (1-100 $\mu$ g protein) and added to the cuvette containing the reaction mixture. The reaction was then initiated with the addition of dihydroxyacetone phosphate (DHAP) to final concentration of 0.2mM. The biochemical nature of the reaction catalysed by GPDH is:

dihydroxyacetone phosphate+NADH <-> glycerol-3-phosphate+ NAD<sup>+</sup>

Initiation of the reaction with DHAP results in a decrease in the absorbance at 340nM due to the oxidation of NADH to NAD<sup>+</sup>. The absorbance at 340nM was recorded at 30s after initiation and at 30s intervals thereafter.

### **Calculation:**

The enzyme activity per plate of cell in katals (number of moles of NADH oxidised/second) was calculated from the molar absorption coefficient for NADH at  $340nM (6.3x10^3 \text{ lmol}^{-1} \text{ cm}^{-1})$ .

### **EQUATION 1**

$\Delta A_{340/sec}$	х	<u> </u>	<u>().5</u>
$6.3 \times 10^3$		$1 \times 10^{3}$	0.1
Α		В	С

A. The use of molar absorption coefficient for NADH to calculate the concentration change  $(mol.l^{-1}sec^{-1})$  with the pathlength of the cuvette being 1cm.

B. Calculation of the amount of NADH oxidised in a 1ml reaction volume in 1 second.C. Correction for sample volume used and estimation of GPDH activity for one 100mm plate.

In accordance with others (Lai *et al*, 1981) the amount of protein per cell was found to be 2.3 fold higher in adipocytes compared to fibroblasts. GPDH activities are therefore expressed relative to DNA content rather than the amount of cellular protein.

QUATION 2 (Solution from equation 1)		x <u>1x10</u> 3
	µg of DNA/plate	1.0
	Α	В

A. Calculation of the number of katals of GPDH activity per  $\mu g$  of DNA.

### B. Adjustment to katals per mg of DNA

### 2.2.7) Antisense Protocols

### 2.2.7.1) Purification of Oligonucleotides

Oligonucleotides were purified manually on oligonucleotide purification (OP) cartridges (Applied Biosystems) according to manufacturers instructions. Additions were made to columns with a 5ml syringe and washes and eluants were collected through a  $26^{1/2}$ G needle at a rate of 1-2 drops per second. Cartridges were flushed sequentially with 5ml acetonitrile and then 5ml of 2.0M triethylamine acetate. Phosphorothioate oligonucleotides (approximately 20 OD units at 260nM in deionised water) were then loaded onto the cartridge. OP cartridges perform like affinity matrices which absorb the trityl group of the trityl-on oligonucleotide. Non-trityl bearing failure sequences, by- products and other impurities were washed through with 5ml of 1.5M ammonium hydroxide followed by two washes with 5ml 3% (v/v) trifluoroacetic acid in deionised water and the purified detritylated oligonucleotides eluted with 35% (v/v) acetonitrile in deionised water. Fractions contained approximately 10 OD units (at 260nM) of oligonucleotides and were dried overnight *in vacuo* on a Univap evaporator. Oligonucleotides were stored dried, in pellet form at -20°C.

### 2.2.7.2) Oligonucleotide Treatment of Cells

Cells were grown to confluence in 22mm dishes containing 10% calf serum in DMEM. Monolayers were washed three times with 2ml DMEM and appropriate dilutions of oligonucleotides in 100µl DMEM were preincubated at room temperature for 30 minutes with 100µl Lipofectin. This mixture was added to the cells together with a further 200µl of DMEM. The final concentration of oligonucleotides was 5µM. Cells were incubated for 8 hours at 37°C in the presence of 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. After this time the medium containing Lipofectin was removed and the incubation continued for a further 40 hours using fresh medium containing 10% heat-treated (55°C for 30 minutes) calf serum in the presence or absence of 5µM oligonucleotide. After 40 hours the medium was removed and treated with FCS and exposed to differentiation medium in the presence or absence of oligonucleotide. The differentiation medium was replenished at two day intervals in the presence or absence of fresh oligonucleotide.

#### 2.2.8) Preparation of Cell Membrane Samples

### 2.2.8.1) Preparation of Membrane Fractions from 3T3-F442A Cells

Cells were washed once in ice cold PBS then scraped into lysis buffer (50mM Hepes, pH 7.6; 0.25M sucrose, 5mM EDTA; 5mM EGTA; 1mM PMSF and leupeptin (1 $\mu$ g/ml). The volume of cell suspension was adjusted to 2ml and then cells were lysed in a 15ml tight-fitting Dounce homogeniser (Jencons Scientific Ltd., Leighton Buzzard, U.K.) followed by centrifugation in a microfuge (1000g, 10min, 4°C) to remove nuclei and unbroken cells. The resulting supernatant was centrifuged at 4°C for 45 min at 100000g<sub>max</sub> in an Optima series TLX Tabletop Ultracentrifuge (Beckman-RIIC Ltd., Bucks., U.K.) fitted with a TLA-120.2 fixed angle rotor. Membrane pellets were resuspended in 50mM Hepes, pH 7.4/1mM EDTA at a concentration of 2-3mg protein/ml. Membrane suspensions were routinely snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C.

#### 2.2.8.2) Preparation of Crude Membrane Fractions from Rat Adipocytes

Adipocytes were prepared by collagenase digestion of rat parametrial white adipose tissue according to the method of Rodbell (1964) with some modifications. Rats were killed by cervical dislocation and parametrial fat pads removed and washed in saline at 37°C. The fat pads from one rat were finely minced with scissors in 1ml of M199 medium prewarmed to 37°C then incubated in 10ml (final volume) of M199 containing 1mg/ml collagenase and 30mg/ml BSA (fraction V). Incubations were carried out for 1 hour at 37°C in stoppered flasks shaking at 180 oscillations per minute. The resulting cell suspension was then filtered through a nylon mesh (approx. 1mm in diameter) to remove undigested material and then washed successively at room temperature with 40ml of M199 and TES (20mM Tris/HCL, pH 7.4; 1mM EDTA; 0.255M sucrose). Adipocytes, which form a packed, buoyant layer on the wash solutions, were resuspended in 3.3ml TES and homogenised at room temperature with 10 strokes in a 15ml homogeniser fitted with a Teflon pestle (Jencons). Homogenates were then centrifuged at 100000g<sub>max</sub> for 45 min in a pre-cooled (4°C) L7-65 Ultracentrifuge (Beckman-RIIC Ltd., Bucks., UK) fitted with a type 80Ti rotor. The resultant pellet was disaggregated with 8 strokes in a 10ml Uniform homogeniser (Jencons). Membrane suspensions were then made up to a final volume of 3.5ml in TES and subjected to further 45min centrifugation at 100000g<sub>max</sub>. Membrane pellets were resuspended in 20mM Tris/HCl, pH 7.4; 1mM EDTA and snap-frozen in liquid N<sub>2</sub> in small aliquots and stored at -80°C.

### 2.2.9) Peptide Synthesis, Conjugation and Immunisation

Immunogen decapeptides were synthesised by standard solid-phase fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl chemistry (Barany and Merrifield, 1979) on an Applied Biosystems 431A automated peptide synthesiser in the Hannah Research Institute core facility (Ayr, UK) and determined to be homogeneous by reverse-phase highperformance liquid chromatography as previously described (Beattie and Flint, 1992). The sequences were as described in Table 2.3.

Protein Species	Amino Acid Sequence <sup>1</sup>
G <sub>i1a</sub> (residues 159-168)	LDRIAQPNYI
G <sub>i2α</sub> (residues 160-169)	LERIAQSDYI
$G_{i3\alpha}$ (residues 159-168)	LDRISQSNYI
$G_{i1+2\alpha}$ (C-terminal)	KNNLKDCGLF
$G_{s\alpha}$ (C-terminal)	RMHLRQYELL

Table 2.3 Amino-acid Sequences of Synthetic Peptides.

<sup>1</sup> Single letter amino acid code.

Immunogen peptides were coupled to KLH, as a carrier protein to increase their immunogenicity and to prevent rapid degradation in the animal. KLH (3.3mg) and peptide (1mg) were dissolved in 0.1M phosphate buffer (0.1M NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>/Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, pH 7.0). Glutaraldehyde was added dropwise over the course of 1 hour to a final concentration of 25mM. This bifunctional reagent couples primarily via amino groups ( $\alpha$ -amino group of the peptide and  $\varepsilon$ -amino group of lysine residues). The coupling reaction was incubated for 24 hours at room temperature with gentle stirring.

Peptide-conjugate solutions were mixed with an equal volume of Freund's complete adjuvant by repeated expulsion through two luer lock syringes (Sherwood Medical, Sussex, UK) connected by a three-way plastic stopcock (Rocket of London, London, UK). The resulting emulsion was then injected in multiple subdermal sites in New Zealand White rabbits. Two weeks later each animal received a booster immunisation with material prepared identically except that one-half as much peptide and KLH were injected in Freund's incomplete adjuvant. Pre-immune sera were collected prior to the first injection, and subsequent bleeds were performed weekly beginning 2 weeks after the initial booster immunisation. The characterisations of G-protein antisera produced by this method are described in Chapter 3.

### 2.2.10) Gel Electrophoresis

### 2.2.10.1) Standard Protocol for Gel Electrophoresis

The protein mixture from cell extracts was boiled in Laemmli Sample buffer (0.06M Tris, pH 6.7; 1.25% (w/v) SDS; 12.5% (w/v) glycerol; 2.5% (v/v)  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol; 0.01% (w/v) phenol red) and subjected to denaturing SDS polyacrylamide electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) in a Protean II x i vertical electrophoresis system (Biorad) according to the method of Laemmli (1970). Samples were run on a 120 x 140 x 1.5mm or 160x 140 x 1.5mm gel slab containing 37.5mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.8, 10% (v/v) acrylamide, 0.26% (v/v) bisacrylamide, 0.1% (w/v) SDS. Gels were run at a constant current, 7mA, for 18 hours or 30mA for 4 hours. The composition of the running buffer was 49.5 mM Tris pH 8.3, 190mM glycine and 3.5mM SDS. All electrophoresis procedures were carried out at room temperature using water-fed cooling systems.

#### 2.2.10.2) Urea Gels

Urea gels were used to obtain better resolution of the 40 kDa and 41 kDa isoforms of  $G_i$ . Proteins were resolved on 160 x 140 x 1.5 mm gels containing 6M urea, 37.5mM Tris, pH 8.8, 9% (v/v) acrylamide, 0.26% (v/v) bisacrylamide and 0.1% SDS. A constant current of 30mA was applied for 8-9 hours.

### 2.2.10.3) Low-bisacrylamide Gels

The phosphorylation and activation of MAP kinase is accompanied by a decrease in its electrophoretic mobility. Reliable separation of phosphorylated and unphosphorylated forms of the enzyme required the application of a constant current of 7mA for 18 hours to a 120 x140x 1.5 mm resolving gel containing 37.5mM Tris, pH 8.4, 10% (v/v) acrylamide, 0.11% (v/v) bisacrylamide and 0.1% (w/v) SDS.

### 2.2.11) Immunoblotting

Following electrophoresis proteins were transferred (Towbin *et al*, 1979), with watercooling, to Hybond-C Super nitrocellulose membranes (Amersham International) in a Transphor electrophoresis-transfer unit with power lid (Hoeffer) for 2h at 400mA in ice-cold transfer buffer (25mM Tris, 192mM glycine, 20% methanol). To check for efficient transfer and even protein loading of lanes, the proteins adhered to the nitrocellulose membranes were visualised by the non-permanent stain Ponceau S solution (0.5% w/v in 1% acetic acid). The stain was then removed by washing the membrane in distilled water several times. The membrane was then incubated for at least 16 hours in Tris- buffered saline (20mM Tris, pH 7.4, 154mM NaCl) containing 0.1% (v/v) Tween 20 (TBS/Tween) and 3% (w/v) BSA. This was to ensure that active sites on the membrane were blocked against further non-specific interactions. After incubation with blocking buffer the membrane was washed for 15min with Tween/TBS followed by three successive 5 min washes with Tween/TBS.

Primary antibodies were diluted in TBS/Tween containing 1% (w/v) BSA and  $10\mu g/ml$  thimerosal and incubated with membranes for two hours at room temperature with gentle agitation. Antibody solutions were stored at 4°C. Following incubation, membranes were washed with TBS/Tween for 15 min, followed by three 5 min rinses, with vigorous shaking. HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies were incubated with the membranes for 1 hour at room temperature with gentle shaking. The dilutions of primary antibodies and corresponding secondary antibodies were as follows:

		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Primary Antibody	Dilution	Secondary	Dilution
		Antibody	
ERK1	1:1000	α-rabbit IgG	1:10000
ERK2	1:1000	α-mouse IgG	1:10000
$G_{i1+2\alpha}$	1:1000/(1:100)	α-rabbit IgG	1:10000/(1:1000)
G <sub>i3α</sub>	1:1000	α-rabbit IgG	1:10000
G <sub>sα</sub>	1:5000	α-rabbit IgG	1:10000
G <sub>B</sub>	1:500	α-rabbit IgG	1:10000

Table 2.4) Dilutions of Primary and Secondary Antisera.

Note: Numbers in parenthesis refer to the dilutions of antibodies when o-*dianisidine* was used to visualise bands (see text).

Following incubation with secondary antisera membranes were washed with vigorous shaking in TBS/Tween for 15 min, followed by three 5 min rinses. Immunoreactive bands were visualised by chemiluminescence using the ECL detection reagent. Washed membranes were allowed to drain and then the detection reagent was added to the protein-bound side of the membrane. Membranes were incubated with the detection reagent for one minute at room temperature. Following incubation the detection reagent was removed and excess reagent allowed to drain from the membrane. Membranes

were then wrapped in SaranWrap (Dow Chemical Co.) and placed, protein side up, in a film cassette. ECL-detected protein bands were visualised by exposing a sheet of autoradiography film (X-Omat AR, Kodak).

Alternatively, for some experiments, immunodetection of protein bands was achieved colourimetrically. Following exposure to primary and secondary antisera (Table 2.4) membranes were incubated with 10mg/ml o-*dianisidine* in 10mM Tris/HCL, pH 7.4. Addition of 0.1% (v/v) H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> initiated a HRP-catalysed reaction which stained protein bands brown.

### 2.2.12) Densitometry

ECL detected immunoblots were scanned with a type SI personal densitometer (Molecular Dynamics Ltd., Kensington, UK) and the optical density (OD) of protein bands quantified using ImageQuaNT<sup>TM</sup> image-analysis software (Molecular Dynamics).

For ECL quantification to be accurate, it is important that the light produced is in the linear range of the film. Therefore, control experiments were carried out for each antiserum to establish the range of cellular protein concentrations which produced an intensity of labelling, following immunoblotting, which was proportional to the OD of the protein bands on the exposed film. Increasing concentrations of cellular protein  $(0.5-100\mu g)$  were applied to SDS/page (section 2.2.10) and analysed by immunoblotting (section 2.2.11). Quantitative data was obtained by densitometer analysis and plots of protein amount against OD were used to gauge the range of protein concentrations which fell within the linear range of the film (Table 2.5). When ECL detection systems were used care was also taken with the length of exposure so as to avoid underexposure or overexposure of the immunoblots.

Antiserum	Amount of Cellular Protein (µg)
ERK1	2.5-30
ERK2	2.5-4()
$G_{i1+2\alpha}$	2.5-4()
G <sub>i3α</sub>	5-4()
G <sub>sa</sub>	10-40
G <sub>β</sub>	5-30

 

 Table 2.5) Concentrations of Cellular Protein which are within the Linear Range of the ECL Detection System.

### 2.2.13) Enzyme Assays

### 2.2.13.1) Assay of Mitogen Activated Protein (MAP) Kinase Activity

For assay of MAP kinase confluent cells from one 100mm plate were scraped into Buffer A (25mM Tris.HCl pH7.5, 25 mM NaCl, 40mM 4-nitrophenylphosphate, 10 $\mu$ M dithiothreitol, 10% (v/v) ethylene glycol, 1mM sodium orthovanadate, aprotinin (2  $\mu$ g/ml), leupeptin (2 $\mu$ g/ml), pepstatin A (2 $\mu$ g/ml) and 100mM PMSF) and lysed by shearing through a 26<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>G needle. The lysates were then centrifuged at 15000g<sub>max</sub> for 5 min in a Sorvall centrifuge fitted with an SS34 rotor and supernatants retained. MAP kinase was assayed following partial purification of cell lysates by batch absorption to phenyl-Sepharose. Cell extracts (0.5ml) were mixed with 150 $\mu$ l (packed volume) of phenyl-Sepharose for 5 min on ice. The phenyl-Sepharose was then successively washed (0.5ml/wash) with Buffer A (twice) and Buffer A containing 35% (v/v) ethylene glycol (twice). MAP kinases, which bind tightly to this matrix (Ray and Sturgill, 1987), were eluted with 200 $\mu$ l Buffer A containing 60% (v/v) ethylene glycol for 5 minutes. After incubation the suspension was centrifuged in a Beckman microfuge (5 seconds) and the supernatant removed. Samples of supernatant were assayed immediately using MBP as a substrate (Anderson, 1992).

Components of the assay mixture were mixed in assay tubes at room temperature. Aliquots of eluant (5µl) from the phenyl Sepharose were added to 20µl of a solution of 1mg/ml MBP prepared in assay buffer (25mM HEPES, 1mM dithiothreitol, pH 7.5, 30°C). To start the reaction, 15µl of a solution containing 133µM ATP, 26.7 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> and 150µCi/ml [ $\gamma$ -<sup>32</sup>P]-ATP was added to the reaction tube and mixed. The reaction was incubated for 10min at 30°C in a waterbath, and terminated by removing  $30\mu$ l aliquots and spotting the aliquot onto 2x2cm squares of P81 phosphocellulose paper (Whatman, Kent, UK) which binds peptide substrates but not [ $\gamma$ -<sup>32</sup>P]-ATP. After 10 seconds the square of phosphocellulose paper was dropped into a 500ml beaker containing of 180mM phosphoric acid (15ml/reaction). The papers were washed by stirring for 5min, after which the acid was discarded. Washes with phosphoric acid were repeated 5 more times. Finally, papers were rinsed once with 95% ethanol and allowed to dry. Dried papers were placed in a minivial with 4ml of scintillant and the radioactivity counted. Data were expressed as pmol of phosphate incorporated into MBP min per mg of cell lysate protein.

### 2.2.13.2) Assay of MAP Kinase Kinase (MEK) Activity

Cell lysates were prepared as described (section 2.2.13.1). MEK was assayed by measuring the incorporation of <sup>32</sup>P<sub>i</sub> into recombinant, catalytically inactive K52R p42 MAP kinase (Wu *et al*, 1991a). Samples of cell extract (10µl) were incubated at 30°C for 25 min with 0.8µg of the K52R mutant of p42 MAP kinase in 40µl (total volume) of 10mM Hepes, pH 7.5; 40µM [ $\gamma$ -<sup>32</sup>P]-ATP; 15mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>; 1mM DTT. The reaction was stopped by the addition of one fourth volume of Laemmli sample buffer. After SDS/10% PAGE and staining the gel with Coomassie blue solution, incorporation of <sup>32</sup>P<sub>i</sub> into K52R was visualised by autoradiography and the radioactivity of excised bands determined by liquid scintillation counting. Results were expressed as the amount of radioactivity incorporated into K52R (cpm).

# **2.2.13.3)** Assay of cyclic AMP-dependent Protein Kinase Activity (PKA)

Cells from one 100mm plate were scraped in Buffer A containing 0.2% (v/v) NP-40 detergent, and lysed by shearing as described in the procedure for the assay of MAP kinase (section 2.2.13.1). The lysates were then centrifuged at 15000g for 5 min in a Sorvall centrifuge fitted with an SS34 rotor and supernatants retained. Samples of cell extract (10µl) were incubated at 30°C for 10 min with 0.26mM Kemptide (LRRASLG), a 7-amino acid substrate for PKA (Kemp *et al*, 1977), in a buffer containing 75mM Tris.HCl, pH 7.5; 15mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>.4mM DTT; 100µM ATP; 3µCi/ml [ $\gamma$ -<sup>32</sup>P]-ATP. Assays were carried out in the presence or absence of an 18-residue peptide ligand containing the inhibitory domain sequence of a protein inhibitor of PKA (PKI) originally described by Cheng *et al* (1986). PKA activity was calculated as the amount of Kemptide phosphorylated in the absence of PKI peptide minus that phosphorylated in the presence of phosphate incorporated into Kemptide min<sup>-1</sup> mg protein<sup>-1</sup>.

### 2.2.14) DNA Assay

The DNA content of cellular homogenates was determined using the fluorescence enhancement of the fluorochrome bisbenzimide complexed with DNA (Brunk *et al*, 1979). The fluorescence increase produced by the DNA of cellular homogenates was compared directly with the fluorescence increase produced by a range of DNA standards. Reactions were prepared in assay buffer (10mM Tris, pH 7.5, 100mM NaCl, 10mM EDTA) and contained either a known amount of salmon sperm DNA standard (0.25-6.0 $\mu$ g/tube) or an aliquot of cellular homogenate (equivalent to approximately 1 $\mu$ g DNA). Bisbenzimide was added to each reaction to a final concentration of 1 $\mu$ g/ml and a final volume of 3ml. Reactions were then incubated for 1 hour at room temperature. The intensity of fluorescence of standards and samples were measured in arbitrary units using a model TKO 100 DNA fluorimeter (Hoefer Scientific Instruments Ltd., Newcastle-under-Lyme, UK). All measurements were performed in series using the same dye solution. A standard curve was constructed and the DNA content of test samples was determined by interpolation.

### 2.2.15) Protein Assay

The protein content of samples was assessed by the method of Bradford (1976). Reactions were prepared in a final volume of  $100\mu l$  on microtitration plates (Greiner Labortechnik Ltd, Gloustershire, UK) and consisted of either a known amount of bovine serum albumin protein standards (0-10 $\mu$ g) or an aliquot of sample under test. Dye-binding was initiated with the addition of 240 $\mu l$  of fourfold diluted Bradford reagent. Coloured complex formation was measured at a wavelength of 620nM using a iEMS microplate reader (Labsytems Ltd., Hants., UK).

### 2.2.16) Assay of Intracellular Cyclic AMP Concentration

Samples were prepared according to the method described by Farndale *et al* (1992). Cell monolayers from 100mm plates were washed three times with ice cold PBS and intracellular cyclic AMP extracted with 1ml ethanol/0.5M HCl overnight at -20°C. Extracted samples were evaporated to dryness then reconstituted in 100µl cyclic AMP assay buffer (100mM Tris/HCl, pH 7.0, 8mM EDTA) and aliquots were assayed for cyclic AMP content.

Measurement of cellular cyclic AMP was carried out according to a modified method of Brown *et al* (1971); the assay was based on the competitive binding of  $[^{3}H]$ -cyclic

AMP and sample cyclic AMP to a binding protein (3', 5' cyclic AMP dependent protein kinase, Sigma). Reactions were prepared in assay buffer and contained either a known amount (0.1-10 pmol) of cyclic AMP standard, an aliquot of sample or assay buffer with no additions to a final volume of 300µl. In addition, each reaction contained [<sup>3</sup>H]-cyclic AMP (25nCi/tube) and 8mg binding protein. Reactions were incubated for 4 hours at 4°C, following which a 100µl suspension of 26mg activated charcoal (Sigma) in assay buffer containing 2% (w/v) BSA was added to each tube. After centrifugation (12000g<sub>max</sub> for 2 min at 4°C) in a microfuge, a 200µl aliquot of the supernatant was taken for determination of radioactivity. Cyclic AMP concentration was determined by interpolation from a standard curve and was expressed as pmol per  $10^6$  cells.

### 2.2.17) Statistical Analysis

Statistical significance was determined by Student's *t*- test for unpooled samples (Samuels, 1989). Means were determined for test and control samples and used to calculate the *t* statistic (ts) using the following formula:

$tts = \underline{y1-y2}$	y1 = test sample means
$SE_{(y1-y2)}$	$y^2 = control sample means$
	$SE_{(y1-y2)}$ = standard error of the
	difference

The standard error of the difference  $(SE_{(y1-y2)})$  was calculated by the unpooled method (Samuels, 1989):

$$SE_{(y1-y2)} = \sqrt{(SE1)^{2+}(SE2)^{2}}$$

$$SE1 = \text{standard error of test}$$

$$SE2 = \text{standard error of control}$$

$$sample$$

P values were then determined from *ts* by cross-reference to a table of critical values of Student's *t*--distribution (Samuels, 1989). P-values were considered to be significant if they were less than a threshold significance level of 2% (p=0.02).

### **Chapter Three**

Changes in the Expression of Guanine Nucleotide-binding Proteins During the Growth Hormone-dependent Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes

#### **3.1) INTRODUCTION**

Signal transduction processes involving heterotrimeric G-proteins play a major role in mediating the response of cells to external hormonal and growth factor stimuli and it is becoming increasingly clear that G-proteins transduce growth-regulatory signals that mediate changes in cellular proliferation, hypertrophy, differentiation and transformation (Post and Brown, 1996). Some of the most compelling evidence that G-proteins can serve as regulators of cell growth comes from studies of  $G_{s\alpha}$  and  $G_{i\alpha}$ in preadipocyte cell systems. Antisense oligodeoxynucleotides, which reduce the expression of the  $G_{s\alpha}$  subunit, or overexpression of an inactivating mutant of  $G_{s\alpha}$ (Gordeladze et al, 1997) have been shown to accelerate the rate of differentiation of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes into fat cells (Wang *et al*, 1992a). Conversely, activation of  $G_{s\alpha}$ by cholera toxin intoxication blocks the ability of cells to differentiate (Wang et al, 1992). Conversely, over-expression of a constitutively active mutant form of  $G_{i2\alpha}$  was shown to promote terminal differentiation of fibroblasts to adipocytes in vitro (Su et al, 1993; Gordeladze et al, 1997) and expression of inactivating  $G_{i2\alpha}$  mutants abolish preadipocyte differentiation (Gordeladze et al, 1997), whereas in vivo,  $G_{i2\alpha}$  has been shown to be crucial for development of fat tissues in neonatal mice (Moxham et al, 1993; Su et al, 1993). Together these observations highlight a critical role for Gproteins in adipocyte development.

Given the functional importance of G-proteins in cell morphogenesis it is likely that many of the phenotypic changes that occur on differentiation are reflections of alterations to the G-protein composition at different stages of development. In this respect changes in  $G_{s\alpha}/G_{i\alpha}$  levels associated with preadipocyte differentiation have been reported (Lai et al, 1981; Watkins et al, 1982; Giershik et al, 1986; Watkins et al, 1987; Huppertz et al, 1993; McFarlane-Anderson et al, 1993) and these accompany the development of catecholamine-sensitive adenylate cyclase activity (Lai et al, 1981; see section 1.7.9.1). Adenylate cyclase activity can be regulated by both stimulatory (eg glucagon and  $\beta$ -adrenergic) and inhibitory (eg adenosine and prostaglandin) receptors which exert their actions through  $G_s$  and  $G_i$  respectively (Gilman, 1987). It is well documented that adipocyte differentiation is accompanied by increased expression of the 42 kDa and 47 kDa forms of  $G_{s\alpha}$  which may contribute to the enhanced responsiveness of terminally differentiated adipocytes to lipolytic agents (Lai et al, 1981; Watkins et al, 1982; Watkins et al, 1987; Kilgour and Anderson, 1993; see section 1.7.9.1). However, studies on the expression of  $G_{i\alpha}$  subtypes during preadipocyte differentiation have produced somewhat contradictory data, perhaps due to different detection methods used to assess G-protein expression (see section 3.1.1).

The traditional method used to identify and quantitate G-proteins, based on the ability of particular bacterial exotoxins to catalyse the transfer of [<sup>32</sup>P]ADP-ribose of  $[^{32}P]$ NAD to the  $\alpha$ -subunit of a specific G-protein has several drawbacks (McKenzie, 1992). For example pertussis toxin, isolated from Bordetella Pertussis, has been characterised as being able to catalyse the mono-ADP-ribosylation of  $G_{i\alpha}$  (McKenzie, 1992). Although the substrate for pertussis toxin is defined as the  $\alpha$ -subunit of "G<sub>i</sub>", it has become apparent that a considerable number of pertussis-toxin-sensitive Gproteins exist, including G<sub>i1</sub>, G<sub>i2</sub>, G<sub>i3</sub> and G<sub>o</sub> (Jones and Reed, 1987; Lochrie and Simon, 1988). To compound matters, accurate G-protein quantitation may also be influenced by secondary factors such as  $\beta$ -subunit expression (Spiegel, 1992) and the expression of cellular ADP-ribosylation factors (Huppertz et al, 1993). Immunological probes provide a more specific means of detecting G-proteins (Milligan, 1990) and, in recent years, the isolation of complementary DNAs (cDNAs) for many proteins has facilitated the generation of antisera base on individual portions of the deduced aminoacid sequences (Milligan, 1990). Anti-peptide antisera have been used successfully to quantify changes in G-protein expression following the adipose conversion of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes (Kilgour and Anderson, 1993).

Until recently, the use of serum to differentiate preadipocytes has precluded the study of G-protein expression during individual stages of the adipogenic program, however the development of a serum-free medium capable of supporting adipocyte differentiation of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes has suggested that preadipocyte differentiation may be divided into two distinct stages (Guller et al, 1988; Schmidt et al, 1990; Darimont et al, 1994). The differentiation of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes is dependent upon the sequential actions of GH and insulin, with other factors exerting a modulatory influence (Guller et al, 1988). GH is thought to induce a primed state in the preadipocytes (Gp) in which cells acquire increased responsiveness to the growth promoting effects of insulin (Morikawa, 1986; Madon et al, 1986). The possibility therefore exists that regulated changes in G-protein expression may contribute critically to the cellular phenotype during both of these phases of preadipocyte differentiation. Initial studies from our laboratory have shown that terminal differentiation of 3T3-F442A cells under serum-free conditions has been reported to correspond with independent changes in the expression of  $G_{s\alpha}, G_{i2\alpha}$  and  $G_{i3\alpha}$  and increased responsiveness of adenylate cyclase to catecholamines (Kilgour and Anderson, 1993). The aim of the present work is to extend these studies to determine whether distinct changes occur in the G<sub>s</sub>/G<sub>i</sub> composition of 3T3-F442A cells during the different stages of their differentiation., therefore suggesting a role for the cyclic AMP signalling system in the control of these developmental stages.

Given the success of previous anti-peptide antisera (Anderson and Kilgour, 1993), peptides corresponding to various regions of the  $\alpha$ -subunits of G<sub>s</sub>, G<sub>i1</sub>, G<sub>i2</sub> and G<sub>i3</sub> were utilised to generate sequence-specific antibodies. These tools subsequently permitted an assessment of the influence of differentiation on the levels of expression of the stimulatory- (G<sub>s</sub>) and inhibitory- (G<sub>i1</sub>, G<sub>i2</sub> and G<sub>i3</sub>) G-protein subunits in 3T3-F442A cell membranes during different stages of their development; either early in the differentiation process, during the GH priming stage, or later during the insulin-dependent maturation stage. In addition, recent evidence has suggested that  $\beta\gamma$ -dimers are involved in the transmission of growth signals (Faure *et al*, 1994; Crespo *et al*, 1994; Koch *et al*, 1994). Therefore, the effect of differentiative stimuli on the levels of  $\beta$ -subunit expression were also determined during the two phases of 3T3-F442A preadipocyte differentiation.

### **3.2) EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES**

### 3.2.1) Standard Procedure for Cell Culture and Differentiation

3T3-F442A cells were cultured in DMEM containing 10% calf serum as described in Section 2.2.1). Confluent cultures (day 5 after seeding, subsequently referred to as JC cells) were washed three times in PBS and incubated for 10 days in a defined medium (DDM) containing GH (2nM), insulin (1.8 $\mu$ M), T<sub>3</sub> (0.1 ng/ml), EGF (50ng/ml) and other factors as described by Guller *et al* (1988). Cells cultured under these conditions, in which at least 80% of the cells exhibited adipocyte morphology as assessed by light microscopy and Oil Red O staining, are subsequently referred to as DDM cells. To assess the role of stimulatory and inhibitory G-proteins in modulating preadipocyte differentiation, cholera toxin, which activates G<sub>s</sub> (McKenzie, 1992), and pertussis toxin, which inactivates G<sub>i</sub> (McKenzie, 1992) were included in the DDM for the first three days of differentiation. After three days, the medium was replaced with fresh DDM in the absence of toxins and differentiation was assessed 7 days later.

### 3.2.2) Two-phase Protocol for Cellular Differentiation

For these studies cells were grown to confluence in the presence of 10% calf serum which had previously been depleted of GH (described in section 2.2.4.1). Cells were passaged at least twice, in DMEM containing 2.5mM glutamine and 10% GH-depleted calf serum (standard GH (-) medium), prior to use for differentiation studies. Confluent cells were washed three times in PBS then incubated for two days in serum free medium [F12:DMEM (2:1) containing GH (2nM), transferrin (10µg/ml), fetuin (50µg/ml), glutamine (2.5mM) and BSA (1mg/ml), subsequently referred to as priming medium]. Cultures were then washed as before and the medium replaced with maturation medium [serum free medium containing insulin (1.8µM), T<sub>3</sub> (0.1ng/ml) and EGF (50ng/ml)]. After a further 8 days the extent of differentiation was assessed by light microscopy and Oil Red O staining. As a control, parallel cultures were maintained at confluence for 10 days in standard GH (-) medium.

### 3.2.3) Peptide Synthesis, Conjugation and Immunisation

Decapeptides were provided by Dr James Beattie (Hannah Research Institute, Ayr, Scotland) and were assembled stepwise by the Merrifield solid-phase method (Barany and Merrifield, 1979) and determined to be homogeneous by HPLC as described in section 2.2.9. The amino acid sequences are listed in Table 3.1.

Following synthesis peptides were stored desiccated at -20°C until required. Polyclonal antibodies were raised in rabbits using immunogen-peptides coupled to KLH (see section 2.2.9). Pre-immune sera were collected just prior to the commencement of the immunisation schedule which is detailed in section 2.2.9. Immune and pre-immune sera were stored in aliquots at -20°C until used for immunoblotting.

Protein Species	Sequence <sup>1</sup>
$G_{i1\alpha}$ (residues 159-168)	LDRIAQPNYI
$G_{i2\alpha}$ (residues 159-168)	LERIAQSDYI
$G_{i3\alpha}$ (residues 159-168)	LDRISQSNYI
$G_{i1+2\alpha}$ (C-terminal)	KNNLKDCGLF
G <sub>sα</sub>	RMHLRQYELL

 Table 3.1) Amino-acid Sequences of Immunogen Peptides

<sup>1</sup>Single letter amino acid code

### 3.2.4) Membrane Preparations

Isolation of rat white adipocytes and preparation of membrane fractions was carried out according to the methods described in section 2.2.8.2. Membrane fractions were prepared from 3T3-F442A cells as described in section 2.2.8.1, during growth (preconfluence) or at various time-points during their differentiation with the two-phase differentiation protocol (Section 3.2.2.2). Membranes were stored at -80°C until required for immunoblotting.

### 3.2.5) Immunoblotting

Membrane samples were separated by SDS/PAGE on 10%-acrylamide gels (15cmlength gels for the detection of  $G_{i\alpha}$  and  $G_{\beta}$ , 20cm-length gels for  $G_{s\alpha}$ ). Immunoblotting was performed essentially as described in section 2.2.11. Briefly, proteins were transferred to nitrocellulose and then blocked overnight in 3% BSA. Primary antiserum, diluted in 1% BSA, was then added for 2 hours. Primary antisera were used at the dilutions described in Table 3.2. After removal of primary antiserum, the blot was washed extensively and then incubated with anti-rabbit IgG conjugated to HRP (secondary antiserum) at the dilutions indicated in Table 3.2. Immunoreactive bands were visualised with the Enhanced ChemiLuminescence system or by colourimetric staining (see section 2.2.11). Where indicated the primary antiserum was pre-incubated with immunogen peptide (Table 3.1) prior to incubation with the immunoblot. This was to confirm the specificity of immunoreactivity.

Primary Antibody	Dilution	Secondary Antibody	Dilution
$G_{i1+2\alpha}$	1:1000/(1:100)	α-rabbit IgG	1:10000/(1:1000)
$G_{i3\alpha}$	1:1000	α-rabbit IgG	1:10000
G <sub>sa</sub>	1:5000	α-rabbit IgG	1:10000
$G_{\beta}$	1:500	α-rabbit IgG	1:10000

Table 3.2) Dilutions of Primary and Secondary Antisera for G-protein Immunoblots.

Numbers in parenthesis refer to antibody dilutions when the o-diansidine detection system was used

### 3.2.6) GPDH and DNA Assays and Expression of Results

GPDH activity was measured by the method of Wise and Green (1979). In accordance with others (Lai *et al*, 1981), adipocytes were found to contain approximately 2.3 times more protein per cell than in fibroblasts (Table 3.6). GPDH activities are therefore expressed relative to DNA content rather than amount of cellular protein. The DNA content of cellular homogenates was determined fluorimetrically as described in Chapter 2. The enzyme activity per plate of cells was expressed as the number of moles of NADH oxidised/second (katals)/mgDNA.

#### 3.3) **RESULTS**

### 3.3.1) Detection of Gs $\alpha$ -subunits in 3T3-F442A Fibroblasts

There are two major isoforms of  $G_s \alpha$ -subunits which have different relative mobilities on SDS/PAGE, displaying apparent molecular masses of 42 kDa and 47 kDa respectively (Mattera et al, 1986; Robishaw et al, 1986). These two species are produced by differential splicing of a common mRNA and differ by the presence (long-form) or absence (short form) of a fifteen amino-acid (residues 72-86) internal peptide (Mattera et al, 1986; Robishaw et al, 1986). Isoforms of  $G_{s\alpha}$  also contain an arginine residue (Arg 187/188 or 201/202, depending on the splice variant) which is a target for ADP-ribosylation by cholera toxin (Gill and Meren, 1978). The use of specific anti-peptide antisera has revealed that both forms of  $G_{s\alpha}$  are abundantly expressed in white adipose tissue of both rats and mice (Bégin-Heick, 1990; Granneman et al. 1990) and are localised to the plasma membrane, Golgi and endosomal fractions of fat cells (Bégin-Heick, 1990; Haraguchi and Rodbell, 1990; Strassheim *et al*, 1991). For this study antiserum (anti- $G_{s\alpha}$ ) was generated against the carboxy-terminal (RMHLRQYELL) amino-acid sequence of  $G_{s\alpha}$  predicted from the cDNA sequences from several species, including rat and mouse (Bray et al, 1986; Mattera et al, 1986; Robishaw et al, 1986; Jones and Reed, 1987; Cerione et al, 1988). In agreement with others (Strassheim et al, 1991), rabbit immune-serum identified a doublet, composed of roughly equal quantities of a 42 kDa and a 47 kDa protein species, on immunoblots of membrane samples from rat adipocytes (Fig. 3.1A). In contrast no reactivity was detectable with pre-immune serum (Fig 3.1A).

The abundance of  $G_s$  isoforms was next determined in membrane fractions of confluent murine 3T3-F442A preadipocytes. Anti- $G_{s\alpha}$  also revealed two forms of  $G_{s\alpha}$  in immunoblots of 3T3-F442A cell membranes which migrated with the same apparent molecular mass as the long- and short-forms in rat adipocytes (Fig 3.1B). 3T3-F442A cell membranes were found to contain similar amounts of the long-form of  $G_{s\alpha}$  that found in rat adipocyte membranes, whereas considerably less of the short form of  $G_{s\alpha}$  (approximately 6-fold less) was detected in 3T3-F442A membranes when compared to rat adipocytes (Fig 3.1B).

### 3.3.2) Detection of $G_{i2\alpha}$ in Membranes from 3T3-F442A Cells.

 $G_{i\alpha}$  exists as three closely related isoforms,  $G_{i1\alpha}$  (41 kDa),  $G_{i2\alpha}$  (40 kDa) and  $G_{i3\alpha}$  (41kDa), which all contain a cysteine residue that is a putative ADP-ribosylation site and is the fourth residue from the carboxy-terminus (West *et al*, 1985). Each of the



A)

### Fig 3.1) Detection of 42 kDa and 47 kDa Isoforms of $G_{s\alpha}$ in Rat Adipocyte and 3T3-F442A Cell Membranes

Equal quantities of membrane protein (50µg) from 12 day confluent 3T3-F442A cells or rat adipocytes were separated by SDS/PAGE and immunoblotted with pre-immune serum or antiserum raised against  $G_{s\alpha}$  (anti- $G_{s\alpha}$ ) as described in Chapter 2. In panel A, rat adipocyte membranes were probed with pre-immune serum (*lane 1*) or with anti- $G_{s\alpha}$  (*lane 2*) at a dilution of 1:5000. In panel B, membranes from 3T3-F442A cells (*lane 1*) and rat adipocytes (*lane 2*) were probed with anti- $G_{s\alpha}$  (1:5000). The 42 kDa and 47 kDa isoforms of  $G_{s\alpha}$  are indicated with arrow heads. Results are representative of experiments done on two separate occasions. three  $G_{i\alpha}$  subtypes is coded for by a distinct mRNA species which is the product of a single gene in a haploid genome (Bray *et al*, 1987; Jones and Reed, 1987). Antipeptide antisera have proved capable of discriminating between three isoforms of Gia and have been used to demonstrate that white adipocytes of both rats and mice contain  $G_{i1}$ ,  $G_{i2}$  and  $G_{i3} \alpha$ -subunits (Mitchell *et al*, 1989; Bégin-Heick, 1990). To begin to identify the  $G_{i\alpha}$ -subtypes expressed in 3T3-F442A cells, rabbit antiserum was generated against a decapeptide corresponding to the C-terminal of  $G_{i1\alpha}$  and  $G_{i2\alpha}$  (termed  $G_{i1+2\alpha}$ ; Table 3.3).

Decapeptides from G-protein a-subunits		
α-subunits	Sequences <sup>1</sup>	
Gil and Gi2	KNNLKDCGLF	
Gi3	KNNLKECGLY	
Gs	RMHLRQYELL	

 Table 3.3) Comparison of Amino Acid Sequences of Carboxy-terminal

 Decapeptides from G-protein α-subunits

<sup>1</sup>Single acid amino acid code

Anti- $G_{i1+2\alpha}$  recognised a single immunoreactive polypeptide in 3T3-F442A fibroblast membranes which migrated with an apparent molecular mass of 40 kDa on SDS/PAGE (Fig 3.2A), whereas no immunoreactivity was detected with pre-immune serum (Fig 3.2A). The immunoreactive species co-migrated with the major immunoreactive species detected in immunoblots of rat adipocyte membranes (Fig 3.2B). Rat adipocytes express both  $G_{i1\alpha}$  and  $G_{i2\alpha}$  and the major 40 kDa immunoreactive band detected with this antiserum represents a mixture of both of these isoforms (Mitchel et al, 1989). The weaker signal detected in 3T3-F442A membranes could be attributable to the presence of lower levels of  $G_{i1\alpha}$  and/or  $G_{i2\alpha}$ and possibly only one of these isoforms is present. To assess the relative levels of  $G_{i1\alpha}$  and  $G_{i2\alpha}$  present in 3T3-F442A membranes it was necessary to obtain better resolution of these subtypes than that afforded by standard SDS/PAGE conditions. Accordingly, G-proteins were resolved by electrophoresis in the presence of 6M urea as described in Chapter 2. Under these conditions anti- $G_{i1+2\alpha}$  identified two polypeptides in rat adipocyte membranes which migrated with apparent molecular masses of 41 and 40 kDa (Fig 3.3). These correspond to  $G_{i1\alpha}$  and  $G_{i2\alpha}$  respectively (Mitchel *et al*, 1989). In the same experiment only a single 40 kDa polypeptide ( $G_{i2\alpha}$ ) was identified in membranes from 3T3-F442A fibroblasts or 3T3-F442A cells

three  $G_{i\alpha}$  subtypes is coded for by a distinct mRNA species which is the product of a single gene in a haploid genome (Bray *et al*, 1987; Jones and Reed, 1987). Antipeptide antisera have proved capable of discriminating between three isoforms of Gia and have been used to demonstrate that white adipocytes of both rats and mice contain  $G_{i1}$ ,  $G_{i2}$  and  $G_{i3} \alpha$ -subunits (Mitchell *et al*, 1989; Bégin-Heick, 1990). To begin to identify the  $G_{i\alpha}$ -subtypes expressed in 3T3-F442A cells, rabbit antiserum was generated against a decapeptide corresponding to the C-terminal of  $G_{i1\alpha}$  and  $G_{i2\alpha}$  (termed  $G_{i1+2\alpha}$ ; Table 3.3).

Decapeptides nom G-protein a-subunits		
α-subunits	Sequences <sup>1</sup>	
Gi1 and Gi2	KNNLKDCGLF	
Gi3	KNNLKECGLY	
Gs	RMHLRQYELL	

 Table 3.3) Comparison of Amino Acid Sequences of Carboxy-terminal

 Decapeptides from G-protein α-subunits

<sup>1</sup>Single acid amino acid code

Anti- $G_{i1+2\alpha}$  recognised a single immunoreactive polypeptide in 3T3-F442A fibroblast membranes which migrated with an apparent molecular mass of 40 kDa on SDS/PAGE (Fig 3.2A), whereas no immunoreactivity was detected with pre-immune serum (Fig 3.2A). The immunoreactive species co-migrated with the major immunoreactive species detected in immunoblots of rat adipocyte membranes (Fig 3.2B). Rat adipocytes express both  $G_{i1\alpha}$  and  $G_{i2\alpha}$  and the major 40 kDa immunoreactive band detected with this antiserum represents a mixture of both of these isoforms (Mitchel et al, 1989). The weaker signal detected in 3T3-F442A membranes could be attributable to the presence of lower levels of  $G_{i1\alpha}$  and/or  $G_{i2\alpha}$ and possibly only one of these isoforms is present. To assess the relative levels of  $G_{i1\alpha}$  and  $G_{i2\alpha}$  present in 3T3-F442A membranes it was necessary to obtain better resolution of these subtypes than that afforded by standard SDS/PAGE conditions. Accordingly, G-proteins were resolved by electrophoresis in the presence of 6M urea as described in Chapter 2. Under these conditions anti- $G_{i1+2\alpha}$  identified two polypeptides in rat adipocyte membranes which migrated with apparent molecular masses of 41 and 40 kDa (Fig 3.3). These correspond to  $G_{i1\alpha}$  and  $G_{i2\alpha}$  respectively (Mitchel *et al*, 1989). In the same experiment only a single 40 kDa polypeptide ( $G_{i2\alpha}$ ) was identified in membranes from 3T3-F442A fibroblasts or 3T3-F442A cells



A)

### Fig 3.2) Immunoreactivity of Antiserum to $G_{i1\alpha}$ Plus $G_{i2\alpha}$ G-proteins in Rat Adipocyte and 3T3-F442A Cell Membranes

In panel A, 10µg of 3T3-F442A cell membrane protein was separated by SDS/PAGE and immunoblotted with pre-immune serum (*lane 1*) or antiserum which recognises both  $G_{i\alpha 1}$  and  $G_{i\alpha 2}$  (anti- $G_{i\alpha 1+2}$ , *lane 2*) at a dilution of 1:100 as described in Chapter 2. In *panel B*, 10µg of membrane protein from 3T3-F442A fibroblasts (*lane 1*) and rat adipocytes (*lane 2*) were probed with anti- $G_{i\alpha 1+2}$  at a dilution of 1:100. The single immunoreactive species of 40 kDa is indicated with an arrow-head. Results are representative of an experiment repeated on two separate occasions.



1 2 3

### Fig 3.3) Abundance of $G_{i1\alpha}$ and $G_{i2\alpha}$ Membranes from 3T3-F442A Cells and Rat Adipocytes

Equal quantities of membrane protein (50µg) from confluent 3T3-F442A fibroblasts (*lane 1*), 3T3-F442A cells differentiated with FCS/insulin medium (*lane 2*) or rat adipocytes (*lane 3*) were resolved on 10% polyacrylamide gels containing 6M urea as described in Chapter 2, Gels were then immunoblotted with anti- $G_{i\alpha 1+2}$  at a dilution of

1:100. The 41 kDa ( $G_{i1\alpha}$ ) and 40 kDa ( $G_{i2\alpha}$ ) forms of  $G_{i\alpha}$  are indicated with arrow heads. Results are representative of an experiment repeated on two separate occasions.

differentiated with FCS/insulin (Fig 3.3). As previously reported (Anderson and Kilgour, 1993), the abundance of  $G_{i2\alpha}$  was lower in FCS cell membranes than in fibroblasts. Moreover, antisera which specifically recognises only  $G_{i1\alpha}$  fails to detect an immunoreactive band in 3T3-F442A cell membranes (Anderson and Kilgour, 1993; Yarwood, Anderson and Kilgour, unpublished). Together, these observations demonstrate that 3T3-F442A cells express detectable levels of  $G_{i2\alpha}$ , but not  $G_{i1\alpha}$ . Hence anti-Gi1+2 $\alpha$  antibodies can be used specifically as a probe for  $G_{i2\alpha}$  in these cells.

### 3.3.3) Detection of $G_{i3\alpha}$ in Membranes from 3T3-F442A Fibroblasts.

In an attempt to raise antiserum specific for  $G_{i3\alpha}$  (anti- $G_{i3\alpha}$ ) rabbits were immunised with a decapeptide corresponding to a distinct, internal region (residues 159-168, Table 3.4) of the deduced amino acid sequence of  $G_{i3\alpha}$  (Goldsmith *et al*, 1987). Although the sequences in this region are very similar in all forms of  $G_{i\alpha}$  (Table 3.4), antisera generated against these peptides have been shown to be highly specific for individual  $\alpha_i$ -subtypes (Spiegel, 1990).

Table 3.4) Comparison of Deduced Amino Acid SequencesCorresponding to Residues 159-168 in  $G_{i\alpha}$ .

α-subunits	Sequences <sup>1</sup>
Gil	LDRIAQPNYI
Gi2	LERIAQSDYI
Gi3	LDRISQSNYI

<sup>1</sup>Single acid amino acid code

Antisera from animals challenged with the  $G_{i3\alpha}$  internal decapeptide revealed a 41 kDa immunoreactive polypeptide in membrane fractions from 3T3-F442A fibroblasts and rat adipocytes which was not apparent when pre-immune serum was used (Fig 3.4). To further test whether this protein species corresponded to  $G_{i3\alpha}$  immunoblots were carried out in the presence of excess amounts of the synthetic peptide antigen (LDRISQSNYI) used for immunisations (see section 3.2.2). Addition of immunogenpeptide was found to block the reactivity of anti- $G_{i3\alpha}$  with the 41 kDa polypeptide on immunoblots of 3T3-F442A and rat adipocyte membranes. In contrast, a decapeptide conforming to the same internal sequence of  $G_{i2\alpha}$  (Fig 3.5) was found to have a relatively small effect on anti- $G_{i3\alpha}$  reactivity. Similarly, a decapeptide corresponding to the equivalent region in  $G_{i1\alpha}$  (Table 3.4) was unable to block the detection of the 41 kDa polypeptide (Fig 3.6). These results demonstrate the specificity of anti- $G_{i3\alpha}$  for  $G_{i3\alpha}$  and show that 3T3-F442A fibroblasts express this subtype of  $G_i$  in their cell membranes.

Although it is apparent that the anti- $G_{i3\alpha}$  antiserum specifically recognises  $G_{i3\alpha}$  in 3T3-F442A cells and rat adipocytes this antiserum also cross-reacts with a 39 kDa protein species in these two cell types (Fig 3.4). The immuno-reactivity of this protein with anti- $G_{i3\alpha}$  is also blocked by  $G_{i3\alpha}$  peptide antigen (Fig 3.4). While the identity of this protein remains to be determined it is unlikely to be  $G_{i2\alpha}$ , which shares a similar relative mobility (Fig 3.2), since the cross-reactivity of anti- $G_{i3\alpha}$  with this protein is unaffected by  $G_{i2\alpha}$  peptide antigen (Fig 3.5).



### Fig 3.4) Immunoreactivity of Antiserum to $G_{i3\alpha}$ with Rat Adipocyte and 3T3-F442A Cell Membranes.

Equal quantities of membrane protein (50µg) from confluent 3T3-F442A fibroblasts (*lanes1 and 3*) or rat adipocytes (*lanes 2 and 4*) were separated by SDS/PAGE and immunoblotted as described in the legend to Fig 3.1. Antisera used were pre-immune (*lanes 1 and 2*) and anti-G<sub>13α</sub> (*lanes 3 and 4*) at a dilution of 1:1000 as described in Chapter 2. Major immunoreactive species of 39 kDa and 41 kDa which were specific to immunoblot strips probed with anti-G<sub>13α</sub> are indicated with arrow-heads. Results are representative of an experiment repeated on two separate occasions.



# Fig 3.5) Assessment of the Specificity of an Anti- $G_{i3\alpha}$ Antiserum by Competition with Synthetic Peptides: Cross-reactivity of Anti- $G_{i3\alpha}$ with $G_{i2\alpha}$ .

Equal quantities of membrane protein (50µg) from confluent 3T3-F442A fibroblasts (*lanes 2, 4 and 6*) or rat adipocytes (*lanes 1,3 and 5*) were separated by SDS/PAGE and immunoblotted with anti- $G_{i3\alpha}$  (1:1000) as described n the legend to Fig 3.4.

Immunoblot strips in *lanes 3 and 4*, and in *lanes 5 and 6*, contained 50µg of synthetic peptide included with the first antibody during immunoblotting. Peptides used were LERIAQSDYI (*lanes 3 and 4*), which corresponds to residues [159-168 of  $G_{i2\alpha}$ , and LDRISQSNYI (*lanes 5 and 6*) corresponding to residues [159-168 of  $G_{i3\alpha}$ . The position of the 41 kDa immunoreactive species ( $G_{i3\alpha}$ ) which was specifically depleted in the presence of LDRISQSNYI is indicated with an arrow-head. Results are representative of an experiment repeated on two separate occasions.



41 kDa>

1	2	3	4	5
<u>3T3</u>	RA	<u>RA</u>	<u>3T3</u>	RA
G	i3α	$G_{i1\alpha}$		

Fig 3.6) Assessment of the Specificity of an Anti- $G_{i3\alpha}$  Antiserum by Competition with Synthetic Peptides: Cross-reactivity of Anti- $G_{i3\alpha}$  with  $G_{i1\alpha}$ .

Equal quantities of membrane protein (50µg) from confluent 3T3-F442A fibroblasts (*lanes 1 and 4*) or rat adipocytes (*lanes 2,3 and 5*) were separated by SDS/PAGE and immunoblotted with anti- $G_{i3\alpha}$  (1:1000) as described n the legend to Fig 3.4.

Immunoblot strips in *lanes 1 and 2* contained  $50\mu g$  of the synthetic peptide LDRISQSNYI (residues |159-168 of  $G_{i3\alpha}$ ) along with the primary antibody as described in the legend to Fig 3.5. included with the first antibody during immunoblotting. The immunoblot strip in *lane 3* was incubate in the presence of the decapeptide LDRIAQPNYI which corresponds to residues 159-168 of  $G_{i1\alpha}$ , The position of the 41 kDa immunoreactive species ( $G_{i3\alpha}$ ) which was specifically depleted in the presence of LDRISQSNYI is indicated with an arrow-head. Results are representative of an experiment repeated on two separate occasions.

## **3.3.4)** Characterisation of the Two-Phase Protocol for **3T3-F442A** Cell Differentiation.

Preadipocyte differentiation involves a program of multiple developmental stages coordinated by external and genetic modulators (Charnels *et al*, 1994). The external, hormonal factors which control the adipose conversion of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes are GH, insulin, EGF and  $T_3$  (Charnels *et al*, 1994; Guller *et al*, 1988). GH has been proposed to act at an early stage of preadipocyte differentiation by inducing the expression of early markers of the process (Clarkson *et al*, 1995; Barcellini-Couget *et al*, 1993; Ashcom *et al*, 1992) and sensitising cells to the actions of other differentiative factors which then induce terminal differentiation (Morikawa *et al*, 1982; Nixon and Green, 1984; Zezulak and Green, 1986; Guller *et al*, 1988). In order to study the effect of differentiative factors on the expression of heterotrimeric G-proteins during these two phases a two step differentiation protocol was developed in which the priming action of GH was clearly observed (Fig 3.7).

Cells were grown to confluence in calf-serum which had been depleted of GH (see section 2.2.4.1) and then primed for two days in serum-free medium in the presence or absence of GH. Following priming, the medium was replaced with fresh medium containing the maturation agents, insulin, EGF and T<sub>3</sub>. The extent of differentiation was assessed eight days later. Cells primed with GH were found to adopt the morphological characteristics of adipocytes (Novikoff et al, 1980) in response to subsequent exposure to insulin, EGF and T<sub>3</sub>, in that cells became rounded and accumulated triacylglycerol droplets in their cytoplasm (Fig 3.8A). In contrast, cells primed in the absence of GH retained a fibroblastic appearance after treatment with the maturation agents (Fig 3.8A). The efficiency of adipose conversion was also assessed biochemically by measuring cellular GPDH activity which is a sensitive marker of terminal adipocyte differentiation (Wise and Green, 1979). Following exposure to insulin, EGF and T<sub>3</sub> there was a substantial increase in GPDH activity expressed in cells which had been GH-primed whereas no significant increase in GPDH activity was detected in cells primed in the absence of GH (Fig 3.8B). Cells grown in normal serum which had not been depleted of GH and which were subsequently primed in the absence of GH differentiated normally (Fig 3.8B), indicating that depletion of calfserum GH is necessary to observe the priming effect of GH during 3T3-F442A preadipocyte differentiation. Together, these observations demonstrate that in 3T3-F442A cells pre-exposure to GH is necessary for maturation agents to induce the cell phenotype associated changes in with fat-cell conversion.



3.7) Two-phase Protocol for the Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes





Fig 3.8) Effect of GH on the Priming of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes. Cells were grown to confluence in 10% calf serum which had been depleted of GH. At confluence cells were primed in serum-free medium in the presence or absence of GH or IGF-I as indicated. After 2 days the priming medium was replaced with maturation medium and 8 days later the extent of differentiation was assessed by either phase-contrast microscopy (*panel A*) or by measuring cellular GPDH activity (*panel B*). For further details see Section 2.2.4. Alternatively, cells were grown to confluence in CS which had not been depleted of GH (CS cells) and were primed in the absence of GH (*Panel B*). Parallel cultures were maintained at confluence for 10 days (10DC) as a control. GPDH activities are expressed as the number of moles of NADH oxidised/second (katals)/mgDNA and are means $\pm$ S.E.M. for 3 observations. \* indicates the value differs significantly from 10DC cells; p<0.01.

Although insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) is known to mediate many of the actions of GH (Ashcom *et al*, 1992), the priming action of GH on 3T3-F442A differentiation is not due to local production of IGF-I since IGF-I alone was unable to mimic the effect (results not shown). Furthermore it has been reported that GH does not promote IGF-I production in 3T3-F442A fibroblasts (Barcellini-Couget *et al*, 1993). These results show that differentiation of 3T3-F442A cells involves at least two distinct stages. Exposure to GH is necessary to prime cells to the actions of insulin, EGF and T<sub>3</sub> which act in the second, maturation phase to promote terminal differentiation.

### 3.3.5) Changes in G-protein Content in 3T3-F442A Cell Membranes During Confluence and Differentiation.

A number of studies have suggested that G-protein  $\alpha$ -subunits play a crucial role in modulating fat cell development (Wang *et al*, 1992; Watkins *et al*, 1992; Moxham *et al*, 1993; Su *et al*, 1993) and that alterations in G-protein expression occur during preadipocyte differentiation (Lai *et al*, 1981; Watkins *et al*, 1982; Giershik *et al*, 1986; Watkins *et al*, 1987; Anderson and Kilgour, 1993; Huppertz *et al*, 1993). Having demonstrated that the differentiation of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes can be divided into a priming and maturation stage (section 3.3.3.1), the levels of G<sub>s</sub>, G<sub>i</sub> and G<sub>β</sub> were next determined in 3T3-F442A cell membranes, during these two phases of preadipocyte differentiation. A comparison was made between 3T3-F442A cells treated with the two-phase differentiation protocol and non-differentiating control cultures which were grown to confluence in 10% CS and maintained at confluence in 10% CS for a further 10 days. As noted in Fig 3.8, by day 10 approximately 90% of GH-primed 3T3-F442A cells have differentiated into adipocytes whereas virtually no 10-day confluent cells differentiate.

To determine whether changes in the expression of  $G_{s\alpha}$  occur during the time-course of differentiation, a specific antiserum, which cross-reacts with the 42 kDa and 47 kDa forms of  $G_{s\alpha}$  (section 3.1.3.1), was used to measure changes in the levels of these proteins in membranes of 3T3-F442A cells at different stages of their adipose conversion. Immunoblot analysis demonstrated that profound changes occurred in the levels of both the 42 kDa and the 47 kDa isoforms of  $G_{s\alpha}$  ( $G_{s\alpha42}$  and  $G_{s\alpha47}$ ) during the two phase differentiation process (Fig 3.9A). No significant difference was detected in the levels of either  $G_{s\alpha}$  subunit when membranes from sub-confluent, proliferating cells were compared to those from confluent cells. However, following confluence the levels of both  $G_{st\alpha}$  subunits began to increase significantly. Maximal levels of  $G_{s\alpha47}$  were detected in cell membranes at the end of the 2 day priming stage and persisted for at least the first two days of the maturation stage then declined,





Days After Confluence



Equal quantities of membrane protein (10µg) extracted from 3T3-F442A cells during the various stages of their adipose conversion were subject to SDS/PAGE and immunoblotting with specific anti- $G_{s\alpha}$  antibodies (*panel A*). Membrane samples were prepared from pre-confluent, proliferating (*lane 1*), just confluent cells (*lane 2*), cells primed for 2 days in the presence of GH (*lane 3*), cells exposed to maturation medium for 2 days (*lane 4*) or from mature adipocytes (*lane 5*). The 42 kDa and 47 kDa forms of  $G_{s\alpha}$  are indicated with arrow-heads. *Panel B* demonstrates the changes in densitometric values (arbitrary units) for  $G_{s\alpha 42}$  and  $G_{s\alpha 47}$  obtained from immunoblots. Just confluent cells are denoted day 0, whereas cells in the proliferative phase (G) and mature adipocytes are represented as being one day pre-confluent and ten day post-confluent respectively. Immunoblots were repeated on three separate observations. \*,\*\* and \*\*\* indicates that the value differs significantly from those obtained from just confluent (day 0) cells; p<0.02, p<0.01 and p<0.001, respectively. reaching levels approaching those found in JC membranes by day 10 of differentiation (ie in mature adipocytes). In comparison to the levels detected in JC membranes, levels of  $G_{sa42}$  were significantly increased by the end of the 2 day priming stage (2.4±0.29 fold increase, p<0.02) and continued to rise, resulting in a final 7.18±0.08 fold, p<0.01) increase by the end of the differentiation process (day 10). However, similar changes in  $G_{sa42}$  and  $G_{sa47}$  levels were apparent in parallel cultures maintained in growth medium for 10 days following confluence (Fig 3.10), although these cultures displayed no increase in GPDH activity and none of the morphological changes associated with the differentiation process.

Immunoblots analysis of cell membranes with antiserum specific for  $G_{i2\alpha}$  (section 3.3) showed that there was no significant change in the expression of this subunit when pre-confluence proliferating cells were compared to confluent cultures (day 0, Fig 3.11). There was, however, a significant  $1.51\pm0.06$  fold (p<0.01, n=3) increase in  $G_{i2\alpha}$ , relative to JC cells, following the two-day priming phase. These levels were sustained for at least the first 2 days of the maturation phase, after which the levels of  $G_{i2\alpha}$  declined dramatically to fall below those found in JC cells by the end of the differentiation period (0.15±0.01 fold decrease, p<0.001, n=3). The amount of  $G_{i3\alpha}$  in cell membranes did not fluctuate significantly during the two stages of differentiation (Fig 3.12). However, the amount of  $G_{i3\alpha}$  in terminally differentiated adipocytes were found to be slightly lower than in JC fibroblasts (0.40±0.04, p<0.05, n=3). The changes in the levels of  $G_{i2\alpha}$  and  $G_{i3\alpha}$  which occurred at differentiative agents present (GH, insulin, EGF and T<sub>3</sub>) as such changes were not observed in 10dc cells, in the absence of morphological change. (Fig 3.12).

G-protein  $\alpha$ -subunits are believed to be anchored in the plasma membrane as a heterotrimer with  $\beta$ - and  $\gamma$ - subunits (Sternweiss, 1986). The  $\gamma$ -subunits of G-proteins in 3T3-F442A cells were not probed in this study. The steady-state levels of the  $\beta$ -subunit were, however, analysed using a pan-reactive antiserum which recognises the  $\beta_{35}$ - and  $\beta_{36}$ - isoforms, as previously described (Strassheim *et al*, 1991). This antiserum recognises the 35 kDa and 36 kDa forms of the  $\beta$ -subunit in membranes prepared from rat adipocytes (Fig 3.13A). However, only the  $\beta_{36}$ -subtype was detectable in membranes of 3T3-F442A adipocytes (Fig 3.13A). The levels of  $G_{\beta36}$  were not found to change significantly when membranes from pre-confluent cells were compared to confluent cells. However, levels of  $\beta_{36}$  were appreciably increased by a factor of 2.62±0.28 (p<0.05, n=3) by the end of the priming phase and by a further 1.60±0.11 fold (p<0.05, n=3) during the first two days of maturation. Levels declined during the final stages of maturation until the amount of  $G_{\beta36}$  detectable in



**B**)



### Fig 3.10) Expression of $G_{s\alpha 42}$ and $G_{s\alpha 47}$ in Membranes During the Maintenance of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes at Confluence.

Equal quantities of membrane protein (10µg) extracted from 3T3-F442A cells maintained at confluence in growth medium were subject to SDS/PAGE and immunoblotting with specific anti- $G_{s\alpha}$  antibodies (*panel A*) as described in the legend to figure 3.10). Samples were taken from just confluent cells (*lane 1*) and at days 2 (*lane 2*), 4 (*lane 3*) and 10 of confluence (*lane 4*). The 42 kDa and 47 kDa forms of  $G_{s\alpha}$  are indicated with arrow-heads. *Panel B* demonstrates the changes in densitometric values (arbitrary units) for  $G_{s\alpha42}$  and  $G_{s\alpha47}$  obtained from G-protein immunoblots. Just confluent cells are denoted day 0. Immunoblots were repeated on three separate occasions and densitometric units are expressed as means±S.E.M. \* and \*\* indicates that the value differs significantly from those obtained from just confluent (day 0) cells; p<0.01 and p<0.001, respectively.


B)





Equal quantities of membrane protein  $(10\mu g)$  from 3T3-F442A cells during proliferation (*lane 1*), at confluence (*lane 2*), after priming for 2 days (*lane 3*), during maturation (*lane 4*) or from mature adipocytes (*lane 5*) were separated by SDS/PAGE and immunoblotted with specific antisera to  $G_{i\alpha 2}$  and  $G_{i\alpha 3}$  (*panel A*) as described in

Section 2.2.11. The  $\alpha$ -subunits of  $G_{i1}$  and  $G_{i2}$  are indicated with arrow-heads. Immunoblots were repeated on three separate occasions and densitometric values (arbitrary units) obtained at each stage of differentiation from immunoblots are shown in *panel B* and are expressed as means±S.E.M. for 3 observations. Significant differences with respect to just confluent (day 0) cells are indicated; \*, \*\* and \*\*\* (p<0.05, p<0.01 and p<0.001 respectively).



**B**)



Fig 3.12) Expression of  $G_{i\alpha 2}$  and  $G_{i\alpha 3}$  in Membranes from 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes During their Maintenance at Confluence.

Equal quantities of membrane protein (10µg) from just confluent 3T3-F442A cells (*lane 1*), and at days 2 (*lane 2*), 4 (*lane 3*) and 10 (*lane 4*) of confluence were separated by SDS/PAGE and immunoblotted with specific antisera to  $G_{i\alpha 2}$  and  $G_{i\alpha 3}$  (*panel A*) as described in the legend to Fig 3.11). The  $\alpha$ -subunits of  $G_{i1}$  and  $G_{i2}$  are indicated with arrow-heads. Densitometric values (arbitrary units) were obtained from immunoblots of  $G_{i\alpha 2}$  and  $G_{i\alpha 3}$  and are shown in *panel B*. Immunoblots were repeated on three separate occasions and densitometric units are expressed as means±S.E.M. for 3 observations.



**B**)



### Fig 3.13) Expression of $G_{\beta 36}$ in 3T3-F442A Membranes During Differentiation.

Equal quantities of membrane protein  $(10\mu g)$  from 3T3-F442A cells during proliferation (*lane 1*), at confluence (*lane 2*), after priming for 2 days (*lane 3*), during maturation (*lane 4*) or from mature adipocytes (*lane 5*) or from rat adipocytes (*lane 6*) were separated by SDS/PAGE and immunoblotted with antisera which recognises the 35 kDa and 36 kDa forms of G<sub>β</sub> (*panel A*). The two forms of G<sub>β</sub> are indicated with arrow-heads. Immunoblots were repeated on three separate occasions and densitometric values (arbitrary units) obtained at each stage of differentiation from immunoblots are shown in *panel B* and are expressed as means±S.E.M. for 3 observations. Significant differences with respect to just confluent (day 0) cells are indicated; \* and \*\* (p<0.05 and p<0.01 respectively). 3T3-F442A adipocyte membranes was similar to that found in JC membranes (Fig 3.13B). As with  $G_{i2\alpha}$  and  $G_{i3\alpha}$  the regulated changes in  $G_{\beta36}$  expression during differentiation were probably influenced by the differentiative factors present since levels of  $G_{\beta36}$  did not change in cells maintained at confluence in growth medium (10dc; Fig 3.14).

## **3.3.6)** Changes in G-protein Subunit Expression Per Cell During Differentiation and Confluence.

During differentiation 3T3-F442A cells alter their size and, as a consequence, the yield of membrane protein/cell varies at different developmental stages (Table 3.5). Hence, the densitometric values obtained from G-protein immunoblots were transformed into values indicating expression per cell. Figure 3.15A demonstrates that on a per cell basis the expression of  $G_{s\alpha42}$  increased following priming and during maturation by 143.6±29.5% (p<0.02, n=3) and 242.3±29.5% (p<0.01, n=3) respectively, and was further elevated towards the end of the maturation phase by a substantial 1551±7.8% (p<0.001, n=3). In addition, the levels of  $G_{s\alpha47}$  also increased following priming (207±43.8% increase; p<0.01, n=3) and during maturation (242.5±52.9% increase; p<0.01, n=3) and were maintained at an elevated level in terminally differentiated cells (149.4±19.5; p<0.01, n=3). Similar changes in  $G_{s\alpha47}$  expression were also observed in control cultures maintained at confluence (Fig. 3.15B). These results demonstrate that increases in  $G_{s\alpha47}$  and  $G_{s\alpha47}$  expression can occur independently of the morphological changes initiated by differentiative factors.

Significant increases in  $G_{i2\alpha}$  expression per cell were also detected following priming and during the early stages of maturation (51.3±5.9%, p<0.01, n=3 and 65.9±9.8%, p<0.01, n=3 respectively; Fig 3.16). Elevations in  $G_{i3\alpha}$  were also apparent at these time-points, however these values were not significant. Towards the end of maturation the amount of  $G_{i2\alpha}$  and  $G_{i3\alpha}$  per cell declined substantially to levels which were significantly below those found in JC fibroblasts (36.8±1.5%, p<0.01, n=3 and 27.5±4.0%, p<0.05, n=3 decrease, respectively). As there was no apparent change in the expression of either  $G_{i2\alpha}$  or  $G_{i3\alpha}$  during confluence (results not shown), it appears that  $G_{i2\alpha}$  and  $G_{i3\alpha}$  are subject to differential regulation during the different stages of 3T3-F442A cell differentiation. During GH-priming and maturation, cells receive signals to specifically increase levels of  $G_{i2\alpha}$ , whereas terminally differentiated cells concomitantly decrease expression of both  $G_{i\alpha}$ -subtypes. When normalised to cell number, the pattern of  $G_{\beta36}$  expression during differentiation was similar to that obtained for  $G_{i2\alpha}$ , in that levels were significantly elevated following priming and during maturation (by 161.6±47.7%, p<0.05, n=3 and 319.4±29.0%, p<0.01, n=3). Unlike  $G_{i2\alpha}$ , the relative amount of  $G_{\beta36}$  in terminally differentiated cells was significantly greater than those found in JC cells (Fig 3.16). In contrast, there was no appreciable change in the expression of  $G_{\beta36}$  in cells maintained at confluence in growth medium (results not shown). These results suggest that the expression of  $G_{\beta36}$  is influenced by hormonal regulation during the two phases of 3T3-F442A cell differentiation. During GH-priming cells receive signals to increase the expression of  $G_{\beta36}$ . Levels are further increased during maturation and then fall in terminally differentiated cells to those observed in GH-primed cells.

### **3.3.7)** Effect of Pertussis and Cholera Intoxication on the Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes.

That G-protein levels are elevated in the crucial priming phase of 3T3-F442A cell differentiation suggests a potential regulatory role for these proteins in modulating fatcell conversion. To determine whether G-proteins can influence preadipocyte differentiation the effects of bacterial exotoxins, namely cholera toxin (C.Tox) and pertussis toxin (P.Tox), on 3T3-F442A cell differentiation were investigated. C.Tox catalyzes the ADP-ribosylation of  $G_{sta}$  thereby reducing this protein's GTPase activity (Cassel and Selinger, 1977). In cell systems this results in constitutive activation of adenylate cyclase and a corresponding increase in intracellular cyclic AMP (McKenzie, 1992). Treatment of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes with C.Tox dramatically reduced the extent of cellular differentiation in the presence of DDM (by 67.8±1.1%, p<0.001, n=3) as assessed by GPDH activity (Fig 3.17). P.Tox catalyzes the ADP-ribosylation of G<sub>ia</sub> with the result the  $\alpha\beta\gamma$  heterotrimer is maintained in an inactive conformation (Buns *et al*, 1983; Kuruse *et al*, 1988). Treatment of cells with P.Tox lead to a much smaller 12.4±1.1% (p<0.01, n=3) but never the less significant inhibitory effect on differentiation (Fig 3.17).

### Table 3.5) Parameters of Cell Growth During the Two Phases of 3T3-F442A Cell Differentiation.

3T3-F442A cells were grown to confluence in GH-deleted calf-serum as described in the legend to Fig 4.2). Upon attaining confluence cells were induced to differentiate with the two-phase differentiation protocol as described in Section 2.2.4. Alternatively, control cultures were maintained at confluence for the duration of the differentiation process. At the indicated stages of cell development the number of cells on a 100mm petri dish was assessed with a haemocytometer and the amount of protein in cell-homogenates was determined by the dye-binding assay of Bradford (1976). Results are representative of a single experiment repeated on three separate occasions.

Stage of Cell Growth	Cells/ Plate	Protein/ 10 <sup>6</sup> Cells (mg)	Days at Confluence	Cells/ Plate	Protein/ 10 <sup>6</sup> Cells (mg)
Proliferation	8.1x10 <sup>5</sup>	0.26	-	-	-
Just Confluent	1.0x10 <sup>6</sup>	0.26	Just Confluent	1.0x10 <sup>6</sup>	0.26
2d Priming	$1.0 \times 10^{6}$	0.26	2d	$1.0 \times 10^{6}$	0.26
2d Maturation	$1.8 \times 10^{6}$	0.27	4d	1.0x10 <sup>6</sup>	0.26
Mature Adipocyte	$2.1 \times 10^6$	0.60	10d	$1.2 \times 10^{6}$	0.28

A)



**B**)



### Fig 3.14) Expression of $G_{\beta 36}$ in Membranes from 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes During their Maintenance at Confluence.

Equal quantities of membrane protein (10µg) from just confluent 3T3-F442A cells (*lane 1*) and after 2 (*lane 2*), 4 (*lane 3*) and 10 (*lane 4*) days of confluence were separated by SDS/PAGE and immunoblotted with antisera which recognises the 36 kDa form of  $G_{\beta}$  in 3T3-F442A cells (*panel A*). Densitometric values (arbitrary units) were obtained from immunoblots are shown in *panel B*. Immunoblots were repeated on three separate occasions and densitometric units are expressed as means±S.E.M. for 3 observations.





The change in expression of  $G_{stt}$ -subunits during individual stages of 3T3-F442A cell differentiation (*panel A*) or the corresponding day of confluence (*panel B*) is shown relative to its expression in just confluent fibroblasts. Data represent average changes from 3 separate experiments. Data for G-protein expression were calculated on a 'per cell' basis as described in Section 3.2.2. Statistically significant changes in expression relative to just confluent fibroblasts are indicated as \*\*P<0.02, \*\*\*P<0.01 and \*\*\*\*P<0.001.



### Fig 3.16) Changes in the Expression of $G_{i\alpha}$ - and $\beta$ -subunits Per Cell in 3T3-F442A Cells During Differentiation.

The change in expression of  $G_{i\alpha}$ - and  $\beta$ -subunits during individual stages of 3T3-F442A cell differentiation (*panel A*) is shown relative to its expression in just confluent fibroblasts. Data represent average changes from 3 separate experiments. Data for G-protein expression were calculated on a 'per cell' basis as described in Section 3.2.2. Statistically significant changes in expression relative to just confluent fibroblasts are indicated as \**P*<0.05, \*\**P*<0.02, \*\*\**P*<0.01 and \*\*\*\**P*<0.001.



### Fig 3.17) Effect of Cholera and Pertussis Intoxication on the Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes.

3T3-F442A cells were grown to confluence under standard conditions and induced to differentiate with a defined differentiation medium (DDM) as described in Section 2.2.3. For the first three days of differentiation cholera toxin (C.Tox, 10ng/ml) or pertussis toxin (P.Tox, 10ng/ml) were included in the DDM. After three days the DDM was removed and replaced with fresh medium without toxins. The extent of differentiation was assessed 7 days later by measuring the GPDH activity of cell extracts as described in the legend to Fig 3.6). GPDH values are expressed as a percentage of the values obtained in cells differentiated in the absence of toxins (control) and are means $\pm$ S.E.M. for three observations. Significant differences with respect to control are indicated, \*p<0.01, \*\*p<0.001.

#### **3.4) DISCUSSION**

Specificity of signalling from seven-helix serpentine receptors is determined in part by the selectivity displayed by these receptors for coupling to specific members of the highly homologous heterotrimeric G-protein family. An added degree of specificity may be the result of differential localisation and regulated expression of particular G-protein subunits. Some phenotypic changes that occur on differentiation are likely to be reflections of changes in the expression of components of signal transduction pathways, including receptors, G-proteins and effectors. Therefore, levels of some of the G-protein constituents of the preadipocyte cell-line, 3T3-F442A, were measured before and after exposure to agents that induced phenotypic changes associated with differentiation.

The expression of  $G_s$ ,  $G_{i2}$  and  $G_{i3}$  was demonstrated in membranes from 3T3-F442A fibroblasts by immunoblotting with specific anti-peptide antibodies generated against G-protein  $\alpha$ -subunits. 3T3-F442A cells were found not to express detectable levels of  $G_{i1\alpha}$ . Consequently, anti- $G_{i1+2\alpha}$ , an antiserum which recognises both  $G_{i1\alpha}$ and  $G_{i2\alpha}$  can be used specifically as a probe for  $G_{i2\alpha}$  in this cell type.

The 3T3-F442A cell system was shown here and in previous studies to display a strict requirement for GH as a differentiating signal (Fig 3.8; Morikawa *et al*, 1982; Nixon and Green, 1984; Guller *et al*, 1988). This is wholly consistent with a stimulatory effect of GH on the adipose conversion of several other clonal preadipocyte cell lines, such as 3T3-L1 (Hauner and Löffler, 1986), ob1771 and ob17UT (Doglio *et al*, 1986). GH acts on confluent, growth arrested cells to produce primed (Gp) cells. Gp-cells are in a differentiation permissive condition; i.e. they become sensitive to the differentiating activities of insulin, EGF and T<sub>3</sub> (Guller *et al*, 1988). These agents then promote maturation of Gp-cells by stimulating a limited increase in cell number (Table 3.5) and the induction of adipose-specific phenotypes such as cell rounding, fat accumulation and increased lipogenic enzyme activity (Fig 3.8).

Because of the selective reactivities of a range of antipeptide antisera (see Section 3.1) it was possible to distinguish between differentiation induced changes in the expression of  $G_{s\alpha}$ , the 36 kDa  $\beta$ -subunit and the closely related  $G_{i2\alpha}$  and  $G_{i3\alpha}$  subtypes during the two phases of 3T3-F442A cell differentiation (changes are summarised in table 3.6). Dramatic changes in the expression of the 42 kDa and 47 kDa forms of  $G_{s\alpha}$  in cell membranes were also apparent during differentiation. However, since these changes were also observed in membranes from control cultures

### Table 3.6) Changes in the Expression of G-protein Subunits During the Adipocyte Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes

The change in G-protein subunit expression during individual stages of 3T3-F442A cell differentiation is shown relative to its expression in undifferentiated, just confluent cells. The magnitude and direction of change is indicated, + (increase), ++ (large increase), - (decrease) and = (no change).

G-protein Subunit	2d GH-primed	2d Maturation	Mature Adipocyte	
G <sub>sa42</sub>	+	+	++	
G <sub>sa47</sub>	+	+	Ŧ	
G <sub>ia2</sub>	+	+	-	
G <sub>ia3</sub>	=	=	_	
G <sub>β36</sub>	++	++	++	

Stage of Adipocyte Conversion

in the absence of phenotypic change (Fig 3.10B), it was concluded that the expression of  $G_{sx}$  is not influenced by differentiative hormones in 3T3-F442A cells. In contrast, the relative abundance of  $G_{i2\alpha}$ ,  $G_{i3\alpha}$  and  $G_{\beta}$  did appear to be subject to hormonal regulation either during the GH-priming phase or during maturation with insulin, EGF and T<sub>3</sub>. Priming of 3T3-F442A cells with GH lead to a selective increase in the 36 kDa form of  $G_{\beta}$  and  $G_{i2\alpha}$ , whereas  $G_{i3\alpha}$  levels were unchanged. Although there are many examples of agonist-stimulated alterations in G-protein expression (Milligan and Green, 1991), the results of this study demonstrate the first example of a GH-mediated increase in  $G_{i2\alpha}$  and  $G_{\beta}$  expression. GH has been reported previously to specifically down-regulate  $G_{i2\alpha}$  in rat adipocyte membranes, which may contribute to the chronic lipolytic effects of this hormone in vivo (Doris et al, 1994). This substantial difference between the two models provides evidence that the mechanisms involved in the differentiation-promoting actions of GH are not necessarily the same as those involved in the regulation of metabolism. In addition, 3T3-F442A cells have a distinct advantage as an experimental system in that they provide a convenient model for the study of such early events in the preadipocyte differentiation program.

The increases in  $G_{i2\alpha}$  and  $G_{\beta}$  during priming were sustained into the maturation phase and then, together with  $G_{i3\alpha}$ , levels of these G-proteins declined in terminally differentiated adipocytes. This is consistent with previously reported decreases in  $G_{i\alpha}$ protein (Giershik et al, 1986; Huppertz et al, 1993; ) and mRNA (Uehara et al, 1994), and in G<sub>B</sub> protein (Giershik et al, 1986) during the insulin-induced differentiation of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. However, no initial increase in  $G_{i2\alpha}$  and  $G_{\beta}$  was reported in 3T3-L1 cells. This is possibly attributable to differences between the two cell-types (3T3-L1 versus 3T3-F442A). Although GH is a potentiating factor for 3T3-L1 cell differentiation, it does not appear to be required for the terminal differentiation of these cells (Hauner and Löffler, 1986). As a consequence, the changes in G-protein expression which occur during the differentiation of 3T3-L1 cells are probably synonymous with changes during the insulin-responsive, maturation phase of 3T3-F442A differentiation. Due to the multi-component nature of the maturation media for 3T3-L1 (Schmidt et al, 1990) and 3T3-F442A (vide infra) preadipocytes, further investigation will be necessary to determine which factor(s) are specifically responsible for the changes in  $G_{i2\alpha}$ ,  $G_{i3\alpha}$  and  $G_{\beta}$  in the terminal stages of differentiation.

Further study will also be required to determine whether the changes in G-protein expression during differentiation are regulated at the level of transcription, translation or both. Despite the very large number of studies which have set out to document changes in G-protein mRNA or protein levels, there have been surprisingly few investigations into the transcriptional regulation of G-protein expression. During the differentiation of polarised renal cells (Holtzman *et al*, 1993), increased  $G_{i2\alpha}$  expression appears to require a member of the CCAAT box family of DNA binding proteins (Kinane *et al*, 1993), whereas CCAAT boxes do not contribute to the transcriptional activity of the  $G_{i3\alpha}$  gene (Holtzman *et al*, 1993). Members of the CCAAT box family of transcription factors include the CCAAT enhancer binding proteins (C/EBPs; reviewed by Johnson and McKnight, 1989). In 3T3-F442A cells, conclusive evidence has shown that C/EBP family members can regulate preadipocyte differentiation (Umek *et al*, 1991; Freytag and Geddes, 1992; Freytag *et al*, 1994; Lin and Lane, 1994). It is therefore extremely tempting to speculate that hormonal regulation of one or more members of the C/EBP family could contribute to the selective changes in  $G_{i2\alpha}$  protein expression during the differentiation of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes.

The stimulus for the specific increases in  $G_{s\alpha42}$  and  $G_{s\alpha47}$  observed in confluent cultures and differentiating cells is not known (Fig 3.9), but may be attributable to autocrine/paracrine mechanisms. An interesting aspect of the changes in the abundance of long- and short- forms of  $G_{s\alpha}$  during differentiation and confluence is that they were not synchronous; i.e. dramatic increases in  $G_{s\alpha42}$  occurred in terminally differentiated cells whereas the levels of  $G_{s\alpha47}$  were not effected substantially (Fig 3.15). As these proteins are splice-variants of a single gene-product (Robishaw *et al*, 1986; Mattera *et al*, 1986) this implies that  $G_{s\alpha42}$  protein levels may be subject to posttranscriptional regulation.

The importance of temporal G-protein  $\alpha$ -subunit expression during differentiation has been convincingly demonstrated in lower eukaryotes (Firtel *et al*, 1989; Hardwiger and Firtel, 1992) and studies *in vitro* and in *vivo* have implicated  $\alpha$ -subunits as being important for the development of fat in mice (Moxham *et al*, 1993; Su *et al*, 1993; Gordeladze *et al*, 1997). In support of this, in the present study P.Tox-induced inactivation of G<sub>1</sub> (Ui, 1984) early in the differentiation of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes was found to exert an inhibitory influence on terminal differentiation. It has recently been demonstrated *in vivo* that G<sub>12 $\alpha$ </sub> is a positive regulator of insulin receptor signalling and that loss of G<sub>12 $\alpha$ </sub> in transgenic animals impairs the cardinal responses to insulin, namely glucose-transporter activity and recruitment, counterregulation of lipolysis and activation of glycogen synthase (Moxham and Malbon, 1996). Moreover, expression of a constitutively active form of G<sub>12 $\alpha$ </sub> in transgenic mice was found to mimic insulin action in adipose tissue (Chen *et al*, 1997). It is interesting to note that before the fall in G<sub>1 $\alpha$ </sub>-subunit expression in terminally differentiated cells that there is an initial rise in the expression of G<sub>12 $\alpha</sub> during the insulin-dependent</sub>$  maturation phase (Fig 3.13). This suggests that during this phase of the differentiation process that inhibitory G-proteins may play a prominent regulatory role, perhaps as positive-regulators of the insulin-stimulated differentiation signal. If this were the case then the anti-adipogenic action of chronic P.Tox treatment on the adipose conversion of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes could be partially explained by an inhibitory affect on insulin-promoted effects during the maturation phase of their differentiation.

In addition C.Tox, which constitutively activates  $G_{s\alpha}$  (Gill and Meren, 1978), was found to severely retard differentiation of 3T3-F442A cells in DDM, which is consistent with previous reports of a negative modulatory effect of  $G_{s\alpha}$  during the adipocyte differentiation of 3T3-L1 fibroblasts (Wang et al, 1992; Gordeladze et al, 1997). In addition to their effects on G-protein activities, long-term exposure of cellular systems to P.Tox and C.Tox can lead to selective down-regulation of target  $\alpha$ subunits (Chang and Bourne, 1989; Milligan et al, 1989; Klinz and Costa, 1990). Chronic P.Tox treatment has also been reported to induce down-regulation of  $\beta$ subunits in vivo in 3T3-L1 cells (Watkins et al, 1989). Thus, while the results in this study highlight the functional importance of G-proteins in maintaining the differentiation of preadipocytes, the complex response of cells to chronic toxin treatment makes interpretation of results in terms of potential effector systems extremely difficult. This study does, however, demonstrate that G-proteins may be important for preadipocyte differentiation and that  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -subunits levels are altered in a stage-dependent manner. This implies that sequential alterations to G-protein levels may be important for efficient fat cell conversion. In light of this, caution should be observed in interpreting the results of transfection studies which have used activating- or inactivating-mutants of G-protein  $\alpha$ -subunits (Wang *et al*, 1992; Gordeladze et al, 1997) since enforced expression of these mutant proteins will disrupt the temporal regulation of G-protein expression during fat cell development with unpredictable effects.

What role, if any, would temporal alterations in the abundance of cellular G-proteins play in determining the cellular phenotype of the differentiating preadipocyte? One potential consequence would be the altered coupling of extracellular stimuli to intracellular effector systems.  $G_{i\alpha 1-3}$  were initially characterised for their ability to inhibit adenylate cyclase (Taussig *et al*, 1993) and have been implicated in Golgi function (Maltese and Robishaw, 1990) and shown to activate p21<sup>*ras*</sup> (Ras) and the MAP kinase and p70<sup>S6K</sup> growth-regulatory pathways (Winitz *et al*, 1993; Wilson *et al*, 1996) as well as K<sup>+</sup> channels (Yatani *et al*, 1988).  $G_{s\alpha}$  is stimulatory to adenylate cyclase and can modulate a host of intracellular effectors by activating cyclic AMP-

dependent protein kinase (PKA), including the MAP kinase and  $p70^{S6K}$  cascades (Withers *et al*, 1996, Yarwood *et al*, 1996; Graves and Lawrence, 1996). G<sub>βγ</sub>-subunits can also modulate the activities of intracellular effector units, including some K<sup>+</sup> channels (Clapham and Neer, 1993; Logothetis *et al*, 1987), forms 2 and 3 of PLCβ (Rhee *et al*, 1989), certain adenylate cyclase isoforms (Tang and Gilman, 1991) and appear to be involved in the activation of MAP kinase by G<sub>i</sub>-linked receptors (Alblas *et al*, 1993; Crespo *et al*, 1994; Faure *et al*, 1994; Koch *et al*, 1994; Thorburn and Thorburn, 1994). Since the ability to interact with the adenylate cyclase and MAP kinase pathways appears to be a feature common to G<sub>s</sub>, G<sub>i</sub> and G<sub>βγ</sub>, it is likely that disregulation of these major signal transduction cascades may underlie the effects of P.Tox and C.Tox on the differentiation of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes.

Previous studies have suggested that cyclic AMP is a signalling molecule which contributes to the triggering of adipose conversion of adipogenic cell lines (Russel and Ho, 1976; Gaillard et al, 1989; Schmidt et al, 1990) as well as that of adipogenic cell lines (Björntorp et al, 1980; Wierderer and Löffler, 1980). However cyclic AMP appears to play a dual role in modulating adipose differentiation since prolonged exposure of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes to cyclic AMP-elevating agents prevents terminal differentiation (Spiegelman and Green, 1981). This results in a downregulation of mRNA expression for some adipocyte-specific products, including fattyacid synthase (Paulausikis and Sul, 1988),  $\alpha$ -glycero-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (Dobson et al, 1987) and lipoprotein lipase (Raynolds et al, 1990). This suggests the existence of a generic control mechanism which switches lipogenic and lipolytic states in an orderly biochemical fashion. Indeed, it is well documented that adipocyte differentiation is accompanied by a coincident increase in the expression of the 42kDa and 47kDa forms of  $G_{s\alpha}$  and decreased expression of  $G_{i\alpha}$  isoforms, which may contribute to increased intracellular concentrations of cyclic AMP and enhanced responsiveness of terminally differentiated adipocytes to lipolytic agents (Kilgour and Anderson, 1993). It appears, therefore, that large increases in intracellular cyclic AMP induced by chronic C.Tox exposure in the present study would exert an inhibitory effect on this late stage of differentiation. It is also possible that the elevations in  $G_{i\alpha}$ subunit expression which were observed during the maturation phase of 3T3-F442A preadipocyte differentiation could, by limiting the activation of adenylate cyclase, prevent the action lipolytic agents thereby allowing lipid accumulation and terminal adipocyte differentiation. In addition to the dynamic changes in heterotrimeric Gprotein expression during the late stages of preadipocyte differentiation, the present study demonstrates an "on-dependent" increase in  $G_{i2\alpha}$  and  $G_{B36}$  during the essential GH-priming phase and a significant increase in  $G_{s\alpha 42}$  which also occurred, in the absence of differentiative stimuli, in cultures which were maintained at confluence (Fig

3.13). This suggest that regulation of adenylate cyclase activity early in the differentiation program could also be critical for determining cellular fate. It is therefore apparent that the role of heterotrimeric G-proteins in controlling preadipocyte differentiation is complex and requires further clarification in terms of the cyclic AMP signalling system.

#### 3.5) CONCLUSIONS

In this study, specific anti-peptide antisera were used to identify differentiationinduced changes in the concentrations of G-protein  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -subunits in 3T3-F442A cells. It is clear that not all G-proteins respond equally to the induction of differentiation and unique responses occur even amongst members of the same family. The crucial GH-priming stage of 3T3-F442A differentiation witnessed specific increases in G<sub>s\alpha42</sub>, G<sub>i2\alpha</sub> and G<sub>\beta36</sub>. Further increases were observed during the initial stages of maturation culminating in dramatic increases in G<sub>s\alpha42</sub> and a more modest increase in G<sub>s\alpha47</sub> expression occurring in terminally differentiated cells. In contrast, levels of G<sub>i2\alpha</sub>, G<sub>i3\alpha</sub> declined in mature adipocytes. The importance of G-proteins in the maintenance of the differentiated state was demonstrated with bacterial toxins. This suggests that the regulated changes in G-protein expression occurring during 3T3-F442A cell differentiation may contribute to changes in cellular phenotype. Further studies will be needed to clarify the functional properties that specific changes in Gprotein levels impart to the differentiating cell.

### **Chapter Four**

### The Effects of Cyclic AMP on the Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes

#### **4.1) INTRODUCTION**

The results from Chapter 3 demonstrate that changes occur in the cellular levels of individual G-protein isoforms at various stages of 3T3-F442A fat-cell conversion. Specific increases in the expression of  $G_{s\alpha}$ ,  $G_{i2\alpha}$  and  $G_{\beta}$ , during the essential GHpriming phase of differentiation and increases in  $G_{s\alpha}$  in confluent cultures, where morphological conversion was negligible, provide indications as to the importance of G-proteins in modulating adipogenesis. Further evidence for a regulatory role for Gproteins in this process was obtained by using cholera toxin (C.Tox), which constitutively activates G<sub>s</sub> (Gill and Meren, 1978), and pertussis toxin (P.Tox), which inactivates certain G-proteins, including members of the G<sub>i</sub> family (Ui, 1984). Treatment with P.Tox proved to be slightly inhibitory to adipose conversion, whereas C.Tox provoked a dramatic blockade of differentiation. It is clear that treatment of cells with these toxins will lead to changes in adenylate cyclase activity (Gill and Meren, 1978; Ui, 1984) resulting in perturbations to intracellular cyclic AMP concentrations. In addition, changes in the level of G-protein expression probably contribute to the changes in acute hormonal regulation of adenylate cyclase which are characteristic of adipocyte development (Rubin et al, 1978; Lai et al, 1981; Kilgour and Anderson, 1993). With these considerations in mind it appears that modulation of intracellular cyclic AMP concentrations may play a functional role in determining the cellular fate of differentiating preadipocytes.

A large number of studies have demonstrated the functional significance of cyclic AMP in the modulation of cell growth (Table 4.1). Several hormones which are known to activate adenylate cyclase through G<sub>s</sub>-coupled receptors (eg thyrotropin) are mitogenic in cell types in which cyclic AMP production appears to be a physiological mediator of cell proliferation (Dumont *et al*, 1989). Moreover, constitutively active mutants of G<sub>sα</sub> have been identified in pituitary adenomas (Landis *et al*, 1989) and in autonomously functioning thyroid tumours (Lyons *et al*, 1990), the oncogenicity of which is thought to be mediated by continuous cyclic AMP formation (Valler *et al*, 1987; Gaiddon *et al*, 1994). However, a positive mitogenic effect of cyclic AMP is not evident in certain cell types and anti-mitogenic effects are observed in others (Table 4.1). Indeed, cyclic AMP can even promote reversion to the normal phenotype of certain transformed cells (Pastan *et al*, 1975). Therefore, it appears that the effects of cyclic AMP on proliferation are complex and depend very much on the cellular context.

In addition to its role as a mitogenic effector, cyclic AMP has been shown to promote the differentiation of certain cell types. Most notably, cyclic AMP stimulates the formation of specialised functions in thyroid cells (Lamny *et al*, 1987), melanocytes

Table	4.1)	Mitogenic	and	Anti-mi	itogenic	Effects	of	Cyclic	AMP-
			el	evating	Agents				

Cell System	Stimulant	Effect On Proliferation		
Rat Parotid Acinar Cells	β-adrenergic	+		
Rat Hepatocytes	Glucagon/β-adrenergic	+		
Rat Brown Adipocytes	β-adrenergic	+		
Rat Pancreatic β-cells	Glucose	+		
Murine Mammary Epithelial Cells	PGE <sup>b</sup>	+		
Immature Rat Sertoli Cells	FSH <sup>c</sup>	+		
Swiss 3T3 Fibroblasts	Insulin+Cholera toxin	+		
Dog Thyroid Epithelial	TSH	+		
Rat Atrial Smooth Muscle Cells	PGE <sup>b</sup>	-		
Human Foreskin Fibroblasts	Forskolin	-		
Neoplastic Human B Cells	Forskolin	_		
Transformed Fibroblasts	8Br-cAMP <sup>a</sup>	-		
Transformed NIH-3T3 Fibroblasts	Constitutively-active $G_{s\alpha}$	-		

Adapted from Blomhoff et al (1987). Boynton and Whitfield (1983). Cannon et al (1996), Chen and Iyengar (1994), Heldin et al (1989), Hordijk et al (1994), Nilsson and Olsson (1984), Rabinovitch et al (1980), Roger *et al* (1983) and Rozengurt *et al* (1983). <sup>a</sup>8Br-cAMP refers to the cell permeable analogues of cyclic AMP 8-Bromo-cyclic AMP.

<sup>h</sup>PGE refers to protaglandin E1.

<sup>c</sup> FSH refers to follicle stimulating hormone.

(Angler et al, 1995), neuronal cell lines (Frödin et al, 1994; Hoffman et al, 1994) and cultured brown adipocytes (Cannon et al, 1996). The effects of cyclic AMP on the differentiation of white preadipocytes are somewhat controversial (Table 4.2). The cellular model in which the effects of cyclic AMP have been most extensively studied is the differentiation of the murine 3T3-L1 preadipocyte cell line (Russell and Ho, 1976; Elks and Manganiello, 1985; Schmidt et al, 1990; Wang et al, 1992). Rather confusingly, in this cell type positive (Elks and Manganiello, 1985; Russell and Ho, 1976; Schmidt et al, 1990) and neutral (Wang et al, 1992) effects of cyclic AMP-raising agents have been reported. Indeed, in different studies differential effects of the same agent (10µM forskolin) on 3T3-L1 differentiation have even been reported (Schmidt et al, 1990; Wang et al, 1992). Further inconsistencies have arisen from studies on primary cultures of rat preadipocytes (Table 4.2). One potential reason for inconsistencies such as these is that different culture conditions were used in different studies. For example, in one study forskolin was shown, under serum-free conditions, to potentiate the differentiation of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes (Schmidt et al, 1990), whereas another study performed in the presence of serum forskolin had very little effect on 3T3-L1 differentiation (Wang et al, 1992).

Only two studies have been carried out on the effects of cyclic AMP on 3T3-F442A adipogenesis and these have also produced conflicting observations (Spiegelman and Green, 1981; Nègrel et al, 1989). Spiegelman and Green (1981) reported that long-term incubations with high concentrations of a cyclic AMP analogue, or a cyclic AMP analogue in combination with a phosphodiesterase inhibitor, severely attenuated foetal calf serum-induced 3T3-F442A differentiation by compromising production of mRNA for lipogenic enzymes. These effects appeared to be specific to the later stages of adipose conversion as similar results were obtained when cyclic AMP levels were raised in cells which had already undergone terminal differentiation (Spiegelman and Green, 1981). Moreover, the reduction in late-stage lipogenic enzyme synthesis induced by cyclic AMP was independent of differentiation-dependent morphological changes, again indicating a stage-specific effect of cyclic AMP (Spiegelman and Green, 1981). In contrast, in a different study short-term exposure at the onset of differentiation to the cyclic AMP-elevating agent prostacyclin (prostaglandin I<sub>2</sub>) was found to promote the terminal differentiation of 3T3-F442A cells maintained under serum-free conditions, however the effect of prostacyclin on cyclic AMP accumulation in 3T3-F442A cells was not investigated in this study (Nègrel et al, 1989). Even so, prostacyclin has been shown to elevate intracellular cyclic AMP levels in Ob1771 preadipocytes as well as dramatically enhancing their differentiation (Nègrel et al, 1989). Together these observations suggest that long-term exposure to cyclic AMP inhibits differentiation of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes by effecting late-stage events,

whereas short-term exposure, at the beginning of differentiation, may potentiate differentiation.

In order to clarify the influence of cyclic AMP on preadipocyte differentiation a detailed study was carried out using 3T3-F442A preadipocytes. Multiple agents which influence intracellular cyclic AMP levels were used in an attempt to obtain information regarding the effects of differing magnitude and duration of elevations in intracellular cyclic AMP. Furthermore, the ability to divide differentiation of the cells into two discrete stages, using a two-phase differentiation protocol which employs defined media, as described in Chapter 3, has permitted an investigation of the effects of cyclic AMP at these different stages.

Cell Type	Agent	Effect on Differentiation	Culture Conditions	Assessment of Differentiation	References
	Pertussis toxin (P.Tox) (0.1ng/ml	+		GPDH Activity	
Rat Preadinocyte	Cholera toxin (C.Tox) (0.1ng/ml)	+	Agents present in differentiation		Shinohara <i>et al,</i> (1991)
Понацияния	P.Tox (10ng/ml)+ dbcAMP (5mM)	-	medium for 9 days.		
	Forskolin (0.5µM)+P.Tox (10ng/ml)	-			
Dat	IBMX (500µM)	+	Agents present	Lipid Accumulation	Biömtom
Preadipocyte	$PGE_1 (2\mu g/ml)$	+	differentiation medium for 12	& Lipoprotein Lipase	<i>et al,</i> (1980)
	C.Tox (10ng/ml)	+	days.	Activity	
Rat Preadipocyte	PGI <sub>2</sub> (200nM)	+	Agents present in the differentiation	GPDH	Negrel <i>et</i>
Human Preadipocyte	PGI <sub>2</sub> (200nM)	+	medium 3 days out of 12.	Activity	al, (1989)
3T3-L1	PGI2 (100mg/ml)	NE	Agents present	Lipid Accumulation	Russell and Ho, (1976)
	dbcAMP (1.0mM)	NE	differentiation medium 4 days		
	IBMX (500µM)	+	out of 6.		
	C.Tox (10ng/ml)	- NE	Agents present	Lipid Accumulation	
3T3-L1	Forskolin (10µM)	NE	in the differentiation		Wang <i>et</i> <i>al</i> , (1992)
	P.Tox (10ng/ml)	NE	medium 2 days out of 7.		
	dbcAMP (1mM)				
	IBMX (100µM)	+	Agents present in	GPDH Activity	
3T3-L1	R() 2()-1724 (10μM)	+	differentiation medium 3 days out of 10.	Lipid Accumulation	Elks and Manganiel lo, (1985)
	Cilostamide (0.3µM)	NE			
3T3-L1	IBMX (500µM)	+	Agents present		0.1
	Forskolin (1µM)	+	In the differentiation medium 4 days	Activity	Schmidt et al, (1990)
	Forskolin (10µM)	+	out of 8.		
	dbcAMP (1mM)	+			

### Table 4.2) Effects of Agents which Raise Intracellular Cyclic AMP on<br/>Preadipocyte Differentiation.

3T3-F442A	dbcAMP (1mM) dbcAMP (0.5mM)+ Theophylline (0.5mM)	-	Agents present in the differentiation medium for 7	Lipid Accumulation	Spiegel- man and Green,
	Isoproterenol (1µM)+ Theophylline (0.5mM)	-	uays.		(1981)
3T3-F442A	PGI <sub>2</sub> (200nM)	+	Agent present in the differentiation medium 3 days out of 12.	GPDH Activity	Negrel <i>et</i> al, (1989)
TA1	Forskolin (5µM)	+	Agent present in the differentiation medium for 4 days.	Lipid Accumulation	Kurten et al, (1988)
TA1	Forskolin (0.5µM)+dbcAMP (5mM) P. Tox (0.1ng/ml)	- +	Agents present in the differentiation medium for 2 days out of 6.	GPDH Activity	Shinohara and Murata, (1992)
	PGI <sub>2</sub> (200nM)	+	Agents present		
Ob1771	Isoproterenol (1µM)	+	in the differentiation medium 3 days out of 12.	GPDH Activity	Vassaux <i>et</i> al, (1992)
	Forskolin (1µM)	+			
	8Br-cAMP (0.5mM)	+			
ST13	Theophylline (10mM)	+	Agent present in the differentiation	Lipid Accumulation	Hiragun <i>et</i> al, (1980)
	Epinephrine (10μM)	-	medium for 14 days.		

Abbreviations:  $PGE_2$  and  $PGI_2$ , prostaglandins  $E_2$  and  $I_2$  respectively. +, - or NE, increase, decrease or no effect.

#### **4.2) EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES**

#### 4.2.1) Standard Procedure for Cell Culture and Differentiation

3T3-F442A fibroblasts were grown to confluence in DMEM containing 10% calf serum as described in section 2.2.1. Confluent cultures were induced to differentiate by replacing the growth medium with either DMEM containing 10% foetal calf serum and  $5\mu g/ml$  insulin (FCS/insulin; section 2.2.2) or with a defined differentiation medium (DDM) consisting of 2:1 (v/v) F12/DMEM containing GH (2nM), insulin (1.8 $\mu$ M), T<sub>3</sub> (0.1ng/ml), EGF (50ng/ml) and other factors as described in section 2.2.3 and by Guller *et al* (1988). The cyclic AMP-elevating agents under test were included in the FCS/insulin or DDM media for the first three days of differentiation, following which cells were treated with fresh media, without agents, and the extent of differentiation was assessed after a further 3 days (FCS/insulin) or 7 days (DDM). The extent of differentiation was assessed both qualitatively, by Oil Red O staining, and quantitatively by measuring cellular GPDH activity. For further details see section 2.2.5 and 2.2.6.

#### 4.2.2) Two-phase Protocol for Cellular Differentiation

For these studies cells were grown to confluence in the presence of 10% calf serum depleted of GH (described in section 2.2.4.1). Briefly, this was prepared by incubating calf serum with anti-rbGH (1:1000 dilution) for 24 hours at room temperature. Antiserum to rabbit IgG was then added to a final dilution of 1:10. After 4 hours the precipitate was pelleted by centrifugation at 3000g for 30 minutes and the supernatant (GH depleted calf-serum) carefully removed. Cells were passaged at least twice, in DMEM containing 2.5mM glutamine and 10% GH-depleted calf serum, prior to use for differentiation studies. Confluent cells were washed three times in PBS then incubated for 2 days in serum free medium [F12:DMEM (2:1) containing transferrin (10µ/ml), fetuin (50µg/ml), glutamine (2.5mM) and BSA (1mg/ml)] along with the other additions indicated in legends. Cultures were then washed, as before, and the medium replaced with maturation medium [serum free medium containing insulin (1.8µM), T<sub>3</sub> (0.1ng/ml) and EGF (50ng/ml)] along with the agents under test. After 2 days the drugs were removed and the extent of differentiation was measured after a further 6 days.

### 4.2.3) Oil Red O Staining, GPDH, DNA and Cyclic AMP Assays and Expression of Results

Qualitative assessment of differentiation was determined by staining neutral lipids accumulated in terminally differentiated cells with Oil Red O (see section 2.2.5). Cells were then photographed under Phase Contrast Optics (x24 magnification) using an

inverted microscope. GPDH activity was measured spectrophotometrically (section 2.2.5). GPDH activities were expressed relative to cellular DNA content to correct for differentiation-associated increases in cellular protein (Lai *et al*, 1981; Kilgour and Anderson, 1993). The DNA content of cellular homogenates was determined fluorometrically as described section 2.2.14. The enzyme activity per plate of cells was expressed as the number of moles of NADH oxidised/second (katals)/mg DNA.

Measurement of cellular cyclic AMP concentration was carried out essentially according to the competitive binding protein method of Brown *et al* (1971) and is described fully in section 2.2.16.

#### 4.3) **RESULTS**

### 4.3.1) Effects of Agents which Elevate Intracellular Cyclic AMP Levels on Lipid Accumulation During Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Cells with Foetal Calf Serum and Insulin (FCS/Insulin).

In order to study the effects of cyclic AMP on 3T3-F442A preadipocyte differentiation, multiple agents were used which share the common ability to elevate intracellular cyclic AMP levels (Fig 4.1). The effects of agents were assessed initially on differentiation induced by FCS/insulin differentiation medium and the extent of cellular differentiation was determined qualitatively, by Oil Red O staining, and quantitatively, by measuring the cellular activity of the lipogenic enzyme GPDH which is a sensitive marker of the adipocyte phenotype (Smas and Sul, 1995). To assess the ability of cyclic AMP to modulate the differentiation of 3T3-F442A cells a range of agents were used which raise intracellular cyclic AMP by different mechanisms (Fig 4.1). These were forskolin, which directly activates adenylate cyclase, cholera toxin, which constitutively activates  $G_{stx}$ , a cell permeable cyclic AMP analogue, CPT-cAMP, and IBMX, which inhibits cyclic AMP phosphodiesterases (Fig 4.1).

Confluent cell cultures were induced to differentiate in the presence of FCS/insulin and the cyclic AMP-elevating agents included for the first three days. The extent of differentiation was qualitatively assessed by light microscopy six days after the initiation of differentiation. Following exposure to the FCS/insulin medium cells acquired a larger and more rounded morphology (Fig 4.2A) characteristic of the adipocyte phenotype (Slavin, 1972). Differentiated cells also developed numerous, large cytosolic lipid spheres as revealed by Oil red O staining (Fig 4.2A). Addition of forskolin (50 $\mu$ M) severely attenuated triacylglyceride accumulation (Fig 4.2C) whereas dideoxyforskolin (50µM), a homologue of forskolin which does not activate adenylate cyclase, had no effect on the extent of lipid accumulation (Fig 4.2D). In contrast, inclusion of IBMX (500µM) in the FCS/insulin medium visibly enhanced the extent of lipid filling (Fig 4.2B). GPDH activity was undetectable in undifferentiated fibroblasts and rose to  $7.80\pm0.52$  nanokatals/mg DNA (p<0.001, n=5) after exposure to FCS/insulin for seven days. Inclusion of IBMX in the FCS/insulin medium (Fig 4.3) clearly increased GPDH enzyme activity relative to control cells by 99±17% (p<0.001, n=5). Interestingly the compound forskolin exerted different modulatory influences upon the differentiation process depending on the concentration to which the preadipocytes were exposed. Hence 50µM forskolin markedly inhibited GPDH activity by 90.90±3.20% (p<0.001, n=4) while 10nM forskolin significantly increased this activity by 94±13% (p<0.001, n=5). Dideoxyforskolin had no significant effect on







# Fig 4.2) Effect of Agents which Elevate Cyclic AMP on Lipid Accumulation During Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Cells with Foetal Calf Serum and Insulin (FCS/Insulin).

Confluent cultures were induced to differentiate by replacing the growth medium with FCS/insulin medium in the presence of (A) diluent, B)  $500\mu$ M IBMX, (C)  $50\mu$ M forskolin or (D)  $50\mu$ M dideoxyforskolin. After 3 days these agents were removed from the differentiation medium and after a further 7 days cells were stained with Oil Red O and photographed.

GPDH activity. To confirm that the effects of IBMX and forskolin on differentiation were attributable to elevated intracellular cyclic AMP levels, the effects of two other cyclic AMP-elevating agents, cholera toxin and CPT-cAMP, were investigated. Both cholera toxin and CPT-cAMP reduced the GPDH activity of differentiated cells by  $91.03\pm1.41\%$  (p<0.001, n=5) and  $92\pm1\%$  (p<0.001, n=5) respectively, when included for the first three days of differentiation (Fig 4.3). A possible explanation for these results is that small increases in intracellular cyclic AMP levels, as would be expected to occur in the presence of IBMX or 10nM forskolin, promote differentiation, while the larger and more sustained increases in intracellular cyclic AMP levels, which are achieved with 50µM forskolin CPT-cAMP and cholera toxin, inhibit the differentiation process.

To investigate further the effects of different intracellular cyclic AMP concentrations, cells were incubated with the FCS/insulin differentiation medium in the presence of various concentrations of forskolin or CPT-cAMP. As shown in Fig 4.4), both of these compounds exhibited striking differential dose-dependent effects upon differentiation. Low concentrations of forskolin and CPT-cAMP promoted differentiation, as assessed by GPDH activity, with the maximal effect occurring at around 1nM forskolin (122±11% increase, p<0.001, n=7) and 10nM CPT-cAMP (78±19% increase, p<0.01, n=7). Exposure of cells to increasing concentrations of these compounds resulted in a loss of effectiveness upon differentiation which occurred at between 100nM and 200nM forskolin and 100nM and 1 $\mu$ M CPT-cAMP. Subsequently, higher concentrations of these two agents markedly inhibited the differentiation process.

## 5.3.2) Effects of Agents which Elevate Cyclic AMP on Differentiation of Cells with a Defined Differentiation Medium (DDM)

The effects of elevated intracellular cyclic AMP levels on the cellular differentiation of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes with FCS/insulin appears to be two-fold, with low concentrations of cyclic AMP promoting the process and high concentrations enforcing an inhibitory influence. However, the complex nature of serum impedes a systematic analysis of interactions occurring between cyclic AMP and individual adipogenic factors. Further studies were therefore carried out to assess the effects of cyclic AMP under defined conditions, in the absence of serum. Confluent cultures were treated with DDM for 10 days with cyclic AMP-elevating agents present for the first three days of differentiation. As with FCS/insulin, the DDM promoted the formation of clusters of rounded, enlarged cells from the fibroblast monolayer (Fig 4.5A). As shown in figure 4.5, cholera toxin (10ng/ml), forskolin (50 $\mu$ M) and CPT-cAMP (0.25mM) inhibited the formation of fat-cell clusters, whereas IBMX (500 $\mu$ M) and a lower concentration of



Fig 4.3) Effect of Agents which Elevate Cyclic AMP on  $\alpha$ -Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase (GPDH) Activity of 3T3-F442A Cells Differentiated with FCS/insulin.

Cells were induced to differentiate in FCS/insulin medium in the presence of diluent (control),  $500\mu$ M IBMX, 10nM forskolin, 10ng/ml cholera toxin (C-TOX), 0.25M, CPT-cAMP,  $50\mu$ M forskolin or  $50\mu$ M dideoxyforskolin (Dideoxy). After 3 days the test agents were removed from the differentiation medium and after a further 7 days the extent of differentiation was assessed by measuring the GPDH activity of cell extracts as described in *Materials and Methods*. The GPDH activity obtained in differentiated cultures which were exposed to diluent alone was  $7.80\pm0.52$  nanokatals/mg DNA (n=5) and all values are expressed as a percentage of this activity. Results are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. for 4 to 5 observations. \*,\*\* indicates that the value differs significantly from control values; p<0.01, p<0.001 respectively.



Fig 4.4) Effects of Various Concentrations of Forskolin and CPT-cAMP on the Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Cells with FCS/Insulin.

Confluent cultures were induced to differentiate with FCS/insulin in the presence of the indicated concentrations of A) forskolin or B) CPT-cAMP. After 3 days the drugs were removed from the differentiation medium and 7 days later GPDH activities were measured. Activities are expressed as a percentage of those obtained from differentiated cultures which were exposed to diluent alone (7.80 $\pm$ 0.52 nanokatals/mgDNA, n=5). Results are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. for 7 observations. \*, \*\* indicates the value is significantly different from that for diluent treated cells (control cells); p<0.01, p<0.001. Broken lines denoted the range of GPDH values obtained from control cells.







D)

B)



E) F)

Fig 4.5) Effect of Agents which Elevate Cyclic AMP on the Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Cells Under Defined Conditions.

Confluent 3T3-F442A cells were incubated in DDM (defined differentiation medium) along with (A) diluent, (B)  $500\mu$ M IBMX, (C)  $50\mu$ M dideoxyforskolin, (D)  $50\mu$ M forskolin, (E) 10ng/ml cholera toxin and (F) 0.25mM CPT-cAMP. After 3 days the agents were removed from the DDM and 7 days later cells were stained with Oil Red O and photographed as described in section 2.2.5.

forskolin (10nM) enhanced the number of fat cells formed. Hence qualitatively similar effects of these agents are observed when cells are differentiated in either FCS/insulin (Fig 4.2) or under defined conditions in DDM.

Inclusion of cyclic AMP elevating agents in the DDM induced changes in expression of GPDH activity which paralleled their effects on the morphology of differentiated cells (Fig 4.6). The GPDH activity of cells differentiated with DDM was  $3.66\pm0.41\%$  (p<0.001, n=9) nanokatals/mg DNA. Cholera toxin (10ng/ml) and CPT-cAMP (0.25mM) decreased the GPDH activity of differentiated cells by  $64\pm1\%$  (p<0.001, n=8) and  $73\pm4\%$  (p<0.001, n=7) respectively. While  $500\mu$ M IBMX increased GPDH activity by  $37\pm12\%$  (p<0.01, n=9). As before (Fig 4.4) different concentrations of forskolin exerted differential effects upon preadipocyte differentiation. 10nM Forskolin was found to significantly increase GPDH activity, relative to control cells, by  $47.\pm11\%$  (p<0.01, n=9), whereas  $50\mu$ M forskolin attenuated the GPDH activity in terminally differentiated cells by  $67.76\pm1.11\%$  (p<0.001, n=8).

The dose effects of forskolin and CPT-cAMP when cells were differentiated in DDM (Fig 4.7) were similar to those observed when differentiation was induced with FCS/insulin (Fig 4.4). Under DDM conditions the maximal increases in GPDH activity were observed in the presence of around 10nM forskolin (42±12% increase, p<0.01, n=7) and 10nM CPT-cAMP (31±9% increase, p<0.01, n=7). Maximal inhibition of GPDH activity occurred at around  $50\mu$ M forskolin (95±1.5% inhibition, p<0.001, n=5) and 200 $\mu$ M CPT-cAMP (52 $\pm$ 20% inhibition, p<0.01, n=7). For both of these agents there existed a range of concentrations where no effect on differentiation was observed. Thus, concentrations of forskolin between 100nM and 500nM, and CPTcAMP between  $4\mu$ M and  $30\mu$ M, had no discernible impact on GPDH activity. This presumably reflects the net effect of stimulatory and inhibitory influences evoked by raising intracellular cyclic AMP levels. If these results are taken together, it appears that the differentiation of 3T3-F442A cells in the presence of serum, or under serum-free, chemically defined conditions, displays a strict inverse dose-responsive relationship to elevations in intracellular cyclic AMP concentrations. Low concentrations of intracellular cyclic AMP appear to be able to enhance stimulatory influences on preadipocyte differentiation, whereas high concentrations induce negative regulatory constraints. Therefore, in order to aid interpretation of the observed effects it is important to consider the magnitude of intracellular cyclic AMP production induced in response to exposure to the test agents. A further consideration is the duration of cyclic AMP production which will have consequences in terms of the stage of the differentiation process which is being influenced.



### Fig 4.6) Effects of Agents which Elevate Cyclic AMP on GPDH Activity of Cells Differentiated with DDM.

Confluent cultures were induced to differentiate by replacing the growth medium with DDM medium along with the agents indicated (as described in the legend to Fig 5.3) or with diluent (control). After 3 days the test agents were removed and after a further 3 days GPDH activity was measured. Results are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. for 5 to 9 observations. The GPDH activity obtained in cultures induced to differentiate with DDM alone was 3.66±0.41 nanokatals/mg DNA (n=9) and all values are expressed as a percentage of this activity. \*, \*\* indicate the value differs significantly from that for cells differentiated in the absence of test agents. p<0.01, p<0.001.


Fig 4.7) Dose Effects of Forskolin and CPT-cAMP on Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Cells in a Defined Differentiation Medium.

Confluent cultures were induced to differentiate with DDM medium in the presence of the indicated concentrations of A) forskolin or B) CPT-cAMP. After 3 days the drugs were removed and after a further three days GPDH activities were assessed. The GPDH activity obtained in cultures induced to differentiate with DDM medium alone was  $3.9\pm1.1$  nanokatals/mg DNA (n=7) and all values are expressed as a percentage of this activity. Results are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. for 4-7 observations. \*, \*\* indicates the value is significantly different from that for cells differentiated in DDM medium alone; p<0.01, p<0.001.



Fig 4.8) Effect of Forskolin and IBMX on the Intracellular Concentration of Cyclic AMP.

Confluent 3T3-F442A cells were incubated for the indicated times in culture medium containing A) forskolin (10nM or 50 $\mu$ M) or B) IBMX (500 $\mu$ M). Intracellular cyclic AMP was then extracted and the concentration measured as described in section 2.2.16. Data are presented as means  $\pm$  S.E.M. for 4 to 8 observations and are expressed as the fold increase in intracellular cyclic AMP relative to cells incubated with diluent alone. Significant differences with respect to control are indicated; \* (p<0.02), \*\* (p<0.01) and \*\*\* (p<0.001).

## 4.3.3) Effect of Forskolin and IBMX on the Intracellular Concentration of Cyclic AMP

In order to investigate these possibilities further the effect of the various compounds on intracellular cyclic AMP levels was addressed. IBMX (500µM) induced a relatively transient increase in intracellular cyclic AMP (Fig 4.8B), with maximal levels achieved after 2 hours incubation with the agent (approximately  $7.8\pm0.5$  fold increase relative to control, p<0.001, n=12). Levels returned to those detected in control cells after 12 hours exposure to IBMX. Similarly, 10nM forskolin induced a small and comparatively transient increase in intracellular cyclic AMP (Fig 4.8A) with a maximal 3.0±0.7 fold increase (p<0.01, n=6) achieved after 30 minutes incubation and a return to basal levels by 5 hours. In contrast, 50µM forskolin provoked a strikingly large and sustained increase in intracellular cyclic AMP (Fig 4.8A), with a maximal 119.6±14.2 fold increase (p<0.001, n=8) achieved after 1 hour. Elevated cyclic AMP concentrations were detectable even after 48 hours stimulation with  $50\mu$ M forskolin (2.1±0.2 fold increase, p<0.01, n=5). Hence the large and sustained increases in intracellular cyclic AMP concentrations achieved with 50µM forskolin are capable of inhibiting preadipocyte differentiation whereas the smaller and more transient increases induced by 10nM forskolin and IBMX promote this process.

# 4.3.4) Effect of Elevating Intracellular Cyclic AMP Levels During the Priming and Maturation Stages of 3T3-F442A Preadipocyte Differentiation

The effects of transient increases in cyclic AMP will be confined to a discrete stage of the differentiation process, whereas larger, sustained elevations have the potential to effect multiple stages of development. In previous experiments cyclic AMP-elevating agents which potentiated differentiation (10nM forskolin and 500 $\mu$ M IBMX) were included in the differentiation media at the onset of the process (Figs 4.3 and 4.6). Therefore, the transient increase in intracellular cyclic AMP elicited by these agents must have been exerting its effects at an early stage of the differentiation program. As demonstrated in Chapter 4 the differentiation of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes can be divided into at least two stages. GH acts at an early stage of the differentiation process and primes 3T3-F442A cells to the actions of insulin, EGF and T<sub>3</sub> (maturation medium), which then induce terminal differentiation. In order to study the effects of cyclic AMP on these two distinct stages, the two-phase protocol for cellular differentiation (described in section 2.2.4.2) was employed. The effects of the  $\beta$ adrenoreceptor agonist isoproterenol (10 $\mu$ M) were also examined during the two phases of differentiation. As discussed in the previous chapter, alterations in heterotrimeric G- protein and adrenoreceptor expression during priming and maturation will contribute to cellular responsiveness to adrenergic stimulation. Treatment of cells with isoproterenol at these distinct stages will determine to what extent  $\beta$ -adrenergic stimulation contributes to the regulation of preadipocyte differentiation. To assess the effects of cyclic AMP and  $\beta$ -adrenergic stimulation on the priming stage 10nM forskolin, IBMX or isoproterenol were included in the priming medium for two-days, following which ceills were washed and the medium was replaced with maturation medium in the absence of agents. Differentiation was then assessed 8 days later. For studies on the second phase of differentiation, cells were primed for two days with GH and then the medium was replaced with maturation medium containing 10nM forskolin, IBMX or isoproterenol. After a further two days this medium was removed and replaced with fresh maturation medium in the absence of agents. The extent of differentiation was assessed 6 days later. During the two day priming phase if included alone, in the absence of GH, 10nM forskolin, IBMX or isoproterenol, were observed to induce a very small, but not significant, increase in terminal differentiation as assessed by GPDH activity (Table 4.3). Significantly, each of these agents strongly enhanced the ability of GH to promote differentiation by  $91.0\pm21.1\%$  (p<0.01, n=9),  $133.9\pm37.3\%$ (p<0.01, n=6) and 76.3±7.2% (p<0.001, n=3) respectively (Table 4.3). In contrast to this effect the same agents, namely 10nM forskolin, 500µM IBMX and isoproterenol, significantly inhibited terminal differentiation when they were included during the initial two days of the maturation phase (Table 4.4). In this circumstance, GPDH activity was inhibited by  $59.8\pm12.1\%$  (p<0.01, n=6),  $71.9\pm9.5\%$  (p<0.001, n=6) and  $78.9\pm8.0\%$ (p<0.001, n=3), respectively. Inclusion of 50µM forskolin also inhibited differentiation by  $73.7\pm6.2\%$  (p<0.001, n=6) when added to cells at the maturation phase. Assessment of the effects of  $50\mu$ M forskolin specifically on the priming stage was not practical as this high concentration produced an elevation in cyclic AMP levels which persisted into the maturation stage (Fig 4.8A). From Fig 4.8) it is clear that the addition of 10nM forskolin or IBMX to preadipocytes at the beginning of the priming phase, and the continued presence throughout this phase, would result in relatively transient increases in cyclic AMP levels which would be lost by commencement of the maturation phase (48 hours after initial addition of the agents). In contrast the addition of 50µM forskolin to cells at commencement of the priming phase would result in around a 2 fold elevation in intracellular cyclic AMP levels 48 hours later, at the start of the maturation phase. Hence, the effects of 50µM forskolin on the priming phase cannot be dissociated from effects on the subsequent maturation phase.

Intriguingly, isoproterenol did not induce significant elevations in intracellular cyclic AMP during priming or maturation (results not shown). This is consistent with previous observations in 3T3-L1 (Rubin *et al*, 1977) and 3T3-F442A (Kilgour and

### Table 4.3) Effect of Forskolin, IBMX and Isoproterenol on the Priming of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes.

Cells were grown in 10% calf serum which had been depleted of GH. At confluence the growth medium was removed and cells were primed for two days in serum free medium in the presence or absence of 2nM GH along with the agents indicated. This was then replaced with maturation medium and 8 days later GPDH activity was measured. For further details see section 2.2.4.2. The GPDH activity obtained in cultures primed in the absence of GH was  $0.04\pm0.28$  nanokatals/mgDNA (n=9) and all values are expressed as the relative increase (fold) in this activity. Results are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. with the number of observations in parenthesis. \*, \*\* indicate the value differs significantly from that for cells primed with GH alone; p<0.01, p<0.001 respectively.

Stage	Additions	GH-	GH+
Priming	-	1	86.2±7.5 (n=5)
	10nM Forskolin	9.8 $\pm$ 5.4 (n= 9) <sup>**</sup>	$164.7\pm18.2^{*}(n=9)$
	10μM Isoproterenol	$12.7\pm7.7$ (n=3) <sup>**</sup>	$152.0\pm6.2^{**}(n=3)$
	500µM IBMX	$13.0\pm5.2$ (n=3) <sup>**</sup>	$201.7\pm32.2^*$ (n=6)

Fold increase in GPDH activity

## Table 4.4) Effect of Forskolin, IBMX and Isoproterenol on theMaturation of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes.

Cells were grown to confluence as described in the legend to Table 4.3) then primed for 2 days in serum free medium containing 2nM GH. After 2 days this was replaced with maturation medium and the agents indicated. Drugs were removed from the maturation medium after 2 days and 6 days later GPDH activity was measured. The GPDH activity obtained in cultures induced to differentiate with this protocol in the absence of drugs was  $3.88\pm1.06$  nanokatals/mgDNA (n=6) and all values are expressed as the relative change (fold) in this activity. Results are means  $\pm$  S.E.M. for the number of observations in parenthesis. \*, \*\* indicate the value differs from that for cells differentiated in the absence of additions, p<0.01, p<0.001 respectively.

Addition	Fold Change in	
	<b>GPDH</b> Activity	
10nM Forskolin	$0.40\pm0.12^{*}(6)$	
50µM Forskolin	0.26±0.06 <sup>**</sup> (6)	
10µM Isoproterenol	$0.21 \pm 0.08^{**}(6)$	
500µM IBMX	$0.28 \pm 0.09^{**}(6)$	

## **Table 4.5)** Effect of Elevating Cyclic AMP with Forskolin, IBMX and Isoproterenol During Priming and Maturation on the DNA Content of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes.

Cells were grown to confluence as described in the legend to Table 4.3). At confluence the growth medium was removed and cells were primed for 2 days in serum free medium in the presence of 2nM GH. After 2 days this was replaced with maturation medium and the amount of cellular DNA was measured fluorometrically 8 days later as described in section 2.2.14. Drugs were included either during the 2 day priming stage, along with GH, or alternatively for the first 2 days of the maturation stage, as indicated. DNA values are expressed as the amount ( $\mu$ g) of DNA extracted from one 100mm petri-dish. Results are means±S.E.M. for 6 observations.

#### DNA Content (µg)

Addition	Priming	Maturation	
Diluent	15.3±3.5	17.5±2.2	
500µM IBMX	13.3±1.8	18.2±3.2	
10nM Forskolin	$16.0 \pm 2.1$	16.3±3.3	
50µM Forskolin	$12.4{\pm}2.1$	$15.2 \pm 4.0$	

Drugs Included During...

Anderson, 1993) preadipocytes and implies that the effects of isoproterenol in this study are attributable to mechanisms distinct from those utilised by cyclic AMP.

One of the effects of cyclic AMP on cell growth is to act as a positive- or negativeregulator of cellular proliferation (Table 4.1). Given that the number of cells increases during the maturation phase of 3T3-F442A differentiation (Table 3.2) part of the actions of cyclic AMP on preadipocyte differentiation may be to enhance or inhibit this expansion phase. To clarify this, cyclic AMP levels were elevated during either the priming and maturation phases and DNA content, a direct measurement of cell number, was measured in terminally differentiated cultures. The results presented in Table 4.5) demonstrate that elevation of cyclic AMP with IBMX or with 10nM or 50µM forskolin, during priming or maturation, had no significant effect on the number of terminally differentiated cells. This suggests that the positive and negative effects of cyclic AMP on the differentiation of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes are achieved through modulation of phenotypic differentiation and not by increasing the number of terminally differentiated adipocyte cells.

#### 4.4) **DISCUSSION**

It is well established that cyclic AMP exerts a range of effects upon cell growth depending on the cell type being studied (Rozengurt *et al*, 1986; Dumont *et al*, 1989; Frödin *et al*, 1994; Englaro *et al*, 1995). To study the effects of cyclic AMP on the differentiation of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes multiple agents were employed which raise intracellular cyclic AMP levels by different mechanisms (Fig 4.1). In 3T3-L1 preadipocytes an accelerating effect of cyclic AMP on adipose conversion was suggested originally by Russel and Ho (1976), and later by Elks and Manganiello (1985), on the basis of studies using synthetic phosphodiesterase inhibitors such as IBMX. In rat preadipocytes Björntorp *et al* (1980) described a small, but significant, effect of IBMX on differentiation, whereas Gaillard *et al* (1989) reported a more substantial enhancement of Ob17 cell differentiation by this inhibitor. In the present study, IBMX very effectively promoted the expression of a late marker of adipose conversion of 3T3-F442A cells, namely GPDH. This effect was observed when cells were induced to differentiate with foetal calf serum and insulin (Figs 4.2 and 4.3) or under defined serum free conditions (Figs 4.5 and 4.6).

Two major pharmacological effects of IBMX are inhibition of cyclic nucleotide phosphodiesterases and inhibition of interaction of adenosine with its receptor (Elks and Manganiello, 1985). In this study the effects of IBMX were mimicked with specific activation of adenylate cyclase by low concentrations of the diterpene forskolin (10nM) and by a lipophilic cyclic AMP analogue, namely CPT-cAMP (Fig 4.4 and 4.7). This suggests that the effect of IBMX is due to its ability to elevate cellular cyclic AMP concentrations, by inhibition of cyclic AMP phosphodiesterase activity.

In contrast to the stimulatory effects of 10nM forskolin and IBMX, high concentrations of forskolin (50 $\mu$ M) potently inhibited the differentiation of 3T3-F442A cells induced by FCS/insulin (Figs 4.2 and 4.3) or DDM (Figs 4.5 and 4.6). Although the physiological consequences of forskolin treatment are, in general, thought to be mediated by increases in intracellular cyclic AMP, a number of cyclic AMP-independent events have been reported (Laurenza *et al*, 1989). For example, forskolin has been found to completely inhibit glucose transport in adipocyte plasma membranes (EC<sub>50</sub>=240nM) by direct interaction with a transporter (Joost *et al*, 1988). Consequently, the anti-differentiation effects of 50 $\mu$ M forskolin could be due to inhibition of glucose-uptake for oxidative phosphorylation or preventing deposition of glucose into lipid. However, a number of observations indicate that the principal effects of 50 $\mu$ M forskolin on 3T3-F442A differentiation are primarily attributable to elevation of intracellular cyclic AMP. Firstly, the inability of an inactive analogue of forskolin,

1,9-dideoxyforskolin, to reproduce a forskolin like effect (Figs 4.3 and 4.5). This analogue has also been shown to completely inhibit glucose transport in rat adipocytes, but does not stimulate adenylate cyclase even at 100 $\mu$ M (Joost *et al*, 1988). Secondly, the effect of 50 $\mu$ M forskolin was mimicked by a high concentration of CPT-cAMP and by cholera toxin (Figs 4.3 and 4.5).

The inhibitory effect of cholera toxin on 3T3-F442A differentiation is in complete accordance with the work of Wang et al (1992) who also demonstrated that cholera toxin exerted a blockade on 3T3-L1 preadipocyte differentiation. In addition, antisense oligodeoxynucleotides to G<sub>str</sub> were shown to accelerate 3T3-L1 differentiation (Wang et al, 1992). These authors conclude that these effects were independent of an adenylate cyclase-mediated increase in cyclic AMP levels. This was based on the observation that 10µM forskolin had no effect on differentiation as assessed by qualitative Oil Red O staining. This is perhaps somewhat of a paradox since elevated cyclic AMP levels, induced by cyclic AMP phosphodiesterase inhibitors, have been shown to potently enhance 3T3-L1 differentiation as assessed quantitatively by GPDH activity (Elks and Manganiello, 1985; Schmidt et al 1990). Furthermore, the results in the present study are consistent with at least part of the inhibitory actions of cholera toxin on 3T3-F442A cell differentiation being mediated by cyclic AMP. This, together with the observations of Elks and Manganiello (1985) and Schmidt et al (1990), suggests that the conclusions made by Wang et al on the functional role of  $G_{s\alpha}$  in preadipocyte differentiation should be carefully reevaluated in terms of a more sensitive marker of terminal differentiation, such as GPDH activity.

Interestingly, the present results indicated that small, transient increases in intracellular cyclic AMP, as induced by IBMX and 10nM forskolin (Fig 4.8), early in the 3T3-F442A differentiation process, promote terminal differentiation, while larger, more sustained increases, as induced by  $50\mu$ M forskolin (Fig 4.8), inhibit the process. Thus, it seems that a discrete cyclic AMP signal, temporally localised to the initial stages of differentiation, exerts a potentiating influence, but a continued and prolonged cyclic AMP signal interferes with full expression of the fatty phenotype by exerting effects at a later stage.

Interestingly, elevations in intracellular cyclic AMP have also been shown to potentiate terminal differentiation of Ob1771 preadipocytes (Gaillard et al, 1989). In the present study transient elevation of cyclic AMP, with 10nM forskolin and IBMX, during the priming phase of 3T3-F442A cellular differentiation synergistically enhanced the ability of GH to promote terminal differentiation (Table 4.3). Since GH is also a critical requirement for the differentiation of Ob1771 cells (Doglio *et al*, 1987), it is tempting to

speculate that part of the adipogenic actions of cyclic AMP in this cell type are attributable to a similar interaction.

The molecular mechanisms used by GH to promote differentiation are not known, but are likely to involve the induction of genes which are early markers of this process. GH has been shown to induce the expression of lipoprotein lipase (Bacellini-Couget *et al*, 1993) and the transcription factors c-fos, c-jun (Sumantran *et al*, 1992), and C/EBP  $\beta$ and  $\delta$  (Clarkson *et al*, 1995). Cyclic AMP has also been shown to be a direct inducer of C/EBP  $\beta$  and  $\delta$  in mouse cortical astrocytes (Cardinaeux and Magistretti, 1996) and of C/EBP $\beta$  gene expression in 3T3-L1 preadipocytes (Yeh *et al*, 1995). C/EBP $\beta$  and C/EBP $\delta$  have been shown to play an essential, early pivotal role in the adipose conversion of 3T3-L1 cells (Yeh *et al*, 1995), it would therefore be extremely interesting to investigate to what extent GH and cyclic AMP cooperate in the induction of these "adipogenic" transcription factors.

A potential mechanism by which GH could induce changes in protein expression is through activation of growth regulatory signalling pathways such as the MAP kinase (Marshall, 1995) and p70<sup>S6K</sup>/p85<sup>S6K</sup> (Kozma and Thomas, 1994) cascades. Studies using the pheochromocytoma cell line, PC12, have shown that the transmission of signals to MAP kinase, mediated by sequential activation of Ras, Raf and MEK, may serve to transduce differentiative signals (Noda et al, 1985; Wood et al, 1993; Cowley et al, 1994; Marshall, 1995; Pang et al, 1995). Recent studies have suggested that activation of this pathway may also be a requirement for preadipocyte differentiation. Transfection of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes with Raf or Ras (Porras et al, 1994) induces partial adipogenesis and a complete blockade is induced when cellular levels of MAP kinase are specifically depleted with antisense oligodeoxynucleotides (Sale et al, 1995). Since GH has been shown to activate MAP kinases in 3T3-F442A preadipocytes (Anderson, 1993) this could be a potential pathway underlying the adipogenic actions GH. In addition, a number of studies have suggested that part of the effects of cyclic AMP on cell growth may be mediated by regulatory "cross-talk" with the MAP kinase cascade (Graves and Lawrence, 1996). Consequently, it is possible that the potentiating action of cyclic AMP on the GH-priming of 3T3-F442A adipogenesis may be due to interactions between the GH and cyclic AMP pathways, perhaps at the level of MAP kinase.

The synthetic  $\beta$ -adrenoceptor agonist isoproterenol (10 $\mu$ M) mimicked the effects of forskolin (10nM) and IBMX on GH-priming. This is consistent with the findings of Vassaux *et al* (1992) who demonstrated that isoproterenol enhanced Ob1771 differentiation by 2 fold and rat preadipocyte differentiation by approximately 1.5 fold;

this was accompanied by an approximate 20 fold increase in intracellular cyclic AMP. However, isoproterenol does not elevate cyclic AMP levels in 3T3-F442A fibroblasts (Anderson and Kilgour, 1993) or activate PKA (this author, unpublished observations). Accordingly isoproterenol should induce some additional intracellular event(s), independent of activation of adenylate cyclase, which are able to act in concert with the GH signalling pathway to potentiate differentiation. The effects of isoproterenol on differentiation are likely be mediated by  $\beta_1$ -adrenergic receptors as this is the predominant subtype in 3T3-F442A fibroblasts (Fève *et al*, 1991) whereas the predominant isoform in differentiated cells is the  $\beta_3$ -subtype (Fève *et al*, 1994). Although  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptors are typically thought to activate G<sub>s</sub>, these receptors have also been shown to interact with G<sub>i</sub> in a variety of cells and reconstituted systems (Assano *et al*, 1984; Rubenstein *et al*, 1991).

In contrast to their priming actions during the initiation of differentiation, cyclic AMP and  $\beta$ -adrenergic stimulation were found to be inhibitory during the terminal stages of the process (Table 4.4). Spiegelman and Green (1981) reported that agents which increase intracellular cyclic AMP levels inhibit lipid accumulation and the expression of several lipogenic enzymes in 3T3-F442A cells. In their study the cyclic AMP-elevating agents were either present throughout the entire differentiation period or added 6 days after the induction of differentiation. Antras *et al* (1991) also demonstrated that isoproterenol and cyclic AMP-elevating agents evoked transcriptional down-regulation of genes encoding lipogenic enzymes in mature 3T3-F442A adipocytes. Hence these inhibitory effects are consistent with the inhibitory effect of cyclic AMP observed during the maturation period in the present study.

Insulin and EGF are essential components of the medium used to promote the second phase of differentiation whereas  $T_3$  exerts only a modulatory influence (Guller *et al*, 1988). The molecular mechanisms underlying the effects of EGF and insulin are not known but each induce strong activations of MAP kinases in 3T3-F442A cells (chapter 5) which are essential for preadipocyte differentiation (Sale *et al*, 1995). In many cell types the biological effects of cyclic AMP appear to be mediated in part by changes in the activities of intermediate steps of transduction pathways utilised by insulin and growth factors (Graves and Lawrence Jr., 1996). For example, in certain fibroblastic cell lines (Burgering *et al*, 1993; Hordijk *et al*, 1994) and rat adipocytes (Sevetson *et al*, 1993) cyclic AMP inhibits the MAP kinase cascade and this correlates with antagonistic effects of cyclic AMP on growth factor-induced mitogenesis and insulin-mediated effects on metabolism respectively. Therefore, in defining mechanisms by which cyclic

AMP attenuates the transduction of differentiative signals by insulin and EGF, the effect of cyclic AMP on the activation of MAP kinases should be assessed.

•

#### 4.5) CONCLUSIONS

This study demonstrates that increases in cyclic AMP levels exert differential effects upon the differentiation of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes which depend upon the stage of the differentiation process at which the levels are raised. During the early stages of the process cyclic AMP synergistically promotes differentiation in the presence of GH. Subsequently cyclic AMP inhibits differentiation at the maturation stage. These observations may go some way in helping to explain some the apparently contradictory findings presented in Table 4.2). The molecular mechanisms involved remains to be elucidated but are likely to involve either the direct modulation of gene expression by the cyclic nucleotide or modulation of the signal transduction pathways utilised by GH and by insulin and EGF.

### **Chapter Five**

Interactions Between The Cyclic AMP and MAP Kinase Pathways: Effect On The Differentiation Of 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes.

#### 5.1) INTRODUCTION

The results from Chapter 4 demonstrate that cyclic AMP can exert differential effects on the cellular differentiation of preadipocyte 3T3-F442A cells. These reciprocal actions appear to be dependent on the stage of differentiation at which levels are raised. During the initial priming stage of differentiation cyclic AMP interacts synergistically with GH to potentiate differentiation, whereas in the later, insulininduced maturation phase cyclic AMP behaves as a potent inhibitor of terminal differentiation. How cyclic AMP can elicit such radically different responses in differentiating preadipocytes is not known. However, because the cellular-response to cyclic AMP is stage-specific, this suggests that the composition of the extracellular hormonal milieu may be a determining factor. It is therefore conceivable that cyclic AMP could be modulating the cellular response to particular adipogenic hormones by opposing or enhancing specific intracellular signals generated at their receptors. A complete understanding of the mechanisms of adipogenic hormone-receptor binding will be necessary to determine the consequences of such regulatory cross-talk. Nevertheless, in recent years our appreciation of the intracellular events involved in growth and differentiation factor signalling has improved substantially.

Commitment to progress through the cell cycle or to arrest in G<sub>1</sub> followed by differentiation is thought to involve changes in gene expression induced by growth and differentiation factors (MacDougald and Lane, 1995). Stimulation of cell growth, through G-protein-coupled serpentine receptors or through receptor-coupled tyrosine kinases, involves activation of at least two distinct protein kinase cascades. The first to be discovered involves the *erk* gene products p42 and p44 MAP kinase (Her *et al*, 1991; Pagès *et al*, 1995) which are activated simultaneously in response to signals transmitted sequentially through  $p21^{ras}$ ,  $p74^{raf}$  and  $p45^{mek}$  (Marshall, 1995). Recently, members of the cytokine receptor superfamily, such as the GH receptor, have also been shown to feed into the MAP kinase pathway (Winston and Hunter, 1995). Once activated p42/p44 MAP kinase can be translocated to the nucleus (Chen *et al*, 1992; Lenormont *et al*, 1993) and directly phosphorylates transcription factors, including p62<sup>TCF</sup> and ATF-2 (Davis, 1993). In addition, a number of cytosolic substrates for MAP kinases have been identified, including MAPKAP kinase 1, phospholipase A<sub>2</sub>, and Stat 1 (Sturgill *et al*, 1988; Lin *et al*, 1993b; Lin *et al*, 1994; Wen *et al*, 1995).

Although it is clear that the MAP kinases play a pivotal role in mitogenesis (Pagès *et al*, 1993), accumulated data from several sources has suggested that the MAP kinase cascade is also a transducer of differentiative signals. Different members of the cascade have been implicated in the cellular differentiation of a diverse range of cell

types; including thymocytes (Alberola-IIa *et al*, 1995; Crompton *et al*, 1996), pheochromocytoma (PC12) cells (Qui and Green, 1992; Pang *et al*, 1995) and *Drosophilla* photoreceptors (O'Neil *et al*, 1994). The most compelling evidence for the involvement of the MAP kinase pathway in cellular differentiation has come from the use of dominant negative interfering mutations of MEK which inhibit the differentiation of T-cells (Alberola-IIa *et al*, 1995) and PC12 cells (Cowley *et al*, 1994). A possible involvement of the MAP kinase pathway in the control of adipocyte development was initially suggested by the observation that dominant inhibitory mutants of Ras block differentiation of 3T3-L1 fibroblasts to adipocytes (Benito *et al*, 1991). However, evidence suggests that Ras is an upstream activator multiple pathways (Lowry and Willumsen, 1993). A more direct, anti-sense approach has been used recently to demonstrate an obligatory requirement for p42 and p44 MAP kinases for the terminal differentiation of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes (Sale *et al*, 1995).

Although cyclic AMP, induces an activation of MAP kinase in neuronal PC12 cells this is not sufficient to differentiate these cells (Frodin et al, 1994). This appears to be due to the transient nature of the cyclic AMP-stimulation which is not sufficient to induce translocation of MAP kinase to the nucleus (Yao et al, 1995). In contrast, differentiation induced by nerve growth factor (NGF) is characterised by prolonged activation and nuclear translocation of MAP kinase (Traverse et al, 1992; Nguyen et al, 1993). Still, cyclic AMP acts synergistically with NGF to potentiate PC12 differentiation (Yao et al, 1995). Therefore, it appears that there exists a threshold duration and magnitude of MAP kinase activation which must be achieved before a cell is committed to a pathway of differentiation. Indeed, EGF, which induces a transient activation of MAP kinase and proliferation in PC12 cells, can be converted into a differentiation agent by synergistic interaction with cyclic AMP (Yao et al, 1995). This differentiation was associated with sustained activation and nuclear localisation of MAP kinase (Yao et al, 1995). Thus, cyclic AMP may serve to augment cellular differentiation by enhancing activation of signalling pathways by differentiative agents.

To try and understand the molecular mechanisms underlying the effects of cyclic AMP on differentiation of 3T3-F442A cells presented in Chapter 4 a study was undertaken to determine if the differential effects of cyclic AMP in preadipocytes were attributable to functional interplay with the MAP kinase cascade. This required that the requirement for MAP kinases in transducing stage-specific differentiative signals be assessed. This involved cellular depletion of p42 and p44 MAP kinases with antisense oligodeoxynucleotides and the use of a recently discovered chemical inhibitor of MAP kinase activation. The ability of cyclic AMP to activate MAP kinases, or enhance the

signal propagated by other adipogenic agents, was assessed immunologically and by a specific phospho-transferase assay.

#### 5.2) EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

#### 5.2.1) Standard Procedure for Cell Culture and Differentiation

3T3-F442A cells were grown to confluence in DMEM containing 10% calf serum. Confluent cultures were induced to differentiate with a chemically defined differentiation medium (DDM) or with foetal calf serum and insulin (FCS/insulin) as described in sections 2.2.2 and 2.2.3.

#### 5.2.2) Two-phase Differentiation Protocol

For certain experiments cells were grown to confluence in the presence of 10% calf serum depleted of GH. This was prepared as described in Chapter 2. Cells were passaged at least twice in DMEM containing 2.5mM glutamine and 10% GH-depleted calf serum, prior to use for differentiation studies. Confluent cells were washed three times in PBS then incubated for 2 days in serum free medium [F12:DMEM (2:1)] containing transferrin (10 $\mu$ g/ml), fetuin (50 $\mu$ g/ml). glutamine (2.5mM) and BSA (1mg/ml)] along with the other additions indicated in figure legends. Cultures were then washed, as before, and the medium replaced with maturation medium [serum free medium containing insulin (1.8 $\mu$ M), T<sub>3</sub> (0.1ng/ml) and EGF (50ng/ml)]. The extent of differentiation was measured after a further 8 days.

#### 5.2.3) Oligodeoxynucleotide Treatment of Cells

The design, synthesis and purification of phosphorothioate oligodeoxynucleotides has been described previously (Sale *et al*, 1995). Cells were grown in 22mm dishes and were treated with oligodeoxynucleotides having just attained confluence. Monolayers were washed three times with 2ml DMEM and appropriate dilutions of oligodeoxynucleotides in 100µl DMEM were preincubated at room temperature for 30 minutes with 100µl Lipofectin (Life Technologies). This mixture was added to the cells with a further 200µl DMEM. The final concentration of oligodeoxynucleotides was 5µM. Cells were incubated for 8 hours at 37°C in the presence of 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. After this time the medium containing Lipofectin was removed and the incubation continued for a further 40 hours using fresh medium containing 10% heat-treated calf serum containing 5µM oligonucleotide. After 40 hours the medium was removed and cells were washed and treated with DDM or FCS/insulin differentiation media as described in section 5.2.1). The differentiation medium, containing fresh oligodeoxynucleotide, was replenished at two day intervals. For further details refer to figure 5.1.



Fig 5.1) Protocol for Oligodeoxynucleotide Treatment and Subsequent Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Cells.

Confluent 3T3-F442A cells were treated for 8 hours with a combination of oligodeoxynucleotide (oligo) and the transfection reagent Lipofectin in DMEM. Following this the medium was replaced with medium containing fresh oligo and 10% heat inactivated calf serum. This second incubation was continued for 40 hours and then the levels of cellular MAP kinase were determined by immunoblotting as described in section 2.2.11. Parallel cultures were challenged with a defined differentiation medium (DDM) or medium containing foetal calf serum and insulin (FCS/insulin) and the extent of differentiation was assessed 10 days later. During the differentiation period the medium and oligo under test were replenished at two day intervals.

#### 5.2.4) MAP Kinase Assay

Cells were scraped in Buffer A [25mM Tris.HCl pH 7.5, 25mM NaCl, 40mM pnitrophenylphosphate, 10 $\mu$ M dithiothreitol, 10% (v/v) ethylene glycol, 1mM sodium orthovanadate, 100 $\mu$ M PMSF, leupeptin (2 $\mu$ g/ml), pepstatin A (2 $\mu$ g/ml) and aprotinin (2 $\mu$ g/ml)] and lysed by shearing through a 26<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>G needle. The lysates were then centrifuged (14000g<sub>max</sub>, 5min). MAP kinase was assayed following partial purification of cell lysates by batch absorption to phenyl-Sepharose, as described previously (Anderson *et al*, 1991). Briefly, cell extracts were mixed with 150 $\mu$ l phenyl-Sepharose for 5 min. The Sepharose was then washed, in a step-wise fashion, with buffers containing increasing concentrations of ethylene glycol. MAP kinases, which bind tightly to this matrix (Ray and Sturgill, 1991), were eluted with buffer containing 60% ethylene glycol and assayed using myelin basic protein as a substrate (Anderson, 1992).

#### 5.2.5) Assay of Cyclic AMP-dependent Protein Kinase

PKA activity of cell lysates was assayed by measuring the phosphorylation of kemptide (0.26mM) at 30°C for 10 minutes in a buffer containing 75mM Tris, pH 7.5; 15mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>; 4mM DTT; 100 $\mu$ M ATP; 3 $\mu$ Ci/ml [ $\gamma$ -<sup>32</sup>P]ATP in the presence or absence of PKI (5 $\mu$ M). PKA activity was calculated as the amount of kemptide phosphorylated in the absence of PKI peptide minus that phosphorylated in the presence of PKI. For further details see section 2.2.13.3.

#### 5.2.6) Immunoblotting of p42<sup>MAPK</sup>/p44<sup>MAPK</sup>

Cells were lysed in Buffer B (25mM Hepes pH7.5, 2.5mM EDTA, 0.2% NP-40, 50mM sodium chloride, 50mM sodium fluoride, 30mM sodium pyrophosphate, 10% glycerol, 1mM sodium orthovanadate, 400 $\mu$ M PMSF and 2 $\mu$ g/ml each of leupeptin, pepstatin A and aprotinin), clarified by centrifugation (14000g<sub>max</sub>, 10min) and denatured by adding 0.25 volumes of 5X concentrated sample buffer. Equal quantities of lysate protein (50 $\mu$ g) were run on 10% polyacrylamide gels (30:0.32 acrylamide:bis-acrylamide) overnight with a constant current of 7mA. Following transfer to nitrocellulose (2 hours at 400mA), immunoblots were blocked with 3% BSA and probed with anti-MAP kinase antibodies (1:1000; see section 2.2.11) for 3 hours followed by horse radish peroxidase-conjugated anti IgG (1:10000) for 45 minutes. Immunoreactive bands were detected using the ECL (Amersham) system. For some experiments the activation status of MAP kinase was determined using this immunoblotting system. In common with many proteins, the phosphorylation and activation of MAP kinase is accompanied by a decrease in its electrophoretic mobility

on SDS-polyacrylamide gels (Leevers and Marshall, 1992). Activation of MAP kinases was characterised by the appearance of slower migrating forms on immunoblots.

#### 5.2.7) GPDH and DNA Assays

GPDH activity was measured by the method of Wise and Green (1979) and activities were expressed relative to DNA content. The DNA content of cellular homogenates was determined fluorimetrically (Brunk *et al*, 1979). The GPDH enzyme activity per plate of cells was expressed as the number of moles of NADH oxidised/second (katals)/mgDNA.

..

#### 5.3) **RESULTS**

In an attempt to understand the molecular basis for the effects of cyclic AMP on the differentiation of 3T3-F442A cells (Chapter 4) antisense depletion of cellular p42 and p44 MAP kinase was used to determine whether the MAP kinase pathway plays a functional role in modulating fat cell differentiation. The design of MAP kinase antisense oligodeoxynucleotides (antisense EAS1) and control oligodeoxynucleotides, and the development of the protocol for their usage, was first described by Sale *et al*, 1995. Antisense EAS1 was designed to complement a 17-base nucleotide sequence unique to p42 and p44 MAP kinases. In the mouse this corresponds to nucleotides 25-41 of the p42 MAP kinase cDNA (Her *et al*, 1991) and 1-17 of the p44 MAP kinase cDNA (Pagès *et al*, 1995). These sequences encompass the first 17-bases of the 5'-flanking regions of the MAP kinase genes and includes the ATG initiation codon (Fig 5.2). Control oligodeoxynucleotides were also synthesised in either a sense or random (scrambled) orientation.

Cultures of 3T3-F442A cells that had just attained confluence were treated for 48 hours with 5µM antisense phosphorothioate oligodeoxynucleotide EAS1 in the presence of 10% heat inactivated calf serum. The transfection agent Lipofectin was present during the first 8 hours of the incubation. Following treatment, the levels of cellular MAP kinase were determined using two different specific antibodies to the 42 and 44 kDa forms of MAP kinase (termed p42<sup>MAPK</sup> and p44<sup>MAPK</sup>, respectively). Antisense EAS1 caused a dramatic depletion of cellular p44<sup>MAPK</sup> (approximately 90%) when compared to cells treated with the transfection agent alone (Fig 5.3A). Preliminary studies showed that Lipofectin treatment alone did not affect cellular levels of MAP kinases. The p42 isoform of MAP kinase exhibited exquisite sensitivity to depletion with antisense EAS1 as levels of the protein were undetectable even with long exposures of the immunoblot. Incubation of cells with  $5\mu M$ oligodeoxynucleotide in a scrambled or sense orientation did not have a significant effect on the expression of  $p42^{MAPK}$  or  $p44^{MAPK}$  thereby indicating that the antisense depletion induced by EAS1 was specific. The effect of antisense EAS1 on other major cellular proteins was assessed qualitatively by staining polyacrylamide gels with Coomassie blue. The general banding pattern of proteins extracted from cells treated with antisense EAS1 was very similar to that observed in cells treated with control oligodeoxynucleotides of with transfection agent alone. However, a small increase in the expression of a protein species of around 85kDa was consistently observed in EAS1-treated cells (Fig 5.3B).



Fig 5.2) Design of Antisense EAS1 Phosphorothioate Oligodeoxynucleotides

Antisense EAS1 was designed to complement, in an antisense orientation, the first 17 bases of the mouse p44 and p42 MAP kinase genes (erks 1 and 2, respectively). This region is identical and unique to both erk genes and encompasses the ATG initiation codon (indicated as a boxed form in the diagram). Regions of complementary are indicated with broken lines.



Fig 5.3) Effect of Antisense EAS1 on the Expression of Cellular Mitogen Activated Protein Kinases (MAP Kinases).

Just confluent cultures of 3T3-F442A cells were treated with antisense EAS1 (5 $\mu$ M), scrambled (5 $\mu$ M) or sense (5 $\mu$ M) oligodeoxynucleotides for 48 hours with Lipofectin present for the first 8 hours. The level of cellular MAP kinase was then assessed by immunoblotting equal quantities of protein (10 $\mu$ g) with specific antibodies to the 42 and 44 kDa MAP kinases (p42<sup>MAPK</sup> and p44<sup>MAPK</sup>; Fig 5.3A) as described in section 5.2.5). Alternatively, samples of cell extract were subjected to SDS-PAGE and stained with Coomassie brilliant blue (Fig 5.3B). Results are representative of experiments carried out on at least three separate occasions.

Having determined that antisense EAS1 selectively and thoroughly depletes the expression of  $p42^{MAPK}$  and  $p44^{MAPK}$  proteins the role of these proteins in transducing differentiative signals by FCS/insulin was evaluated. Approximately 90% of the cells treated with transfection agent alone underwent adipose conversion under the influence of FCS/insulin as estimated by Oil red O staining (Fig 5.4). The GPDH activity in these cells was determined to be 7.6±0.3 (n=5) nanokatals/mgDNA. Incubation of cells with 5µM antisense EAS1 caused a dramatic reduction in the extent of differentiation as judged by lipid accumulation (Fig 5.4) and a corresponding reduction in GPDH activity (approximately 95% reduction; Table 5.1). Incubation with 5µM sense or scrambled oligodeoxynucleotides did not significantly effect lipid accumulation or GPDH activity of differentiated cells (Fig 5.4; Table 5.1). Therefore, antisense oligodeoxynucleotides to MAP kinase act specifically to inhibit the transmission of differentiative stimuli induced by FCS/insulin in 3T3-F442A cells.

To further confirm that the MAP kinase proteins are involved in the transduction of signals by adipogenic factors the effect of antisense EAS1 on the differentiation of 3T3-F442A cells under serum-free conditions was investigated. Cells were pretreated with oligodeoxynucleotides for 48 hours as described (Fig 5.2), following which differentiation was induced with the hormonally defined differentiation medium (DDM) in the continued presence of oligodeoxynucleotides. Under these conditions the GPDH activity of differentiated cultures, which were treated with Lipofectin in the absence of oligodeoxynucleotide, rose to 3.0±0.4 nanokatals/mgDNA (n=3). As observed for the FCS/insulin differentiation protocol antisense EAS1 markedly inhibited differentiation induced by the DDM producing a qualitatively similar reduction in expressed GPDH activity (approximately 99%; Table 5.1) whereas scrambled and sense oligodeoxynucleotides were without significant effect (Table 5.1). Together these observations demonstrate that p42 and p44 MAP kinases are required for the adipose conversion of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes.

Having shown an absolute requirement for MAP kinases in the differentiation process further studies were undertaken to define the role of these kinases in the modulation of differentiation by cyclic AMP. The results from Chapter 3 demonstrate that the differentiation of 3T3-F442A cells can be divided into two stages, the first phase requires GH and the later, maturation stage requires insulin, EGF and  $T_3$ . It was demonstrated in Chapter 4 that cyclic AMP acts synergistically with GH to promote priming of 3T3-F442A cells to differentiate. In contrast, during the maturation phase cyclic AMP is inhibitory. As previously reported (Anderson, 1992) GH activates MAP kinases approximately 5 fold in these cells (Table 5.2). It is well established in the literature that insulin and EGF, *via* their tyrosine kinase receptors, activate MAP



SENSE

CONTROL SCRAMBLED ANTISENSE

Fig 5.4) Effect of Antisense Depletion of Cellular MAP Kinase on the Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Cells with Foetal Calf Serum and Insulin (FCS/insulin) or Defined Differentiation Medium (DDM).

Cells were grown to confluence and treated with antisense EAS1, sense or scrambled oligodeoxynucleotides as described in the legend to Fig 5.3). Alternatively, control cultures were treated with Lipofectin but no oligodeoxynucleotides. Cells were then transferred to FCS/insulin in the continued presence of oligonucleotides as described in section 5.2.3. After 10 days cells were stained with Oil red O (see section 2.2.5).

## Table 5.1) Effect of Antisense Depletion of Cellular MAP Kinase on the Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Cells with Foetal Calf Serum and Insulin (FCS/insulin) or Defined Differentiation Medium (DDM)

Cells were grown to confluence and treated with antisense EAS1, sense or scrambled oligodeoxynucleotides as described in section 5.2. Alternatively, control cultures were treated with Lipofectin but no oligodeoxynucleotides. Cells were then transferred to FCS/insulin or DDM in the continued presence oligodeoxynucleotides (section 5.2). After 10 days cells were harvested and processed for the assay of GPDH activity. The GPDH activities when cultures were exposed to FCS/insulin or DDM medium alone were 7.6 $\pm$ 0.3 (n=5) and 3.0 $\pm$ 0.4 (n=3) nanokatals/mgDNA respectively. All values are expressed as a percentage of these activities. Results are means $\pm$ S.E.M. for 3 (DDM) or 5 (FCS/insulin) observations. \*\* indicates the values are significantly different from those for cells differentiated in the absence of oligodeoxynucleotides; p<0.001.

Treatment	FCS/insulin	DDM		
5µM Scrambled	97.63±3.55% (n=5)	108.33±12.0% (n=3)		
5µM Antisense	4.74±().92% **	().()5±().()6% **		
	(n=5)	(n=3)		
5µM Sense	98.55±2.76% (n=5)	105±11.3% (n=3)		

**GPDH** Activity (Percentage of Control)

## Table 5.2) Effect of GH, Insulin, EGF and $T_3$ on the Activation of MAP kinase in 3T3-F442A Cells.

Serum starved cells were incubated for 10 minutes with GH (2nM), insulin (1.8 $\mu$ M), T3 (100pg/ml) or EGF (1ng/ml). Following stimulation cells were lysed and cytosolic extracts were processed for the assay of MAP kinase as described in section 2.2.13.1. Data are expressed as the relative increase (fold) in MAP kinase activity induced by each agent above that measured in unstimulated cells and are means±S.E.M. with the number of observations in parenthesis. \*\* indicates the values which differ significantly from values obtained when cells were incubated in the absence of agents; p<0.001.

Treatment	Fold Increase in MAP kinase Activity
-	1.0±0.1 (n=5)
GH	5.4±().5 ** (n=4)
Insulin	5.()±().9 ** (n=4)
EGF	21.2±2.5 ** (n=3)
Т3	$1.0\pm0.1$ (n=5)

kinases (reviewed by Fantl *et al*, 1993). In 3T3-F442A preadipocytes there is a small activation by insulin (Table 5.2) and, consistent with the literature (Anderson, 1992), a potent activation by EGF (Table 5.2).

Recently a number of studies have demonstrated that the effect of cyclic AMP on MAP kinase activation varies, depending on the cell system studied (Angler et al, 1996; Graves and Lawrence, 1996; McKenzie and Pousségur, 1996; Saswati et al, 1996). Therefore, in 3T3-F442A cells it was necessary to establish the effect of cyclic AMP alone and in combination with other agents to examine if it correlated with the effects on differentiation. Initially, the diterpene forskolin was used to elevate intracellular cyclic AMP and MAP kinase activation status was determined by immunoblotting cell extracts with an antibody which specifically recognises p42<sup>MAPK</sup> and p44<sup>MAPK</sup>. In common with a number of proteins which are activated by phosphorylation, activation of MAP kinase results in a retardation of its mobility in SDS-PAGE gels (Leevers and Marshall, 1992). The appearance of the more slowly migrating forms of phospho-MAP kinase is taken to represent activation of the enzyme. Fig 5.6 shows that after 5 minutes stimulation 50µM forskolin, which caused a maximal 90 $\pm$ 9 (n=5) fold elevation of intracellular cyclic AMP levels (Fig 4.7A), induced an activation of p42<sup>MAPK</sup> (Fig 5.5A), as assessed by mobility shift. However, the degree to which MAP kinase is activated by forskolin appears to be relatively small. Anderson (1992) reported that the level to which MAP kinase can be activated by GH is sensitive to the incubation period of cells in serum-free medium. To test whether this is the case with forskolin, cells were incubated in serum-free medium for various times and the ability of forskolin to activate MAP kinase was determined. Little or no stimulation of p42<sup>MAPK</sup> phosphorylation was observed in cells serumstarved for only 5 hours (Fig 5.6A). Optimal responses were observed when cells were serum-starved between 18 and 48 hours (Fig 5.6A). Assessment of p44<sup>MAPK</sup> activation by forskolin after an overnight (18 hours) incubation in serum-free medium revealed a relative degree of activation similar to p42<sup>MAPK</sup> (Fig 5.6B). The resolution of the hyper-phosphorylated form of  $p44^{MAPK}$  was not as distinct as with  $p42^{MAPK}$ , therefore further studies were carried out on the p42 isoform on cells which had been subjected to at least 18 hours serum deprivation. The activation of p42<sup>MAPK</sup> with forskolin was found to be transient, with the maximal effect occurring at around 5 minutes after the addition of forskolin (Fig 5.6). The transient nature of MAP kinase activation by forskolin is very similar to that observed with other factors which are adipogenic in 3T3-F442A cells (Anderson, 1992).

Although forskolin elevates cyclic AMP levels by direct interaction with adenylate cyclase a number of non-specific effects of this drug have been reported (Laurenza *et* 



## Fig 5.5) Time-course of MAP Kinase Activation by $50 \mu M$ Forskolin in 3T3-F442A Cells.

3T3-F442A cells were serum starved for 18 hours then incubated with  $50\mu M$  forskolin for the indicated times. Cells were then lysed and equal quantities of protein ( $50\mu g$ ) were immunoblotted with a specific monoclonal antibody to  $p42^{MAPK}$  as described in section 2.2.11. The non-phosphorylated (lower band) and phosphorylated (upper band) forms of the enzyme are indicated by arrows. Results are representative of an experiment carried out on two separate occasions.



Fig 5.6) Comparison of Short- and Long-term Serum Deprivation on Subsequent Stimulation of MAP Kinase by  $50\mu M$  forskolin. Cells were incubated in the absence of serum for the indicated times prior to the

Cells were incubated in the absence of serum for the indicated times prior to the addition of  $50\mu$ M forskolin (FSKN) or diluent (CNTRL) for 5 minutes. Cytosolic extracts were then prepared and  $50\mu$ g of protein immunoblotted with specific antisera to A) p42<sup>MAPK</sup> or B) p44<sup>MAPK</sup> as described in section 2.2.11. The non-phosphorylated (lower band) and phosphorylated (upper band) forms of the enzyme are indicated by arrows.



Fig 5.7) Effect of Agents which Elevate Intracellular cyclic AMP on the Activation of MAP Kinase in 3T3-F442A Cells and 3T3-L1 Cells. Serum starved 3T3-F442A cells (A) or 3T3-L1 cells (B) were incubated for 5 minutes in the presence of diluent (CNTRL), 500 $\mu$ M IBMX, 50 $\mu$ M forskolin (FSKN), 1mM CPT-cyclic AMP (CPT) or 10 $\mu$ M RO-201724 (RO). Activation of p42<sup>MAPK</sup> was detected by immunoblotting as described in the legend to Fig 5.3).

*al*, 1989). To confirm that the effects of forskolin on MAP kinase were mediated *via* cyclic AMP a range of agents were tested which elevate intracellular cyclic AMP by different mechanisms. The cell permeable analogue CPT-cAMP and the cyclic AMP phosphodiesterase inhibitors IBMX and Ro-201724 each induced the shift in  $p42^{MAPK}$  mobility indicative of MAP kinase activation (Fig 5.7). Further experiments were carried out to examine whether cyclic AMP is a positive effector of MAP kinase activation in the related 3T3-L1 preadipocyte cell line. All agents tested were found to provoke a comparable degree of activation of  $p42^{MAPK}$  in 3T3-L1 cells to that induced in 3T3-F442A cells (Fig 5.7). The relative potencies of agents at elevating MAP kinase activity were as follows:

#### **3T3-F442A:** CPT-cAMP>Forskolin>IBMX>Ro-201724 **3T3-L1:** CPT-cAMP>Ro201724>Forskolin=IBMX

Thus, it appears that the phosphodiesterase inhibitor Ro-201724 is comparatively more effective at activating MAP kinase in 3T3-L1 cells than in 3T3-F442A cells.

Full enzymatic activation of MAP kinases requires dual phosphorylation on Thr-183 and Thr-185 (Anderson et al, 1990). To confirm that the observed increases in MAP kinase phosphorylation induced by cyclic AMP reflected an increase in MAP kinase enzyme activity, the phosphotransferase activity was measured in phenyl Sepharosepurified cell extracts using MBP, a selective substrate of MAP kinase. MAP kinases bind tightly to phenyl Sepharose and represent the major kinase activity eluted from this matrix with 60% ethylene glycol (Ray and Sturgill, 1987). Table 5.3) shows that after 5 minutes stimulation IBMX, forskolin, CPT-cAMP and Ro-201724 all increased cellular MAP kinase activity in both 3T3-F442A and 3T3-L1 preadipocytes, above the level observed in unstimulated cells. The relative degree of activation induced by each agent was comparable in each cell type and correlated well with the relative amount of phospho-MAP kinase detected by gel shift (Fig 5.7). Inclusion of PKI in the assay at a concentration (5µM) which completely inhibits forskolinstimulated PKA activity measured in cell lysates, did not cause a significant reduction in forskolin-stimulated MBP-kinase activity (Table 5.3), indicating that PKA is not responsible for the phosphorylation of MBP observed in response to elevation of intracellular cyclic AMP levels.

Although the vast majority of cellular responses to cyclic AMP are mediated *via* activation of PKA, there are a few notable exceptions (Piper *et al*, 1993; DiFrancesco and Tortora, 1991). To determine whether a relationship exists between the activation of PKA and MAP kinase by cyclic AMP in 3T3-F442A cells, PKA and MAP kinase

Table 5.3) Effect of Agents which Elevate Intracellular cyclic AMP on MAP Kinase Activity in 3T3-F442A Cells and 3T3-L1 Cells.

Serum starved 3T3-F442A cells and 3T3-L1 cells were incubated for 5 minutes with various cyclic AMP-elevating agents as indicated. Following incubation, cells were lysed and cytosolic extracts were processed for the assay of MAP kinase as described in section 2.2.13.1. For some experiments a specific inhibitor of PKA (indicated PKI) was included during the assay of MAP kinase. Data are expressed as the relative increase (fold) in MAP kinase activity induced by each agent above that measured in unstimulated cells and are means $\pm$ S.E.M. with the number of observations in parenthesis. \* indicates the values which differ significantly from control values; p<0.01.

Treatment	3T3-F442A	3T3-L1
500µM IBMX	1.4()±().15 (n=3)*	1.40±0.02 (n=3)*
50µM Forskolin	1.94±0.09 (n=3)*	1.4()±().()5 (n=3)*
50µM Forskolin+5µM		
РКІ	1.87±0.05 (n=3)*	-
lmM CPT-cAMP	2.36±0.11 (n=3)*	2.8()±().23 (n=3)*
10µM RO-201724	1.16±().()6 (n=3)*	1.91±0.07 (n=3)*

#### Fold increase in MAP kinase Activity

activities were measured following stimulation of cells with a range of forskolin concentrations. Results demonstrated broadly overlapping dose-dependent activations of both PKA and MAP kinase (Fig 5.8). Half maximal activation (EC<sub>50</sub>) of both PKA and MAP kinase was observed at around 50 $\mu$ M and maximal stimulation of both kinases occurred at around 100 $\mu$ M forskolin. However, PKA appeared to be more sensitive than MAP kinase to forskolin; the lowest dose of forskolin observed to elevate PKA activity significantly was 1 $\mu$ M, whereas the lowest dose of forskolin observed to activate MAP kinase significantly was 10 $\mu$ M.

Further evidence that the effects of forskolin on MAP kinase were mediated via the activation of PKA was obtained by the use of two chemical inhibitors. H89 is a protein kinase inhibitor which shows a high degree of selectivity for PKA over other protein kinases (Chijiwa, 1990). (*R*p)-cAMPS inhibits the activation of PKA by binding to the regulatory subunit and preventing dissociation of the catalytic subunit (Dostmann, 1995; Gjertsen *et al*, 1995). Fig 5.9 shows that preincubation with both H89 and (*R*p)-cAMPS blocked the retardation in  $p42^{MAPK}$  mobility induced by forskolin. Together, the results presented in Figs 5.8 and 5.9 strongly suggest that the activation of MAP kinase by cyclic AMP is mediated by PKA.

The only known mechanism for the activation MAP kinase is via direct phosphorylation on the regulatory threonine and tyrosine residues by the dualspecificity kinase MEK. To test whether cyclic AMP induced activation of MEK in 3T3-F442A cells, the kinase activity of MEK was measured following treatment of cells with forskolin. A catalytically inactive recombinant version of p42 MAP kinase (K52R), in which Lys 52 is mutated to Arg, was used as a specific substrate for MEK. Fig 5.10A) shows that treatment of cells with forskolin for 5 min resulted in MEK activation. After 10 min of forskolin treatment the activity of MEK had returned to basal levels. Thus the activation of MEK by forskolin is temporally compatible with the activation of MAP kinase (Fig 5.6) suggesting that MEK is responsible for the activation of MAP kinase by forskolin. To test this further a recently discovered specific inhibitor of MEK activation, PD098059 (Alessi et al, 1995), was employed. Preincubation of cells with PD098059 completely blocked the activation of MAP kinase by forskolin (Fig 5.10B). The inhibitor also blocked activation of MAP kinase by GH. In accordance with others (Alessi et al, 1995), the activation of MAP kinase by EGF was largely unaffected by PD098059. These results confirm that the activation of MAP kinase by cyclic AMP requires the activation of MEK. Moreover, since PD098059 is known to preferentially inhibit the activation of the MEK isoform, MEK1 (Alessi et al, 1995) these results suggest that the activation of MAP kinase by cyclic AMP in 3T3-F442A preadipocytes involves prior activation of MEK1.




3T3-F442A cells were serum starved and then incubated with the indicated concentrations of forskolin for 5 min. Cell extracts were prepared and assayed for MAP kinase and PKA activities as described in section 2.2.13.3. Data are expressed as the fold increase in enzyme activity relative to unstimulated cells and are expressed as mean $\pm$ S.E.M. for triplicate samples. \*, \*\* indicate the value differs significantly from control cells; p<0.01, p<0.001.

$pp42^{MAPK} > p42^{MAPK} >$			-	ó	-	
DMSO	+	-	-	-	_	-
H-89	-	+	-	+	-	-
(Rp)-cAMPS	-	-	-	-	+	+
Forskolin	-	-	+	+	-	+

## Fig 5.9) Effect of H-89 and (Rp)-cAMPS on the Activation MAP kinase by Cyclic AMP.

Serum starved cells were preincubated for 10 minutes with either H89 ( $30\mu$ M) or (*R*p)-cAMPS (1mM) and then stimulated for 5 min with 50µM forskolin or diluent (DMSO). Cell extracts were prepared and the activation of p42<sup>MAPK</sup> was assessed by electrophoretic mobility shift as described in the legend to Fig 5.3.







**B**)



Fig 5.10) Cyclic AMP Induces MEK Activation in 3T3-F442A cells. Serum starved cells were stimulated with 50 $\mu$ M forskolin for the indicated times. Cell extracts were then prepared and assayed for MEK activity as described in section 2.2.13.2. The position of the phosphorylated recombinant catalytically inactive p42<sup>MAPK</sup> used as the substrate is indicated and the radioactivity (cpm) incorporated was 183 (control), 305 (5 min), 202 (10 min) and 218 (15 min). Serum starved cells were incubated with 50 $\mu$ M PD098059 (PD) for 90 minutes followed by stimulation with 50 $\mu$ M forskolin (5 min), 10nM EGF (5 min) or 10nM GH (10 min). Activation of p42<sup>MAPK</sup> was determined by electrophoretic mobility shift as described in the legend to Fig 5.3.

Work in our laboratory has shown that PKC mediates the activation of MAP kinases by GH, but not by EGF in 3T3-F442A cells (MacKenzie *et al*, 1997). Given that interactions can occur between the cyclic AMP and PKC signalling systems it may be interesting to assess the role of PKC in the activation of MAP kinases by cyclic AMP. To investigate whether cyclic AMP might feed into the MAP kinase cascade by activating PKC the effect of overnight incubation of 3T3-F442A cells with the phorbol ester 12-myristate 13-acetate (PMA) was examined. Pretreatment with PMA abolished the ability of PMA to induce an activation-dependent gel shift in p42<sup>MAPK</sup> confirming the efficiency of PKC down-regulation (Fig 5.11). In contrast, down-regulation of PKC did not inhibit the ability of forskolin to induce phosphorylation of p42<sup>MAPK</sup> (Fig 5.11). These findings suggest that cyclic AMP activates MAP kinase independently of stimulation of a PMA-sensitive PKC in 3T3-F442A cells.

Results so far have demonstrated that cyclic AMP evokes a PKA-mediated activation of MAP kinase in 3T3-F442A preadipocytes. The activation is transient and much smaller than those elicited by other differentiative agents (Table 5.2). Therefore, it seems unlikely that such a small and transient activation of MAP kinase could alone account for the potentiating action of cyclic AMP during the priming stage of 3T3-F442A preadipocyte differentiation (Chapter 4). Given that many of the biological effects of cyclic AMP on cell growth correlate with modulation of growth or differentiative factor-induced MAP kinase activity (Table 5.2), it was necessary to study the interactive effect of cyclic AMP with other differentiative hormones.

As previously shown in Table 5.2, 50µM forskolin induced a small but significant increase in MAP kinase activity in phenyl Sepharose-purified cell extracts. GH evoked a more substantial activation of MAP kinase (Table 5.3). Preincubation with forskolin was found to potentiate the GH-activated MAP kinase (Table 5.4). T<sub>3</sub> did not stimulate a significant activation of MAP kinase, which is consistent with the current understanding that the signalling mechanism for T<sub>3</sub> is independent of intracellular phosphorylation events (see the *Signalling* section in Chapter 1). Forskolin had very little effect on the activation of MAP kinase by insulin, EGF or T<sub>3</sub> in isolation or the three agents in combination. Individually insulin and EGF evoked a significant activation of MAP kinase (Table 5.4). When cells were stimulated with a combination of insulin, EGF and  $T_3$  this also elicited an activation of MAP kinase which was comparable to that when cells were stimulated with EGF alone (Table 5.4). This observation is in accordance with the data presented in Fig 5.10 in which EGF alone could induce phosphorylation of the total cellular pool of MAP kinase. Interestingly, although cyclic AMP does not inhibit the activation of MAP kinases by EGF or insulin, it does inhibit their activation by PMA (29.9±2.6% reduction; p<0.01; n=3).

### Table 5.4) Effect of Cyclic AMP on the Ability of Insulin, EGF and T<sub>3</sub> to Activate MAP kinase in 3T3-F442A Cells.

Serum starved cells were incubated for 10 minutes with forskolin (50µM) and then stimulated with either GH (2nM), insulin (1.8µM), T<sub>3</sub> (100pg/ml) or EGF (1ng/ml) for 10 minutes. Alternatively, cells were incubated for 10 minutes with a combination of insulin (1.8µM), T<sub>3</sub> (100pg/ml) and EGF (1ng/ml). Following stimulation cells were lysed and cytosolic extracts were processed for the assay of MAP kinase as described in section 2.2.13.1. Data are expressed as the relative increase (fold) in MAP kinase activity induced by each agent above that measured in unstimulated cells and are means±S.E.M. with the number of observations in parenthesis. \* indicates the values which differ significantly from values obtained when cells were incubated in the absence of forskolin; p<0.01.

Treatment	-Forskolin	+Forskolin		
-	1.0±0.1 (5)	1.9±0.1*(3)		
GH	5.4±().5 (4)	9.6±0.8*(3)		
Insulin	5.()±().9 (4)	7.4±1.4 (5)		
EGF	21.2±2.5 (3)	23.3±3.5(3)		
T <sub>3</sub>	1.0±0.1 (5)	1.6±0.4 (3)		
EGF/Insulin/T <sub>3</sub>	20.9±1.9 (3)	20.7± 1.3 (3)		

Fold increase in MAP kinase Activity



### Fig 5.11) Effect of Down-regulation of PKC on the Activation of MAP Kinase by Cyclic AMP.

Cells were depleted of cellular PKC by pretreatment with 16µM PMA for 16 hours (Anderson *et al*, 1991). One hour before stimulations the PMA was removed by two washes with PBS. Cells were then exposed to  $50\mu$ M forskolin for 5 minutes or 10nM PMA for 10 minutes. Activation of  $p42^{MAPK}$  was determined by electrophoretic mobility shift as described in the legend to Fig 5.1). Panel A) are representative of cells which have been incubated with diluent (DMSO) alone for 16 hours, whereas panel B) represent cells which have been subjected to chronic PMA treatment.

As yet the significance of this is unknown. These data demonstrate that the interactive effects of cyclic AMP on MAP kinase activation do not account for its effects on the maturation stage of 3T3-F442A cellular differentiation. However, cyclic AMP does potentiate GH-activated MAP kinase and this does correlate with a potentiating effect of cyclic AMP during the priming stage of 3T3-F442A cellular differentiation (Chapter 4). To investigate this further it was necessary to determine at which stage of differentiation MAP kinases are required. These crucial experiments were not carried out earlier due to the unavailability of an agent which could act specifically on the priming stage of differentiation to inhibit MAP kinase activation. However, at a later stage a specific inhibitor of MAP kinase activation, PD098059 (Alessi *et al.*, 1995), became available and this was then employed.

The difficulty of restricting antisense depletion of MAP kinase specifically to the priming phase precludes the use of antisense EAS1 during this stage of differentiation. The MEK-inhibitor PD098059 can act specifically to inhibit GH-activated MAP kinase during priming and will not exert an effect in the maturation phase as this compound is unable to inhibit the degree of MAP kinase-activation induced by the combined effect of agents in the maturation medium (Figs 5.10; Alessi *et al* 1995). To validate this study a control experiment was carried out to confirm the continuing efficiency of the PD098059 inhibitor during the 48 hour incubation period of GH priming. Incubation of cells in the presence of PD098059 during the two-day priming period completely blocked the acute activation of MAP kinase by GH and by GH and 10nM forskolin (results not shown). This demonstrates that PD098059 is still effective after a 48 hour period and will therefore be continually effective in inhibiting the activation of MAP kinase by GH and cyclic AMP during the whole priming phase. Inclusion of PD098059 in the priming medium failed to inhibit the ability of GH to prime cells and, moreover, failed to inhibit potentiation of GH-priming by 10nM forskolin (Fig 5.12).

These results suggest that although MAP kinases are an essential requirement for differentiation (Table 5.1), they appear not to be essential for the transduction of a priming signal by GH. In addition, the site of synergy between cyclic AMP and GH which underlies the potentiation of 3T3-F442A differentiation is not at the level of MAP kinase. Given that they are not involved during the early stage of the process, MAP kinase must be required for the positive coupling of maturation signals initiated by insulin/EGF and T<sub>3</sub>.



### Fig 5.12) Effect of PD098059 on the Priming of 3T3-F442A Cells to Differentiate.

A) Cells were grown to confluence in GH-depleted calf serum as described in section 2.2.4. At confluence the medium was removed and cells were then primed for 2 days in serum-free medium along with the additions indicated. This was then replaced with maturation medium and 8 days later GPDH activity was measured. Results are means $\pm$ S.E.M. for 3 observations. \*, \*\* indicates the value is significantly different from that obtained in cells primed with no additions; p<0.01, p<0.001. The potentiation of GH-evoked GPDH activity by 10nM forskolin was also significant (\*p<0.01).

B) Cells were incubated in serum-free medium either with or without PD098059 as indicated. After 48 hours cells were acutely stimulated with 2nM GH (10min), 10nM EGF (10min) or a combination of 2nM GH and 10nM forskolin (10min). Activation of  $p42^{MAPK}$  was then determined by electrophoretic mobility shift as described in the legend to Fig 5.3.

#### 5.4) **DISCUSSION**

The aim of the initial part of this study was to determine to what extent 3T3-F442A adipocyte differentiation was dependent on MAP kinases. To this end, expression of cellular p42<sup>MAPK</sup> and p44<sup>MAPK</sup> was specifically suppressed by treatment of cells for 48 hours with a phosphorothioate oligodeoxynucleotide probe, antisense EAS1. This antisense probe was originally designed for use in 3T3-L1 cells where it was found to efficiently and effectively reduce expression of  $p44^{MAPK}$  and, to a lesser degree, p42<sup>MAPK</sup> presumably by inhibiting synthesis of new MAP kinases, thus preventing protein-turnover (Sale et al, 1995). Treatment of 3T3-F442A cells with 5µM antisense EAS1 caused a dramatic reduction in the expression of both p42<sup>MAPK</sup> and p44<sup>MAPK</sup> to near undetectable levels in immunoblots (Fig 5.3A). Cells subjected to this treatment were viable and exhibited apparently normal phenotypes. There are several mechanisms proposed by which antisense oligonucleotide may inhibit gene expression. These include prevention of new protein synthesis by translational arrest, promotion of RNA degradation by an RNase H-dependent mechanism, inhibition of mRNA maturation by masking sequences required for the formation of a spliceosome, inhibition of RNA transport out of the nucleus, inhibition of gene transcription by forming a triple helix structure, or other unidentified mechanisms (Stein and Cohen, 1988; Zon, 1988; Dolnick, 1990). Since antisense oligonucleotides bind to the target mRNA or pre-mRNA through normal Watson-Crick base pairing, there is the potential for interaction with other, non-specific, gene-targets which contain complementary, or semi-complementary, sequences to the antisense probe.

Two points of evidence were obtained that the action of depleting EAS was specific. Firstly, the expression of MAP kinase was not significantly effected by sense or scrambled phosphorothioate oligodeoxynucleotides (Fig 5.3A). Secondly, the banding pattern of Coomassie blue-stained proteins was generally unaffected by antisense EAS1 treatment (Fig 5.3B). A small increase in the expression of an  $\approx$ 85kDa species was observed in antisense EAS1 treated cells, whereas no change was observed in cells treated with control oligodeoxynucleotides. That this is an effect specific to cells in which MAP kinases have been depleted suggests that these kinase may regulate the expression of the 85kDa protein. Whether or not this protein is involved in modulation of 3T3-F442A preadipocyte differentiation remains to be determined.

Treatment of 3T3-F442A fibroblasts with  $5\mu$ M of antisense EAS1 completely inhibited differentiation induced by FCS and insulin as assessed by two markers of terminal differentiation (Table 5.1; Fig 5.4). This agrees with Sale *et al* (1995) who found that EAS1 blocked the differentiation of 3T3-L1 preadipocytes with FCS. Since FCS contains a multitude of growth factors, each with the potential to influence differentiation, these studies fail to address which agents are primarily responsible for eliciting the necessary activation of MAP kinase. The development of a hormonally defined medium capable of supporting differentiation allowed an examination of the role individual factors played in the process. The results in Table 5.1 indicate that the differentiation of cells induced with a combination of GH, insulin, EGF and  $T_3$  displays an absolute requirement for MAP kinase, since antisense depletion of MAP kinases severely impaired differentiation. This effect was specific as incubation with control oligodeoxynucleotides had no significant effect on the extent of differentiation (Table 5.1). Although the precise mechanism involved is unknown, it is concluded that MAP kinase is required for the transduction of differentiative signals induced by serum components.

MAP kinases do not appear to be necessary for the transmission of a priming signal by GH. This is based on the observation that PD098059, a specific inhibitor of the MAP kinase cascade (Alessi *et al*, 1995), does not inhibit the priming effect of GH in 3T3-F442A cells (Fig 5.12). Therefore, the combination of antisense and PD098059 results concludes that MAP kinases are required for maturation of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes. Although MAP kinases do not appear to be required for GH priming under the conditions used, they may be required when lower concentrations of GH are used. This is based on the premise that high concentrations of GH will trigger multiple pathways to initiate the priming response in cells by recruiting many signalling molecules to JAK2 (see the *Signalling* section in Chapter 1). At submaximal concentrations of GH, when fewer signalling molecules associate with JAK2, then the MAP kinase cascade may be required to produce a significant priming signal.

That MAP kinases are not involved in GH-priming, suggests that the potentiating action of cyclic AMP during the priming phase of 3T3-F442A preadipocyte differentiation does not involve the MAP kinase pathway. This is contrary to a number of other studies which have suggested that the Ras-MAP kinase pathway may control differentiation in cells which use cyclic AMP as a differentiative signal (Johnson and Vailancourt, 1994). In these cell systems, however, components of the MAP kinase pathway appear to be essential requirements for the transduction of an initiating differentiative signal. For example, studies using the pheochromocytoma cell line, PC12, have shown that oncogenic Ras and Raf can trigger neuronal differentiation (Noda *et al*, 1985; Wood *et al*, 1993) Additionally, transfection of PC12 cells with dominant negative MEK, or preincubation with the MEK-inhibitor PD098059, blocks neurite outgrowth triggered by nerve growth factor (NGF; Cowley *et al*, 1994;Pang *et al*, 1995), whereas constitutively active mutants accelerate the process (Cowley *et al*,

1994). In the PC12 cell system cyclic AMP activates MAP kinase and potentiates MAP kinase activation by differentiative agents such as NGF (Frödin *et al*, 1994; Young *et al*, 1994; Yao *et al*, 1996). This is consistent with the synergistic interaction between NGF and cyclic AMP on the promotion of PC12 differentiation (Frödin *et al*, 1994; Young *et al*, 1994; Yao *et al*, 1996). Since the synergistic effect of cyclic AMP and GH in the potentiation of 3T3-F442A cells does not appear to require interaction at the level of MAP kinase, then other molecular interaction/s must be involved.

As discussed in chapter 4, the molecular mechanisms used by GH to promote differentiation are likely to involve the induction of early markers of the process, such as C/EBP  $\beta$  and  $\delta$  (Clarkson *et al*, 1995), which have themselves been shown to enhance adipogenesis (Yeh et al, 1995). The activation of MAP kinase by GH is thought to involve Ras, Raf and the intracellular tyrosine kinase JAK2 (Sotiropolous et al, 1994; Winston and Hunter, 1995). JAK2 can also phosphorylate and activate a family of transcription factors called Stats (signal transducers and activators of transcription) 1, 3 and 5 which can bind to specific sequences in GH-inducible genes (Campbell et al, 1995; Smit et al, 1995; Han et al, 1996; Silva et al, 1996). One such gene is c-fos which contains sis-inducible elements which interact with Stats and are thought to contribute to the rapid activation of the gene by GH (Campbell et al, 1995;. Smit et al, 1995). A number of observations implicate c-fos as playing a regulatory role in the adipogenic program. Firstly, GH activates c-fos transcription rapidly (Gurland *et al*, 1990) prior to the induction of C/EBPs  $\beta$  and  $\delta$  (Clarkson *et al*, 1995). Secondly, the *c*-fos gene-product forms a nucleoprotein complex in the regulatory region of the differentiation-specific aP2 gene (Distel et al, 1988). Given that c-fos is also induced in many cell types, including preadipocytes, by cyclic AMP (Gaskins et al, 1989) it is possible that cooperativity between cyclic AMP and GH at the level of cfos transcription may have a potentiating effect on preadipocyte differentiation. Since transcriptional regulation by cyclic AMP is often governed by the CREB transcription factor (see section 1.7.3.4), it would be extremely interesting to investigate whether Stat-CREB interactions contribute to the potentiating action of cyclic AMP on GHpromoted preadipocyte differentiation.

One of the actions of GH in promotion of preadipocyte differentiation is thought to be the production of an anti-mitogenic state in proliferating cells which primes them to the actions of other hormones (Tang *et al*, 1995). An obligate step for the mitogenstimulated passage of cells through the G1-S phase of the cell cycle is the induction of the nuclear protein cyclin D (Baldin *et al*, 1993). Correspondingly, the antimitogenic effects of GH in preadipocytes is thought to be mediated partially by the suppression of cyclin D expression (Tang *et al*, 1995). Cyclin D expression is also blocked following exposure to cyclic AMP of certain fibroblastic cell-lines in which cyclic AMP is anti-mitogenic (McKenzie and Pousségur, 1996). Perhaps the effects of cyclic AMP on GH-mediated priming could be attributable to cooperativity at the level of cyclin D expression. In a similar vein, another mechanism by which GH could cause growth arrest in proliferating preadipocytes is by increasing the expression inhibitors of cell proliferation, such as the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21<sup>WAF1</sup> which is induced in a Stat1 dependent manner (Chin *et al*, 1996; Timchenko *et al*, 1996). This area requires further investigation but could provide another potential site of synergy between the GH and cyclic AMP pathways.

In sharp contrast to its effects in the priming phase cyclic AMP potently inhibited terminal differentiation of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes. EGF and insulin are essential components of the medium used to promote this second phase whereas  $T_3$  exerts only a modulatory influence (Guller et al, 1988). The molecular mechanisms underlying the effects of EGF and insulin are not known but each induces MAP kinase activation, though to differing degrees (Table 5.2). MAP kinases must be essential for the maturation phase of differentiation, since they are not a requirement for priming (Fig. 5.12) but are required for differentiation per se (Table 5.1). However, the inhibitory effect of cyclic AMP on maturation was not mirrored by an inhibition of MAP kinase activity as stimulated by insulin, EGF and T<sub>3</sub> (Table 5.3). There are a number of examples where the effects of cyclic AMP on cell growth are dissociated from the activation or inhibition of the MAP kinase pathway (Withers et al, 1995; McKenzie and Pouysségur, 1996). For example, MAP kinases display neutral responsiveness in both Swiss 3T3 fibroblasts, where cyclic AMP is mitogenic (Withers et al, 1995), and in CCL39 fibroblasts, in which cyclic AMP is anti-mitogenic (McKenzie and Pouysségur, 1996). The intracellular targets which allow cyclic AMP to modulate cell growth in these cell-types are not known. However, in Swiss 3T3 cells cyclic AMPstimulated cell division was shown to correlate with the activation p70<sup>86K</sup>, an important transducer of proliferative signals (Withers et al, 1995). A specific inhibitor of p70<sup>86K</sup>/p85<sup>86K</sup>, rapamycin, was found to inhibit the differentiation of 3T3-F442A cells (Yarwood, Kilgour and Anderson, unpublished observations), suggesting that the p70<sup>86K</sup>/p85<sup>86K</sup> is also important for the transmission of the differentiative signal by insulin, EGF and T<sub>3</sub>. Therefore, interaction with the  $p70^{86K}/p85^{86K}$  cascade may contribute to the inhibitory effects of cyclic AMP during the maturation phase of 3T3-F442A cellular differentiation. Whether or not such interactions occur remains to be determined.

Although the effects of cyclic AMP on 3T3-F442A adipose conversion do not involve the MAP kinase cascade, a range of pharmacological agents which share the

common ability to elevate intracellular cyclic AMP were found to evoke a small activation of MAP kinase in both 3T3-L1 and 3T3-F442A preadipocytes in a PKA-dependent manner (Fig 5.9; Table 5.2).Therefore, these cell systems could provide a convenient system for the study of the molecular basis of MAP kinase/PKA interactions.

Although PKA is known to mediate many of the biological responses of cells to cyclic AMP, PKA-independent events have been reported (DiFrancesco and Tortora, 1991; Piper *et al*, 1993). However, in 3T3-F442A cells the  $EC_{50}$  and maximal doses for the activation of MAP kinase and PKA by forskolin are equivalent (Fig 5.8). In addition, two selective inhibitors of PKA, H-89 and (*R*p)-cAMPS, which act via different mechanisms, were found to block the ability of forskolin to activate MAP kinase (Fig 5.8. Taken together, these results indicate that PKA mediates the activation of MAP kinase by cyclic AMP.

Figure 5.8 shows that low doses of forskolin (around 1µM) activate PKA but not MAP kinase suggesting that there exists a threshold level of PKA activation that must be achieved before activation of MAP kinase can occur. Additionally, the degree to which MAP kinase is activated in response to cyclic AMP is transient and relatively small when compared to growth/differentiation factors such as EGF and GH and the phorbol ester PMA (Table 5.4; unpublished observations). This is not the case in other cyclic AMP responsive cell types. In PC12 cells (Frödin *et al*, 1994; Young *et al*, 1994) and ovarian granulosa cells (Saswati *et al*, 1996) cyclic AMP was shown to produce an activation of MAP kinase which was equivalent in magnitude to that evoked by TPA. These observations indicate that the cyclic AMP-stimulated MAP kinase pathway in 3T3-F442A cells is under stringent negative-regulatory influences.

An involvement of protein kinase C in the activation of MAP kinases by certain agonists has been postulated (Rossomando *et al*, 1992; Burgering and Bos, 1995; Mitchell *et al*, 1994; Sim *et al*, 1995). However, phorbol ester-sensitive isoforms of PKC are unlikely to mediate the activation of MAP kinase by cyclic AMP since their cellular depletion by chronic PMA treatment had no effect on MAP kinase activation by forskolin (Fig 5.11).

The activation of MEK occurs through direct phosphorylation by the serine/threonine protein kinases Raf-1 (Huang *et al*,1993; Avruch *et al*, 1994) and B-Raf (Jaiswal *et al*, 1994). However, Raf-1 is unlikely to mediate the positive effects of cyclic AMP on MEK and MAP kinase reported in Fig 5.10, since phosphorylation by PKA at Ser 43 inhibits Raf-1 function and impairs MAP kinase activity in fibroblasts (Wu *et al*, 1993;

Cook and McCormick, 1993). However, in PC12 cells where cyclic AMP has been demonstrated to be an activator of MAP kinase (Frödin *et al*, 1994; Young *et al*, 1994), MEK is activated by B-Raf and not Raf-1 (Jaiswal *et al*, 1994; Moodie *et al*, 1994). Intriguingly, B-Raf activity is not inhibited by cyclic AMP in PC12 cells maintained in serum-containing medium, (Erhardt *et al*, 1995). In light of this, it will be important to determine the expression pattern of Raf isoforms in 3T3-F442A cells and determine whether PKA can phosphorylate and/or inhibit Raf activation. Other putative MEK activators, other than the Raf isoforms, have also been partially characterised (Blank *et al*, 1996), but their responsiveness to cyclic AMP remains to be determined.

As well as exerting positive effects on components upstream of MEK, cyclic AMP could also relieve negative constraint on the MAP kinase pathway at one or more points. For example, although phosphatases which regulate the dephosphorylation and hence inactivation of kinases such as MEK and Raf are incompletely characterised, inhibition of a protein phosphatase by PKA-mediated phosphorylation could result in MAP kinase activation. Indeed, inhibition of PP2A with the tumour promoter okadaic acid, or with the small T antigen of simian virus 40, can lead to MAP kinase activation (Haystead *et al*, 1990; Sontag *et al*, 1993). Although initial studies indicate that PP2A contributes to the inactivation of cyclic AMP-stimulated MAP kinase in 3T3-F442A cells (Yarwood, Anderson and Kilgour, unpublished observations), these further considerations remain to be addressed. In addition, this study did not address the contribution of protein tyrosine kinases to PKA mediated signal to MAP kinases. This may be an important area of investigation as tyrosine phosphorylation of Raf, by kinases such as pp60<sup>ste</sup>, is critical for activation (Dent *et al*, 1995).

#### 5.5) CONCLUSIONS

Transient increases in cyclic AMP levels exert differential effects upon the differentiation of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes which depend upon the stage of the differentiation process at which levels are raised (Chapter 4). The results from the present study demonstrate an overall requirement for MAP kinase in serum-free differentiation conditions. Cyclic AMP was found to potentiate GH-, but not EGF/Ins/T<sub>3</sub>-activated MAP kinase. In addition, cyclic AMP alone activates MAP kinase. This suggested that the cooperativity between cyclic AMP and GH could be at the level of MAP kinase but MAP kinase was not the site of action of cyclic AMP in inhibiting maturation. However, the availability of the MEK inhibitor, PD098059, enabled the testing of the MAP kinase requirement during priming and this showed a lack of MAP kinase requirement at this stage.

### General Discussion and Future Investigations

#### GENERAL DISCUSSION

The results from the present study demonstrate that stage-specific alterations in the expression of heterotrimeric G-protein subunits accompany the adipose conversion of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes (chapter 2). The crucial GH-priming stage of 3T3-F442A differentiation witnessed specific increases in  $G_{s\alpha42}$ ,  $G_{i2\alpha}$  and  $G_{\beta36}$ . Further increases were observed during the initial stages of insulin-supported maturation culminating in dramatic increases in  $G_{s\alpha42}$  occurring in terminally differentiated cells. In contrast, levels of  $G_{i2\alpha}$ ,  $G_{i3\alpha}$  declined in mature adipocytes. Two conclusions can be drawn from these observations. First, it is clear that not all G-proteins respond equally to the induction of differentiation, and unique responses occur even among members of the same family. Second, it is apparent that the onset of individual stages of preadipocyte differentiation can lead to varied ratios of G-protein  $\alpha$ - and  $\beta$ -subunits which will contribute to the selectivity of receptor coupling to specific signal transduction processes. Hence some of the phenotypic changes which occur on differentiation are likely to be reflections of these changes in G-protein expression.

There is increasing evidence that G-proteins contribute to the control of complex biological phenomena such as cellular differentiation. For example, the development of nerve growth cones and primitive endoderm in mice have been reported to be under the control of pertussis toxin-sensitive G-proteins (Strittmater et al, 1990; Watkins et al, 1990) and  $G_{i2\alpha}$  has been implicated in the control of preadipocyte differentiation (Su et al, 1993; Gordeladze et al, 1997) and fat development in mice (Moxham et al, 1993). In support of this the present study demonstrates that pertussis toxin-induced inactivation of Gi in 3T3-F442A preadipocytes inhibited their adipocyte differentiation in hormonally defined differentiation medium (Fig 3.16). Although the exact mechanisms underlying the potentiating action of G<sub>i</sub> on preadipocyte differentiation have not been addressed in this or other studies, it ispossible that interaction with the p70<sup>S6K</sup>/p85<sup>S6K</sup> and p42/p44 MAP kinase signalling pathways will be critical to its action. This is based on observations that  $G_{i\alpha}$  has been shown to activate these pathways (Winitz et al, 1993; Wilson et al, 1996) in, what appears to be, a  $G_{\beta\gamma}$  dependent manner (Alblas et al, 1993; Crespo et al, 1994; Faure et al, 1994; Koch et al, 1994; Thorburn and Thorburn, 1994). Intriguingly, a link between differentiation-dependent alterations in  $G_i$ expression and activation of MAP kinases has recently been proposed to contribute to the control of morphogen induced teratocarcinoma stem-cell progression (Gao and Malbon, 1996). In this respect the present study demonstrates that the relative expression of  $G_{i2\alpha}$ ,  $G_{i3\alpha}$  and  $G_{\beta}$  appear to be maximal during the insulin-supported maturation stage of 3T3-F442A preadipocyte differentiation (Fig 3.15) when the MAP kinase (see Chapter 5) and p7086K/p8586K (Yarwood, Anderson and Kilgour,

unpublished observations) pathways are required for the transmission of differentiative stimuli. It is likely that during this stage of preadipocyte differentiation  $G_{i2\alpha}$  contributes to the promotion of differentiation by facilitating signal propagation from the insulin receptor, since this G-protein subunit is known to be a positive regulator of insulin action *in vivo* (Moxham and Malbon, 1996; Chen *et al*, 1997).

In addition to the positive-acting role of G<sub>i</sub>-isoforms in differentiation, this study also shows that cyclic AMP and the  $\beta$ -adrenergic agonist isoproterenol act synergistically with GH early in the differentiation program to potentiate preadipocyte differentiation (see chapter 4). This demonstrates that  $G_{sx}$ , by activating adenylate cyclase, can serve as a positive regulator of fat cell formation. During the later insulin-promoted maturation phase cyclic AMP is inhibitory to the process. While it has been postulated for some time that cyclic AMP plays a dual role in modulating the adipose differentiative potential of preadipocytes (Antras et al, 1991) this is the first occasion that the temporal aspects of this bifunctional role of cyclic AMP has been demonstrated in the same preadipocyte cell system. The importance of  $G_{s\alpha}$  in controlling fat cell development has been demonstrated clearly in the 3T3-L1 preadipocyte cell system in which antisense depletion of  $G_{stt}$  has been shown to potentiate differentiation (Wang et al, 1992). Moreover, an inactivating mutant of  $G_{s\alpha}$  has also been shown to enhance 3T3-L1 adipose conversion (Gordeladze et al ,1997). These observations demonstrate that  $G_{s\alpha}$  exerts an inhibitory influence on 3T3-L1 cellular differentiation, which is in agreement with the inhibitory role of cyclic AMP on the later stages of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes reported in this study. Whereas it is generally accepted that prolonged exposure to cyclic AMP prevents terminal adipocyte differentiation by causing a decrease in the expression of lipogenic enzymes (Spiegelman and Green, 1981; Bhandari and Miller, 1985) the authors concluded that the inhibitory role of  $G_{s\alpha}$  in 3T3-L1 differentiation is independent of adenylate cyclase activation despite the fact that under the differentiation conditions used in their study cyclic AMP has been shown to be a powerful positive regulator of 3T3-L1 adipogenesis (Schmidt et al, 1990). Therefore, care should be taken in interpreting the results of gain-of- and loss-offunction studies on the role of G-proteins in controlling preadipocyte differentiation. The results from the present study indicate both a positive and negative regulatory role for  $G_{s\alpha}$  in the adipose conversion of adipogenic 3T3-F442A preadipocytes in what is clearly a cyclic AMP-mediated process. There is, however, a suggestion that  $G_{s\alpha}$  may play an inhibitory role during preadipocyte differentiation in a cyclic AMP-independent manner based on observations using chimeric constructs of  $G_{s\alpha}$  which were expressed stably in 3T3-L1 cells to define the region controlling adipogenesis (Wang et al, 1996). This study revealed that the  $G_{s\alpha}$  protein contains a adipogenic-repression region (amino acids 146-220) which is spatially distinct from those regions which map for control of

adenylate cyclase (Wang *et al*, 1996). Clearly further work should address the mechanistic aspects of the obviously complex role of  $G_{s\alpha}$  in modulating preadipocyte differentiation.

The current investigation examined whether interaction with the MAP kinase growthregulatory cascade contributed to the biphasic action of cyclic AMP on preadipocyte differentiation. Results demonstrated an overall requirement for MAP kinase in serumfree differentiation conditions. Cyclic AMP was found to potentiate GH-activated MAP kinase, but did not affect the degree of MAP kinase activation induced by the agents which promote maturation of  $3T_3$ -F442A preadipocytes (insulin, EGF and T<sub>3</sub>). In addition, cyclic AMP alone activates MAP kinase. This suggested that the cooperativity between cyclic AMP and GH could be at the level of MAP kinase but MAP kinase was not the site of action of cyclic AMP in inhibiting maturation. However, the availability of the MEK inhibitor, PD098059, enabled the testing of the MAP kinase requirement during priming and this showed a lack of MAP kinase requirement at this stage. This suggests that MAP kinases are required during the later maturation stage of differentiation. If MAP kinases are required for the insulin-promoted maturation phase of preadipocyte differentiation, and not during GH priming, raises the question as to what is the down-stream target of MAP kinase action at this stage. Once activated p42/p44 MAP kinase can be translocated to the nucleus (Chen et al, 1992; Lenormont et al, 1993) and directly phosphorylates transcription factors, including p62<sup>TCF</sup> and ATF-2 (Davis, 1993). In addition, a number of cytosolic substrates for MAP kinases have been identified, including members of the p90RSK family, phospholipase A<sub>2</sub>, and Stat 1 (Sturgill et al, 1988; Lin et al, 1993b; Lin et al, 1994; Wen et al, 1995; Xing et al, 1996). It is worth noting that GH induces a transient activation of MAP kinase, whereas that induced by the maturation agents is much larger and sustained (Yarwood, Kilgour and Anderson, unpublished observations). Prolonged activation of MAP kinase is associated with nuclear translocation (Traverse et al, 1992; Nguyen et al, 1993), therefore it is likely that MAP kinases activated during the maturation phase undergo nuclear translocation and activate transcription factors by phosphorylation. Intriguingly, it has recently been demonstrated that the adipogenic transcription factor PPARy undergoes MAP kinase-mediated serine phosphorylation (ser 122) in response to insulin (Hu et al, 1996). Given that MAP kinase activation and PPARy are required for the completion of the adipogenic program, it will be interesting assess whether this insulin-induced serine phosphorylation is important for modulating preadipocyte differentiation.

Activation of the MAP kinase cascade (see chapter 5) and the  $p70^{86K}$  cascade (Yarwood, Kilgour and Anderson, unpublished observations) do not appear to be

necessary for GH to prime 3T3-F442A preadipocytes for a program of differentiation. However, antisense oligodeoxynucleotides which specifically deplete the GH-receptorassociated tyrosine kinase JAK2 are inhibitory to 3T3-F442A differentiation (N.G. Anderson, unpublished observation). This suggests that other JAK2-mediated signalling events are responsible for the priming action of GH. Following binding of GH, receptor dimerisation leads to the activation of JAK2 which tyrosine phosphorylates and activates latent cytoplasmic transcription factors termed Stats (signal transducers and activators of transcription) 1, 3 and 5 (Han et al, 1996; Smit et al, 1996). Tyrosyl-phosphorylated Stats bind to the sis-inducible element of the c-fos promoter and other genes. Current evidence suggest that these response elements bind Stat1 and Stat3 homodimers as well as Stat1/Stat3 heterodimers, all of which appear to be formed in response to GH (Granowski et al, 1994; Meyer et al, 1994; Campbell et al, 1995; Granowski et al, 1995). Following GH-treatment of 3T3-F442A cells c-fos induction precedes the induction of C/EBPs  $\beta$  and  $\delta$  and it has been postulated that cfos contributes to the trans-activation of these important adipogenic transcription factors (Clarkson et al, 1995). It appears, therefore, that activation of the JAK/Stat signalling pathway by GH has the potential to directly initiate a program of preadipocyte differentiation by inducing the "tertiary messenger" c-fos and early markers of adipose conversion.

Interaction between the cyclic AMP/PKA pathways and the JAK/Stat cascade may underlie the potentiating action of cyclic AMP on GH-priming reported in the present study (see chapter 4). Maximal activation of Stats 1 and 3 requires both tyrosine and serine phosphorylation (Wen et al, 1995). Therefore, it could be envisaged that increased serine kinase activity triggered through cyclic AMP elevation, Ras-MAP kinase activation or protein kinase C activation has the potential to affect transcriptional activation of adipogenic transcription factors by increasing the transcriptional-activating abilities of Stats. In this respect GH stimulates phosphorylation of Stats 1, 3 and 5 on serine, threonine and tyrosine residues in vivo in a manner that either enhances (Stats 1 and 3) or substantially alters (Stat 5) the binding of each Stat to its cognate DNA element (Ran et al, 1996). The serine phosphorylation of GH-activated Stats could result from the activation of the MAP kinase cascade, the p70<sup>S6K</sup> cascade and/or the PKC cascade which are all known to be activated by GH (McKenzie et al, 1997; vide infra). The synergistic potentiation of 3T3-F442A preadipocyte differentiation by cyclic AMP which occurs during GH-priming could therefore be contributed to by potentiation of GH-activated MAP kinase (see chapter 5), resulting in increased Stat activation. It is unlikely that increased Stat activation results from a cyclic AMP-induced potentiation of GH-activated PKC and/or p70<sup>86K</sup> as cyclic AMP was not found to potentiate GH-signalling through these pathways in 3T3-F442A cells (Yarwood,

Kilgour and Anderson, unpublished observations). Therefore, future study should be directed towards determining which GH-activated Stats are important for 3T3-F442A preadipocyte differentiation and to determine whether the cyclic AMP potentiation of GH-activated MAP kinase increases Stat-mediated transcriptional activation.

Another potential site of synergy between the cyclic AMP and GH signalling cascades is at the level of C/EBP $\beta$  which is required and sufficient to initiate the adipogenic program (Yeh *et al*, 1995). Increases in intracellular cyclic AMP levels stimulated by IBMX treatment have been shown to be a direct inducer of C/EBP $\beta$  expression in 3T3-L1 preadipocytes (Yeh *et al*, 1995). In addition, GH-treatment of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes has also been shown to increase expression of C/EBP $\beta$  (Clarkson *et al*, 1995). It is therefore likely that the combined effect of GH-treatment and elevated cyclic AMP levels leads to optimal C/EBP $\beta$  expression during the priming phase of 3T3-F442A differentiation, thereby potentiating adipose conversion. Interestingly, it has been demonstrated in hepatocytes and neuroblastoma cells that optimal transcriptional activation of certain cytokine-responsive genes requires the binding of both Stats and C/EBPs to the gene promoter region (Symes *et al*, 1995; Kardula and Travis, 1996). Such cooperativity may underlie the synergistic action of GH and cyclic AMP on preadipocyte differentiation by optimising expression of differentiation-dependent genes.

Recent observations in a rat insulinoma cell line have demonstrated that impaired cyclic AMP-dependent phosphorylation renders CREB (cyclic AMP response-elementbinding-protein) a repressor of C/EBPβ-induced transcription (Vallejo et al, 1995). This suggests that phosphorylation and activation of CREB is important for correct functioning of C/EBPB and implies that GH-induced C/EBPB activation in 3T3-F442A preadipocytes may be optimised by cyclic AMP-mediated CREB phosphorylation. Given the critical role of C/EBP $\beta$  in modulating preadipocyte differentiation (Yeh *et al*, 1996), increases in CREB activation therefore have the potential to modulate the extent of terminal differentiation. A signalling pathway has been elucidated whereby growth and differentiation factors activate CREB (Xing et al, 1996; Sato et al, 1997). Growth factor-stimulated CREB phosphorylation at serine 133 is mediated by the Ras-MAP kinase pathway (Xing et al, 1996). MAP kinase activates a member of the p90<sup>RSK</sup> family which, in turn, phosphorylates and activates CREB (Xing et al, 1996). In the present study cyclic AMP potentiated GH-activated MAP kinase and terminal differentiation of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes (see chapters 4 and 5). This may lead to increased CREB activation through MAP kinase-mediated activation of p90<sup>RSK</sup>, thereby leading to increased activation of adipocyte-specific genes by cooperativity with C/EBPβ.

#### FUTURE INVESTIGATIONS

Future study aimed at elucidating the potentiating and inhibitory actions of cyclic AMP on the adipose conversion of 3T3-F442A preadipocytes should focus on the synergistic interactions between the cyclic AMP and GH signalling cascades and inhibitory interactions occurring between the cyclic AMP and insulin pathways. Particular attention should be paid to determining whether cooperativity between the cyclic AMP and these adipogenic pathways occurs at the level of transcription factor activation or induction, particularly those transcription factors which are known to be activated or induced by cyclic AMP (CREB and C/EBPs), insulin (C/EBPs) and GH (Stats and C/EBPs). It is already well established that the C/EBP family of transcription factors are extremely important for controlling adipogenesis, however the importance of Stats and CREB in the modulation of preadipocyte differentiation remains to be determined. The requirement for these transcription factors can be determined by specific depletion with antisense oligodeoxynucleotides which can be designed so as to deplete individual members of the same transcription factor family. The combined effect of cyclic AMP and GH on the expression of CREB, C/EBP and Stat proteins can be determined immunologically, by Western blotting, or, indirectly, by measuring the cellular abundance of mRNAs for each transcription factor. The activation status of individual transcription factors can be determined by electrophoretic mobility shift assay (EMSA; Ausubel, 1993).

A further measure of the activation status of transcription factors is the degree of nuclear translocation induced by extracellular stimulation. In this respect the degree of nuclear accumulation of adipogenic transcription factors in response to GH, cyclic AMP and/or insulin stimulation should be assessed by subcellular fractionation and confocal imaging (see for example Metz and Ziff, 1991; Kilgour and Anderson, 1994; King and Delaney, 1994).

As the activation status of transcription factors can be modulated directly by phosphorylation (Hunter and Karin, 1992), the level of phosphate incorporation into C/EBPs, Stats and CREB should be assessed in response to insulin and GH in the presence or absence of cyclic AMP. This can be achieved immunologically, in the case of CREB, since a commercial antiserum which specifically recognises phospho-CREB has recently been made available. The phosphorylation status of C/EBPs has been determined by gel retardation assay in a manner similar to that used to detect phospho-MAP kinases (see Chapter 5), whereas phosphorylation of Stats has been detected by

phosphotyrosine-specific antisera and by phospho-peptide mapping (Wen *et al*, 1995; Smit *et al*, 1996).

# Bibliography

1

.

Abumrad N.A., El-Maghrabi M., Amri E-Z, Lopez E. and Grimaldi P.A. (1993) Cloning of a Rat Adipocyte Membrane Protein Implicated in Binding and Transport of Long-chain Fatty Acids that is Induced during Preadipocyte Differentiation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **268**, 17665-17668.

Abumrad N.A., Forest C.C., Regen D.M. and Sanders S. (1991) Increase in Membrane Uptake of Long-chain Fatty Acids Early During Preadipocyte Differentiation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88, 6008-6012.

Abumrad N.A., Park C. and Whitesell R.R. (1986) Catecholamine Activation of the Membrane Transport of Long Chain Fatty Acids in Adipocytes is Mediated by Cyclic AMP and Protein Kinase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **261**, 13082-13090.

Adachi H., Kurachi H., Hamma H., Adachi K., Imai T., Marishig K-I, Matsuzawa Y. and Miyaki A. (1994) Epidermal Growth Factor Promotes Adipogenesis of 3T3-L1 Cells *In Vitro. Endocrinology* **135**, 1824-1830.

Adams P.D. and Parker P.J. (1991) TPA-induced Activation of MAP Kinase. *FEBS Letters* 290, 77-82.

Ahima R.S., Prabakaran D., Mantzoros C., Qu D., Lowell B., Maratos-Flier E. and Flier J.S. (1996) Role of Leptin in the Neuroendocrine Response to Fasting. *Nature* **382**, 250-252.

Ailhaud G. (1982) Adipose Cell Differentiation in Culture. Mol. Cell. Biochem. 49, 17-31.

Ailhaud G., Amri E.-Z., Bertrand B., Barcellini-Couget S., Bardan S., Catalioto R.-M., Dani C., Deslex S., Djian P., Doglio A., Figuréres-Pradines A., Forest C., Gaillard D., Grimaldi P., Négrel R. and Varnier C. (1990) In *Obesity: Towards a Molecular Approach*. (Bray G.A., Ricquier D. and Spiegelman B.M.eds). **219-236**.Wiles-Liss inc.

Ailhaud G., Dani C., Amri A., Djian P. and Vannier C. (1989) Coupling Growth Arrest and Adipocyte Differentiation. *Environ. Health Perspect.* **80**, 17-23.

Ailhaud G., Grimaldi P. and Négrel P. (1994) Hormonal Regulation of Adipose Differentiation. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* **5**, 132-136.

Alberola-IIa J., Forbush K.A., Serger R., Krebs E.G. and Perlmutter R. (1995) Selective Requirement for MAP Kinase activation in Thymocyte Differentiation. *Nature* **373**, 620-623.

Alblas J., von Corven E.J., Hordijk P.L., Milligan G. and Moolenaar W.H. (1993) Gi-mediated Activation of the  $p21^{ras}$ -mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Pathway by  $\alpha_{2^{-}}$ adrenergic Receptors Expressed in Fibroblasts. J. Biol. Chem. **268**, 22235-22238.

Alessandrini A., Crews C.M. and Erikson R.L. (1992) Phorbol Ester Stimulates a Protein-tyrosine/threonine Kinase that Phosphorylates and Activates the ERK Gene Product. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89, 8200-8204.

Alessi D.R., Cuenda A, Cohen P., Dudley D.T. and Saltiel A.R. (1995) PD098059 is a Specific Inhibitor of the Activation of Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Kinase in *Vitro* and in *Vivo*. J. Biol. Chem. **270**, 27489-27494. Alessi D.R., Gomez N., Moorhead G., Lewis T., Keyse S.M. and Cohen P. (1995) Inactivation of p42 MAP Kinase by Protein Phosphatase 2A and a Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase, but Not CL 100, in Various Cell Lines. *Curr. Biol.* 5, 283-295.

Amri E-Z, Ailhaud G. and Grimaldi P. (1991) Regulation of Adipose Cell Differentiation II. Kinetics of Induction of the aP2 Gene by Fatty Acids are Modulated by Dexamethasone. J. Lipid Res. 32, 1457-1463.

Amri E-Z., Banino F., Ailhaud G., Abumrad N.A. and Grimaldi P.A. (1995) Cloning of a Protein That Mediates Transcriptional Effects of Fatty Acids in Preadipocytes: Homology to Peroxisome Proliferator-activated Receptors. *J. Biol. Chem.* **270**, 2367-2371.

Amri E-Z, Dani C., Doglio A., Etienne J., Grimaldi P. and Ailhaud G. (1986) Adipose Cell Differentiation: Evidence for a Two-step Process in the Polyamine-dependent Ob1754 Clonal Line. *Biochem. J.* 238, 115-122.

Anderson N.G. (1992) Growth Hormone Activates Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase and S6 Kinase and Promotes Intracellular Tyrosine Phosphorylation in 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes. *Biochem. J.* 284, 649-652.

Anderson N.G., Maller J., Tonks N.K. and Sturgill T.W. (1990) Requirement for Integration of Signals from Two Distinct Phosphorylation Pathways for Activation of MAP Kinase. *Nature* **343**, 651-653.

Anderson N.G. and Milligan G. (1994) Regulation of p42 and p44 MAP Kinase Isoforms in Rat-1 Fibroblasts Stably Transfected with  $\alpha_2$ C10 Adrenoceptors. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **200**, 152-159.

Angel A., Farkas J., Rosenthal J. and Smigura F. (1974) In *The Regulation of Adipose Tissue Mass* (Vague J. and Boyer J. eds). 25-31, Excepta Medica: New York.

Antras J., Lasnier F. and Pairault J. (1991)  $\beta$ -Adrenergic-cyclic AMP Signalling Pathway Modulates Cell Function at the Transcriptional Level in 3T3-F442A Adipocytes. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* **82**, 183-190.

Aragay A.M., Collins L.R., Post G.R., Watson A.J., Feramisco J.R., Brown J.H. and Simon M.I. (1995)  $G_{12}$  Requirement for Thrombin-stimulated Gene Expression and DNA Synthesis in 1321N1 Astrocytoma Cells. J. Biol. Chem. **270**, 20073-20077.

Argetsinger L.S., Campbell G.S., Yang X., Witthuhn B.A., Silvennoinen O., Ihle J.N. and Carter-Su C. (1993) Identification of JAK2 as a Growth Hormone Receptorassociated Tyrosine Kinase. *Cell* **74**, 237-244.

Arias J., Alberts A.S., Bridle P., Claret F.X., Smeal T., Karin M., Feramisco J., and Montminy M. (1994) Activation of cAMP and Mitogen Responsive Genes Relies on a Common Nuclear Factor. *Nature* **370**, 226-229.

Asano T., Katada T., Gilman A.G. and Ross E.M. (1984) Activation of the Inhibitory GTP-binding Protein of Adenylate Cyclase,  $G_i$  by  $\beta$ -Adrenergic Receptors in Reconstituted Phospholipid Vesicles. J. Biol. Chem. **259**, 9351-9354.

Asano T., Marishita R., Sano M. and Kato K. (1989) The GTP-binding Proteins,  $G_o$  and  $G_{i2}$ , of Neuronal Cloned Cells and Their Changes During Differentiation. J. Neurochem. 53, 1195-1198.

Ashcom G., Gurland G. and Schwartz J. (1992) Growth Hormone Synergises with Serum Growth Factors in Inducing *c-fos* Transcription in 3T3-F442A Cells. *Endocrinology* **131**, 1915-1921.

Ausbel F.M. (1993) *Current Protocols in Molecular Biology, Vol 2*, Greene Publishing Associates, Inc. and John Wiley and Sons, NY.

Avruch J., Zhang W-F and Kyriakis J.M. (1994) Raf Meets Ras: Completing the Framework of a Signal Transduction Pathway. *Trends. Biochem. Sci.* **19**, 279-283.

Bai Y., Zhang S., Kim K.-S., Lee J.-K. and Kim K.-H. (1996) Obese Gene Expression Alters the Ability of 30A5 Preadipocytes to Respond to Lipogenic Hormones. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 13939-13942.

Bakalyar H.A. and Reed R.R. (1990) Identification of a Specialized Adenylyl Cycalse that may Mediate Odorant Detection. *Science* **250**, 1403-1406.

Baldin V., Lukas J., Marcote M.J., Pagano M. and Draetta G. (1993) Cyclin D1 is a Nuclear Protein Required for Cell Cycle Progression in G1. *Genes Dev.* **7**, 812-821.

Barany G. and Merrifield R.B. (1979) in *The Peptides* (Gross E. and Meienhofer J. eds). Vol 2A, 1-284. Academic Press, Florida, USA.

Barcellini-Couget S., Pradines-Figueres A., Roux P., Dani C. and Ailhaud G. (1993) The Regulation by Growth Hormone of Lipoprotein Lipase Gene Expression is Mediated by c-*fos* Protooncogene. *Endocrinology* **132**, 53-60.

Beattie J. (1992) Investigation of the Solid- and Solution- Phase Binding Reactivities of Continuous Epitopes Recognised by Polyclonal Guinea-pig Anti-recombinant Bovine Growth Hormone Antisera. J. Molec. Recog. 5, 99-104.

Beattie J., Fawcett H.A.C. and Flint D.J. (1992) The Use of Multi-pin Peptide Synthesis in an Analysis of the Continuous Epitopes Recognised by Various Anti-(Recombinant Bovine Growth Hormone) Sera. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **210**, 59-66.

Beattie J. and Flint D.J. (1992) Critical Evaluation of a Theory of Molecular Recognition Using Human Insulin-Like-Growth-Factor-I Fragment 21-40 and its Complementary Peptide. *Biochem. J.* 283, 473-478.

Beavo J.A., Bechtel P.J. and Krebs E.G. (1975) Mechanisms of Control of Cyclic AMP Dependent Protein Kinase from Skeletal Muscle. *Adv. Cyclic Nucleotide Res.* 5, 241-250.

Beavo J.A. and Reifsnyder D.H. (1990) Primary Sequence of Cyclic Nucleotide Phosphodiesterase Isozymes and the Design of Selective Inhibitors. *Trends Pharmac*. **11**, 150-155.

Bégin-Heick N. (1990) Quantification of the Alpha and Beta Subunits of the Transducing Elements ( $G_s$  and  $G_i$ ) of Adenylate Cyclase in Adipocyte Membranes from Lean and Obese (*Ob/Ob*) Mice. *Biochem. J.* **268**, 83-89.

Bégin-Heick N. (1992)  $\alpha$ -subunits of G<sub>s</sub> and G<sub>1</sub> in Adipocyte Plasma Membranes of Genetically Diabetic (db/db) Mice. Am. J. Physiol. **263**, C121-C129.

Benito M., Porras A., Nebreda A.R. and Santos E. (1991) Differentiation of 3T3-L1 Fibroblasts to Adipocytes Induced by Transfection of *ras* Oncogenes. *Science* 253, 565-568.

Boynton A.L. and Whitfield J.F. (1983) The Role of Cyclic AMP in Cell Proliferationa Critical Assessment of the Evidence. *Adv. Cyclic Nuc. Res.* **15**, 193-294

Berra E., Diaz-Meco M.T., Lozano J., Frutos S., Munico M.M., Sánchez P., Sanz L. and Moscat J. (1995) Evidence for a Role of MEK and MAPK During Signal Transduction by Protein Kinase Cζ. *EMBO J.* **14**, 6157-6163.

Bernlohr D.A., Bolanowski M.A., Kelly T.J. and Lane M.D. (1985) Evidence for an Increase in Transcription of Specific mRNAs During Differentiation of 3T3-L1 Preadipocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 260, 5563-5571.

Berridge M.J. and Irvine R.F. (1989) Inositol Phosphates and Cell Signalling. *Nature* **341**, 197-205.

Bhandari B., Saini K.S. and Miller R.E. (1991) Glycerol-3-phosphate Dehydrogenase Gene Expression in Cultured 3T3-L1 Adipocytes: Regulation by Insulin, Dexamethasone and Dibutyryl cAMP at the Level of mRNA Abundance, Transcription and mRNA Stability.*Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* **76**, 71-77.

Birnbaumer L., Abramowitz J. and Brown A.M. (1990) Receptor-effector Coupling by G-proteins. *Biochem. Biophysics Acta* **1031**, 163-224.

Björntorp P., Karlsson M., Pettereson and Sypniewska G. (1980) Differentiation and Function of Rat Adipocyte Precursor Cells in Primary Culture. J. Lipid. Res. 21, 714-720.

Blank J.L, Gerwins P., Elliot E.M., Sather S. and Johnson G.L. (1996) Molecular Cloning of Mitogen-activated Protein/ERK Kinase Kinases (MEKK) 2 and 3. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 5361-5368.

Blomhoff H.K., Smeland E.B., Beiske K., Blomhoff R., Ruud E., Bjøro T., Pfiefer-Ohlsson S., Watt R., Funderud S., Godal T. and Ohlsson R. (1987) Cyclic AMPmediated Suppresion of Normal and Neoplastic B cell Proliferation is Associated with Regulation of myc and Ha-ras Proto-oncogenes. J. Cell. Physiol. **131**, 426-433.

Bouloumié A., Planat V., Devedjian J.-C., Valet P., Saulnier-Blanche J.-S., Recard M. and Lafontan M. (1994) Alpha-2-adrenergic Stimulation Promotes Preadipocyte Proliferation: Involvement of Mitogen Activated Protein Kinases. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 30254-30259.

Bourne H.R., Sanders D.A. and McCormick F. (1990) The GTP-ase Superfamily: a Conserved Switch for Diverse Cell Functions. *Nature* **348**, 125-132.

Boyle W.J., Smeal J., Defice L. H.K., Angel P., Woodgett J.R., Karin M. and Hunter T. (1991) Activation of Protein Kinase C Decreases Phosphorylation of *c-jun* at Sites that Negatively Regulate its DNA-binding Activity. *Cell* **64**, 573-584.

Bradford M.M. (1976) A Rapid and Sensitive Method for the Quantification of Microgram Quantities of Protein Utilizing the Principle of Protein Dye Binding. *Anal. Biochem.* **72**, 248-254.

Brasier A.R., Ron D., Tate J.E. and Habener J.F. (1990) A Family of Constitutive C/EBP-like DNA Binding Proteins Attenuate the II-1 $\alpha$ -induced, NF $\kappa$ B-mediated *Trans*-activation of the Angiotensinogen Acute Phase Response Element. *EMBO J.* **9**, 3933-3944.

Bray P., Carter A., Guo V., Puckett L, Kornholtz J., Spiegel A. and Nirenberg M. (1986) Human cDNA Clones for Four Species of  $G_{\alpha s}$  Signal Transduction Protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 83, 8893-8897.

Bray P., Carter A., Guo V., Puckett L, Kornholtz J., Spiegel A. and Nirenberg M. (1987) Human cDNA Clones for an Alpha Subunit of G<sub>i</sub> Signal Transdcution Protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 84, 5115-5119.

Brostram M.A., Reimann E.M., Walsh D.A. and Krebbs E.G. (1970) Cyclic 3', 5'-AMP Stimulated Protein Kinase from Cardiac Muscle. *Adv. Enzyme Reg.* 8, 191-197.

Brown B.L., Albano. J.D.M., Ekins R.P. and Sgherzi A.M. (1971) A Simple and Sensitive Saturation Assay Method for the Measurement of Adenosine 3', 5'-Cyclic Monophosphate. *Biochem. J.* **121**, 561-562.

Brown E.J., Albers M.W., Shin T.B., Ichikawa K., Keith C.T., Lane W.S. and Screiber S.L. (1994) A Mammalian Protein Targeted by G1-arresting Rapamycin Receptor Complex. *Nature* **369**, 756-758.

Brunk C.F., Jones K.C. and James T.W. (1979) Assay for Nanogram Quantities of DNA in Cellular Homogenates. *Anal. Biochem.* **92**, 497-500.

Buddy L. and Downward J. (1993) Epidermal Growth Factor Regulates p21<sup>ras</sup> Through the Formation of a Complex or Receptor, Grb2 Adaptor Protein and Sos Nucleotide Exchange Factor. *Cell* **73**, 611-620.

Burdi A.R., Poissonnet C.M., Garn S.M., Lovelle M. and Sabet M.D. (1985) Adipose Tissue Growth Patterns During Human Gestation: a Histometric Comparison of Buccal and Gluteal Fat Depots. *In. J. Obes.* 9, 247-256.

Burgering B.M.T. and Bos J.L. (1995) Regulation of Ras-mediated Signalling: More than One Way to Skin a Cat. *Trends. Biochem. Sci.* **20**, 18-22.

Burgering B.M.T. and Coffer P.J. (1995) Protein Kinase B (c-Akt) in Phosphatidylinositol-3-OH Kinase Signal Transduction. *Nature* **376**, 599-602.

Burgering B.M.T., Pronk G.J., Van Weeren P.C., Chardin P. and Bos J.L. (1993) cAMP Antagonises p21<sup>ras</sup>-directed Activation of Extracellular Signal-regulated Kinase 2 and Phosphorylation of mSOS Nucleotide Exchange Factor. *EMBO J.* **12**, 4211-4220.

Burns D.L., Hewlett E.L., Moss J. and Vaughen M. (1983) Pertussis Toxin Inhibits Enkephalin Stimulation of GTPase of NG108-15 Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 258, 1435-1438.

Buss J.E., Mumby S.M., Casey P.J. and Gilman A.G. (1987) Myristoylated  $\alpha$ -subunits of Guanine-nucleotide-binding Regulatory Proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 84, 7493-7497.

Catalioto R.-M., Ailhaud G. and Négrel R. (1990) Diacylglycerol Production Induced by Growth Hormone in Ob1771 Preadipocytes Arises from Phosphatidylcholine Breakdown. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **173**, 843-848.

Catalioto R.-M., Gaillard D., Ailhaud G. and Négrel R. (1992) Terminal Differentiation of Mouse Preadipocyte Cellls: the Mitogenic-adipogenic Role of Growth Hormone is Mediated by the Protein Kinase C Signalling Pathway. *Growth Factors* **6**, 255-264.

Campbell G.S., Mege D.J., Raz R., Levy D.E., Schwartz J. and Carter-Su C. (1995) Activation of Acute Phase Response Factor (APRF)/Stat3 Transcription Factor by Growth Hormone. J. Biol. Chem. **270**, 3974-3979. Campfield L.A., Smith F.J., Guisez Y., Devos R. and Burn P. (1995) Recombinant Mouse *Ob* Protein: Evidence for a Peripheral Signal Linking Adiposity and Central Neural Networks. *Science* **269**, 546-549.

Cannon B., Jacobsson A., Rehnmark S. and Nedergaard S. (1996) Signal Transduction in Brown Adipose Tissue Recruitment: Noradrenaline and Beyond. *Int. J. Obesity* **20**, S36-S42.

Carlsetedt-Duke J., Okret S., Wrange Ö. and Gustafsson J-Ä. (1982) Immunochemical Analysis of the Glucocorticoid Receptor: Identification of a Third Domain Seperate from the Steroid-binding and DNA-binding Domains. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **79**, 4260-4265.

Cao Z., Umek R.M. and McKnight S.L. (1991) Regulated Expression of Three C/EBP Isoforms during Adipose Conversion of 3T3-L1 Cells. *Genes and Dev.* 5, 1538-1552.

Cardinauk J.R. and Magistretti P.J. (1996) Vasoactive-intestinal -peptide, Pituitary adenylate cylase-activating Peptide and Noradrenaline Induce the Trancription Factors CAAT Enhancer-binding Protien (C/EBP)-beta and C/EBP-delta in Mouse Cortical Astrocytes. J. *Neuroscience* **16**, 919-929.

Carmont M., Tonti J.-F., Van Oberghen E. and Le Marchand-Brustel Y. (1994) Expressiom of Guanine-nucleotide-binding Proteins in Lean and Obese Insulin-resistant Mice. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* **99**, 169-176.

Carrol M.P. and May W.S. (1994) Protein Kinase C-mediated Serine Phosphorylation Activates Raf-1 in Murine Hematopoietic Cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* **269**; 1249-1256.

Carson-Jurican M.A., Schrader W.T. and O'Mally B.W. (1990) Steroid Receptor Family Structure and Function. *Endocrine Rev.* **11**, 201-220.

Cassel D. and Selinger Z. (1977) Mechanism of Adenylate Cyclase Activation by Cholera Toxin: Inhibition of GTP-hydrolysis at the Regulatory Site. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **74**, 3307-3310.

Cassillas A.M., Amoral K., Chengini-Farahani S. and Nel A.E. (1993) Okadaic Acid Activates p42 Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase (MAP Kinase; ERK2) in B Lymphocytes but Inhibits Rather than Augments Cellular Proliferation: Contrast with Phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate. *Biochem. J.* **290**, 545-550.

Cerionne R.A, Kroll S., Rajoram R., Unson C., Goldsmith P. and Spiegel A.M. (1988) An Antibody Directed Against the Carboxyl-terminal Decapeptide of the  $\alpha$ -Subunit of the Retinal GTP-binding Protein, Transducin. J. Biol. Chem. **263**, 9345-9352.

Chandler C.E., Parsons L.M., Hosang M., Shooter E.M. (1984) A Monoclonalantibody Modulates the Interaction of Nerve Growth-factor with PC12 Cells. J. Biol. Chem. **259**, 6882-6889

Chang F.-H. and Bourne H.R. (1989) Cholera Toxin Induces a cAMP-independent Degredation of G<sub>s</sub>. J. Biol. Chem. **264**, 532-5357.

Chang M.-Y., Cha H., Zounes M.A., Freir S.M., Lima W.F. and Bennet C.F. (1991) Antisense Oligonucleotides Inhibit Intracellular Adhesion Molecule I Expression by Two Distinct Mechanisms. J. Biol. Chem. **266**, 18162-18171. Chapman A.B., Knight D.M., Dieckman B.S. and Ringold G.M. (1984) Analysis of Gene Expression During Differentiation of Adipogenic Cells in Culture and Hormonal Control of the Developmental Program. J. Biol. Chem. **259**, 15548-15555.

Charles C.H., Sun H., Lau L.F. and Tonks N.K. (1993) The Growth Factor-inducible Immediate Early Gene 3CH134 Encodes a Protein-tyrosine Phosphatase. *Nature* **359**, 644-646.

Chaudry A. and Granneman J.G. (1992) Subcellular Distribution of Adenylyl Cyclase and  $G_{s\alpha}$  in Rat Brown Adipose Tissue. *Metabolism* **40**, 432-437.

Chawla A. and Lasar M.A. (1994) Peroxisome Proliferator and Retinoid Signalling Pathways Co-regulate Preadipocyte Phenotype and Survival. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **91**, 1786-1790.

Chawla A., Schwarz E.J., Dimaculagan D.D. and Lazar M.A. (1994) Peroxisome Proliferator-activated Receptor (PPAR)  $\gamma$ : Adipose-predominant Expression and Induction Early in Adipocyte Differentiation. *Endocrinology* **135**, 798-800.

Chen J.F., Guo J.H., Moxham C.M., Wang H.Y. and Malbon C.C. (1997) Conditional, Tissue-specific expression of Q205L G(alpha i2) *In Vivo* Mimics Insulin Action. J. Mol. Med. **75**, 283-289.

Chen J. and Iyengar R. (1994) Suppression of Ras-induced Transformation of NIH 3T3 Cells by Activated  $G_{sa}$ . Science 263, 1278-1281.

Chen J., Martin B.L. and Brautigan D.L. (1992) Regulation of Protein Serine-Threonine Phosphatase Type-2A by Tyrosine Phosphorylation. *Science* 257, 1261-1264.

Chen J., Parsons S. and Brautigan D.L. (1994) Tyrosine Phosphorylation of Protein Phosphatase 2A in Response to Growth Stimulation and *v-src* Transformation of Fibroblasts. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 7957-7962.

Cheng H.C., Kemp B.E., Pearson R.B., Smith A.J., Misconi L., Van Patten S.M. and Walsh D.A. (1986) A potent synthetic peptide inhibitor of the cAMP-dependent protein kinase. *J. Biol. Chem.* **261**, 989-992.

Chijiwa T., Mishima A., Hagiwara M., Sano M., Hayashi K., Inove T., Naito K., Toshioka T. and Hidaka H. (1990) Inhibition of Forskolin-induced Neurite Outgrowth and Protein Phosphorylation by a Newly Synthesised Selective Inhibitor of Cyclic AMP-dependent Protein Kinase, *N*-[2-(*p*-Bromocinnamylamino)ethyl]-5-isoquinolinesulfonamide (H-89), of PC12D Pheochromocytoma Cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* **265**, 5267-5272.

Chin Y.E., Kitagawa M., Su S.W-C., You Z-H., Iwamoto Y. and Fu X.-Y.(1996) Cell Growth Arrest and Induction of Cyclin Dependent Kinase Inhibitor p21<sup>WAF1/CIP1</sup> Mediated by STAT1. *Science* 272, 719-722.

Choy L.N., Rosen B.S. and Spiegelman B.M. (1992) Adipsin and an Endogenous Pathway from Adipose Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 262, 12736-12741.

Chung J., Kuo C.J., Crabtree G.R. and Blenis J. (1992) Rapamycin-FKBP Specifically Blocks Growth-depedent Activation of a Signal by the 70KDa S6 Protein Kinases. *Cell* **69**, 1227-1236.

Christy R.J., Kaestner K.H., Geiman D.E. and Lane M.D. (1991) CCAAT/Enhancer Binding Protein Gene Promoter: Binding of Nuclear Factors During Differentiation of 3T3-L1 Preadipocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **88**, 2593-2597.

Christy R.J., Yang V.W., Ntambi J.M., Geiman P.E., Lanshulz W.H., Friedman A.D., Nakabeppu Y., Kelly T.J. and Lane M.D. (1989) Differentiation-induced Gene Expression in 3T3-L1 Preadipocytes: CCAAT/Enhancer Binding Protein Interacts with and Activates the Promoters of Two Adipocyte Specific Genes. *Genes and Dev.* **3**, 1323-1335.

Clapham D.E. and Neer E.J. (1993) New Roles For G-protein  $\beta\gamma$ -dimers in Transmembrane Signaling. *Nature* **365**, 403-406.

Clarkson R.W.E., Chen C.M., Harrison S., Wells C., Muscat G.E.O. and Waters M.J. (1995) Early Response of *Trans*-Activating Factors to Growth Hormone in Preadipocytes: Differential Regulation of CCAAT Enhancer-binding Protein  $\beta$  (C/EBP  $\beta$ ) and C/EBP  $\delta$ . *Mol. Endo.* 9, 108-120.

Clemens M.J., Trayner I. and Menaya J. (1992) The Role of Protein Kinase C Isoenzymes in the Regulation of Cell Proliferation and Differentiation. *J. Cell. Science* **103**, 881-887.

Cohen P. (1989) The Structure and Regulation of Protein Phosphatases. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 58, 453-508.

Coleman R.A., Reed B.C, MacKall J.C., Student A.K., Lane M.D. and Bell R.M. (1978) Selective Changes in Microsomal Enzymes of Triacylglycerol, Phosphatidylcholine and Phosphatidylethanolamine Biosynthesis During Differentiation of 3T3-L1 Preadipocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 253, 7256-7261.

Cook K.S., Hunt C.R. and Spigelman B.M. (1985) Developmentally Regulated mRNAs in 3T3-adipocytes: Analysis of Transcritional Control. J. Cell. Biol. 100, 514-520.

Cook J.R. and Kozak L.P. (1982) *sn*-Glycerol-3-phosphate Dehydrogenase Gene Expression During Mouse Development *In Vivo. Dev. Biol.* **92**, 440-448.

Cook J.S., Lucas J.J., Sibley E., Bolanowski M.A., Christy R.J., Kelly T.J. and Lane M.D. (1988) Expression of the Differentiation Induced Gene for Fatty-acid Binding Protein is Activated by Glucocorticoid and Cyclic AMP. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **85**,2949-2953.

Cook S.J. and McCormick F. (1993) Inhibition by cAMP of Ras-dependent Activation of Raf. *Science* **262**, 1069-1072.

Cook S.J., Rubinfield B., Albert I. and McCormick F. (1993) RapV12 Antagonises Ras-dependent Activation of ERK1 and ERK2 by LPA and EGF in Rat-1 Fibroblasts. *EMBO J.* **12**, 3475-3485.

Corin R.E., Guller S., Wu K-Y. and Sonenberg M. (1990) Growth Hormone and Adipose Differentiation: Growth Hormone Induced Anti-mitogenic State in 3T3-F442A Preadipose Cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 87, 7507-7511.

Cornelius P. MacDougald O.A. and Lane M.D. (1994) Regulation of Adipocyte Differentiation. *Annu. Rev. Nutr.* 14, 99-129.

Cousin B., Casteilla L., Lafontan M., Ambid L., Langin D., Berhault M.F. and Pénicaud L. (1993) Local Sympathetic Denervation of White Adipose Tissue in Rats Induces Preadipocyte Proliferation Without Noticable Changes in Metabolism. *Endocrinology* **133**, 2255-2262.

Cowley S., Paterson H., Kemp P. and Marshall C.J. (1994) Activation of MAP Kinase Kinase is Necessary and Sufficient for PC12 Differentiation and for Transformation of NIH 3T3 Cells. *Cell* **77**, 841-852.

Crespo P., Cachero T.G., Xu N. and Gutkind A. (1995) Dual Effect of  $\beta$ -adrenergic Receptors on Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase. Evidence for a  $\beta\gamma$ -dependent Activation and a  $G_{s\alpha}$ -cAMP Mediated Inhibition. *J.Biol.Chem.* **270**, 25259-25265.

Crespo P. Xu N., Simonds W.F. and Gutkind J.S. (1994) Ras-dependent Activation of MAP kinase Pathway Mediated by  $G_{BY}$  Activation of p21<sup>ras</sup>. *Nature* **369**, 418-420.

Crompton T., Gilmour K.C. and Owen M.J. (1996) The MAP Kinase Pathway Controls Differentiation from Double-Negative to Double-Positive Thymocyte. *Cell* 86, 243-251.

Cummings D.E., Brandon E.P., Planas J.V., Motamed K., Idzerda R.C. and McKnight G.S. (1996) Genetically Lean Mice Result from Targetted Disruption of the RIIß Subunit of Protein Kinase A. *Nature* **382**, 622-626.

Czech P.M., Malbon C.C., Kerman K., Gitomer W. and Pilch F.B. (1980) Effect of Thyroid Status on Insulin Action in Rat Adipocytes and Skeletal Muscle. *J. Clin. Invest.* **65**, 574-582.

Dani C., Doglio A., Grimaldi P. and Ailhaud G. (1986) Expression of the Phosphoenolpyruvate Carboxykinase Gene and its Insulin Regulation during Differentiation of Preadipocyte Cell Lines. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **138**, 468-475.

Darimont C., Vassaux G., Gaillard D., Ailhaud G. and Négrel R. (1994) *In Situ* Microdialysis of Prostaglandins in Adipose Tissue: Stimulation of Prostacyclin Release by Angiotensin II. *Int. J. Obes.* **18**, 783-788.

Darimont C., Vassaux G., Ailhaud G. and Négrel R. (1994) Differentiation of Preadipose Cells: Paracrine Role of Prostacyclin upon Stimulation of Adipose Cells by Angiotensin-II. *Endocrinology* **135**, 2030-2036.

Davis R.J. (1993) The Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Signal Transduction Pathway. *J. Biol. Chem.* **268**, 14553-14556.

DeHerreros A.G. and Birnbaum M.J. (1989) The Acquisition of Increased Insulin Reponsive Hexose Transport in 3T3-L1 Adipocytes Correlates with Expression of a Novel Transporter Gene. J. Biol. Chem. 264, 19994-19999.

Dent P., Haser W., Haystead T.A.J., Vincent L.A., Roberts T.M. and Sturgill T.W. (1992) Activation of Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase by v-Raf in NIH 3T3 Cells and *in Vitro. Science* **257**, 1404-1407.

Dent P., Jelinek T., Morrison D.K., Weber M.J. and Sturgill T.W. (1995) Reversal of Raf-1 Activation by Purified and Membrane-associated Protein Phosphatases. *Science* **268**, 1902-1906.

Deslex S.A., Négrel R. and Ailhaud G. (1987) Development of a Chemically Defined Serum-free Medium for Differentiation of Rat Adipose Precursor Cells. *Exp. Cell Res.* **168**, 15-30.

De Vivo M. and Iyengar R. (1994) Activated Gq-alpha Potentiates Platelet-derived Growth Factor-stimulated Mitogenesis in Confluent Cell Cultures. J. Biol. Chem. **269**, 19671-19674.

De Vos P., Saladin R., Avurex J. and Staels B. (1995) Induction of *ob* Gene Expression by Corticosteroids is Accompanied by Body Weight Loss and Reduced Food Intake. *J. Biol. Chem.* **270**, 15958-15961.

DiFrancesco D. and Tortora P. (1991) Direct Activation of Cardiac Pacemaker Channels by Intracellular Cyclic AMP. *Nature* **351**, 145-147.

Distal R.J., Robinson G.S. and Spiegalman B.M. (1992) Fatty Acid Regulation of Gene Expression. J. Biol. Chem. 267, 5937-5941.

Djian P., Roncari D.A.K. and Hollenberg C.H. (1983) Influence of Anatomic Site and Age on the Replication and Differentiation of Rat Adipocytes. J. Clin. Invest. 72, 1200-1208.

Dobson D.E., Groves D.L. and Spiegellman B.M. (1987) Nucleotide Sequence and Hormonal Reguation of Mouse Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase mRNA During Adipocyte and Muscle Cell Differentiation. J. Biol. Chem. 262, 1804-1809.

Doglio A., Dani C., Grimaldi P. and Ailhaud G. (1989) Growth Hormone Stimulates *c-fos* Gene Expression by Means of Protein Kinase C Without Increasing Inositol Lipid Turnover. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **86**, 1148-1152.

Doglio A., Dani C., Fredrikson G., Grimaldi P. and Ailhaud G. (1987) Acute Regulation of Insulin-like Growth Factor-I by Growth Hormone During Adipose Cell Differentiation. *EMBO J.* **6**, 4011-4016.

Doglio A., Dani C., Grimaldi P. (1986) Growth Hormone Regulation of the Expression of Differentiation-dependent Genes in Preadipocyte Ob1771 Cells. *Biochem. J.* 238, 123-129.

Doris R., Vernon R.G., Houslay M.D. and Kilgour E. (1994) Growth Hormone Decreases the Response to Anti-lipolytic Agonists and Decreases the Levels of  $G_{i2}$  in Rat Adipocytes. *Biochem J.* **297**, 41-45.

Dostman W.R.G. (1995) (*Rp*)-cAMPS Inhibits the cAMP Dependent Protein Kinase by Blocking the cAMP-induced Conformational Transition. *FEBS Letts.* 375, 231-234.

Dumont J.E., Jaumiaux J-C. and Roger P.P. (1989) The cyclic AMP-mediated Stimulation of Cell Proliferation. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 14, 67-71.

Dynan W.S. and Tjian R. (1985) Control of Eukaryotic Messenger RNA Synthesis by Sequnce-specific DNA-binding Proteins. *Nature* **316**, 774-778.

El Hadri K., Pairault J. and Fève B. (1996) Triiodothyronine Regulates  $\beta$ 3-adrenoceptor Expression in 3T3-F442A Differentiating Adipocytes. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **239**, 519-525.

Elks M.L. and Manganiello V.C. (1985) Role of Soluble cAMP Phosphodiesterase in Differentiation of 3T3-L1 Adipocytes. J. Cell. Physiol. **124**, 191-198.

Englaro W., Rezzonico R., Durand-Clément M., Lallemand D., Ortonne J-P. and Ballotti R. (1995) Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Pathway and AP-1 are Activated During cAMP-induced Melanogenesis in B16 Melanoma Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 24315-24320.

Erhardt P., Troppmair J., Rapp U.R. and Cooper G.M. (1995) Differential Regulation of Raf-1 and B-Raf and Ras-dependent Activation of Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase by Cyclic AMP in PC12 Cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **15**, 5524-5530.

Evans C.A., Milligan G. and Wakelam M.J.O. (1990) Effect of Muscle Cell Differentiation Upon G-protein Levels. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 18, 481-482.

Evans C.T., Jo Corbin C., Sunders C.T., Mevill J.C., Simpson E.R. and Mendelson C.R. (1987) Regulation of Estrogen Biosynthesis in Human Adipose Stromal Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 262, 6914-6921.

Evans R.M. (1988) The Steroid and Thyroid Hormone Receptor Superfamily. *Science* 240, 889-895.

Fain J.N., Kovacev V.P. and Scow R.O. (1985) Effects of Growth Hormone and Dexamethasone on Lipolysis and Metabolism in Isolated Fat Cells of the Rat. J. Biol. Chem. 240, 3522-3529.

Faure M., Voyno-Yasenetskaya T.A. and Bourne H.R. (1994) cAMP and  $\beta\gamma$ -subunits of Heterotrimeric G-proteins Stimulate the Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Pathway in COS-7 Cells. J. Biol. Chem. **269**, 7851-7854.

Faust I.M. and Miller Jr. W.H. (1983) Hyperplastic Growth of Adipose Tissue in Obesity. In *The Adipocyte and Obesity: Cellular and Molecular Mechanisms*. Angel A., Hollenberg C.H., Roncari D.A.K (eds), **41-55**. New York:: Raven.

Feller D.D. (1954) Metabolism of Adipose Tissue. I Incorporation of Acetate Carbon into Lipids by Slices of Adipose Tissue. J. Biol. Chem. 206, 171-180.

Fève B., Emorine L.J., Lasnier F., Blin N., Baude B., Nahmias C., Strosberg A.D. and Pairault J. (1991) Atypical  $\beta$ -adrenergic Receptor in 3T3-F442A Adipocytes. Pharmacological and Molecular Relationship with the Human  $\beta_3$ -adrenergic Receptor. J. Biol. Chem. **266**, 20329-20336.

Fève B., Emorine L.J., Briend-Sutren M.-M, Lasnier F., Strosberg A.D. and Pairault J. (1990) Differential Regulation of  $\beta_1$ - and  $\beta_3$ -adrenergic Receptor Protein and mRNA Levels by Glucocorticoids During 3T3-F442A Adipose Differentiation. J. Biol. Chem., 16343-16349.

Flint D.J. and Gardner M.J. (1993) Influence of Growth Hormone Deficiency on Growth and Body Composition in Rats: Site-specific Effects Upon Adipose Development. J. Endocrinol. **137**, 203-211.

Flores-Delgado G., Marsch-Moreno M. and Kuri-Harcuch W. (1987) Thyroid Hormone Stimulates Adipocyte Differentiation of 3T3 Cells. *Mol. Cell. Biochem.* **76**, 35-43.

Flores-Riveros J.R., Kaestrer K.H., Thompson K.S. and Lane M.D. (1993) Cyclic AMP-induced Trangcriptional Repression of the Insulin-responsive Glucose Transporter (GLUT 4) Gene. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **194**, 1148-1154.

Fraker P.J. and Speck Jr. J.C. (1978) Protein and Cell Membrane Iodinations with a Sparingly Soluble Chloroamide 1,3,4,6-tetrachloro-3a, 6a-diphenylglycolouril. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **80**, 849-857.

Franke T.F, Yong S-I, Chan T.O., Datta K., Kazalauskas A., Morrison D.K., Kaplan D.R. and Tsichilis P.N. (1995) The Protein Kinase Encoded by the *Akt* Proto-Oncogene is a Target of the PDGF-activated Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. *Cell* **81**, 727-736.

Frederich R.C. Jr, Kahn B.B., Peach M.J. and Flier J.S.(1991) Tissue-specific Nutritional Regulation of Angiotensinogen in Adipose Tissue. *Hypertension* **19**, 339-344.

Freidrich R.C., Hamman A., Anderson S., Lollmann B., Lowell B.B. and Flier J.S. (1995) Expression of *ob* mRNA and its Encoded Protein in Rodents. *J. Clin. Invest.* **96**, 1658-1663.

Freytag S. and Geddes T. (1992) Reciprocal Regulation of Adipogenesis by Myc and C/EBPα. *Science* **256**, 379-382.

Freytag S., Paielli D.L. and Gilbert J.D. (1994) Ectopic Expression of the CCAAT/Enhancer-binding Protein  $\alpha$  Promotes the Adipogenic Program in a Variety of Mouse Fibroblastic Cells. *Genes and Dev.* **8**, 1654-1663.

Friedman J.M. and Leibel R.L. (1992) Tackling a Weighty Problem. Cell 69, 217-220.

Frödin M., Peraldi P. and Van Obberghen E. (1994) Cyclic AMP Activates the Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Cascade in PC12 Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 6207-6214.

Gaiddan C., Boutillier A.-L., Monnier D., Meraken L. and Loeffler J.-P. (1994) Genomic Effects of the Putative Oncogene  $G_{\alpha s}$ . Chronic Transcriptional Activation of the c-fos Proto-oncogene in Endocrine Cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* **269**, 22663-22671.

Gaillard D., Négrel R., Lagarde M. and Ailhaud G. (1989) Requirement and Role of Arachidonic Acid in the Differentiation of Preadipose Cells. *Biochem. J.* **257**, 389-394.

Gamou S. and Shimizu N. (1986) Adipocyte Differentiation of 3T3-L1 Cells in Serumfree Hormone-supplemented Media: Effects of Insulin and Dihydroteleocidin B. *Cell Struct. Funct.* **11**, 21-30.

Gao P. and Malbon C.C. (1996) Differentiation of F9 Teratocarcinoma Stem-cells to Primitive Endoderm is Regulated by the G(i-alpha-2)/G(s-alpha) Axis via Phospholipase C and not Adenylylcyclase. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 30692-30698.

Gao P. and Malbon C.C. (1996) Morphogen-induced Decline in G(i-alpha-2) Triggers F9 Teratocarcinoma Stem-cell Progression via Phospholipase-C and Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase. J. Biol. Chem. **272**, 9002-9008.

Gearing K.A., Crickmore A. and Gustufsson J. (1994) Structure of the Mouse Peroxisome Proliferator Activated Gene. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **99**, 255-263.

Géleon A., Collet A.J., Guay G. and Bukowiecki L.J. (1989) Insulin Stimulates *In Vivo* Cell Proliferation in White Adipose Tissue. *Am. J. Physiol.* 256, C190-C196.
Géleon A., Roy P.E. and Bukowechi L.J. (1989) Regression of White Adipose Tissu in Diabetic Rats. Am. J. Physiol. 257, E547-E553.

Gettys T.W., Harkness P.J. and Watson P.M. (1996) The  $\beta_3$ -adrenergic Receptor Inhibits Insulin-stimulated Leptin Secretion from Isolated Rat Adipocytes. *Endocrinology* **137**, 4054-4057.

Gettys T.W., Ramkumar V., Surwit R.S. and Taylor T. (1995) Tissue-specific Alterations in G protein Expression in Genetic Versus Diet-induced Models of Non-insulin-dependent Diabetes Mellitus in the Mouse. *Metabolism* 44, 771-778.

Giershik P., Marrow B., Milligan G., Rubin C. and Spiegel A. (1986) Changes in the Guanine Nucleotide-binding Proteins, Gi and Go, During the Differentiation of 3T3-L1 Cells. *FEBS Lett.* **199**, 103-108.

Giguere V., Ong E.S., Segui P. and Evans R.M. (1987) Identification of a Receptor for the Morphagen Retinoic Acid. *Nature* **330**, 624-629.

Gill D.M. and Meren R. (1978) ADP-ribosylation of Membrane Proteins Catalyzed by Cholera Toxin: Basis of the Activation of Adenylate Cyclase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **75**, 3050-3054.

Gilman A.G. (1987) G-proteins: Transducers of Receptor-generated Signals. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 56, 615-649.

Ginty D.D., Bonni A. and Greenberg M.E. (1994) Nerve Growth-factor Activates a Ras-dependent Protein-kinase that Stimulates c-Fos Transcription Phosphorylation of CREB. *Cell*, **77**, 713-725.

Gjertsen B.T., Mellgren G., Otten A., Morande E., Gensieser H-G., Jastorff B., Vintemyr O.K., McKnight G.S. and Døskeland S.O. (1995) Novel (*Rp*)-cAMPS Analogues as Tools for Inhibition of cAMP-kinase in Cell Culture. *J. Biol. Chem.* **270**, 20599-20607.

Goldsmith P., Backlund Jr P.S., Rossiter K., Carter A., Milligan G., Unson C.G. and Spiegel A. (1988) Antibodies Directed Against Synthetic Peptides Distinguish Between GTP-binding Proteins in Neutrophils and Brain. *Biochemistry* **27**, 7085-7090.

Goldsmith P., Giershick P., Milligan G., Unson C., Vinitsky R., Malech H.L. and Spiegel A.M. (1987) Antibodies Directed Against Synthetic Peptides Distinguish Between GTP-binding Proteins in Neutrophil and Brain. J. Biol. Chem. **262**, 1-6.

Gomez N. and Cohen P. (1991) Dissection of the Protien Kinase Cascade by which Nerve Growth Factor Activates MAP Kinase. *Nature* **353**, 170-173.

Gonzalez G.A. and Montminy M.R. (1989) Cyclic AMP Stimulates Somatostatin Gene-transcription by Phosphorylation of CREB at Serine-133. *Cell* **59**, 675-680.

Goodman H.M., Schwartz Y. and Garin E. (1990) Actions of Growth Hormone on Adipose Tissue: Possible Involvement of Autocrine or Paracrine Factors. *Acta Paediatr Scand* [*Suppl*] **367**, 132-136.

Goodwin G.H., Partington G.A. and Perkins N.A. (1990) Sequence Specific DNA Binding Proteins Involved in Gene Transcription. In *Chromosomes: Eukaryotic, Prokaryotic and Viral* (Adolf K.W. ed) 31-85. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press. Gordeladze J.O., Høvik K.E., Merendino J.J., Hermouet S., Gutkind S. and Accili D. (1997) Effect of Activating and Inactivating Mutations of  $G_s$ - and  $G_{i2}$ -alpha Protein Subunits on Growth and Differentiation of 3T3-L1 Preadipocytes. *J. Cell. Biochem.* 64, 242-257.

Graves L.M. and Lawrence Jr J.C. (1996) Insulin, Growth Factors and cAMP. Antagonism in the Signal Transduction Pathways. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 7, 43-50.

Graves R.A., Tontonez P. and Spiegelman B.M. (1992) Analysis of a Tissue-specific Enhancer. ARF6 Regulates Adipogenic Gene Expression. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **12**, 1202-1208.

Green S. and Chanbon P. (1988) Nuclear Receptors Enhance Our Understanding of Transcription Regulation. *Trends Genet.* **4**, 309-315.

Green H. and Kehinde O. (1976) Spontaneous Heritable Changes Leading to Increased Adipose Conversion in 3T3 Cells. *Cell* **7**, 105-113.

Green H. and Kehinde O. (1979) Formation of Normally Differentiated Subcutaneous Fat Pads by an Established Preadipocyte Cell Line. J. Cell. Physiol. 101, 169-172.

Green H. and Meuth M. (1974) An established Pre-adipose Cell Line and its Differentiation in Culture. *Cell*, **3**, 127-133.

Green H., Morikawa M. and Nixon T. (1985) A Dual Effector Theory of Growth Hormone Action. *Differentiation* **29**, 195-198.

Greenwood M.R.C. and Hirsch J. (1974) Postnatal Development of Adipocyte Cellularity in the Neonatal Rat. J. Lipid Res. 15, 474-483.

Grimaldi P., Djian P., Negrel R. and Ailhaud G. (1982) Differentiation of Ob17 Preadipocytes to Adipocytes- Requirement of Adipose Conversion Factors for Fat Cell Cluster Formation. *EMBO J.* **6**, 687-692.

Grimaldi P., Czerucka D., Rassoulzadegan M., Luzin F. and Ailhaud G. (1984) Ob17 Cells Transformed by the MIddle-T-only Antigen of Polyoma Virus Differentiate *InVitro* and *In Vivo* into Adipose Cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **81**, 5440-5444.

Gronowski A.M. and Rotwein P. (1994) Rapid Changes in Nuclear Protein Tyrosine Phosphorylation after Growth Hormone Treatment In Vivo. Identification of Phosphorylated Mitogen Activated Protein Kinase and Stat 91. J. Biol. Chem 269, 7874-7878.

Gronowski A.M., Zhong Z., Wen Z., Thomas M.J., Darnell Jr E.J. and Rotwein P. (1995) Nuclear Actions of Growth Hormone: Rapid Tyrosine Phosphorylation and Activation of Stat 1 and Stat 3 after In Vivo Growth Hormone Treatment. *Mol. Endocrinol.* 9, 171-177.

Guest S.J., Hadcock J.R., Watkins D.C. and Malbon C.C. (1990)  $\beta$ 1- and  $\beta$ 2adrenergic Receptor Expression in Differentiating 3T3-L1 Cells. Independent Regulation at the Level of mRNA. *J. Biol. Chem.* **265**, 5370-5375.

Guller S., Corin R.E., Myarnick D.C., London B.M. and Sonnenberg M. (1988) Role of Insulin in Growth Hormone Stimulated 3T3 Cell Adipogenesis. *Endocrinology* **122**, 2084-2089.

Gupta S.K., Gallego C., Laundes J.M., Pleiman C.M., Sable C., Eisfelder B.J. and Johnson G.L. (1992) Analysis of the Fibroblast Transformation potential of GTPase-deficient gip2 Oncogenes. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **12**, 190-197.

Gurland G., Ashcom G., Cochran B.H. and Schwartz J. (1990) Rapid Events in Growth Hormone Action. Induction of *c-fos* and *c-jun* Transcription in 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes. *Endocrinology* **127**, 3187-3195.

Haccard O., Sarcevic B., Lewellyn A., Hartley R., Roy L., Izumi T., Erikson E. and Maller J.C. (1993) Induction of Metaphase Arrest in Cleaving *Xenopus* Embryos by MAP Kinase. *Science* **262**, 1262-1265.

Hadri K.E., Fève B. and Pairault J. (1996) Developmental Expression and Functional Activity of  $\beta_1$ - and  $\beta_3$ -adrenoceptors in Murine 3T3-F442A Differentiating Adipocytes. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **297**, 107-119.

Hagiwara M., Brindle P., Harootunian A., Armstrong R., Rivier J., Vale W., Tsien R. and Montiminy M.R. (1993) Coupling of Hormonal Stimulation and Transcription *via* the Cyclic AMP-responsive Factor CREB is Rate Limited by Nuclear Entry of Proteinkinase A. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **13**, 4852-4858.

Hallas J.C., Gajiwala K.S., Maffei M., Cohen S.L., Lallac R.L., Burley S.K. and Friedman J.M. (1995) Weight-reducing Effects of the Plasma Protein Encoded by the *Obese* Gene. *Science* **269**, 543-546.

Han J., Lee J.D., Tobias P.S. and Ulevitch R.J. (1993) Endotoxin Induces Rapid Tyrosine Phosphorylation in 70Z/3 Cells Expressing CD14. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 25009-25014.

Han Y., Leaman D.W., Watling D., Rogers N.C., Groner B., Ker I.M., Wood W.I. and Stork G.R. (1996) Participation of JAK and STAT Proteins in Growth Hormone-induced Signaling. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 5947-5952.

Haraguchi K. and Rodbell M. (1990) Isoproterenol Stimulates Shift of G-proteins from Plasma Membrane to Pinocytotic Vesicles in Rat Adipocytes: a Possible Means of Signal Dissemination. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **87**, 1208-1212.

Hardwiger J.A. and Firtel R.A. (1992) Analysis of  $G_{\alpha 4}$ , a G-protein Subunit Required for Multicellular Development in *Dictostelium. Genes and Dev.* **6**, 38-49.

Harris B.A. (1988) Complete cDNA Sequence of a Human Stimulatory GTP-binding Protein Alpha Subunit. *Nucleic Acid Res.* **16**, 3585-3590.

Hauner H. (1990) Complete Adipose Differentiation of 3T3-L1 Cells in a Chemically Defined Medium: Comparison to Serum Containing Culture Conditions. *Endocrinology* **127**, 865-875.

Hauner H. and Entenmann G. (1991) Regional Variation of Adipose Differentiation in Cultured Stromal-vascular Cells from the Abdominal and Femoral Adipose Tissue of Obese Women. *Int. J. Obes.* **15**, 121-126.

Hauner H., ENtenman G., Wabitsch M., Gaillard D., Ailhaud G., Negrél R. and Pfieffer E.F. (1989) Promoting Effect of Glucocorticoids on the Differentiation of Human Adipocyte Precursor Cells Cultured in a Chemically Defined Medium. *J. Clin. Invest.* **84**, 1663-1670.

Hauner H. and Löffler G. (1986) Adipogenic Factors in Human Serum Promote the Adipose Conversion of 3T3-L1 Fibroblasts. *Int. J. Obes.* **10**, 323-330.

Hausberger F.X., Milstein S.W. and Rutman R.J. (1954) The Influence of Insulin on Glucose Utilization in Adipose and Hepatic Tissues *In Vitro*. J. Biol. Chem. 208, 431-438.

Hausdorf S., Clement J. and Loos V. (1988) Expression of S14 Gene during Differentiation of 3T3-L1 Cells. *Horm. Metab. Res.* 20, 723-727.

Hausman G.J. (1989) The Influence of Insulin, Triiodothyronine and Insulin-like Growth Factor-I on the Differentiation of Preadipocytes in Serum-free Cultures of Pig Stromal-vascular Cells. J. Anim. Sci. 67, 3136-3143.

Hausman G.J. and Martin R.J. (1989) The Influence of Human Growth Hormone on Preadipocyte Development in Serum-supplemented and Serum-free Cultures of Stromal-vascular Cells from Pig Adipose Tissue. Dornest Anim. Endocrinol. 6, 331-337.

Haystead T.A.J., Weiel J.E., Litchfield D.W., Tsukitoni Y., Fischer E.H. and Krebs E.G. (1990) Okadaic Acid Mimics the Action of Insulin in Stimulating Protein Kinase Activity in Isolated Adipocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **265**, 16571-16580.

Heldin N.E., Paulsson Y., Forsberg K., Heldin C.-H. and Westermark B. (1989) Induction of Cyclic AMP Synthesis by Forskolin is Followed by a Reduction in the Expression of c-myc Messenger RNA and Inhibition of <sup>3</sup>H-Thymidine Incorporation in Human Fibroblasts. J. Cell. Physiol. **138**, 17-23.

Helper J.R. and Gilman A.G. (1992) G-proteins. Trends Biochem. Sci. 17, 383-387.

Her J.H., Wu J., Rall T.B., Sturgill T.W. and Weber M.J. (1991) Sequence of pp42/MAP Kinase, a Serine/Threonine Kinase Regulated by Tyrosine Phosphorylation. *Nucleic Acid Res.* **13**, 3743.

Hermouet S., Merendino J.J. and Spiegl A.M. (1991) Activating and Inactivating Mutations of the  $\alpha$ -subunit of G<sub>12</sub> Protein Have Opposite Effects on Proliferation of NIH 3T3 Cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **88**, 10455-10459.

Hill C.S. and Treisman R. (1995) Transcriptional Regulation of Extracellular Signals-Mechanisms and Specificity. *Cell* 80, 199-211.

Hinsch K.D., Tychowiecka D.I., Gausepohl H., Frank R., Rosenthal W., Spicher K., Binder T., Gauspohl H., Frank R., Schultz G. and Joost H.G. (1988) Adipocyte Plasma Membranes Contain Two G<sub>i</sub> Subtypes but Are Devoid of G<sub>o</sub> *FEBS Lett.* **238**, 191-196.

Hiragun A. (1985) In *New Perspectives in Adipose Tissue* (Cryer A. and Van R.L.R. Eds), 333-352, Butterworth and Co.

Hoffman L.M., Brooks S.E., Stein M.R. and Schneck L. (1994) Cyclic AMP Causes Differentiation and Decreases the Expression of Neutral Glycoshingolipids in Cell Cultures Derived from a Malignant Glioma. *Biochemicia et Biophysica Acta* **1222**, 37-44.

Holtzman E.J., Kinane T.B., West K., Soper B.W., Karga H., Ausiello D.A. and Ercolani L. (1993) Transcriptional Regulation of G-protein  $\alpha_i$  LLC-PK1 Renal Cells and Characterization of the Porcine  $G_{i\alpha\beta}$  Gene Promoter. *J. Biol. Chem.* **268**, 3964-3975.

Honner R.C., Dhillon G.S. and Landos C. (1985a) cAMP-dependent Protein Kinase and Lipolysis in Rat Adipocytes. I Cell Preparation, Manipulation and Predictability in Behaviour. J. Biol. Chem 260, 15122-15128.

Honner R.C., Dhillon G.S. and Landos C. (1985b) cAMP-dependent Protein Kinase and Lipolysis in Rat Adipocytes. II Definition of Steady-state Relationship with Lipolytic and Antilipolytic Modulators. J. Biol. Chem. 260, 15130-15138.

Hordjik P.L., Verlaan I., Jalinek K., Van Corven E.J. and Moolenaar W.H. (1994) cAMP Abrogates the p21<sup>ras</sup> -mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Pathway in Fibroblasts. *J. Biol. Chem.* **269**, 3534-3538.

Hotamisligil G.S., Shargill N.S. and Spiegelman B.M. (1993) Adipose Expression of Tumour Necrosis Factor- $\alpha$ : Direct Role in Obesity-linked Insulin Resistance. *Science* **259**, 87-91.

Hu E., Kim J.B., Sarraf P. and Spiegelman B.M. (1996) Inhibition of Adipogenesis through MAP Kinase-mediated Phosphorylation of PPAR<sub>γ</sub>. *Science* **274**, 2100-2103.

Huang W., Alessandrini A., Crews C.M. and Erikson R.L. (1993) Raf-1 Forms a Stable Complex with MEK1 and Activates MEK1 by Serine Phosphorylation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **90**, 10947-10951.

Hubel D.H. (1979) The Brain. Scientific American, September, 59-68.

Hunter T. and Karin M. (1992) The Regulatrion of Transcription by Phosphorylation. *Cell* **70**, 375-387.

Huppertz C., Schürmann A. and Joost H.,-G. (1993) Abundance and Subcellular Distribution of GTP-binding Proteins in 3T3-L1 Cells Before and After Differentiation to the Insulin-sensitive Phenotype. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **215**, 611-617.

Hwang C.-S., Mandrup S., MacDougald O.A., Geiman D.E. and Lane M.D. (1996) Transcriptional Activation of the Mouse *Obese* (*Ob*) Gene by CCAAT/Enhancer Binding Protein  $\alpha$ . *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **93**, 873-877.

Hyman B.T., Stoll L.L. and Spector A.A. (1982) Prostaglandin Producation by 3T3-L1 Cells in Culture. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* **713**, 375-385.

Igarashi M., Strittmatter S.M., Vartonian T. and Fishman M.C. (1993) Mediation by G-proteins of Signals That Cause Collapse of Growth Cones. *Science* **259**, 77-79.

Isaksson O.G.P, Eden S. and Jansson J.-O. (1985) Mode of Action of Pituitry Growth Hormone on Target Cells. *Ann. Rev. Physiol* **47**, 483-511.

Issemann I. and Green S. (1990) Activation of a Member of the Steroid Hormone Receptor Superfamily by Peroxisome Proliferators. *Nature* **347**, 645-650.

Itoh H., Toyama R., Kozasa T., Tsukamoto T., Matsuoka M. and Kaziro Y. (1988) Presence of Three Distinct Molecular Species of  $G_i$  Protein  $\alpha$ -Subunit. Structure of Rat cDNAs and Human Genomic DNAs. J. Biol. Chem. **263**, 6656-6664.

Jaiswal R.K., Moodie S.A. and Wolfman A. (1994) The Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Cascade is Activated by B-Raf in Response to Nerve Growth Factor through Interaction with p21<sup>ns</sup>. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **14**, 6944-6953.

Jefferies H.B.J., Reinhard C., Kozma S.C. and Thomas G. (1994) Rapamycin Selectively Represses Tranlation of the "Polypyrimidine Tract" mRNA Family. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **91**, 4441-4445.

Joachim S. and Schwoch G. (1990) Localization of cAMP-dependent Protein Kinase Subunits Along the Secretory Pathway in Pancreatic and Parotid Acinar Cells and Accumulation of the Catalytic Subunit in Parotid Secretory Granules Following Betaadrenergic Stimulation. *Eur. J. Cell Biol.* **51**, 76-84.

Johnson G.L. and Dhanasekaran N. (1989) The G-protein Family and Their Interaction with Receptors. *Endo. Rev.* **10**, 317-331.

Johnson G.L. and Vaillancourt R. (1994) Sequential Protein Kinase Reactions Controlling Cell Growth and Differentiation. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* 6, 230-238.

Johnson P.F. and McKnight S.L. (1989) Eukaryotic Transcriptional Regulatory Proteins. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 58, 799-839.

Jones D.T., Masters S.B., Bourne H.R. and Reed R.R. (1990) Bichemical Caracterization of Three  $G_{s\alpha}$ . The Large and Small Forms of  $G_s$  and the Olfactory-specific  $G_{olf\alpha}$ . J. Biol. Chem. 265, 2671-2676.

Jones D.T. and Reed R.R. (1987) Molecular Cloning of Five GTP-binding Protein cDNA SPecies from Rat Olfactory Neuroepithelium. J. Biol. Chem. 262, 14241-14249.

Joost H.G., Habberfield A.D., Simpson I.A., Laurenza A. and Seaman K.B. (1988) Activation of Adenylate Cylcase and Inhibition of Glucose Transport in Rat Adipocytes by Forskolin Analogues. Structural Determinants for Distinct Sites of Action. *Mol. Pharmacol.* **33**, 449-453.

Kabir A.M., Kozasa T., Kaziro Y. and Nakamura S. (1993) A Muant Substituting Valine for Glycine at Position 49 of  $G_{stt}$  Induces Neuronal Differentiation of PC12 Cells without Activation of Adenylate Cyclase. *Cellular Signalling* 5, 443-452.

Kaestner K.H., Christy R.J. and Lane M.D. (1990) Mouse Insulin-responsive Glucose Transporter Gene: Characterisation of the Gene and Trans-activation by the CCAAT/Enhancer Binding Protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **87**, 251-255.

Kaestner K.H., Flores-Riveros J.S., McLenithon J.C., Janicot M. and Lane M.D. (1991) Transcriptional Repression of the Mouse Insulin-responsive Glucose Transporter (GLUT 4) Gene by Cylic AMP. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88, 81933-81938.

Kahan C., Seuwan K., Meloche S. and Pouysségur J. (1992) Coordinate Biphasic Activation of p44 Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase and S6 Kinase by Growth Factors in Hamster Fibroblasts. *J. Biol. Chem.* **267**, 13369-13375.

Kahn C.R. and Folli F. (1993) Molecular Determinants of Insulin Action. *Horm. Res.* **39**, 93-101.

Karin M., Haslinger A., Holtgreve H., Richards R.I., Krauter P., Westphal H.M. and Beato M. (1984) Characterization of DNA Sequences through which Cadmium and Glucocorticoid Hormones Induce Human Metallothionein  $II_A$  Gene. *Nature* **308**, 513-519.

Kasug M., Fugita-Yamaguchi Y., Blithe D. and Kahn C.R. (1983) Tyrosine-specific Protein Kinase Activity is Associated with the Purified Insulin Receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **80**, 2137-2141.

Katada T., Oinuma M. and Ui M. (1986) Mechanisms for Inhibition of the Catalytic Activity of Adenylate Cyclase by the Guanine Nucleotide-binding Proteins Serving as the Substrate of Islet-activating Protein, Pertussis Toxin. J. Biol. Chem. 261, 5215-5221.

Kato G.J. and Dang C.V. (1992) Function of the c-myc Oncoprotein. FASEB J. 6, 3065-3072.

Katsura I. (1993) In Search of New Mutants in Cell-signalling Systems of the Nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Genetica* **88**, 137-146.

Katzenellenbogen B.S. (1980) Dynamics of Steroid Hormone Receptor Action. Ann. Rev. Physiol. 42, 17-37.

Kawamura M., Jensen D.F., Wancewicz E.V., Joy L.L., Khoo J.C. and Steinberg D. (1981) Hormone-sensitive Lipase in Differentiated 3T3-L1 Cells and its Activation by Cyclic AMP-dependent Protein Kinase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **78**, 732-736.

Kemp B.E., Graves D.J., Benjamini E. and Krebs E.G. (1977) Role of Multiple Basic Residues in Determining the Substrate Specificity of Cyclic AMP-Dependent Protein Kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 252, 4888-4894.

Keyse S.M. and Emslie E.A. (1992) Oxidative Stress and Heat Shock Induce a Human Gene Encoding a Protein-tyrosine Phosphatase. *Nature* **359**, 644-646.

Kilgour E. and Anderson N.G. (1994) Growth Hormone Induces the Tyrosine Phosphorylation and Nuclear Accumulation of Components of the ISGF3 Transcription Factor Complex. *FEBS Letters* **343**, 205-207.

Kilgour E., Gout I. and Anderson N.G. (1996) Requirement for Phosphoinositide 3-OH Kinase in Growth Hormone Signalling to the Mitogen-activated Kinase and p70<sup>86k</sup> Pathways. *Biochem. J.* **315**, 517-522.

Kinare T.B., Shang C., Finder J.D. and Ercoloni L. (1993) cAMP Regulates G-protein  $\alpha_{i2}$  Subunit Gene Transcription in Polarized LLC-PK Cells by Induction of a CCAAT Box Nuclear Binding Factor. J. Biol. Chem. **268**, 24669-24676.

King R.G. and Delaney P.M. (1994) Confocal Microscopy in Pharmacological Research. *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* **15**, 275-279.

Kirkland J.C., Hollenberg C.H. and Gillon W.S. (1990) Age, Anatomic Site and Differentiation of Adipocyte Precurors. *Am. J. Physiol.* **258**, C206-C210.

Kirtland J. and Gurr M.I. (1979) Adipose Tissue Cellularity: a Review. The Relationship Between Cellularity and Obesity. *Int. J. Obes.* **3**, 15-55.

Klinz F.-J. and Costa T. (1990) Cholera Toxin Differentially Decreases Membrane Levels of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  Subunits of G-proteins in NG108-15 Cells. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **188**, 567-576.

Kilgour E. and Anderson N.G. (1993) Changes in the Expression of Guaninenucleotide-binding Proteins During Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Cells in a Hormonally Defined Medium. *FEBS Letters* **328**, 271-274. Koch W.J., Haves B.E., Allen L.F. and Letkowitz R.J. (1994) Direct Evidence That  $G_i$ -coupled Receptor Stimulation of Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase is Mediated by  $G_{\beta\gamma}$  Activation of p21<sup>ras</sup>. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **91**, 12706-12710.

Kolch W., Heidecher G., Kochs G., Hummel R., Vahidi H., Mischak H., Finkenzeller G., Marme D. and Rapp U.R, (1993) PKCα Activates Raf-1 by Direct Phophorylation. *Nature* **364**, 249-251.

Konieczny S.F. and Emerson C.P. (1984) 5-Azacytidine Induction of Stable Mesodermal Stem Cell Lineages from  $10T^{1/2}$  Cells: Evidence for Regulatory Genes Controlling Determination. *Cell* **38**, 791-800.

Kordula T. and Travis J. (1996) The Role of Stat and C/EBP Transcription Factors in the Synergistic Activation of Rat Serine-protease Inhibitor-3 by Interleukin-6 and Dexamethasone. *Biochem. J.* **313**, 1019-1027.

Kozma S.C. and Thomas G. (1994) p70<sup>86k</sup>/p85<sup>86k</sup>: Mechanism of Activation and Role in Mitogenesis. *Seminars in Cancer Biol.* **5**, 255-260.

Krebbs E.G. and Beavo J.A. (1979) Phosphorylation-dephosphorylation of Enzymes. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.***48**, 923-945.

Kunz J., Henriquez R., Schneider U., Deuter-Reinhard M., Morva N.R. and Hall M.N. (1993) Target of Rapamycin in Yeast, TOR2, is an Essential Phosphatidylinositol Kinase Homolog Required for G1 Progression. *Cell* **73**, 585-596.

Kurachi H., Adachi H., Ohtsuka S., Maishige K., Amemiya K., Keno Y., Shimomura I., Tokuraga Y. and Tanizawa O. (1993) Involvement of Epidermal Growth Factor in Inducing Obesity in Ovariectomized Mice. *Am. J. Physiol.* **265**, E323-E331.

Kuri-Harcuch W. and Marsch-Moreno W. (1983) DNA Synthesis and Cell Division Related to Adipose Differentiation of 3T3 Cells. J. Cell Physiol. **114**, 39-44.

Kurten R.C., Navre M., Gaddy-Kurten D., Semenkovich C.F., Ringold G.M., Chan L. and Richards J.C. (1988) Induction of Adenosine 3', 5'-Monophosphate-dependent Protein Kinase Subunits During Adipogenesis *In Vitro. Endocrinology* **123**, 2408-2418.

Kwok R.P.S., Lundblad, Chrivia J.C., Richards J.P., Bachinger H.P., Brennan R.G., Roberts S.G.E., Green M.R. and Goodman R.H. (1994) Nuclear Protein CBP is a Coactivator for the Transcription Factor CREB. *Nature* **370**, 223-226.

Kyriakis J.M., App H., Zhang X-F, Banerjee D.L., Brautigan D.L., Rapp U.R. and Avruch J. (1992) Raf-1 Activates MAP Kinase Kinase. *Nature* **358**, 417-420.

Laemmli U.K. (1970) Cleavage of Structural Proteins During the Assembly of the Head of Bacteriophage T4. *Nature* **227**, 680-685.

Lafontan M. and Berton M. (1995) Fat Cell  $\alpha_2$ -adrenoceptors: The Regulation of Fat Cell Function and Lipolysis. *Endocrine Rev.* **16**, 716-738.

Lai L.E., Rosen O.M. and Rubin C.S. (1981) Differentiation-dependent Expression of Catecholamine-stimulated Adenylate Cyclase. J. Biol. Chem. **256**, 12866-12874.

Lai E., Rosen O.M. and Rubin C.S. (1982) Dexamethasone Regulates the ß-adrenergic Receptor Subtype Expressed by 3T3-L1 Preadipocytes and Adipocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **257**, 66921-6696.

Lalli E., Lee J.S., Masquiller D., Schlotter F., Foulkes N.S., Molina C.A. and Sassone-Corsi P. (1993) Nuclear Response to Cyclic AMP: Central Role of Transcription Factor CREM (Cyclic-AMP-responsive-element-modulator). *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* **21**, 912-916.

Lamy F., Roger P., Cantor L., Reuse S., Raspe E., Van Sande J. and Dumont J.C. (1987) in *Hormones and Cell Regulation* No. 11, Vol. 153, 169-180 (Dumont J.E. and Nunez J. eds), Colloque INSERM/John Libbey Eurotext.

Landis C.A., Masters S.B., Spada A., Pace A.M., Bourne H.R. and Valler L. (1989) GTPase Inhibiting Mutations Activate the  $\alpha$  Chain of Gs and Stimulate Adenylyl Cyclase in Human Pituitary Tumours. *Nature* **340**, 692-696.

Lane M.D., Lin F.-T., MacDougald O.A. and Vasser-Cognet M. (1996) Control of Adipocyte Differentiation by CCAAT/Enhancer Binding Protein  $\alpha$  (C/EBP $\alpha$ ). *Int. J. Obes.* **20**, S91-S96.

Lange-Carter C.A., Pleiman C.M., Gardner A.M., Blumer K.J. and Johnson G.L. (1993) A Divergence in the MAP Kinase Regulatory Network Defined by MEK Kinase and Raf. *Science* **260**, 315-319.

Laoide B.M., Foulkes N.S., Schlotter F. and Sassone-Corsi P. (1993) The Functional Versatillity of CREM is Determined by its Modular Structure. *EMBO J.* **12**, 1179-1191.

Lassar A.B., Paterson B.M. and Weintraub H. (1986) Transfection of a DNA Locus That Mediates the Conversion of  $10T^{1}/_{2}$  Fibroblasts to Myocytes. *Cell* **42**, 649-656.

Laurenza A., Sutkawski E.M. and Seaman K.B. (1989) Forskolin: a Specific Stimulator of Adenylyl Cyclase or a Diterpene with Multiple Sites of Action? *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.* **10**, 442-447.

Lee G.-H., Proenca R., Montez J.M., Carrol K.M., Dervishzadeh J.G., Lee J.I. and Friedman J.M. (1996) Abnormal Splicing of the Leptin Receptor in *diabetic* Mice. *Nature* **379**, 632-635.

Lefkowitz B.B. (1976) Beta-adrenergic Receptors: Recognition and Regulation. *New England Journal of Medicine* **295**, 323-330.

Legraverend C., Antanson P., Flodby P. and Xanthopoulos K.G. (1993) High Level Activity of the Mouse CCAAT/Enhancer Binding Protein (C/EBP $\alpha$ ) Gene Promoter Involves Autoregulation and Several Ubiquitous Transcription Factors. *Nucl. Acids Res.* **21**, 1735-1742.

Lemmonier D. (1981) Adipose Tissue Development in Normal and Obese Animals. In *Adipose Tissue in Childhood* (Bonnet F.F. ed). **58-77**. Florida: CRC Press.

Lenormand P., McMahon M. and Pouysségur J. (1996) Oncogenic Raf-1 Activates p70 S6 Kinase Via a Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase-independent Pathway. *J. Biol. Chem.* **271**, 15762-15768.

Levacher C. and Picon L. (1989) Acceleration by Triiodothyronine of Adipose Conversion of Rat Preadipocytes from Two Adipose Localizations. *Cell. Mol. Biol.* **35**, 81-88.

Levacher C., Sztlaryd C. and Picon L. (1985) Lipogenesis as Related to Endocrine Control of Adipocyte Cellularity in the Rat. *Reprod. Nutr. Develop.* **25**, 169-173.

Levacher C., Sztalryd L., Kinebanyan M. and Picon L. (1984) Effects of Thyroid Hormones on Adipose Tissue Development in Sherman and Zucker Rats. Am. J. Physiol. 246, C50-C56.

Lewis M.K. and Burgess R.R. (1982) Eukaryotic RNA Polymerases. In *The Enzymes* (Boyer P. ed). Vol 15, 109-153. New York: Academic Press.

Leung D.W., Spencer S.A., Cachiones G., Hammonds R.G., Collins C., Henzel W.J., Barnard R., Waters M.J. and Wood W.I. (1987) Growth Hormone Receptor and Serum Binding Protein: Purification, Cloning and Expression. *Nature* **330**, 537-543.

Leutje C.W., Titje K.M., Christian J.L. and Nathansan N.M. (1988) Differential Tissue Expression and Developmental Regulation of Guanine Nucleotide Binding Regulatory Proteins and Their Messenger RNAs in Rat Heart. J. Biol. Chem. 263, 13357-13365.

Li X., Mumby S.M., Greenwood A. and Jope R.S. (1995) Pertussis Toxin-sensitive G-protein  $\alpha$ -subunits: Production of Monoclonal Antibodies and Detection of Differential Increases on Differentiatio of PC12 and LA-N-5 Cells. J. Neurochem. 64, 1107-1117.

Liang B.T., Hellmich M.R., Neer E.J. and Galper J.B. (1986) Development of Muscarinic Cholinergic Inhibition of Adenylate Cyclase in Embryonic Chick Heart. J. Biol. Chem. 261, 9011-9021.

Lin F.-T. and Lane M.D. (1992) Antisense CCAAT/Enhancer Binding Protein RNA Suppresses Coordinate Gene Expression and Triacylglyceride Accumulation During Differentiation of 3T3-L1 Adipocytes. *Genes and Dev.* **6**, 533-544.

Lin F.-T., MacDougald O.A., Diehl A.M. and Lane M.D. (1993) A 30 Kilodalton Alternative Translation Product of the CCAAT/Enhancer Binding Protein α Message: Transcriptional Activator Lacking Antimitogenic Activity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **90**, 9606-9610.

Lin L.L., Wartman M., Lin A.Y., Knopf J.C., Seth A. and Davis R.J. (1993) cPLA<sub>2</sub> is Phosphorylated and Activated by MAP Kinase. *Cell* **72**, 269-278.

Lin T.-A., Kong X., Haystead T.A.J., Pause A., Belsham G., Sononberg N. and Lawrence J.C. (1994) PHAS-1 as a Link Between Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase and Translation Initiation. *Science* **266**, 653-656.

Lindahl A., Isgaard J. and Isaksson O. (1991) In *Ballieres Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, Vol. 5, 4, 671-686.

Lochrie M.I. and Simon M.I. (1988) G-protein Multiplicity in Eukaryotic Signal Transduction Systems. *Biochemistry* **27**, 4957-4965.

Logothetis D.E., Kurachi Y., Gulper J., Neer E.J. and Clapham D.E. (1987) The  $\beta\gamma$ -subunits of GTP-binding Proteins Activate the Muscarinic K<sup>+</sup> Channel in Heart. *Nature* **325**, 321-326.

Lyons J., Landis C.A., Griffith H., Valler L., Grunewald K., Feichtinger H., Duh Q.Y., Clark O.H., Kawasaki E., Bourne H.R. and McCormick F. (1990) Two G Protein Oncogenes in Human Endocrine Tumours. *Science* **249**, 655-659.

MacDougald O.A., Cornelius P., Liu R. and Lane M.D. (1995) Insulin Regulates Transcription of the CCAAT/Enhancer Binding Protein (C/EBP)  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$  and  $\delta$  Genes in Fully-differentiated 3T3-L1 Adipocytes. J. Biol. Chem. **270**, 647-654.

MacDougald O.A., Hwang C.S., Fan H. and Lane M.D. (1995) Regulated Expression of the Obese Gene Product (Leptin) in White Adipose Tissue and 3T3-L1 Adipocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **92**, 9034-9037.

MacDougald ().A. and Lane M.D. (1995) When Precursors are Also Regulators. *Curr. Biol.* 5, 618-621.

MacKenzie S., Kilgour E. and Anderson N.G. (1997) Biochem. J., in press

MacKintosh C. and MacKintosh R.W. (1994) Inhibitors of Protein Kinases and Phosphatases. *Trends. Biochem. Sci.* 19, 444-447.

Malarky K., Belham C.M., Paul A., Graham A., McLees A., Scott P.H. and Plevin R. (1995) The Regulation of Tyrosine Kinase Signalling Pathways by Growth Factor and G-protein-coupled Receptors. *Biochem J.* **309**, 361-375.

Maltese W.A. and Robishaw J.D. (1990) Isoprenylation of C-terminal Cysteine in a G-protein Gama Subunit. J. Biol. Chem. **265**,18071-18074.

Mansur S.J., Matten W.T., Herman A.S., Candia J.M., Rony I., Fukasawa K., Vande Waude G.F. and Ahn N.G. (1994) Transformation of Mammalian Cells by Constitutively Active MAP Kinase Kinase. *Science* **265**, 966-970.

Marbach I., Shiloach J. and Levitzki A. (1988)  $G_i$  Affects the Agonist-binding Properties of  $\beta$ -adrenoceptors in the Presence of  $G_s$ . *Eur. J. Biochem.* **172**, 239-246.

Mariash C.N., Kaiser F.E., Schwartz H.L., Tawle H. and Oppenheimer J.H. (1980) Synergism of Thyroid Hormone and a High Carbohydrate Diet in the Induction of Lipogenesis Enzymes in the Rat. Mechanism and Implications. J. Clin. Invest. 65, 1126-1134.

Marshall C.J. (1995) Specificity of receptor Tyrosine Kinase Signalling: Transient Versus Sustained Extracellular Signal Related Kinases. *Cell* **80**, 179-185.

Marte B.M., Graus-Porta D., Jeschke M., Fabbro D., Hynes N.E. and Taverna D. (1995) NDF Heregulin Activates MAP Kinase and p70/p85 S6 Kinase During Proliferation or Differentiation of Mammary Epithelial-cells. *Oncogene* **10**, 167-175.

Mattera R., Codina J., Crozat C., Kidd V., Woo S.L.C. and Birnbaumer L. (1986) Identification by Molecular Cloning of Two Forms of the  $\alpha$ -sbunit of the Human Liver Stimulatory (Gs) Regulatory Component of Adenylate Cyclase. *FEBS Lett.* **206**, 36-38.

McCushu R.H. and Clemmas D.R. (1992) The Insulin-like Growth Factor Binding Proteins: Structure and Biological Functions. In *The Insulin-like Growth Factors: Structure and Biological Function* (Schofield P.N. ed), 110-150, Oxford University Press: Oxford.

McFarlane-Anderson N., Cadrin M. and Bégin-Heick N. (1993) Identification and Localisation of G-proteins in the Clonal Adipocyte Cell Lines HGFu and Ob17. J. Cell. Biochem. 52, 403-475.

McGehee R.E., Ron D., Brasier A.R. and Habener J.F. (1993) Differentiation-specific Element: a Cis-acting Developmental Switch Required for the Sustained Transcriptional Expression of the Angiotensinogen Gene During Hormonal-induced Differentiation of 3T3-L1 Fibroblasts to Adipocytes. *Mol. Endocrinol.* **7**, 551-560.

McGowan K., De Vente J., Carey J.O., Ways D.K. and Pekala P.H. (1996) Protein Kinase C Isoform Expression During the Differentiation of 3T3-L1 Preadipocytes: Loss of Protein Kinase C- $\alpha$  Isoform Correlates with Loss of Phorbol 12-Myristate 13-

Acetate Activation of Nuclear Factor  $\kappa B$  and Acquisition of the Adipocyte Phenotype. J. Cell. Physiol. 167, 113-120.

McKenzie F.R. (1992) Basic Techniques to Study G-protein Function. in *Signal Transduction: a Practical Approach*. (G. Milligan Ed) Oxford University Press, Walton Street, Oxford.

McKenzie F.R. and Pouysségur J. (1996) cAMP-mediated Growth Inhibition in Fibroblasts is Not Mediated Via Mitogen-activated Protein (MAP) Kinase (ERK) Inhibition. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 13476-13483.

McKeon C. and Pharm T. (1991) Transactivation of the Human Insulin Receptor Gene by CCAAT/Enhancer Binding Protein. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **74**, 721-728.

Metz R. and Ziff E. (1991) CAMP Stimulates the C/EBP-related Transcription Factor RNFIL-6 to *Trans*-locate to the Nucleus and Induce c-*Fos* Transcription. *Genes & Devel.* **5**, 1754-1766.

Meyer D.J., Campbell G.S., Cochran B.H., Argetsinger L.S., Larner A.C., Finbloom D.S., Carter-Su C. and Schwartz J. (1994) Growth Hormone Induces a DNA Binding Factor Related to the Interferon-stimulated 91kDa Transcription Factor. *J. Biol. Chem.* **269**, 4701-4704.

Milligan G. (1990) Immunological Probes and the Identification of Guanine Nucleotide Binding Proteins. In *G-proteins as Mediators of Cellular Signalling Processes* (Houslay M.D. and Milligan G. eds).

Milligan G. and Green A. (1991) Agonist Control of G-protein Levels. *Trends*. *Pharmacol. Sci.* **12**, 207-209.

Milligan G. and Green A. (1994) Receptor-mediated Downregulation of Cellular Gprotein Levels as a Mechanism for the Development of Sustained Heterologous Desensitization. In *Regulation of Cellular Signal Transduction Pathways by Desensitization and Amplification* (Sibley D.R. and Houslay M.D. eds). 233-248, John Willey and Sons Ltd: England. Milligan G., Unson C.G. and Wakelam M.J.O. (1989) Cholera Toxin Treatment Produces Down-regulation of the  $\alpha$ -subunit of the Stimulatory Guanine-nucleotidebinding Protein (G<sub>8</sub>). *Biochem. J.* **262**, 643-649.

Miltenberger R.J., Cartner J. and Farnham P.J. (1993) An Inhibitory Raf-1 Mutant Suppressess Expression of a Subset of *v*-*raf*-activated Genes. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 15674-15680.

Mitchell R., Ison A., Sim P., Simpson J., Johnson M., Clegg R. and Connor K. (1994) Evidence for a Novel H7-resistant Species of Protein Kinase C in Pituitary Gland that Leads to Activation of MAP Kinase. *J. Cell. Biochem.* **S18D**, 77.

Moodie S.A., Paris M.J., Kolch W. and Wolfman A. (1994) Association of MEK1 with p21<sup>ras</sup>.GMPPNP is Dependent on B-Raf. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **14**, 7153-7162.

Morikawa M., Nixon T. and Green H. (1982) Growth Hormone and the Adipose Conversion of 3T3 Cells. *Cell* 29, 783-789.

Morley S.J., Dever T.E., Etchison D. and Trawgh J.A. (1991) Phosphorylation of eIF-4F by Protein Kinase C or Multipotential S6 Kinase Stimulates Protein Synthesis at Initiation. J. Biol. Chem. 266, 4669-4672.

Moustaid N. adn Sul H.S. (1991) Regulation of Expression of the Fatty Acid Synthase Gene in 3T3-L1 Cells by Differentiation and Triiodothyronine. *J. Biol. Chem.* **266**, 18550-18556.

Moxham C.M., Hod Y. and Malbon C.C. (1992) Induction of  $G_{1\alpha2}$  Specific Antisense RNA *In Vivo* Inhibits Neonatal Growth. *Science* **260**, 991-995.

Moxham C.M. and Malbon C.C. (1996) Insulin Action Impaired by Deficiency of the G-protein Subunit G(i-alpha-2). *Nature* **379**, 840-844.

Mullaney I. and Milligan G. (1990) Identification of Two Distinct Isoforms of the Guanine-Nucleotide-Binding Protein  $G_0$  in NeuroblastomaxGlioma Hybrid Cells: Independent Regulation During Cyclic AMP-induced Differentiation. J. Neurochem. 55, 1890-1898.

Nakanishi H., Brewer K.A. and Exton J.H. (1993) Activation of the  $\zeta$  Isozyme of Protein Kinase C by Phosphatidylinositiol 3, 4, 5-Triphosphate. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 13-16.

Nakiolny S., Cohen P., Wu J. and Sturgill T.W. (1992) MAP Kinase Activation from Insulin-stimulated Skeletal Muscle is a Protein Threonine/Tyrosine Kinase. *EMBO J.* **11**, 2123-2129.

Négrel R. and Ailhaud G. (1981) Metabolism of Arachidonic Acid and Prostaglandin Synthesis in the Preadipocyte Clonal Line Ob17. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **98**, 768-777.

Négrel R., Gaillard D. and Ailhaud G. (1989) Prostacyclic as a Potent Effector of Adipose Cell Differentiation. *Biochem. J.* 257, 399-405.

Négrel R., Grimaldi P. and Ailhaud G. (1978) Establishment of a Preadipocyte Clonal Line from Epidydimal Fat Pads of ob/ob Mouse that Responds to Insulin and to Lypolytic Hormones. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **75**, 6054-6058.

Nigg E.A, Schäffer G., Hilz H. and Eppenberger H.M. (1985) Cyclic AMP-dependent Protein Kinase Type II is Associated with the Golgi Complex and with Centrosomes. *Cell* **41**, 1039-1051.

Nillson J. and Olsson A.G. (1984) Prostaglandin  $E_1$  Inhibits DNA Synthesis in Arterial Smooth Muscle Cells Stimulated with Platelet-Derived Growth Factor. *Artherosclerosis* **53**, 77-82.

Nir I., Nitsan Z. and Keren-Zvi S. (1988) Fat Deposition in Birds. In *Leaness in Domestic Birds, Genetic, Metabolic and Hormonal Aspects.* (Leclercq B. and Whitehead C.C. eds). 141-174. London: Butterworths.

Nishizuka Y. (1986) Studies and Perspectives of Protein Kinase C. Science 233, 305-312.

Nishizuka Y. (1988) The Molecular Heterogeneity of Protein Kinase C and its Implications for Cellular Regulation. *Nature* **334**, 661-665.

Nivet V., Clot J.-P, Do X.-T., Barrault V., Prelot M. and Durand D. (1993) Evidence that Growth Hormone Stimulates Protein KInase C Activity in Isolated Rat Hepatocytes. *Metabolism* 42, 1291-1295.

Nixon T. and Green H. (1984) Contribution of Growth Hormone to the Adipogenic Action of Serum. *Endocrinology* **114**, 527-532.

Nixon T. and Green H. (1984) Growth Hormone Promotes the Differentiation of Myoblasts and Preadipocytes Generated by Azacytidine Treatment of 10T\_Cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **81**, 3429-3432.

Noda M., Ko M., Ogura A., Liu D.G., Amona T., Tukana T. and Ikawa Y. (1985) Sarcoma Viruses Carrying *ras* Oncogenes Induce Differentiation Associated Properties in a Neuronal Cell Line. *Nature* **318**, 73-75.

Novguès J., Regre Y., Baraton B., Chey T., Garendel V. and Soriano J. (1993) Differentiation of Adipocyte Precursors in a Serum-free Medium is Influenced by Glucocorticoids and Endogenously Produced Insulin-like Growth Factor I. *Int. J. Obes.* **17**, 159-167.

Novikoff A.B., Novikoff P.M., Rosen O.M. and Rubin C.S. (1980) Organelle Relationships in Cultured 3T3-L1 Preadipocytes. J. Cell. Biol. 87, 180-196.

Nurse P. (1990) Universal Control Mechanism Regulating Onset of M-phase. *Nature* **344**, 503-507.

Ohtsubo M. and Roberts J.M. (1993) Cyclin-dependent Regulation of G1 in Mammalian Fibroblasts. *Science* 259, 1908-1912.

Okino M., Caraveo V.E., Goodman D.S. and Blaner W.S. (1995) Regulation of Adipocyte Gene Expression by Retinoic Acid and Hormones: Effects on the Gene Encoding Cellular Retinol-binding Protein. J. Lipid. Res. **36**, 137-147.

Ono Y., Fuji T., Ogita K., Kikkawa U., Igarashi K. and Nishizuka Y. (1989) Mitogen-activated Protein Kinases p42<sup>MAPK</sup> and p44<sup>MAPK</sup> are Required for Fibroblast Proliferation. *Proc. Natl Acad Sci USA* **90**, 8319-8323. O'Neil E.M., Rebay I., Tjian R. and Rubin G.M. (1994) The Activities of Two Ets-Related Transcription Factors Required for *Drosophila* Eye Development are Modulated by the Ras/MAPK Pathway. *Cell* **78**, 137-147.

Orlandi P.A. and Fishman P.H. (1993) Orientation of Cholera Toxin Bound to Target Cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* **268**, 17038-17044.

Pace A.M., Wang Y.H. and Bourne H.R. (1991) A Mutant  $\alpha$ -subunit of G<sub>i2</sub> Induces Neoplastic Transformation of Rat-1 Cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **88**, 7031-7035.

Pagès G., Lenormand P., L'Allemain G., Chambard J.,-C., Meloche S. and Pouysségur J. (1993) Mitogen-activated Protein Kinases p42<sup>MAPK</sup> and p44<sup>MAPK</sup> are Required for Fibroblast Proliferation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **90**, 8319-8323.

Pagès G., Stanley E.R., Legall M., Brunet A. and Pouysségur J. (1995) The mouse p44 Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase (Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase 1) Gene. J. Biol. Chem. **270**, 2686-26992.

Pairault J. and Lasnier F. (1987) Control of the Adipogenic Differentiation of 3T3-F442A Cells by Retinoic Acid, Dexamethasone and Insulin: A Topographic Analysis. J. Cell. Physiol. 132, 279-286.

Pallas D.C., Shahrik L.K., Martin B.L., Jaspers S., Miller T.B., Brautigan D.C. and Roberts T.M. (1990) Polyoma Small and Middle T Antigens and SV40 Small t Antigen Form Stable Complexes with Protein Phosphatase 2A. *Cell* **60**, 167-176.

Palmer T.M., Taberner P.V. and Houslay M.D. (1992) Alterations in G-protein Expression, Gi Function and Stimulatory Receptor-mediated Regulation of Adipocyte Adenylyl Cyclase in a Model of Insulin-resistant Diabetes with Obesity. *Cell Signal.* **4**, 365-377.

Pan M.-G., Wang Y.-H., Hirsch D.D., Labudda K. and Stork P.J.S. (1995) The *Wnt*-1 Proto-oncogene Regulates MAP Kinase Activation by Multiple Growth Factors in PC12 Cells. *Oncogene* **11**, 2005-2012.

Pang L., Sawada T., Decher S.J. and Saltiel A.R. (1995) Inhibition of MAP Kinase Kinase Blocks the Differentiation of PC-12 Cells Induced by Nerve Growth Factor. *J. Biol. Chem.* **270**, 13585-13588.

Pardee A.B. (1989) G1 Events and Regulation of Cell Proliferation. *Science* **246**, 603-608.

Park E.A., Gurney A.L., Nizielski S.E., Hakimi P. and Cao Z. (1993) Relative Roles of CCAAT/Enhancer Binding Protein  $\beta$  and cAMP Regulatory Element in Controlling Transcription of the Gene for Phosphoenol Pyruvate Carboxykinase (GTP). *J. Biol. Chem.* **268**, 613-618.

Park K. and Kim K.-H. (1991) Regulation of Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase Gene Expression. J. Biol. Chem. 266, 12249-12256.

Park K. and Kim K-H. (1993) The Site of cAMP Action in the Insulin Induction of Gene Expression of Acetyl-CoA Carboxylase is AP-2. *J. Biol. Chem.* **268**, 17811-17519.

Pastan I.H., Johnson G.S. and Anderson W.B. (1975) Role of Cyclic Nucleotides in Growth Control. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 44, 491-522.

Paulauskis J.D. and Sul H.S. (1988) Cloning and Expression of Mouse Fatty-acid Synthase and Other Specific Messenger-RNAs- Developmental and Hormonal-regulation in 3T3-L1 Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 263, 7049-7054.

Pawson T. and Gish G.D. (1992) SH2 and SH3 Domains: from Structure to Function. *Cell* **71**, 359-362.

Pellymounter M.A., Cullen M.J., Bakar M.B., Hecht R., Winters D., Boone T. and Collins F. (1995) Effects of the *Obese* Gene Product on Body Weight Regulation in *Ob/Ob* Mice. *Science* 269, 540-543.

Peter M.A., Winterhalter K.H., Böni-Schnetzler M., Froesch E.H. and Zapf J. (1993) Regulation of Insulin-like Growth Factor-I (IGF-I) and IGF-binding Proteins by Growth Hormone in Rat White Adipose Tissue. *Endocrinology* **133**, 2624-2631.

Petritsch C., Woscholski R., Edelmann H.M.L., Parker P.J. and Ballou L.M. (1995) Selective Inhibition of p70 S6 Kinase Activation by Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase Inhibitors. *Eur. J. Biochem.* **230**, 431-438.

Picon L. and Leveacher C. (1979) Thyroid Hormones and Adipose Tissue Development. J. Physiol. 75, 539-543.

Pilgrim P. (1971) DNA Synthesis and Differentiation in Developing White Adipose Tissue. *Dev. Biol.* **26**, 69-76.

Pines M., Giershik P., Milligan G., Klee W. and Spiegel A. (1985) Antibodies Against the Carboxy-terminal 5KDa Peptide of the  $\alpha$  Subunit of Transducin Crossreact with the 40KDa but not the 39KDa Guanine Nucleotide Binding Protein from Brain. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **82**, 4095-4099.

Piper R.C., Jones D.E., Slot J.W., Puri C. and Lawrence J.C. (1993) GLUT 4 Phosphorylation and Inhibition of Glucose Transport by Dibutyryl cAMP. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 16557-16563.

Poissonet C.M., Burdi A.R. and Bookstein F.L. (1984) Critical Periods of Human Adipogenesis: the Buccal Fat Pad Model. In *Human Growth and Development* (Barns J., Houspie R., Sand A., Suzanne C. and Hebbelinck M. eds). 243-252. New York:: Plenum.

Poissonnet C.M., Lowelle M. and Burdi A.R. (1988) Growth and Development of Adipose Tissue. J. Pediatr. 113, 1-9.

Pond C.M. (1978) Morphological Aspects and the Ecological and Mechanical Consequences of Fat Deposition in Wild Vertebrates. *Ann. Rev. Ecol. Sys.* 9, 519-570.

Pond C.M. (1986) The Natural History of Adipocytes. *Scientific Progress* (Oxford) **70**, 45-71.

Porras A., Muszynski K., Rapp U.R. and Santos E.J. (1994) Dissociation between Activation of Raf-1 Kinase and the 42KDa Miotgen-activated Protein Kinase/90KDa S6 Kinase (MAPK/RSK) Cascade in the Insulin/Ras Pathway of Adipocyte Differentiation of 3T3-L1 Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 12741-12748.

Porras A. and Santos E. (1996) The Insulin/Ras Pathway of Adipogenic Differentiation of 3T3-L1 Cells: Dissociation Between Raf-1 Kinase and the MAPK/RSK Cascade. *Int. J. Obes.* **20**, 43-51.

Post G.R. and Brown J.H. (1996) G Protein-coupled Receptors and Signaling Pathways Regulating Growth Responses. *FASEB J.* 10, 741-749.

Price D.J., Grove J.R, Calvo V., Avruch J. and Bierar B.E. (1992) Rapamycininduced Inhibition of the 70-Kilodalton S6 Protein Kinase. *Science* 257, 973-977.

Qui M.S. and Green S.H. (1992) PC12 Cell Neuronal Differentiation is Associated with p21<sup>*ras*</sup> Activity and Consequent Prolonged ERK Activity. *Neuron* **9**, 705-717.

Ram P.A., Park S.H., Choi H.K. and Waxman D.J. (1996) Growth-hormone Activation of Stat-1, Stat-3 and Stat5 in Rat Liver- Differential Kinetics of Hormone Desensitization and Growth-hormone Stimulation of both Tyrosine Phosphorylation and Serine/Threonine Phosphorylation. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 5929-5940.

Ramkumar V. and Stiles G.L. (1994) Adenosine Receptor/Adenylyl Cyclase Modulation: Heterologous Regulation at the G-protein Level. In *Regulation of Cellular Signal Transduction Pathways by Desensitization and Amplification* (Sibley D.R. and Houslay M.D. eds). 217-231, John Willey and Sons Ltd: England.

Rangan V.S., Oskovian B. and Smith S. (1996) Identification of an Inverted CCAAT Box Motif in the Fatty-acid Synthase Gene as an Essential Element for Mediation of Transcriptonal Regulation by cAMP. J. Biol. Chem. **271**, 2307-2312.

Ray L.B. and Sturgill T.W. (1988) Insulin-stimulated Microtubule-associated Protein Kinase is Phosphorylated on Tyrosine and Threonine *In Vivo*. Proc. *Natl Acad. Sci USA* **85**, 3753-3757.

Raynolds M.V., Awald P.D., Gordon D.F., Gutierrez-Hartmann A., RUle D.C., Wood W.M. and Eckel R.H. (1990) Lipoprotein Lipase Gene Expression in Rat Adipocytes is Regulated by Isoproterenol and Insulin through Different Mechanisms. *Mol. Endocrinol.* **4**, 1416-1424.

Rebeffé-Scrive M., Krotkiewski M., Elfersan J. and Björtorp P. (1988) Muscle and Adipose Tissue Morphology and Metabolism in Cushing's Syndrome. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 67, 1122-1128.

Reed B.C. and Lane M.D. (1980) Insulin Receptor Synthesis and Turnover in Differentiating 3T3-L1 Preadipocytes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 77, 285-289.

Rhee S.G., Suh P.-G., Ryu S.-H. and Lee S.Y. (1989) Studies of Inositol Phospholipid-specific Phospholipase C. *Science* **244**, 546-550.

Ringold G.M., Chapman A.B., Knight D.M., Navre M. and Torti F.M. (1988) Hormonal Control of Adipocyte Differentiation and Adipocyte Gene Expression. *Recent Prog. Horm. Res.* 44, 115-140.

Robishaw J.D., Russell D.W., Harris B.A., Smigel M.D. and Gilman A.G. (1986) Deduced Primary Structure of the α Subunit of the GTP-binding Stimulatory Protein of Adenylate Cyclase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **83**, 1251-1255.

Robishaw J.D., Smigel M.D. and Gilman A.G. (1986) Molecular Basis for Two Forms of the G-protein that Stimulates Adenylate Cyclase. J. Biol. Chem. 261, 9587-9590.

Rodbell M. (1994) Metabolism of Isolated Fat Cells. I. Effects of Hormones on Glucose Metabolism and Lipolysis. J. Biol. Chem. 239, 375-380.

Roesler W.J., Vanderbank G.R. and Hanson R.W. (1988) Cyclic AMP and the Inducation of Eukaryotic Gene Transcription. J. Biol. Chem. 263, 9063-9066.

Rossomando A., Wu J., Weber M.J. and Sturgill T.W. (1992) The Phorbol Ester-Dependent Activator of the Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase p42<sup>MAPK</sup> is a Kinase with Specificity for the Threonine and Tyrosine Regulatory Sites. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89, 5221-5225.

Rubenstein R.C., Linder M.E. and Ross E.M. (1991) Selectivity of the  $\beta$ -adrenergic Receptor Among Gs, Gi's and Go: Assay using Recombinant  $\alpha$  Subunits in Reconstituted Phospholipid Vesicles. *Biochemistry* **30**, 10769-10777.

Rubin C.S., Erlichman J. and Rosen O.M. (1972) Cyclic Adenosine 3', 5'monophosphate-dependent Protein Kinase of Human Erythrocyte Membranes. J. Biol. Chem. 247, 6135-6139.

Rubin C.S., Hirsch A., Fung C. and Rosen O.M. (1978) Development of Hormone Receptors and Hormonal Responsiveness *In Vitro*. Insulin Receptors and Insulin Sensitivity in the Preadipocyte and Adipocyte Forms of 3T3-L1 Cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* **253**, 7570-7578.

Russel T.R. and Ho R.-J. (1976) Conversion of 3T3 Fibroblasts into Adipose Cells: Triggering of Differentiation by Prostaglandins  $F_{2\alpha}$  and 1-methyl-3-isobutylxanthine. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **73**, 4516-4520.

Sadowski H.B., Shui K., Darnell Jr J.E. and Gilman M.Z. (1993) A Common Nuclear Signal Transduction Pathway Activated by Growth Factor Cytokine Receptors. *Science* **261**, 1739-1744.

Safonova I., Darimont C., Amri E-Z, Grimaldi P., Ailhaud G., Reichart U. and Shroot B. (1994) Retinoids are Positive Effectors of Adipose Cell Differentiation. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* **104**, 201-211.

Safonova I., Reichart U., Shroot B., Ailhaud G. and Grimaldi P. (1994) Fatty Acids and Retinoids Act Synergistically on Adipose Cell Differentiation. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **204**, 498-504.

Saladin R., DeVos P., Guerre-Millo M., Leterque A., Girard J., Staels B. and Auverx J. (1995) Transient Increase in *Obese* Gene Expression After Food Intake or Insulin Adminmistration. *Nature* **377**, 527-529.

Sale E.M., Atkinson P.G.P. and Sale G.J. (1995) Requirement of MAP kinase for differentiation of fibroblasts to adipocytes, for insulin activation of p90 S6 kinase and for insulin or serum stimulation of DNA synthesis. *EMBO J.* **14**, 674-684.

Salvatori S., Damiani E., Burharia J., Farla S., Giovanni S. and Margreth A. (1990) Co-localisation of the Dihydropyridine Receptor and the Cyclic AMP-binding Subunit of an Intrinsic Protein Kinase to the Junctional Membrane of the Transverse Tubules of Skeletal Muscle. *Biochem. J.* **267**, 679-687.

Samuels M.L. (1989) Comparison of Two Paired Samples.In, Statistics for the Life Sciences, 294-319. Delles Publishing Company, California, USA.

Sarcevic B., Erikson E. and Maller J.L. (1993) Purification and Characterization of a Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Tyrosine Phosphatase from *Xenopus* Eggs. J. Biol. Chem. **268**, 25075-25083.

Sarkar D., Erlichman J. and Rubin C.S. (1984) Identification of a Calmodulin-binding Protein that Co-purifies with the Regulatory Subunit of Brain Protein Kinase II. J. Biol. Chem. **259**, 9840-9846.

Saswati D., Maizels E.T., DeManno D., St. Clair E., Adam S.A. and Hunzicker-Dunn M. (1996) A Stimulatory Role of Cyclic Adenosine 3'-5'-monophosphate in Follicle-Stimulating Hormone-activated Protein Kinase Signalling Pathway in Rat Ovarian Granulosa Cells. *Endocrinology* **137**, 967-974.

Satiropoulos A., Perrot-Applanat M., Dinerstein H., Pallier A., Postel-Vinay M.-C., Finidori J. and Kelly P.A. (1994) Distinct Cytoplasmic Regions of the Growth Hormone Recpeptor are Required for Activation of JAK2, Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase and Transcription. *Endocrinology* **135**, 1292-1298.

Sato N., Kamino K., Tateishi K., Satoh T., Nishiwaki Y., Yoshiiwa A., Miki T. and Ogihara T. (1997) Elevated Amyloid Beta Protein (1-40) Induces CREB Phosphorylation at Serine-133 via p44/p42 MAP kinase (ERK 1/2)-dependent Pathway in Rat Pheochromocytoma PC12 Cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **232**, 637-642.

Saulnier-Blanche J.-S., Dauzats M., Daviard D., Gaillard D., Ailhaud G., Négrel R. and Lafontan M. (1991) Late Expression of Alpha 2-adrenergic-mediated Antilipolysis During Differentiation of Hamster Preadipocytes. J. Lipid Res. 32, 1489-1499.

Schivek D. and Löffler G. (1987) Glucocorticoid Hormones Contribute to the Adipogenic Activity of Human Serum. *Endocrinology* **120**, 469-474.

Schmidt A, Endo N., Rutledge S., Vogel R., Shirar D. and Rodan G. 91992) Identification of a New Member of the Steroid Hormone Receptor Superfamily That is Activated by a Peroxisome Proliferator and Fatty Acid. *Mol. Endocrinol.* **6**, 1634-1641.

Schmidt W., Pöll-Jorda G. and Löffler G. (1990) Adipose Conversion of 3T3-L1 Cells in a Serum-free Culture System Depends on Epidermal Growth Factor I, Corticosterone and Cyclic AMP. J. Biol. Chem. **265**, 15489-15495.

Schreiber S.L. (1991) Chemistry and Biology of the Immunophilins and their Immunosuppressive Ligands. *Science* **251**, 283-287.

Schwartz J. and Carter-Su C. (1988) Effects of Growth Hormone on Glucose Metabolism and Glucose Transport in 3T3-F442A Cells: Dependane on Cell Differentiation. *Endocrinology* **122**, 2247-2256.

Scott J.D. (1991) Cyclic Nucleotide-dependent Protein Kinases. *Pharmac. Ther.* 50, 123-145.

Seger R., Ahn N.G., Boulton T.G., Yancopoulos G.D., Panatotatos N., Radziejewska E., Ericsson L., Riatlien R.C., Cobb M.H. and Krebbs E.G. (1991) Microtubule-associated Protein 2 Kinase, ERK 1 and ERK 2, Undergoe Autophosphorylation on Both Tyrosine and Threonine Residues: Implications for Their Mechanism of Activation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 88, 6142-6146.

Serrero G. (1987) EGF Inhibits the Differentiation of Adipocyte Precursors in Primary Cultures. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **146**, 194-202.

Serrero G. and Mills D. (1991) Physiological Role of Epidermal Growth Factor on Adipose Tissue Development *In Vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **88**, 3912-3916.

Sevetson B.R., Kang X. and Lawrence Jr. J.C. (1993) Increasing cAMP Attenuates Activation of Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **90**, 10305-10309.

Sheng M., Thompson M.A. and Greenberg M.E. (1991) CREB-Ca2+-regulated Transcription Factor Phosphorylated by Calmodulin-dependent Kinases. *Science* **252**, 1427-1430.

Sherr C.J. (1993) Mammalian G1 Cyclins. Cell 73, 1059-1065.

Sherr C.J. (1994) G1 Phase Progression: Cycling on Cue. Cell 79, 551-555.

Shilabeer G., Farden J.M. and Law D.C.W. (1989) Induction of Preadipocyte Differentiation by Mature Fat Cells in the Rat. J. Clin. Invest. 84, 381-387.

Shimasaki S. and Ling N. (1992) Identification and Molecular Characterization of Insulin-like Growth Factor Binding Proteins (IGFBP -1, -2, -3, -4, -5, -6). *Prog. Growth Factor Res.* **3**, 243-260.

Sidhu R. (1979) Two-Dimensional Electrophoretic Analysis of Proteins Synthesised During Differentiation of 3T3-L1 Preadipocytes. J. Biol. Chem **254**, 11111-11118.

Silva C.M., Lu H. and Day R.N. (1996) Characterization and Cloning of STAT 5 from IM-9 Cells and its Activation by Growth Hormone. *Mol. Endo.* **10**, 508-518.

Sim P.J., Wolbers W.B. and Mitchell R. (1995) Activation of MAP Kinase by the LRH Receptor through a Dual Mechanism Involving Protein Kinase C and a Pertussis Toxin-sensitive G-protein. *Mol. Cell. Endocrinol.* **112**, 257-263.

Simon M.I., Strathmann M.P. and Gautam N. (1991) Diversity of G Proteins in Signal Transduction. *Science* **252**, 802-808.

Slavin B.G. (1972) The Cytophysiology of Mammalian Adipose Cells. Int. Rev. Cytol. 33, 297-333.

Slavin B.G. (1979) Fine Structural Studies on White Adipocyte Differentiation. Anat. Rec. 195, 63-72.

Slavin B.G. (1985) The Morphology of Adipose Tissue. In *New Perspectives in Adipose Tissue: Strucutre, Function and Development* (Cryer A. and Van R.L.R. eds). 23-43. London: Butterworths.

Smale S.T. and Baltimore D. (1989) The Initiation as a Transcription Control Element. *Cell* **57**, 103-113.

Smas C.M. and Sul H.S. (1995) Control of Adipocyte Differentiation. *Biochem. J.* **309**, 697-710.

Smit L.S., Meyer D.J., Billestrup N., Norstedt G., Schwartz J. and Carter-Su C. (1996) The Role of Growth Hormone (GH) Receptor and JAK1 and 2 Kinases in the Activation of Stats 1, 3 and 5 by GH. *Mol. Endocrinol.* **10**, 519-533.

Smith D.J., Wise L.S., Beskwitz R., Wan C. and Rubin C.S. (1988) Insulin-like Growth Factor-I is an Essential Regulator of the Differentiation of 3T3-L1 Adipocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **263**, 9402-9408.

Smith M.R., DeGudicibus S.J. and Stacey D.W. (1986) Requirement for c-ras Proteins During Viral Oncogene Transformation. *Nature* **320**, 540-543.

Smith P.J., Wise L.S. and Berkawitz R. (1988) Insulin-like Growth Factor I is an Essential Regulator of the Differentiation of 3T3-L1 Adipocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **263**, 9402-9408.

Sniderman A.D. and Cionflore K. (1994) The Adipsin-ASP Pathway and Regulation of Adipocyte Function. *Ann. Med.* **26**, 389-393.

Sontag E., Federov S., Kamibayashi C., Robbins D., Cobb M. and Mumby M. (1993) The Interaction of SV40 Small Tumour Antigen with Protein Phosphtase 2A Stimulates the MAP Kinase Pathway and Induces Cell Proliferation. *Cell* **75**, 887-897.

Souza C.C., Frick G.P., Yip R., Lobo R.B., Tai L-R and Goodman H.M. (1994) Growth Hormone Stimulates Tyrosine Phosphorylation of Insulin Receptor Substrate-1. J. Biol. Chem. **269**, 3085-3088.

Spiegel A.M. (1990) Immunological Probes for Heterotrimeric GTP-binding Proteins. From G-proteins, Iyengar R. and Birnbaumer L. eds, Academic Press Inc.

Spiegel A.M., Shenker A. and Weinstein L.S. (1992) Receptor-effector Coupling by G-proteins: Implications for Normal and Abnormal Signal Transduction. *Endocr. Rev.* **13**, 536-565.

Spiegelman B.M., Distel R.J., Ro H.S., Rosen B.S. and Satterberg B. (1988) Fos Protooncogene and the Regulation of Gene-expression in Adipocyte Differentiation. J. Cell Biol. 107, 829-832.

Spiegelman B.M. and Farmer S.R. (1982) Decreases in Tubulin and Actin Geneexpression Prior to Morphological Differentiaton of 3T3 Adipocytes. *Cell* **29**, 53-60.

Spiegelman B.M., Frank M. and Green H. (1983) Molecular Cloning of mRNA from 3T3 Adipocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 258, 10083-10089.

Spiegelman B.M. and Green H. (1980) Control of Specific Protein Biosynthesis during the Adipose Conversion of 3T3 Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 255, 8811-8818.

Spiegelman B.M. and Hotamisligil G.S. (1993) Through Thick and Thin-Wasting, Obesity and TNF-Alpha. *Cell* **73**, 625-627.

Spooner P.M., Chernick S.S., Garrison M.M. and Scow R.O. (1979) Development of Lipoprotein Lipase Activity and Accumulation of Triacylglycerol in Differentiating 3T3-L1 Adipocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **254**, 1305-1311.

Stare R.L. and Bernlohr D.A. (1990) The Molecular Basis for Inhibition of Adipose Conversion of Murine 3T3-L1 Cells by Retinoic Acid. *Differentiation* **45**, 119-127.

Steimgrimsdottir L., Brusel J.B. and Greenwood M.R.C. (1980) Hormonal Modulation of Adipose Tissue Lipoprotein Lipase May Alter Food Intake in Rats. *Amer. J. Physiol.* **239**, E162-E167.

Steinberg M.M. and Brownstein B.L. (1982) A Clonal Analysis of the Differentiation of 3T3-L1 Preadipose Cells: Role of Insulin. J. Cell Physiol. 113, 359-364.

Stephens J.M., Butts M.D. and Pekala P.H. (1992) Regulation of Transcription Factor mRNA Accumulation During 3T3-L1 Preadipocyte Differentiation by Tumour Necrosis Factor- $\alpha$ . J. Mol. Endocrinol. 9, 61-72.

Sternweiss P.C. (1986) The Purified  $\alpha$  Subunits of G<sub>o</sub> and G<sub>i</sub> from Bovine Brain Require  $\beta\gamma$  for Association with Phospholipid Vesicles. J. Biol. Chem. **261**, 631-637.

Sternweiss P.C. and Robishaw J.D. (1984) Isolation of Two Proteins with High Affinity for Guanine Nucleotides from Membranes of Bovine Brain. J. Biol. Chem. 259, 13806-13811.

Stoyenov B., Volina S., Hanck T., Rubio I., Laubtchenkov M., Malèk D., Stoyanova S., Vanhaesebroeck B., Dhand R., Nurnberg B., Gierschik P., Seedorf K., Hsuan J.J., Waterfield M.D. and Wetzker R. (1995) Cloning and Characterization of a G Protein-activated Human Phosphoinositide-3 Kinase. *Science* **269**, 690-693.

Strittmater S.M., Valenzuela D., Kennedy T.E., Neer E.J. and Fishman M.C. (1990)  $G_{\alpha\alpha}$  is a Major Growth Cone Protein Subject to Regulation by GAP-43. *Nature* **344**, 836-841.

Sturgill T.W., Ray L.B., Erikson E. and Maller J.L. (1988) Insulin-stimulated MAP-2 Kinase Phosphorylates and Activates Ribosomal Protein S6 Kinase II. *Nature* **334**, 715-718.

Su H.-L., Malbon C.C. and Wang H.-Y. (1993) Increased Expression of  $G_{i\alpha 2}$  in Mouse Embryo Stem Cells Promotes Terminal Differentiation to Adipocytes. *Am. J. Physiol.* **265**, C1729-C1735.

Sumatran V.N., Tsai M.-L. and Schwartz J. (1992) Growth Hormone Induces c-fos and c-jun Expression in Cells With varying Requirements for Differentiation. *Endocrinology* **130**, 2016-2024.

Sun X.-J., Rothenburg P., Kahn C.R., Bucher J.M., Araki E., Wilden P.A., Cahill P.A., Goldstein B.J. and White M.F. (1991) Structure of the Insulin Receptor Substrate IRS-1 Defines a Unique Signal Transduction Protein. *Nature* **352**, 73-77.

Symes A.J., Rajan P., Corpus L. and Fink J.S. (1995) C/EBP-related Sites in Addition to a Stat Site are Necessary for Cilliary Neurotrophic Factor-leukemia Factor-dependent Transcriptional Activation by the Vasoactive-intestinal-peptide Cytokine Response Element. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 8069-8075.

Taber F., Ramirez I. and Soley M. (1993) Epidermal Growth Factor Modulates the Lipolytic Action of Catecholamines in Rat Adipocytes. *J. Biol. Chem.* **268**, 17199-17204.

Tang B., Jeoung D.-I. and Sonenberg M. (1995) Effect of Human Growth Hormone and Insulin on [<sup>3</sup>H]Thymidine Incorporation, Cell Cycle Progression and Cyclin D Expression in 3T3-F442A Preadipose Cells. *Endocrinology* **136**, 3062-3069.

Tang T., Hirata Y., Whalin M. and Guaroff G. (1996) Nerve Growth Factor-Stimulated Nuclear S6 Kinase in PC12 Cells. J. Neurochemistry 66, 1198-1206.

Tang W.J. and Gilman A.G. (1991) Type-specific Regulation of Adenylyl Cyclase by G Protein βγ Subunits. *Science* **254**, 1500-1503.

Tartaglia L.A., Dembski M., Weng X., Pang N., Culpepper J., Doros R., Richards G.J., Campfield L.A., Clark F.T., Deeds J., Muir C., Sanker S., Moriarty A., Moore K.J., Smutko J.S., Mags G.G., Woolf E.A., Monroe C.A. and Tepper R.I. (1995) Identification and Expression Cloning of a Leptin Receptor OB-R. *Cell* 83, 1263-1271.

Taussig R., Iniguez-Lluhi J. and Gilman A.G. (1993) Inhibition of Adenylyl Cyclase by  $G_{i\alpha}$ . Science **261**, 218-221.

Taylor S.M. and Jones P.A. (1979) Multiple New Phenotypes Induced in  $10T^{1/2}$  and 3T3 Cells Treated with 5-Azacytidine. *Cell* 17, 771-779.

Teng K.K., Lander H., Fajardo J.E., Hanafusa H., Hempstead B.L. and Birge R.B. (1995) V-Crk Modulation of Growth Factor-induced PC12 Cell Differentiation Involves the Src Homology 2 Domain of v-Crk and Sustained Activation of the Ras/Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Pathway. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 20677-20685.

Thorburn J. and Thorburn A. (1994) The Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitor, Genestein, Prevents  $\alpha$ -adrenergic -induced Cardiac Muscle Cell Hypertrophy by Inhibiting Activation of the Ras-MAP Kinase Signaling Pathway. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 202, 1586-1591.

Timchenko N.A., Wilde M., Nakanishi M., Smith J.R. and Darlington G.J. (1996) CCAAT/Enhancer-Binding Protein  $\alpha$  (C/EBP $\alpha$ ) Inhibits Cell Proliferation Through the p21 (WAF1/CIP1/SDI1) Protein. *Genes Devel.* **10**, 804-815.

Tontonez P., Hu E., Graves R., Budavari A. and Spiegelman B. (1994) mPPARγ2: Tissue-specific Regulator of an Adipocyte Enhancer. *Genes and Dev.* **8**,1224-1234.

Tontoez P., Hu E., Graves R.A., Budavari A.I. and Spiegelman B.M. (1994) mPPAR $\gamma$ 2: Tissue-specific Regulator of an Adipocyte Enhancer. *Genes and Dev.* **8**, 1224-1234.

Tontonez P., Hu E. and Spiegelman B.M. (1994) Stimulation of Adipogenesis in Fibroblasts by PPAR $\gamma$ 2 a Lipid-activated Transcription Factor. *Cell* **79**, 1147-1156.

Tontonez P., Hu E., Derine J., Beale E.G. and Spiegelman B.M. (1995) PPARγ2 Regulates Adipose Expression of the Phosphoenolpyruvate Carboxykinase Gene. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **15**, 351-357.

Tsai M., Chen R.H., Tam S.Y., Blenis J. and Galli S.J. (1993) Activation of MAP Kinases, pp90<sup>rsk</sup> and pp70-S6 Kinases in Mouse Mast Cells by Signalling Through the *c-kit* Receptor Tyrosine Kinase or Fc Epsilon RI: Rapamycin Inhibits Activation of pp70-S6 Kinase and Proliferation in Mouse Mast Cells. *Eur. J. Immunol.* **23**, 3286-3291.

Tsuda L., Inoue Y.H., Yoo M.A., Mizuno M., Hata M., Lim Y.M., Adachi-Yamada T., Ryo H., Masamune Y. and Nishida Y.A. (1993) Protein Kinase Similar to MAP Kinase Activator Acts Downstream of the Raf Kinase in *Drosophilla*. *Cell* **72**, 407-414.

Tsunda Y. (1993) Receptor-operated Ca<sup>2+</sup> Signaling and Crosstalk in Stimulus Secretion Coupling. *Biochem. Biophys. Acta* **1154**, 105-156.

Umek R., Friedman A. and McKnight S.L. (1991) CCAAT/Enhancer Binding Protein: A Component of a Differentiation Switch. *Science* **251**, 288-292.

Vallejo M., Gosse M.E., Bekman W. and Habener J.F. (1995) Impaired Cyclic AMPdependent Phosphorylation Renders CREB a Repressor of C/EBP-induced Transcription of the Somatostatin Gene in an Insulinoma Cell-line. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **15**, 415-424.

Vallejo M., Ron D., Miller C.I.P. and Habener J.F. (1993) C/ATF, a Member of the Activating Transcription Factor Family of DNA-binding Proteins, Dimerizes with CCAAT/Enhancer Binding Proteins and Directs Their Binding to cAMP Response Elements. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **90**, 4679-4683.

Valler L., Spada A. and Giannatasian G. (1987) Altered  $G_s$  and Adenylate Cyclase Activity in Human GH-secreting Pituitary Adenomas. *Nature* **330**, 566-568.

Van Corven E.J., Hordijk P.L., Medena R.H., Bos J.L. and Moolenaar W.H. (1993) Pertussis Toxin-sensitive Activation of p21<sup>ras</sup> by G Protein-coupled Receptor Agonists in Fibroblasts. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **90**, 1257-1261.

Vara Prasad M.V.V.S., Dermott J.M., Heasley L.E., Johnson G.L. and Dhanasekaran N. (1995) Activation of Jun Kinase/Stress-activated Protein Kinase by GTPase-deficient Mutants of  $G_{\alpha_{12}}$  and  $G_{\alpha_{13}}$ . J. Biol. Chem. **270**, 18655-18659.

Vara Prasad M.V.V.S., Shore S.K. and Dhanasekaran N. (1994) Activated Mutant of  $G_{\alpha_{13}}$  Induces Egr 1, *c-fos* and Transformation in NIH 3T3 Cells. *Oncogene* **9**, 2425-2429.

Vassar-Couget M. and Lane M.D. (1993) Trans-acting Factors Involved in Adipogenic Differentiation. *Curr. Opin. Gen. Dev* **3**, 238-245.

Vassaux G., Farahi Far D., Gaillard D., Ailhaud G. and Négrel R. (1993) Inhibition of Prostacyclin-induced Calcium Mobilisation by Phorbol Esters in Ob1771 Preadipocytes. *Prostaglandins* **46**, 441-451.

Vassaux G., Gaillared D., Ailhaud G. and Négrel R. (1992) Prostacyclin is a Specific Effector of Adipose Cell Differentiation: its Dual Role as a cAMP- and Ca<sup>2+</sup>-elevating Agent. J. Biol. Chem. **267**, 11092-11097.

Vaughan M. and Moss J. (1985) Guanyl Nucleotide Regulatory Proteins and cAMP. In *Mechanisms of Insulin Action* (Belfrage B., Donner J. and Strälfurs P. eds). 90-120, Elsevier Science Publishers.

Vernon R.G. (1992) Control of Lipogenesis and Lipolysis. In *The Control of Fat and Lean Deposition* (Boorman K.N., Buttery P.J. and Lindsay D.B. eds). 59-81, Butterworth-Heinemann Ltd: Oxford.

Vidal-Puig A., Jimenez-Linan M., Lovell B.B., Hamann A., Hu E., Spiegelman B., Flier J.S. and Maller D.E. (1996) Regulation of PPARγ Gene Expression by Nutrients and Obesity in Rodents. *J. Clin. Invest.* **97**, 2553-2561.

Voyno-Yasenetskaya T.A., Pace A.M. and Bourne H.R. (1994) Mutant  $\alpha$ -subunits of G<sub>12</sub> and G<sub>13</sub> Proteins Induce Neoplastic Transformation in RAT-1 Fibroblasts. *Oncogene* **9**, 2559-2565.

Wabitsch M. and Heinze E. (1993) Body Fat in GH-Deficient Children and the Effect of Treatmant. *Horm. Res.* **4**0, 5-9.

Wabitsch M., Heinze E., Hauner H., Shymko R.M., Teller W.M., DeMeyts P. and Ilando M.M. (1996) Biological Effects of Human Growth Hormone in Rat Adipocyte Precursor Cells and Newly Differentiated Adipocytes in Primary Culture. *Metabolism* **45**, 34-42.

Walsh D.A., Perkin J.P. and Krebs E.G. (1968) An Adenosine 3', 5'-Monophosphate Dependent Protein Kinase from Rabbit Skeletal Muscle. J. Biol. Chem. 243, 3763-3767.

Wang H., Kirkland J.C. and Hollenberg C.H. (1989) Varying Capacities for Replication of Rat Adipocyte Precusor Clones and Adipose Tissue Growth. J. Clin. Invest. 83, 1741-1746.

Wang H.-Y., Johnson G.L., Liu X.X. and Malbon C.C. (1996) Repression of Adipogenesis by Adenylyl Cyclase Stimulatory G-protein Alpha Subunit is Expressed within Region 146-220. J. Biol. Chem. 271, 22022-22029.

Wang H.-Y. and Malbon C.C. (1996) The  $G_{s\alpha}/G_{i\alpha 2}$  Axis Controls Adipogenesis Independently of Adenylylcyclase. Int. J. Obes. 20, S26-S31.

Wang H.-Y., Watkins D.C. and Malbon C.C. (1992) Antisense Oligodeoxynucleotides to  $G_s$  Protein  $\alpha$ -subunit Sequence Accelerate Differentiation of Fibroblasts to Adipocytes. *Nature* **358**, 334-337.

Ward Y., Gupta S., Jensen P., Wartmann M., Davis R.J. and Kelly K. (1994) Control of MAP Kinase Activation by the Mitogen Induced Threonine/Tyrosine Phosphatase PAC1. *Nature* **367**, 651-654.

Watkins D.C., Johnson G.L. and Malbon C.C. (1992)  $G_{\alpha 2}$  Regulates Differentiation of Stem Cells to Primitive Endoderm in F9 Teratocarcinoma Cells. *Science* **258**, 1373-1375.

Watkins P.A., Moss J., Pekala P.H. and Lane M.D. (1982) Effect of Differentiation on the Adenylate Cyclase System of 3T3-C2 and 3T3-L1 Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 257, 14719-14722.

Watkins D.C., Northup J.K. and Malbon C.C. (1987) Regulation of G-proteins in Differentiation. Altered Ratio of Alpha- to Beta- Subunits in 3T3-L1 Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 262, 10651-10657.

Watkins D.C., Northup J.K. and Malbon C.C. (1987) Regulation of G-proteins in Differentiation. Altered Ration of Alpha to Beta Subunits in 3T3-L1 Cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* **262**, 10651-10657.

Watkins D.C., Northup J.K. and Malbon C.C. (1987) Pertussis Toxin Treatment *In Vivo* is Associated with a Decline in G-protein  $\beta$ -subunits. *J. Biol. Chem.* **264**, 4186-4194.

Watkins D.C., Rapiejko P.J., Ros M., Wang H.Y. and Malbon C.C. (1989) G-protein mRNA Levels During Adipocyte Differentiation. *Biochem. Biophys. Res Commun.* **165**, 929-934.

Watt F.M. (1991) Cell Culture Models of Differentiation. FASEB J. 5, 287-294.

Weiland M., Bahr F., Hohne M., Schurman A., Ziehm D. and Josst H.G. (1991) The Signalling Potential of the Receptors for Insulin and Insulin-like Growth Factor-I (IGF-I) in 3T3-L1 Adipocytes- Comparison of Glucose-transport Activity, Induction of

Oncogene c-Fos, Glucose Transporter mRNA and DNA-synthesis. J. Cell. Physiol. 149, 428-435.

West R.E., Moss Jr J., Vaughan M., Liu T. and Liu T.,-Y. (1985) Pertussis-catalyzed ADP-ribosylation of Transducin. Cysteine 347 is the ADP-ribose Acceptor Site. J. *Biol. Chem.* **260**, 14428-14430.

Wen Z., Zhong Z. and Darnell Jr J.E. (1995) Maximal Activation of Transcription by Stat1 and Stat3 Requires Both Tyrosine and Threonine Phosphorylation. *Cell* **82**, 241-250.

White M.F., Maron R. and Kahn C.R. (1985) Insulin Rapidly Stimulates Tyrosine Phosphorylation of a Mr-185000 Protein in Intact Cells. *Nature* **318**, 183-186.

White M.F., Stegmann E.W., Dull T.J., Allrich A. and Kahn C.R. (1987) Characterization of an Endogenous Substrate of the Insulin Receptor in Cultured Cells. *J. Biol. Chem.* **262**, 9769-9777.

Wiederer O. and Löffler G. (1987) Hormonal Regulation of the Differentiation of Rat Adipocyte Precursor Cells in Primary Culture. J. Lipid. Res. 28, 649-655.

Wilson M., Burt A.R., Milligan G. and Anderson N.G. (1996) Wortmannin-sensitive Activation of  $p70^{86k}$  by Endogenous and Heterologously Expressed G<sub>i</sub>-coupled Receptors. *J. Biol. Chem.* **271**, 8537-8540.

Winitz S., Russell M., Quion N.-X., Gardner A., Dwyer L. and Johnson G.L. (1993) Involvement of Ras and Raf in the G<sub>i</sub>-coupled Acetylcholine Muscarinic m2 Receptor, Activation of Mitogen-activated Protein (MAP) Kinase Kinase and MAP Kinase. J. Biol. Chem. 268, 19196-19199.

Winston L.A. and Hunter T. (1995) JAK2, Ras and Raf are Required for Activation of Extracellular Signal-regulated Kinase Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase by Growth Hormone. J. Biol. Chem. **270**, 30837-30840.

Wise L.S. and Green H. (1979) Participation of One Isozyme of Cytosolic Glycerophosphate Dehydrogenase in the Adipose Conversion of 3T3 Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 254, 273-275.

Wise L.S., Sul H.-S. and Rubin C.S. (1984) Coordinate Regulation of the Biosynthesis of ATP-Citrate Lyase and Malic Enzyme during Adipocyte Differentiation. *J. Biol. Chem.* **259**, 4827-4832.

Withers D.J., Bloom S.R. and Rozengurt E. (1995) Dissociation of cAMP-stimulated Mitogenesis from Activation of the Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Cascade in Swiss 3T3 Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 21411-21419.

Wood K.W., Ol H., D'Arcangelo G., Armstrong R.C., Roberts T.M. and Halegoua S. (1993) The Cytoplasmic *raf* Oncogene Induces a Neuronal Phenotype in PC12 Cells: A Potential Role for Cellular *raf* Kinases in Neuronal Growth Factor Signal Transduction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **90**, 5016-5020.

Wrang Ökret S., Radojcic M., Carlstedt-Duke J. and Gustafsson J-Å. (1984) Characterization of the Purified Activated Glucocorticoid Receptor from Rat-liver Cytosol. J. Biol. Chem. 259, 4534-4537.

Wu Z.D., Bucher N.L.R. and Farmer S.R. (1996) Induction of Peroxisome Proliferator-activated Receptor-gamma During the Conversion of 3T3 Fibroblasts into

Adipocytes is Mediated by C/EBP-beta, C/EBP-delta and Glucocorticoids. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **16**, 4128-4136.

Wu J., Dent P., Jelinek T., Wolfman A., Weber M.J. and Sturgill T.W. (1993) Inhibition of the EGF-activated MAP Kinase Signalling Pathway by Adenosine 3',5'-Monophosphate. *Science* 262, 1065-1069.

Wu J., Rossomando A.J., Her J., -H., Del Vecchio R., Weber M.J. and Sturgill T.W. (1991) Microtubule-Associated Protein 2 Kinases, ERK 1 and ERK 2, undergo Autophosphorylation on Both Tyrosine and Threonine Residues: Implcations for Their Mechanism of Activation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **88**, 6142-6146.

Wu J., Rossomando A.J., Her J., -H., Del Vecchio R., Weber M.J. and Sturgill T.W. (1991) Autophosphorylation *in vitro* of Recombinant 42-Kilodalton Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase on Tyrosine. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci USA* **88**, 9508-9512.

Xiang Y., Connolly T., Futcher B. and Beach D. (1991) Human D-type Cyclin. *Cell* **65**, 691-699.

Xing J., Ginty D.D. and Greenberg M.E. (1996) Coupling of the Ras-MAPK Pathway to Gene Activation by RSK2, a Growth Factor-regulated CREB Kinase. *Science* **273**, 959-963.

Xu N., Bradley L., Ambdukar I. and Gutkind S. (1993) A Mutant  $\alpha$ -subunit of G12 Potentiates the Eicosanoid Pathway and is Highly Oncogenic in NIH-3T3 Cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci USA* **90**, 6741-6745.

Xu X. and Björntorp P. (1990) Effects of Dexamethasone on Multiplication and Differentiation of Rat Adipose Precursor Cells. *Exp. Cell. Res.* **189**, 247-252.

Yang V.W., Christy R.J., Cook J.S., Kelly J.J. and Lane M.D. (1989) Mechanism of Regulation of the 442/aP2 Gene by cAMP during Preadipocyte Differentiation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **86**, 3629-3633.

Yao H., Labudda K., Rim C., Capodeci P., Loda M. and Stork P.J.S. (1995) Cyclic Adenosine Monophosphate Can Convert Epidermal Growth Factor into a Differentiating Factor in Neuronal Cells. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 20748-20753.

Yamamoto K.K., Gonzalez G.A., Biggs W.H.and Montiminy M.R. (1988) Phosphorylation-induced Binding and Transcriptional Efficacy of Nuclear Factor CREB. *Nature* **334**, 494-498.

Yang V.W., Christy R.J., Cook J.S., Kelly T.J. and Lane M.D. (1989) Mechanism of Regulation of the 442/aP2 Gene by cAMP during Preadipocyte Differentiation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **86**, 3629-3633.

Yarwoods S.J., Kilgour E. and Anderson N.G. (1996) Cyclic AMP Stimulates the Phosphorylation and Activation of p42 and p44 Mitogen-activated Protein Kinases in 3T3-F442A Preadipocytes. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **224**, 734-739.

Yatani A., Mattera R., Codina J., Iyengar R., Brown A.M. and Birnbaumer L. (1988) The G-protein-gated Atrial K<sup>+</sup> Channel is Stimulated by Three Distinct  $G_{i\alpha}$  Substrates. *Nature* **336**, 680-682.

Yeh W.-C., Bierer B.E. and McKnight S.L. (1995) Rapamycin Inhibits Clonal Expansion and Adipogenic Differentiation of 3T3-L1 Cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **92**, 11086-11090.

Yeh W.-C., Cao Z., Clausson M. and McKnight S.L. (1995) Cascade Regulation of Terminal Adipocyte Differentiation by Three Members of the C\EBP Family of Leucine Zipper Proteins. *Genes and Devel.* 9, 168-181.

Young S.W., Dickens M. and Traveré J. (1994) Differentiation of PC12 Cells in Response to a cAMP Analogue is Accompanied by Sustained Activation of Mitogenactivated Protein Kinase. *FEBS letts.* **338**, 212-216.

Zezulak K.M. and Green H. (1986) The Generation of Insulin-like Growth Factor-1sensitive Cells by Growth Hormone Action. *Science* 233, 551-553.

Zhang Y., Proeca R., Maffei M., Barone M., Leopold L. and Friedman J.M. (1994) Positional Cloning of the Mouse *obese* Gene and its Human Homologue. *Nature* **372**, 425-432.

Zheng C.F. and Guan K.L. (1994) Activation of MEK Family Kinases Requires Phosphorylation of Two Conserved Ser/Thr Residues. *EMBO J.* **13**, 1610-1619.

Zhu Y., Alvares K., Huang Q., Sanbasiva Rao M. and Reddy J. (1993) Cloning of a New Member of the Peroxisome Proliferator-activated Receptor Gene Family from Mouse Liver. *J. Biol. Chem.* **268**, 26817-26820.

Zhu Y., Qi C., Korenberg J.R., Chen X.N., Noya D., Sanbasiva Rao M. and Reddy J.K. (1995) Structural Organisation of Mouse Peroxisome Proliferator-activated Receptor  $\gamma$  (mPPAR $\gamma$ ) Gene: Alternative Promoter Use and Different Splicing Yield Two mPPAR $\gamma$  Isoforms. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **92**, 7971-7925.

